

## LUND UNIVERSITY

## Inoperosità

Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

Tramer, Stefan

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Tramer, S. (2025). Inoperosità: Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature. [Doctoral Thesis (monograph), Lund University School of Economics and Management, LUSEM]. Department of Business Administration, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



## Inoperosità

Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

STEFAN TRAMER | DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION



## Inoperosità Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

Much of Agamben's work reveals its *potential* if one recognises Agamben to be at loggerheads with Derrida over the latter's *grammatological* equation of language with signification. Concretely, Derrida, Agamben deplores, grounds man, deleteriously, in a language/law that remains as potent as it remains unintelligible, with man still subject to the whims of bureaucratically/oikonomically based sovereign violence. Indeed, Derrida, Agamben shows, grounds man in an absent presence that spurs man's ever fallible attempts to render this absence present—a theme thoroughly explored by, for instance, the organisation scholar Robert Cooper. Against this backdrop and in order for organisation scholars to fully appreciate the *potential* of Agamben's work, this book translates Agamben's critique of Derrida into a critique of Cooper and, at heart, the current state of organisation at large. Inspired by Kafka and relying upon exemplary/paradigmatic readings of unemployment-related management literature, it does so to help wrest language, and, by implication, organisation (from ergon, meaning work), from biopolitical incarceration: *Ex-posing* (in the sense of deposing/neutralising) the position such literature attributes to 'employees' and 'customers', it does so to render language/the law inoperative. And, in the same breath, it exposes (in the sense of revealing) language itself.

"Full of goodness is; but no-one grasps Alone God." (Hölderlin, 2015, p. 349)





SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

Department of Business Administration

Inoperosità

## Inoperosità

# Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

Stefan Tramer



### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

By due permission of the Department of Business Administration, School of Economics and Management, Lund University, Sweden.

To be publicly defended at Holger Crafoords Ekonomicentrum, EC3:207, on the 28<sup>th</sup> of March, 2025, at 13:00.

Faculty opponent Steven D. Brown Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY, School of Economics and Management

Document name: PhD Dissertation

Date of issue: 28th March 2025

Author(s): Stefan Tramer

Sponsoring organization: n/a

Title and subtitle: Inoperosità: Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

#### Abstract:

Regardless of our socio-juridical position in or outside of organisations, this much is certain: even if not formally employed, we all, Agamben's *Homo Sacer* series and the bulk of his other texts imply, are subject to a violence that, if differentially, imprisons us in a world in which 'work' reigns supreme. But what precisely is 'work'? And is there, in spite of our securing the necessities of life, still a viable 'way out'? To probe these questions, I draw on Agamben, approaching 'work' in two distinct, wholly opposing ways. At base, echoing an ever-increasing appreciation of the salience of Agamben's philosophy, I approach work, together with organisation (from *ergon*, meaning 'work'), in terms of *oikonomia* and *inoperosità*.

*Oikonomia*, as my object of criticism, refers to the immanent execution of an allegedly foundational, absolute power – be it God, the sovereign or the people. It is stylised as such a foundational power's attendant secondary cause/power. Therefore, with *oikonomia*, life is transcendentally grounded, so that work's *oikonomic* executioners – for instance, managers, functionaries and bureaucrats – justify themselves and act 'vicariously'; they justify themselves and act as messengers, intermediaries or administrators of an *archē* that as such does not exist, but that they – to legitimise themselves – conjure up and produce, with work being in thrall to spectacularisation. In contrast to this, *inoperosità* is the antidote to *oikonomia*'s brutal encroachment. It refers to an exit from, and neutralisation of, *oikonomia*'s biopolitical grip on work.

Management literature does not stand outside of *oikonomia*. Rather, as shown, it is often part and parcel thereof. With this in view, relying on a case study analysis of unemployment-related management texts, I provide a much-needed exposition of this literature's *oikonomic* footing. This is done in three interrelated ways: first, the *oikonomic* position of employees and customers in these texts is expounded; second, contrary to received wisdom in the field of organisation studies, the possibility of thinking of organisation in terms of a language use that no longer corrals human beings into *oikonomic* positions is revealed; and third, a deposition/neutralisation of *oikonomic* language, implicit in the previous point, is performed, which is to say that this thesis is concerned with *inoperosità* not only in its content, but also its expression.

Above all, it is this interleaving of the *exposition* (revealing) and *ex-position* (neutralisation) of language that is *inoperosità*. Hence, no longer an *oikonomic* potentiality to be or not to be actualised, work and organisation emerge as a potential in contact with the act; rather than being played off against one another, foundational power (potential) and immanent execution (act) are revealed as non-related and suspended, a testimony of this contactual non-relation/suspension being the core contribution of my thesis.

Key words: Agamben, Inoperosità, Management Literature, Oikonomia, Work, Unemployment

#### Language: English

ISSN and key title: Lund Studies in Economics and Management, issue 174

ISBN: 978-91-8104-368-6 (print) 978-91-8104-369-3 (digital)

Number of pages: 212

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-02-10

## Inoperosità

Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature

Stefan Tramer



Cover photo: Joe Alfvén Copyright: Stefan Tramer

Faculty: Lund University School of Economics and Management Department: Department of Business Administration

ISBN: 978-91-8104-368-6 (print) | 978-91-8104-369-3 (digital) ISSN: Lund Studies in Economics and Management, issue 174

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

"[H]ow can an impasse be turned into an exit?" (Agamben, cited in Attell 2015, p. 6)

For friends

## Table of Contents

Mise en ex-ergue: on friendship	13
Acknowledgements	21
Preface: on illegibility	25
In limine: on life outside of glass and frames	
Opening: on u-topia	53
Research aims	61
Terminology	62
Exposition ( <i>inoperativity</i> )	
Position (signified)	64
Employees (Angestellte)	
Customers (Kunden)	65
Unemployment-related (signifier)	66
Management (oikonomia)	67
Literature (written)	67
Summary	68
Disposition	68
Theory	69
Method	
Exposing constatation	69
Exposing administration	70
Exposing government imposition	70
Exposing identity production	
Plērōma	71
Final ideas	72
Contribution	72
Postilla	72
Theory: on absolute immanence	73
Method: on profane messianism	77
Pursuing the way towards the law	77
Countering socially produced division	
Unfurling an anoikonomic divinity	

Countering thwarted messianism	
Collecting with a view to analysing data	
Kafkan studious gestures	
Exposing constatation	
Exposing administration	
Exposing government imposition	
Exposing identity production	
Plērōma: on purely mediate justice	
Final ideas: on Agamben and Cooper	
The idea of knowledge	
The idea of humanity	
The idea of showing	
The idea of criticism	
The idea of comedy	
The idea of love	
The idea of God	
The idea of organisation	
Contribution: on a way out	
Contribution vis-à-vis Agamben's work	
Contribution vis-à-vis Kafka's work	
Contribution vis-à-vis Cooper's work	
Postilla: I am now going to shut it!	
References	

## Mise en ex-ergue: on friendship

"[W]hat is friendship other than a proximity that resists both representation and conceptualization?" (Agamben 2009c, p. 31)

### A friendly beginning

How to begin (*archō*) a *thesis* (from *tithēmi*, meaning 'to place' or 'position'), if not with an inquiry into what, dear friend, *you*, apparently – not meaning any harm and, probably, as meek as a lamb – just got *yourself* into: the *seeming* entwinement of 'beginning' (*archē*) and 'emplacement/positioning' (*thésis*)... Since, obviously, *you* just became embogged in what, by the looks of it anyhow, *seems* to be the irrevocable entwinement of language and *dispositif* (apparatus) (see Du Plessis 2022; Hansen and Weiskopf 2021; Raffnsøe et al. 2016a,b; Villadsen 2021) or – in Agamben's and my view largely congruent with *dispositif* – *Gestell* (enframing) (see Aroles and Küpers 2022; Cooper 1993; Holt and Sandberg 2011; Introna 2019; Munro 2005).

Traceable to the early Church Fathers' use of the Greek term *oikonomia*, oftentimes translated into Latin as *dispositio* (see Agamben 2011d) and taken up by Foucault, *dispositif* (literally meaning 'emplacement' or 'positioning'), Agamben explains, refers to a "set of practices, bodies of knowledge, measures, and institutions that seek to manage, govern, control, and orient, in a way that purports to be useful, the behaviors, gestures, and thoughts of human beings" (2009c, p. 12). In much the same way, *Gestell* (also literally meaning 'emplacement' or 'positioning'), a term elaborated upon by Heidegger, turns, Hamacher (2019) clarifies, on an ontology *premised* on *Feststellen*/constating and *Herstellen*/producing, literally *forthplacing* (cf. Villadsen 2024).

Against this background, the aim of *this mise en ex-ergue* and, ultimately, of *this* entire book can be said to be answering a crucial question asked by Agamben: how would "a word [be] that neither [by dint of '(em)placing/positioning'] signified nor commanded but held itself truly in the beginning—indeed, [in a way] before the beginning" (2022b, p. 4), severed from all *oikonomia*? How would a completely undistorted, unwaveringly friendly beginning be – a beginning, Agamben specifies,

"with unknown provenance and direction" (p. 37)? At the end of the day, how to begin *anoikonomically*?<sup>1</sup>

Crucially, how would a word be that – befitting unjaundiced friendship and, not forgetting, along with it, God's paradisical Kingdom – neither represented nor conceptualised and, therefore, "cannot reach a beginning other than the one that may perhaps result from the deactivation of the machine [or 'apparatus']" (Agamben 2015b, p. 266) – from the deactivation of language's omnipresent *transposition* into a *dispositif/Gestell*? Put differently, given that *archē*, in Greek, "means both 'origin, principle' and 'command, order'" (2019a, p. 51), how would a word be that neither boiled down to what Böhm – affirmatively – calls "a ground zero: [a] *tabula rasa*" (2005, p. 212), i.e. an 'origin/principle', nor, predicated thereon, to "the search for different articulations" (ibid.), i.e. this or that 'command/order', but – instead – was to begin (*archō*) *an-archically*? Or, wedded hereto, how, in the face of *supposed* origins (i.e. signifiers) (e.g. Weick 2012) *and* commands (i.e. signifieds) (see Spoelstra 2022), my friend, to think of an *an-archic* exit? How to, as Agamben writes, be "truly anarchic and beyond time, with neither origin nor end, neither past nor future" (2024b, p. 77)?<sup>2</sup>

That is, given that *this* beginning *thesis*'s – *this* beginning, *seeming positioning*'s – *theme* (also from *tithēmi*, meaning 'to place' or 'position') *is* organisation (from *ergon*, meaning 'work'), how to begin, if not with an *archaeology* into the present *emplacement* or *state* (from *sistō*, also meaning 'to stand', 'set' or 'place') of organisation. How to begin, my friend, if not with an *archaeology* into the 'turning-apparatus/-enframing' of work – of man's *telos*. Indeed, how to begin, if not with an *archaeology* into the 'turning-apparatus/-enframing' of language, of the word. And how to begin, if not with a return to a pure beginning, the pure word. That is, how to move "beyond the metaphysical diremption of signifier and signified" (Agamben 2017b, p. 55)?

In other words, how – oh friend – to begin better than with an *archaeology* into the equation of work/organisation with the intermediation of bureaucracy/governing. Yes, how to begin better than with an *archaeology* into – as far as organisation, itself *positioned* to be a matter of *positioning* language (e.g. Andersen 2003; Böhm 2005;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Akin to the italicised *para-, now, here* or *you* that *you* have already encountered or will still encounter *here, 'this'* is *here* used to refer to an absolution from intermediating (*pre*)*supposition.* It is used to refer to pure immanence or, at heart coterminous *here* with, pure transcendence. Hence, inspired by Agamben, who, in turn, is inspired by the linguist Benveniste, '*this*' "does not refer to the text of the enunciation but to the announcement itself and even to the voice that utters it: an 'angel', a messenger, who, in saying something, above all announces himself' (2024b, p. 157).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "[T]he true anarchy that Agamben speaks about is that which rises out of the destitution of the ontological ground on which stand the apparatuses [*dispositifs/Gestells*] of power" (Fusco 2022, p. 176). What he speaks about is that which rises out of the *destitution* of ground zero—out of, as for law and life, the *destitution* of a "'pure relation without content"" (Agamben 2017b, p. 48).

Cooper 2005a,b; Höpfl 2003a; Luhmann 2018a,b; Parker 2022; Pullen et al. 2020), is concerned – the equation of language/organisation with human sovereignty; how to begin better than with an *archaeology* into the equation of language/organisation with the humanly produced (*hergestellten*, literally *forthplaced*) authority of the *Gesetz* (German for 'law'; like *state*, from *sistō*, meaning 'to stand', 'to set' but also 'to place').<sup>3</sup>

And, by virtue of this, how to begin better than with a *deposition* of *imposed* 'origins'/'principles' *and*, following on from this, 'commands'/'orders'. How, as undeterred, undaunted friends, to begin, if not by shedding all emplacement or positioning, by shedding all biopolitically *supposed* taking place and by, in view of God's Kingdom, opting for an undiluted, friendly taking-place. After all, liberated from all *oikonomia*, God – at least according to Spinozian pantheism – as "the pure transcendent is the taking-place of everything" (Agamben 1993c, p. 15), assuring that "[u]topia is the very topia of things" (p. 103). Felicitously, as a pure transcendent or *an-archic archē* that, in a way, also contains pure immanence, God assures or, yes, *is* pure taking-place, *is* true friendship. Messianically, God *is* the neutralisation of *oikonomia*.<sup>4</sup>

Or, put as a question: how come – dear friend – we workers/organisers *seem*, *from the word go*, to be enchained in *forthplacing/forthplaced* sovereign violence? And, related herewith, how – my friend – do we exit from, and neutralise, the excruciating power of this *seemingly* inescapable *Gesetz*/Law? To get straight to the point, how do we, in *writing and reading*, exit from and neutralise unrelenting linguistic 'placing/positioning'? How do we, truly, turn ourselves into fully fledged friends? And, with that said, how do we, as students of language/organisation, put absolute friendship – which, for me, is thinkable only in terms of God's serene, beatific Kingdom – in terms of life "outside the bounds of representation and identification"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Within this context, Derrida underlines that "[t]he (human) sovereign takes place as place-taking [*lieu-tenant*], he takes place, the place standing in for the absolute sovereign: God" (2009, p. 54). As a result, Derrida goes on, "sovereignty will always imply [...] this positionality, this thesis, this self-thesis, this autoposition of him who posits himself as *ipse, the (self-)same, oneself*" (p. 67). While, for Derrida, all of this necessitates and amounts to a vacillation between signifier *and* signified, principle *and* command, representation *and* conceptualisation, for Agamben, with whom I side in *this* book, we ought to neutralise the metaphysical diremption of signifier *and* signified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Importantly, "[t]hat the good [encapsulated by the Kingdom, by an unmediated, purely transcendent or, if you wish, purely immanent God] is not something that 'takes place' but the very 'taking-place' itself, implies that the good is not something other than or outside beings such as they are, not something above or beyond this. It is not a value, ideal, position or criterion by which to judge entities. Calling the taking-place of entities itself the good is thus to enable one to perceive them without reference to anything other than the way in which they show themselves" (De Boer 2022, p. 218). *An-archically*, it is to enable us to be unalloyed friends from the beginning (*archē*).

(Dickinson 2022, p. 203), where it, without question, really belongs, viz., on the front burner?

How do we live up to "the ultimate meaning of the messianic vocation [viz.] the revocation of every vocation" (Agamben 2012c, 18)? That is to say, how do we, *pace* Böhm, beyond 'ground zero' (or what the organisation scholar Robert Cooper calls 'mass', 'matter', 'the latent' or 'nothingness') *and* semanticisation (or what Cooper calls 'social and cultural forms', 'location', 'the explicit' or 'form and meaning'), happily unfurl "an Ungovernable that is situated beyond states of domination and power relations" (Agamben 2015b, p. 108)? How do we succeed in dismantling and flying the ghastly, treacherous 'coop' that, time and again, traps us in signification?

How – oh beloved friend – to begin *not* with just another doom-laden *oikonomic* beginning, but with an *archē* as "true anarchy" (Agamben 2019a, p. 77)? How to begin (*archō*) *not* with an "*archē* as origin" (2015b, p. 276), i.e. representation, *and*, building thereon, an "*archē* as command" (ibid.), i.e. conceptualisation, but, before such an ominous, representational(-cum-conceptual) *archē*, through unadulterated, unspoilt friendship? How to achieve and inhabit what Willemse, apropos Agamben and hitting the nail on the head, calls "the inoperativity of the *archē*" (2017, p. xxiv)?<sup>5</sup>

### A friendly author

Saliently, in the context of such an *archaeological* inquiry into human sovereignty *and*, concurrently, into human sovereignty's antidote, viz., messianically embedded, unalloyed friendship, I argue that an earnest appreciation of the *potential* of Giorgio Agamben's work or, language (concerning the *Gesetz*/Law) becomes absolutely pertinent. Perhaps, dear friend, it becomes downright indispensable... For such an appreciation allows us to turn, biopolitical *imposition* – evidently a *commonplace* as regards organisation (see Alawattage et al. 2019; Bigoni and Funnell 2024; Clegg et al. 2013; Elraz and McCabe 2023; Fleming 2014; Fleming et al. 2023; Moisander et al. 2018; Munro 2012; Riad 2024; Śliwa et al. 2015; Walker et al. 2021) – into redemptive, felicitous *exposition*. It allows us to undo and exit "the nexus [the 'articulation'/'relation'] between [...] the living and language that constitutes sovereignty" (Agamben 2000, p. 113), so as to render *possible* "behaviour that is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While there are different readings of the messianic circulating amongst organisation scholars (e.g. Carollo et al. 2025; Deslandes 2020; Gabriel 1997; Kociatkiewicz et al. 2022; Srinivas 2012), *here* it refers to the complete neutralisation of the (*oikonomic*) *Gesetz*/Law. And, thus, inasmuch as it amounts to a politics, it, the messianic, "has no other content than paradise" (Agamben 2020, p. 152). It has no other content than our (re)turn to a friendly beginning, liberated from both representation *and* conceptualisation, origin/principle *and* command/order, foundational power *and* founded power, ground zero *and* semanticisation, signifier *and* signified. It has no other content than friendship/inoperativity – our *unpresupposed* and *unpresupposable* taking-place (in God).

free and 'distracted' (that is to say released from the [...] ['enframings'] of norms)" (2007a, p. 75).<sup>6</sup>

It allows us to undo and exit the nexus (or 'articulation/relation') "in which [to begin with] the law (language) relates to the living by withdrawing from it" (Agamben 2000, pp. 112–3) and where, correspondingly, "naked life [or 'bare life', i.e. life in terms of Böhm's 'ground zero'] is immediately the carrier of the sovereign nexus" (p. 113). But, vitally, to be able to do so, we must never lose sight of friendship. For, as Agamben highlights, the crux of his work/language will become evident "only to those who read [...] in a spirit of friendship" (2018d, p. xi). That means, as a friendly author, i.e. an author wresting the word from representation *and* conceptualisation, Agamben, "cannot but rely [...] on friends" (ibid.). And, obviously, for friendship and the Kingdom to gather steam, he (and I) cannot but rely on *you*, too, abstaining from representation/origin/signifier *and* conceptualisation/command/signified...

All this is tantamount to saying that, as the fulcrum of *this* book, an appreciation of (the *potential* of) Agamben's work/language allows us to *write and read* books or works that are *not thetic*, but – reflecting the paradisical, messianic Kingdom and, as mentioned, its felicitous unfurling of the Ungovernable – *ex-thetic*. It allows us to *write and read* books or works that *ex-pose* (i.e. neutralise or *depose*) *imposition* and, in the same gesture, *expose* (i.e. reveal or show) language/organisation *as such*. By way of pure anarchy, i.e. by way of an *an-archic*, *presuppositionless* beginning, it, an appreciation of *this* potential, reveals our blissful, happy taking-place. In words of one syllable and echoing the title of this *mise en ex-ergue*, it makes us make true friends... Thus, far from being concerned with so-called fair-weather friends or the proverbial friends in high *places*, quite possibly, *this* friendly author invites us to make true friends for the very first time. Agamben invites us to indwell God's love.

In any event, *not* taking aim at some unattainable, silly pipe dream or a ludicrous pie in the sky, a complete appreciation of *this potential*, I suggest, pivots on, and unfurls, an exit from our groaning under humanly produced sovereignty; it pivots on, and unfurls, friendship in a way that – based upon the particular *potential* that this appreciation unlocks – resists, as the above quote stresses, *both* representation (*Vorstellung*, that is, literally emplacement in its potential *state*) as in *virtually* suspended, non-semanticised or 'ground-zero' identities, *and* conceptualisation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As I have more to say on this in the preface, suffice it to say at this point that nexus/connection/articulation/relation refers to the negative self-*presupposition* of the *Gesetz/Law* in the living in the form of ground zero/representation and, in line therewith, naked/bare life. Moreover, it should be noted that the distraction just mentioned is at odds with the (outwardly kindred) work of Cooper, for whom "distraction is a destructuring of collected structures" (2001b, p. 22), with Cooper's 'distraction' only being an oscillation between origin *and* command. That means that Cooper fails to grasp that God, as a friendly *archē*, "coincides with the manifestation of the inoperativity of the law and with the essential illegitimacy of every power in messianic time" (Agamben 2017d, p. 34).

(that is, emplacement in its actualised *state*), as in semantically effective, *constated* or produced/*forthplaced* identities. With *this* author, we undo signifier *and* signified.

*Here*, the key to grasping 'representation' is that it, echoing Böhm's 'ground zero', *stands in*, without (necessarily) entailing a certain content *stood for* (cf. Beyes and Steyaert 2012; Cooper 1993). By contrast, 'concepts', at least from a Koselleckian (and, building thereon, Luhmannian) angle – Andersen notes – are condensations of "a wide range of social and political meanings" (2003, p. vi), so that "[c]oncepts comprise an undecided abundance of meaning, a concentration of meaning, which makes them ambiguous" (ibid.). In Andersen's view, it is "[p]recisely through its ambiguity [that] the concept creates a space of signification, which is open to interpretation and can become a semantic battlefield" (ibid.), true friendship still vitiated.

Similarly, but in a way that foregrounds 'conceptuality' (*not* debatable, equivocal 'concepts') at the expense of this or that unambiguous, fixed concept, Derrida, with whom Agamben has repeatedly locked horns (over friendship), emphasises that "the signified concept is never present in itself, in an adequate presence that would refer only to itself" (1979, p. 140). Rather, following Derrida, "[e]very concept is necessarily and essentially inscribed in a chain or a system, within which it refers to another and to other concepts, by the systematic play of differences" (ibid.). And "[s]uch a play then—différance—is no longer simply a concept, but the possibility of conceptuality, of the conceptual system and process in general" (ibid.), Andersen and Derrida retaining *oikonomia*. Inclusively excluding God, Andersen and Derrida stress and focus on alterable place-taking (*lieutenancy*) rather than taking-place (in God).<sup>7</sup>

It is important for me that, at the end of the day, both Andersen and Derrida, their theoretical differences notwithstanding, wind up dynamising *conceptualisation*. Still submitting the friend and, by implication, the Kingdom to representation, they go on conceptualising man, even if the concepts in question are, fundamentally, alterable and ever fallible, with both scholars *presupposing* an 'empty ontology', ground zero or naked/bare life as the basis of perpetually ongoing conceptuality or conceptualisation. As a consequence, with Andersen's heavily Luhmann-inspired systems theoretical approach and Derrida's deconstruction, true friendship, i.e. the messianic inoperativity of the *archē*, there can be no doubt, takes a nosedive, inevitably going down the pan.

Contrasting herewith, a full appreciation of the *potential* of Agamben's authorship pivots on, and unfurls, friendship, inasmuch as it, *this* appreciation, allows us to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Derrida's approach is taken up by Cooper, who underlines that "Derrida's différance as that which is neither word [i.e. (empty) signifier] nor concept [i.e. (given) signified] summarizes the point [...] that form [or 'command'] is not only made out of non-form [or 'origin'] but that form always carries within itself the inclination to break up, to dissolve into the formless" (2001c, p. 347). Hence, Cooper's work juts out as a suitable 'contrast medium' bringing out Agamben's *potential*.

resist *both* man's reduction to "a life that has been cut off and separated from its form" (Agamben 2015b, p. 263) or what Cooper, approvingly, describes as "anticonceptual roughness" (2001c, p. 344) *and* the *imposition* of (ever alterable, 'deferred') forms on such 'naked or bare life/roughness'. No doubt, an appreciation of the *potential* of Agamben's work/language pivots on, and unfurls, the friend – that is, every worker/organiser, every human being – as absolutely inappropriable, as the Ungovernable. Because it resolutely undoes the heinous processes that, *as it stands*, rivet friends(hip) to – it bears repeating – representation *and*, predicated thereon, conceptualisation. As a friendly author, Agamben undoes these processes, incessantly inviting us to grasp that the "meaningless [i.e. non-signifying], integral transformation of the word is the Kingdom" (2022b, p. 37), *is* true friendship. Agamben invites us to become friendly authors *ourselves* and to – in this way – unlock, and testify to, a friendly *potential*.

### A friendly potential

So let's begin (*archō*) with a brief *archaeology* into human sovereignty, i.e. the *Gesetz*/Law, bearing in mind that, as Agamben underscores, "[t]he *archō* that archaeology brings to light is not homogenous to the presuppositions [derived from *pōnere*, meaning 'to position' or 'place'] that it has neutralized" (2015b, p. xiii). Rather, "it [the (inoperative) *archō* rendering *possible*, and rendered *possible* by, friendship] is given entirely and only in their [in *presupposed impositions*] collapse" (ibid.), so that "[i]ts work is their inoperativity" (ibid.). By the same token, the (inoperative) *archō archaeologically* brought to light reveals that "the human being [or organiser] exists in the human being's [or organiser's] non-place" (1999c, p. 134) – in the aforementioned messianic *u-topia*/pure word that is ultimately coterminous with true friendship and, as such, fully defies representational *and* conceptual 'placing/positioning'.

Differently put, the *archē*, archaeologically brought to light, *is* language's and, by implication, organisation's untethering from, and suspension of, the *Gesetz*/Law, its *para*digm, as touched upon before, friendship. And, crucially, to get to the bottom of friendship and, hence, language/organisation, it is *not* enough to – as my friend Sverre Spoelstra, while praising Cooper, suggests – grasp potentiality in terms of "possibilities surrounding the 'real' we see [and that] are present in their absence" (2007, p. 81), in their non-actualised form. *No*, dear friend, within *this* book/work, it is *not* enough to, as you (and I) once implied, hold on to a "potential [that] *exists*, precisely because it finds its moment of unformation at the very same time as the actual finds its (temporary) formation" (ibid.). It is *not* enough to think of *potential* as ground zero.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In keeping with Agamben, what is overlooked is that "[s]overeignty is always double because Being, as potentiality, suspends itself, maintaining itself in a relation of [...] [virtual

Rather, *here*, in the context of absolute, true friendship, "one must think the existence of potentiality without any relation to Being in the form of actuality" (Agamben 1998, p. 47). After all, "potentiality [in its conventional guise, the guise perpetuated by Cooper] and actuality are simply the two faces of the sovereign self-grounding of Being" (ibid), viz., 'origin/principle/representation' *as well as* 'command/order/conceptualisation'. They are simply the two faces of the *Gesetz*. Thus, as will become clear, true friendship and, with it, the (inoperative/*an-archic*) *archē* of language/organisation pivot, in truth, on a 'contact'; they pivot on a non-appropriating non-relation between potentiality and act, *physis* and *nomos*, the particular *potential* that friendship – that is, the (inoperative/*an-archic*) *archē* of language/organisation – brings to light being *destituent* potential. For, regarding the Kingdom, Agamben emphasises, it is "destituent potentiality that, in every sphere, deposes power and institutions, including those [...] that believe they are its representatives and embodiment" (2022b, p. 41). Contrary to ground zero, *this potential* unfurls a 'friendly friend'.

### A friendly friend

Finally, this mise en ex-ergue turns, briefly, to summarising the spirit of friendship undergirding and permeating this entire book. Needless to say, in this context, I draw upon Agamben, who deliberately formulates his *idea* of friendship in contrast to Derrida's rivalling, still oikonomic approach... As Haddad notes, "Derrida's contention is that the concept of friendship is contradictory, and that its contradictions cannot be resolved" (2014, p. 69), for "it relies on opposing terms [including, as in Carl Schmitt's notorious, theoretical edifice, 'friend/enemy'] that remain in a necessary tension" (ibid.). Chiming with Derrida's criticism of transcendental signifieds or 'given' 'commands/orders', friendship in Derrida, while found to stimulate and trigger critical thought, Haddad concludes, remains "too tied to its exclusionary history, too dominated by a masculine understanding, to be successfully mobilised" (p. 75). All that is to say that friendship remains 'undecidable', subject to a play of nullification and deferral. It remains subject to an (em)placing/operative archē, we workers/organisers caught between a rock and a hard place. No doubt, friendship remains rooted in, and is permanently referred back to, the virtual state of exception. Disappointingly, it remains rooted in, and is constantly referred back to, an empty and absolute law, unable to set free, and reveal, a truly friendly friend (see Derrida 2020).

Agamben's *idea* of friendship could hardly be more different. As I, allusively, have hoped to 'stress' (*mettre en ex-ergue*), friendship, in Agamben and by extension

exception/suspension] with itself in order to realize itself as absolute actuality (which thus presupposes nothing other than its own potentiality)" (1998, p. 47). Indeed, what is overlooked is what Fusco, drawing on Agamben, calls "pure potentiality beyond the reaches of any sovereign power" (2022, p. 45).

within *this* (*ex-thetic*) *thesis*, is, as it were, 'put out of work' (*mise en ex-ergue*). Friendship coincides with *inoperativity*: it coincides with a non-appropriating, non-representational 'contact' between the living being and the speaking being – potentiality and actuality. It coincides with a proximity resisting representation (*and* conceptualisation), so that, *here*, the "friend is not an other I, but an otherness immanent to selfness, a becoming other of the self' (Agamben 2009c, pp. 34–5). Or, put by Hamacher, the friend is an "altérité sans Autre" (2019, p. 242), an *otherness* outside the *Gesetz*, outside *oikonomia*, with friendship, rather than being a matter of *différance*, coming to the fore with or as pure *anarchy*, with or as *presuppositionless* beginning. *Now*, in approaching the end of this *mise en ex-ergue*, I want to express my sincere gratitude to, and acknowledge the support of, what to me are some very special friends.<sup>9</sup>

## Acknowledgements

In these acknowledgements to the friends, i.e. the human beings defying representation and conceptualisation, who have supported me and my ex-thetic thesis throughout the years, I, first and foremost, wish to express my gratitude to my principal supervisor and long-time mentor, Sverre Spoelstra. A role model in so many respects, Sverre deserves a big thanks for his adorable ability to genuinely feel happy for *others*, his unwavering interest in non-representational (i.e. *really* exceptional) work, his refreshing, commendable approachability, as well as the patience and stability that he, despite all, has unswervingly provided. From what I can tell, there are few fit to hold a candle to you on these scores... That said, this book, I am entirely sure, would not have been *possible*. It would not have been a testimony to true friendship without your relentless backing and encouragement. Where others' intuitive knee-jerk reaction might have been scepticism, you, a peerless companion through thick and thin, showed faith and fidelity, assuring me that every cloud has a silver lining. Besides, it was you who introduced me to, and whetted my appetite for, Agamben's and Cooper's work, never giving me the feeling that I had bitten off more than I could chew...

Joining the supervision process at a comparatively late stage, my assistant supervisor, Peter Svensson, has to be thanked for the congenial calmness and prudence he steadfastly offered; his arguably conscious, considerate attempts *not* to simply *impose* certain *premises*; and his ability to, even in occasional disagreement,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For illustrative, if *oikonomic*, organisation research on 'the friend', see Allen 2017; Boje and Jørgensen 2014; Brewis 2014; Costas 2012; Farias 2017; French 2007; French et al. 2009; Gibbons 2004; Good and Cooper 2016; Grey and Sturdy 2007; Korber et al. 2024; Pillemer and Rothbard 2018; Rumens 2008, 2010, 2012, 2016; Tasselli 2019; Tasselli and Kilduff 2018; Townley 1994.

be a generous and helpful interlocutor and, not forgetting, a formidable listener. I have grown immensely fond of your affable unprejudiced attitude, your openmindedness and your subtle, circumspect ways of diffusing, and doing without, quick-temperedness.

Accepting to act as discussants at my final seminar, William Watkin and Damian O'Doherty provided crucial feedback that prompted me, as far as my arguments are concerned, to opt for utmost 'clarity', inasmuch as, following Agamben, "in *claritas*, what appears is language itself" (2010, p. 27). That is to say, their feedback 'clearly' made me focus even more on showcasing, and testifying to, what Murray, drawing upon Agamben, calls the "attempt to free language from the imperative to mean" (2010, p. 29). No doubt, their comments, arguably keeping me from spreading myself too thin, provided the impetus for a beneficial, exclusive focus on uninhibited 'clarification': for a *real* state of exception rather than only a *virtual* state of exception...<sup>10</sup>

Complementing employment as a doctoral candidate at the Department of Business Administration at Lund University School of Economics and Management, several scholarships allowed me to attend PhD courses, workshops and conferences, all of which proved to be vital touchstones for my work. Notably, the Helge Ax:son Johnson Foundation, the Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, the Letterstedt Society, the William and Hugo Evers Fund, Professor Lorentz Fredrik Westman's Fund, a SCOS bursary and a Concepta stipend allowed me to discuss and develop my thesis.

Of course, special thanks are also due to Carolina Lilja, Joe Alfvén and Jayne Jönsson. With the three of you I have shared many reflections, anxieties and, not least, joy. On you I could always rely. All of you have expressed incredible support for my work. And all of you are unique, much-treasured friends without whom completing *this* book would have been much more challenging, perhaps *impossible*. Always happy to discuss Agamben, matters surrounding the Law and messianism with me, Carolina has been a wonderful sounding board for all sorts of *ideas* and a brilliant source of inspiration. Your 'contagious' laughter has often functioned as a cocoon in which one could hide from, and forget, the Law, whose principal characteristic, Kafka writes in the prose piece *Advocates*, is "a droning noise that could be heard incessantly in the distance" (1971, p. 763). In our luckiest, most insouciant moments, there has been nothing but laughter and rib-tickling 'comedy'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For clarity's sake, 'clarity', like the *real* (state of) exception, in *this* context, is just another term for inoperativity or, if you prefer, pure *an-archy*. As a consequence, it is at odds with Cooper's musings, which revolve around a dialectic between "[t]he latent [that] does not easily lend itself to the clarity of definition" (2005b, p. 1693) *and* the "clear, definitive and even obvious" (ibid.).

(cf. Butler 2015), with all 'noise' fully evaporated (cf. Pors 2015; Stäheli 2003; Swann and Ghelfi 2019).<sup>11</sup>

Joe is hands-down the most clairvoyant person I know, your sarcastic, bittersweet remarks being the bee's knees. As true friends, we have always refrained from 'talking sense into each other' and, therefore, whenever we meet, have a whale of a time. Thank you for letting me use your magnificent bumblebee photograph. Truly, a picture is worth 1000 words; and, perhaps, a book really ought to be judged by its cover... Jayne, as keen as mustard as far as *this* text is concerned, has not only indomitably cheered for me. Never pussyfooting around, you have also carefully read and commented on many parts of *this* thesis, some of which were entirely topsy-turvy and unruly. Your sense of integrity and uplifting, point-blank candidness, as well as your fine poetic/writing skills, have given me great pleasure and inspire me a lot.

Finally, I also want to thank Alexander Paulsson, Anna Sophie Biering-Sørensen, Anna Löthman, Anna Pfeiffer, Annett Hartmann, Bernadette Loacker, Carys Egan-Wyer, Charlina Lunvald, Clarissa Sia, Devrim Göktepe-Hultén, Ekaterina Chertkovskaya, Francisco Valencia Baier, Fritzi Tramer, Georg Tramer, Gertrud Kästner, Ilona Tramer, Jennifer Emsfors, Jörgen Wettbo, Jürgen Dapprich, Lena Scherman, Lotta Tramer, Mathieu Chaput, Mikael Hellström, Monika Müller, Nathalie Ramsbjer, Oskar Christensson Paul Tramer, Porntepin Sooksaengprasit, Rachel Waldo, Ronja Tramer, Sandra Tramer, Thomas Bay, Tony Huzzard, Wenjun Wen, Wen Pan Fagerlin and Yaqian Wang. Whether you are aware of it or not, *you* all have contributed to the completion of *this* book in *your* own way; a big thanks to all of *you*...<sup>12</sup>

Also, with the *oikonomic* reader *now* gone, I owe a big thanks to *you*, dear friendly (i.e. *inoperative*) reader, for avoiding turning *this* text into a vexing closed book (i.e. noise or the Law's *virtual* exception/suspension), into a trivial open book (i.e. fixed identities or the Law's normal functioning) or an oscillation between these poles. I owe a big thanks to *you* for making *possible*, cherishing and guarding our friendship; having rendered *oikonomia* inoperative, *now* you inhabit what Kafka, in *Josephine the Singer, or the Mouse Folk*, calls "a mere nothing in voice, a mere nothing in execution" (1971, p. 628), with inoperativity "the speech we find when language

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Later, I, elaborately, discuss *idea(s)*, *contagion* and *comedy* – terms encapsulating friendship.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> I remember the many pub evenings with Katya, Alexander and Bernadette being particularly friendly, as well as the wonderful annual table tennis tournament, still held at the Department of Business Administration and continued by, amongst others, Anna, Lena and Charlina; the generosity of my office mate, Francisco; the many quips and the forthrightness shared with Mathieu; the splendid moments with the gifted chefs and invaluable companions, Clarissa and Nukki; the support and cheerfulness offered by Jörgen; the lovely conversations (in person or digital) with Jennifer; the affection given to, and received from, my 'sibling of choice', Yaqian; and the love of my family.

frees itself from its suppositional and presuppositional pretension" (Agamben 2024a, p. 77).

## Preface: on illegibility

"There are no readers. There are only words without addressee." (Agamben 2023a, p. 329)

"Illegible", a reader of *this* book, an inveterate deconstructionist, blurted aloud after having, yes, read it... Seemingly common to all deconstructionists, this reader stresses "the *processual* nature of difference as distinct from its meaning as a fixed presence (i.e. static difference)" (Cooper 1989, p. 488). Hence, distinctly, this reader, as it were, "relates the world as an infinite wholeness of mutability in which composition is the permutability of differences" (2014, p. 591). Indeed, *supposing* what Agamben calls an "onto-logical nexus [i.e. a 'relation' or 'articulation'] between language and being" (2018d, p. 4), not only is this man, upon reading *my* book, entirely disgruntled and peevish. He also 'relates' the world – with Cooper – "as an infinite latency from which to extract readily readable forms" (2014, p. 595), so that, apropos *resultant, textually composed* difference(s), "[p]rocess and recess [both from *cedere, inter alia* meaning 'to stride'] are recursive versions of each other in a world without end" (p. 585). Here, 'figure' and 'ground' are "mutually defining fractals" (2001a, p. 195).

For, generally, this reader views the illegibility of the 'written', of the gramma or what Aristotle, in On Interpretation (Peri Hermeneias), describes as ta en te phoné ('that which is in the voice'), as "a continuous absence" (Cooper 1989, p. 488). Implicitly, he regards "the letter [the gramma/'written'] as the negation and exclusion of the [natural or animal] voice" (Agamben 1991, p. 30). And, as a result, he grounds humanity negatively, presupposing it, so to say, as that "which is written but not read" (ibid.). Differently put, for this wrought-up, aggressively bellowing reader, "gramma [...] is the arthron [joint] that articulates [joins] voice [the living being] and language [the speaking being]" (p. 39). Markedly, in his view, it is this 'lettered/lettering' arthron that 'articulates' or, and this is the same thing, 'relates/connects' potentiality and act; it is ""writing' that makes matter into culture" (Cooper 2001a, p. 195).

Or, in short, for him, the flippant, incensed reader in question, "gramma [...] functions as the negative ontological foundation" (Agamben 1991, p. 39). This amounts to saying that, for him, "language is produced through an 'articulation' of the voice, which is nothing else than the inscription of letters (grammata) in it" (2018d, p. 18). Congruously, taking his point of departure in "a voice that can be

written" (p. 19), i.e. a voice that can be 'grammaticised', the deconstructionist reader sees the illegibility of the *grammal*/'written' "as a force that is continually beyond our grasp and therefore never properly present" (Cooper 1989, p. 488). He sees "graphing [to] introduce an intrinsic [...] 'unstillable oscillation' into the material base of all marking" (2001a, p. 195)... As Butler – in favour of deconstructionism – *writes*, this reader sees the illegibility of the 'written' as a force defying 'presence', if "presence' is understood as a primary or originary reality, and the voice or, rather, the sounds of speech are understood to create and convey that presence in and as the world" (2016, p. xiii).

And yet, 'relatedly', he, the deconstructionist reader, *posits* that this peculiar force, this illegible 'written', this gramma said to be within the voice, "has to be 'read' in all its variety and ambiguity" (Cooper 1989, p. 482). For it, illegible 'writing', "serves as the drive to organize" (p. 481). Patently, for deconstructionists, it serves as a drive to make us what Parker – whose work, via Cooper's influence too, bears a somewhat deconstructionist imprint – refers to as "organizing animals" (2002, p. 183). Thus, amongst deconstructionists broadly conceived, this alleged drive is found to prompt us to "make ourselves human through patterning our worlds, by categorizing people and things through language" (ibid.). But, still, in Parker's opinion, we must "not get sucked into becoming a self-important machine for manufacturing stable myths" (2009, p. 1295).<sup>13</sup> In this vein, for this reader, the hermeneut of 'letters', illegible "writing [...] has to be understood as the very condition of discourse in general" (Cooper 1989, p. 486) while, at the same time, accentuating and spawning "the essential uncertainty of human discourse" (p. 481). After all, with deconstruction, Butler pointedly affirms, "the problem of writing [...] depends on a generative collapse of the mimetic ideal mandating that writing [solely] reiterates the sounds of speech" (2016, p. viii).

Vitally, seen from this angle, it, the 'related' latency of absence/writing/illegibility, has to be understood as the very condition of presence/speech/legibility, with the former held to, by way of 'process/recess', keep the latter "from degrading into structure" (Cooper 1989, p. 483). With this in view, it becomes clear that, whether scornfully or not, the angered deconstructionist reader mentioned criticised what he, appalled and in consternation, deemed to be a lack of readily discernible meaning or, perchance, of meaning altogether. Firmly, he urged and indignantly *insisted* that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> As a *para*digmatic reading of Lacan's punning with *mythiquement* ('mythically') and *mythique ment* ('myth lies') shows, what Parker ignores is that *any* such myth is a lie *and* that truth-as-exit rests on testimony; *here*, "[t]he truth of testimony does not depend on what it says but on what is not said, on the fact that it brings a speechlessness into words" (Agamben 2022b, p. 50), underlining that "it is possible to say something without speaking" (2023c, p. 3) – *without* signifying/*oikonomic logos* (for critiques of 'foundational myth(ologeme)s', see Agamben 1998, 2005a; Benjamin 1996b).

the latent, illegible 'written' he strictly takes to reside in, and characterise, the human voice, i.e. the 'empty force' of the *absent* presence, be rendered legible...

Somewhat perplexingly, he demanded that – the mentioned collapse of mimesis, of 'presence', bringing about a world without (set) end, notwithstanding – the 'letters' somehow be interpreted. He demanded that my *text* 'inform', bearing in mind that, following Cooper, "the *informing* of *information* is necessarily positive *and* negative at the same time" (2006/2023, p. 123); that is to say, for him, my *text* should have reflected "the actual structure of the word *inform* whose Latin and early English origins included the combined meanings of being in shape and form *and* being shapeless and out of form" (ibid.). For, from his grammatological point of view, information emerges as a "ceaseless informing or putting into form of a readable and meaningful world but this readability and sense of meaning can never be taken for granted" (ibid.). And, as noted, mimesis/'presence' has, for him, evaporated, and we all said to be ensnared in the "double action of approaching and withdrawing" (2007, p. 1573).

Yet, what this reader failed to note is that *this* book can – based on Agamben's work on Benjamin, who, in turn, draws on von Hofmannsthal – be said to be an invitation to "read what was never written" (1999b, p. 158). Significantly, it is an invitation to read beyond reading's *negative* self-*presupposition*/grounding in the illegible 'written' or *absent* presence. It is an invitation to unlock, and read upon the basis of, *not* the thwarted illegibility of deconstruction with its *negative* basis in the 'written', but the pure illegibility endorsed by, and inhering, Agamben's work. Echoing the belief that, in a way, there is no reader, no hermeneut of 'letters', it is an invitation to read writing *without* reading's or, yes, *logos* '/speech's 'written', fully divesting itself of the "force (i.e. non-presence) of [illegible] writing" (Cooper 1989, p. 489).

In other words, distinguished from the deconstructionist/grammatological voice, i.e. "a voice that has been transcribed and comprehended—that is, captured—by means of letters" (Agamben 2018d, p. 19), pure illegibility, as the wager of *this* preface/book, involves "a voice that has never been written, an un-writable that [...] obstinately remains such" (p. 25). Obviously, *here*, "[t]here is no articulation between the living and the speaking being" (ibid.), between *phoné* and *logos*, potentiality and act; *now*, politics is, *pace* Aristotle, Derrida and Cooper, "thinkable beyond relation and, thus, no longer in the form of a connection" (1998, p. 29). As for *phoné* and *logos*, work/organisation is thinkable as "an intimacy without relation" (2015b, p. 236), with legibility unable to appropriatively project itself into, and trap, the living. *Here*, work lies even beyond Cooper's *supposed* "origins in the invisible and absent" (2007, p. 1567).

Accordingly, *this* book recognises, with Kotsko and Salzani, that, as for Agamben (as well as for Derridean deconstruction/grammatology or any scholar's work for that matter), "reading practices [...] flow into the broad definition of what

philosophy is" (2017, pp. 1–2). No doubt, as myriad organisation scholars have pointed up (e.g. Cooper 2001a, 2007; Helin 2015; Kuismin 2022; Leonard 2004; Prasad 2002; Pullen et al. 2020; Rhodes 2000; Rhodes and Pitsis 2008; Valtonen and Pullen 2021), reading and, yes, writing practices flow into the definition of what work/organisation *is*.

Interestingly, this can also be illustrated by way of comparing the role attributed to the preface/proem in Derrida and Agamben; as Spivak, writing on Derrida, underscores, "[t]he preface, by daring to repeat the book and reconstitute it in another register, merely enacts what is already the case" (2016, p. xxx). Specifically, for Derrida, Spivak explains, "[t]here is, in fact, no 'book' other than these ever different repetitions" (ibid.). Indeed, "each act of reading the 'text' is a preface to the next" (p. xxx-xxxi), with reading, as noticed, in this view, kept from degrading into structure (see Rasche 2010, 2011a,b). Sharply contrasting therewith, Agamben stresses that "[t]he philosophical word is essentially and constitutively proemical" (2018d, p. 93), so that "[e]verything the philosopher writes [...] is only a proem to an unwritten work" (p. 96). Therefore, while work/organisation emerges, with Derrida, as subject to ever alterable hermeneutical readings, with Agamben, work/organisation defies any hermeneutical reading. For work/organisation remains both unwritten and un-writable, the hermeneut of 'letters' unable to grammatologically ground himself in the living and, hence, dissolved (see De Boever 2016 for the role of the preface in Agamben).

Concretely, this book recognises that Agamben's work amounts to a curious "theory of reading" (Kotsko and Salzani 2017, p. 9) aimed at deactivating our subjugation to dominant modes of legibility (or, if you wish, work), be they conventional objectivist and, as a result, concerned with "the 'writing of organization" (Cooper 1989, p. 502) or deconstructionist and, thus, concerned with "the 'organization of writing" (ibid.). Stated differently, not only do "Agamben and Derrida [arguably Agamben's key interlocutor] argue philosophically through readings of texts" (Attell 2015, p. 4). Both read reading differently, with this book testifying to the *potential* of an Agambenian reading *vis-à-vis* work (as hinted, itself seen to ultimately amount to the ac-tivity of reading). That is, by dint of testimony, I provide a reading readable only in its pure unreadability. I provide a reading without presupposition of, and anchoring in, the 'written'; since I – entirely – concur with Agamben, who shows that "what is borne witness to cannot already be language [logos] or writing [gramma]" (1999c, p. 38). Only "[i]f there is no articulation [no arthron] between the living being [phoné] and language [logos], [...] then there can be testimony" (p. 130; cf. Derrida 2005).<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Expectably, Derrida's musings vis-à-vis testimony differ sharply from Agamben's work; for Derrida, "there is in all testimony an implication [...] of law [from *logos* and, thus, linked to *legibility*]" (2005, p. 86). Specifically, for him, "[a]s soon as I bear witness, I am in front of you

Consequently, without a doubt, if in a way you, dear reader, may not initially expect, this book is a testimony to the possibility of unreadability. For it withdraws from, and, equally, does away with, the brute violence of imposing any meaning whatsoever. Importantly, this also includes the meaningless 'written' grammatologists/deconstructionists believe – as touched upon – to spur and inspire meaningful reading (or discourse). As such, akin to all of Agamben's books, this book is "but a sort of prologue of a book never written or writable" (Agamben 1985, p. 33), staving clear of grounding its legibility in an illegible 'written'. And thus, this book is doubtlessly deliberately written in an *il-legible* way. After all, it reflects, and bears witness to, the condition of no longer being subject to (*il*-) appropriating, biopolitical language (logos). In other words, this book is written as a testimony to the *possibility* of a life *no longer* subject to the classical, Aristotelian precept on account of which the 'work of man qua man' is, unceremoniously, identified with 'life according to the logos'. That means, for good reason, this book refuses vehemently to, willy-nilly, equate the 'work of man qua man' with life according to the 'Law', thus fighting *imposition* tooth and nail. Since, siding with the Italian philosopher and political theorist Giorgio Agamben, to me, the 'Law', conceived as language in its oikonomic, i.e. self-consecrating/-consecrated, guise, has, decidedly and unreservedly, to be understood as "a principle of abuse and oppression" (Agamben 2023b, p. 51). 'Law' has to be seen as "solely directed toward judgement, independent of truth and justice" (1999c, p. 18), a motif explored later via a brief, critical reading of Cooper, Derrida and Luhmann.

In keeping with Agamben, *this* book is, then, *written* as a testimony to the moment "when the book [or 'writing'] of the world falls from your hands" (2017c, p. 78). By a coincidence, that means that it mirrors Benjamin's musings on Kafka's 'students', such as 'the new advocate', Karl Rossmann, Odradek or 'the uncalled servant' (see Beyes and Holt 2019; Hamacher 2011, 2020; Salzani 2019), inasmuch as these "students are pupils who have lost the holy Writ" (Benjamin 1999, p. 815). Or, in line with Autonomous Artists Anonymous's clarifications apropos their use of representationless abstract geometry, *this* book is *written* as a testimony to a life that, wittingly, "remains impervious to any reading or deciphering" (2017, p. 886). Emphatically, *this* book is *written* as a testimony to a life that remains impervious to any reading or deciphering pivot upon biopolitical-cum-communicative appropriation: on *oikonomia*. By the same token, unlike the appalled, arguably disdainful reader mentioned, *this* book does *not* 

as before the law" (ibid.). In other words, for Derrida, man is "not merely the subject of the law outside the law [outside *legible* 'presence'], he is also, to infinity, but finitely, the prejudged [*le préjugé*]. Not in the sense of being judged in advance, but in being in advance of judgement that is always in preparation and always delayed" (2018, p. 55). Alluding to Kafka's *Before the Law*, Derrida holds, therefore, that "man is man from the country in so far as he is unable to read or, if he can read, he still has to deal with the illegibility within that which seems to allow itself to be read" (p. 43).

despair over a lack of meaning and – if Agamben's work is anything to go by – a corollary dispensation with abuse and oppression. Quite the reverse, with Agamben, it, happily, sets out to testify to the *possibility* "that we have finished with having to understand" (2023b, p. 11). *Writing* but 'unwrittenness', it sets out to testify to the *possibility* that we have finished with having to mean, the ensuing 'non-meaning' a blessing (in disguise)...

Hence, this book differs sharply from, and winds up, if ultimately obliquely, vividly contesting, Jacques Derrida's prodigiously influential postulations, postulations that little by little have also gained remarkable traction in the field of organisation studies (e.g. Bowden 2020; Clegg et al. 2007; Egan-Wyer et al. 2014; Griffin et al. 2015; Jones 2003; Jones at al. 2005; Nyberg and De Cock 2022; Rasche 2011a,b; Rhodes and Brown 2005). For, according to Derrida, for better or worse, one simply "cannot speak of an absence of meaning, except by giving it a meaning it does not have" (2001, p. 332). To go straight to the heart of the matter, in Derrida's theoretical edifice, there is - rain or shine - in language, no pure absence of meaning or signification. No matter what, fatally, for him, unreadable absence is inevitably always already appropriated by this or that allegedly deferred readable presence. Non-meaning or, synonymous herewith, illegible play are always already appropriated by this or that possibly deferred meaning/legibility; since "[t]he absence of the transcendental signified extends the domain and the play of signification infinitely" (p. 354). All this is tantamount to saying that, following Derrida, "[p]lay is the disruption of presence" (p. 369). Or, in short, "play [is] the absence of the transcendental signified" (2016, p. 54). Otherwise stated, while "play is always play of absence and presence" (2001, p. 369), in Derrida's view, "[b]eing must be conceived as presence and absence on the basis of the possibility of play" (ibid.). Put yet another way, non-meaning/play - Derrida, epitomising the snide 'reader', *insists* – is the quasi-foundation of a steadily deferred *legibility* rather than, as Agamben reveals, its long-awaited, neutralising antidote...

Evidently, that means that Derrida fails to unfurl play, with Agamben, in a more farreaching way, as "a passage from a *religio* [related to '*legibility*'] that is now felt to be false or oppressive to negligence [literally '*il-legibility*'] as *vera religio*" (2007a, p. 76)... Patently, Derrida fails to join Agamben in what the latter calls "return[ing] to play its purely profane vocation" (p. 77), insofar as, once profaned, "play frees and distracts humanity from the sphere of the sacred [i.e. of the 'Law'], without simply abolishing it" (p. 76)... On the whole, whilst for Derrida play/"original illegibility is [...] the very possibility of the book [or of incessantly deferred or postponed 'infinite signification']" (2001, p. 95) *and*, correlatively, "[t]he exit from the book, the other and the threshold are all articulated *within the book*" (p. 93), *my* book testifies to the *possibility* of fully *neg-ligent*, profane play/non-meaning. It testifies to the *possibility* of neutralising any *oikonomically legible* book. *Pace* Derrida, with Agamben, it testifies to, and turns out to be, *not* just another biopolitical impasse. It testifies to, and turns out to be, a true exit *itself*, remaining *legible* only in its *il-legibility*.

Organisation scholarship has, at least to a certain extent, dealt with similar concerns. Especially, Robert Cooper (1931-2013) - a prominent scholar, who, born in Liverpool, held appointments at, for example, Lancaster University and Keele University – has been tremendously influential in this context. For decades, he called attention to issues such as 'disorganisation' (e.g. Cooper 2016d), 'rupture' (e.g. Cooper 2016g), 'non-form' (e.g. Cooper 2001c) and 'uncertainty' (e.g. Cooper 2005a). All of these shade into the theme of unreadability. In other words, in Cooper's work, all these issues rest on, and cement, a view of "the 'zero symbolic value' of the signifier as play" (2016d, p. 93)... Recognised for having "influence[d] a significant number of staff and students" (Burrell and Parker 2016, p. 3) and frequently associated with providing "a breath of fresh air, showing that it was possible to broaden the range of writing that one engaged in" (p. 4), Cooper, by calling attention to these issues, has hoped to redress what - for him - are "two major intellectual vices: objectification and the naturalization of order" (Cooper, cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 156). The first, objectification, entails framing the social world as a collection of clearly divided, self-identical objects - such as, say, the 'individual', the 'organisation' or 'society' – with these 'objects', Cooper finds, nine times out of ten, detrimentally thought of as fixed structures with certain physical properties or traits. The second, the naturalisation of order, concerns the assumption that order and regularity are inherently conducive to social action, with disorder and disturbance or, if you prefer, unreadability, Cooper laments, often fallaciously understood as entailing unnatural distortions of an original state of harmony... The long and the short of it is that, in *his* 'book', we tend to mistakenly 'read fixed signifieds into reading'...

Adequately grappling these vices, Cooper *writes*, means "strip[ping] human being and its settings of their conventional readability" (2005a, p. xii) and, connected herewith, fully embracing "the intrinsic unreadability and ungraspability of the world" (ibid.). On this view, to put it with Derrida, who has been an important source of inspiration for Cooper, we "no longer re-present a present that would exist elsewhere and [be] prior" (2001, p. 299). Consequently, going about these two vices, we are told, means adopting "a view of social life as 'text" (Cooper and Fox 1990, p. 578), where we should not 'read' in the sense of giving "a seeming definiteness to what is really provisional, a comforting integrity to what is incomplete" (ibid.). Rather, we should recognise that such "text opens out in a centrifugal way and can only be experienced as an activity of creative production, in which the agent/'reader' is caught up as an active element in the ongoing, unfinished movement of text" (ibid.). Or, to return to Derrida, we should recognise that "text is not conceivable in any originary or modified form of presence" (2001, p. 265). Alas, as indicated, this puts a spotlight on unprofaned 'play/original *illegibility*' only, slamming the door on pure non-meaning. On balance, this view presupposes an articulation between *phoné* and *logos*, potentiality and act. And, in so doing, it suppresses the *possibility* that "voice and language are in contact without any articulation" (Agamben 2018d, p. 28). As for *phoné* and *logos*, it denies the *possibility* of an *immediate* 'contact', *without gramma*-based 'relation'.

What is more, for Cooper, *redressing* these two interrelated vices and, by necessity, the 'conventional readability' underlying dominant organisation scholarship, with its woeful focus on "stone-like solidity and rationalised self-belief" (2005a, p. xii), implies replacing a view of organisations as "instrumental systems" (2016g, p. 34) as it highlights structure rather than process. In lieu thereof, a view of organisations as "expressive systems" (ibid.), where, in contrast, "every contingency is valued as a potential source of growth" (ibid.), is to be endorsed. Importantly, viewing organisations as expressive rather than instrumental systems invites us to grasp "man as 'ever open' and 'unfinished" (ibid.). This, in turn, is tied to a redefinition of "social action as [...] the making of something out of [unreadable] nothing" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 157). Or, to paraphrase, seeing organisations as expressive systems unavoidably implies a redefinition of social action as the making of presence out of unreadable absence, where – for Cooper – this "[a]bsence has to be seen as a productive force in all aspects of human being" (2016c, p. 299). Eventually, it, unreadable absence, matter or play, has to be grasped as "a metaphysical power that both transgresses and redeems itself through the continuous making of making" (2005a, p. xi)...

Therefore, not only are we to supplant arguably worn-out concepts of the human organiser that axiomatically presuppose both the representation of a given, fixed sense and full presence. Tellingly, we are also urged to come to terms with, and embrace, a redefinition of the "human being as a continuous process of finding and re-finding ourselves against a background that significantly lacks foundation" (Cooper 2016c, p. 288). Curiously, viewed from this angle, "[r]epresentation becomes the conversion of force or power into information" (2016a, p. 197). This, however, means that Cooper misses that such force/power and, hence, 'original illegibility/play' are (already cornered in and by) representations. Reduced to "an outside of restraint and retroactive non-forms or forces" (ibid.), illegibility/play is already *oikonomically* appropriated instead of profaned... In any event, following Cooper, we are to reappraise organisation as "an infinite and never-ending act of creation which exists for itself and not for some external reason" (2005a, p. x). Indeed, trading instrumental for expressive systems means getting fully to grips with primal unreadability/play, provided that we - nevertheless - "save the world from dissolution and disappearance" (ibid.) or what Cooper, elsewhere, more illustratively calls "madness and chaos" (2016g, p. 34; see also Burrell 2020). In lieu of deeming the world to be "readily 'readable' for us" (Cooper 2001b, p. 35), it means grasping that "readability' is not already there for us but has to be created" (ibid.)... It means that Cooper 'takes signification as read'.

More concretely, for Cooper, the "absence [underlying unreadability] is not the nonpresence of something we know, but the missing presence of something we do not know" (2016c, p. 299), with Cooper pointing towards, and promoting, a dynamic, dialectical (from légein, meaning inter alia 'to speak' or 'read') relationship between presence/something/readability and absence/nothing/unreadability. For, according to him, "presence and absence re-create themselves repeatedly out of each other" (p. 296). In this particular reading, presence/something/readability and absence/nothing/unreadability give rise to "continuously renewed becomings and beginnings" (Cooper and Law 2016, p. 200), pointing the "way to an improvisatory and experimental conception of organizing activity" (Cooper and Fox 1990, p. 579). Thus, *addressing* the two related vices mentioned, objectification and the naturalisation of order, by way of adopting a view of organisations as expressive systems, compels us, Cooper seems to tirelessly suggest, to grasp man's unreadability/play or 'nothingness/absence' as the ultimate fountainhead of an explorative, presumably continually altering legibility. By implication, in these particular systems, Cooper rejoices, "[m]eaning is [...] far from stable and more like a temporary stopping place which never arrives at a final destination" (2016c, p. 284). After all, in Derrida's hugely influential reading - a reading that, on close examination, has spread like wildfire - "meaning is a function of play; is inscribed in a certain place in the configuration of meaningless play" (2001, p. 329).

On this account, rather than, with Agamben, testifying to 'words without addressee', i.e. to words that do *not* 'subject' (*ad*-) human beings to the 'Law' (*drictus*), Cooper, like Derrida, sets his hope upon "words [that] never arrive at a destination but are carried indefinitely in a continuous motion of deferral and postponement" (2001b, p. 17). Redolent of Derrida's *reading* of Kafka's *Before the Law* – a *reading* that, as Attell shows, conceives the law "as a *différance*, a juridical threshold that is as intangible as it is potent" (2015, p. 14), so that "[t]he law both holds [...] man in its power and excludes him from its full presence" (ibid.) – Cooper sets his hope upon an active law whose full presence, to be sure, remains intrinsically inaccessible. In sum, he sets his hope on the law's paradoxical self/non-foundation in primordial 'unreadability/play' *and*, as far as readability and 'unreadability/play' affect each other, an "antagonistic complicity" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 126). In his work, which I find to be a textbook example of modern biopolitics, he sets his hope upon the rampant, doom-laden neo-governmental belief that "to travel is better than to arrive" (1992b, p. 373).

All this means that Cooper – like Derrida and his advocates – fails to appreciate the *possibility* of an unreadability/nothingness/absence that, entirely, braves, evades and neutralises *legibility*. He fails to appreciate the *possibility* of *il-legibility*. He fails to truly challenge biopolitics, insofar as, Zartaloudis's work implies, biopolitics concerns "the problem of the institutional integration of life and law" (2010, p. ix) – of life and *legibility*. As a consequence,
while I completely agree with Spoelstra that "Cooper's later work [...] raises profound theoretical questions concerning the ontological underpinnings of organization" (2016, p. 14), Cooper, I argue in *this* book, leaves organisation scholarship entrapped in a dire impasse as he, though claiming the opposite, winds up equating organisation with communicative appropriation.<sup>15</sup> Put briefly, I argue that Cooper's unreadability/nothingness/absence or play amount to what Agamben refers to as "imperfect nihilism" (1999b, p. 171) or, alternatively, as "a petrified or paralyzed messianism" (ibid.).

For, while Cooper, akin to all messianism, nullifies the Law, he maintains it in what Agamben, drawing on Benjamin, calls "a perpetual and interminable [*virtual*] state of exception, the 'state of exception' in which we live" (1999b, p. 171), with the Law becoming "ungraspable—but, for this reason, insuperable, ineradicable ('undecidable', in the terms of deconstruction)" (ibid.). That is, in Cooper's opinion, unreadability or play amount to a nullification of the law that maintains the resultant nothing in a perpetual, infinitely deferred state of validity rather than neutralising it. Deplorably, it, Cooper's unreadability/nothingness/absence/play, amounts to an *oikonomic* perpetuation of the law, insofar as the law, despite its suspension of seemingly given, fixed identities *and*, premised thereon, full presence, is left operative. Thus, Cooperian 'unreadability/play' still begs to be subject to "perfect nihilism" (Agamben 1999b, p. 171). It begs to be rendered inoperative, with inoperativity (*inoperosità*) revolving around the neutralisation of *oikonomic* language *and*, concomitant herewith, the revelation of language in its *suchness*/non-meaning – in its sheer *il-legibility*...<sup>16</sup>

Followingly, my critique of Robert Cooper's work takes issue with, and hopes to undo, his persistent *installing* of unreadability as the foundational (non)source and (non)origin of *legibility*. This echoes Agamben's increasingly well-rehearsed critical commentaries *vis-à-vis* Jacques Derrida (e.g. De la Durantaye 2009; Mills 2008; Murray 2010; Primera 2019; Prozorov 2014; Thurschwell 2003, 2004, 2005; Willemse 2017; Wortham 2007), commentaries, which – as Kevin Attell helpfully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Here, I do not mean to imply that Cooper, given that only few organisation scholars are thoroughly acquainted with his work, is or was a powerful figure. Instead, I treat his work as paradigmatic as far as organisation scholars' reproduction of the 'onto-logical nexus', i.e. the supposed 'relation/articulation' between the living and the speaking being, is concerned. Thus, I do not challenge Damian O'Doherty's description of Cooper as a 'fly' in the context of organisation scholarship. What – with Wittgenstein, who suggests that philosophy's task is to show the fly a way out of the fly-bottle – I do challenge, however, is Cooper's tenacious reluctance to leave and dismantle the fly-bottle. I challenge Cooper's reluctance to turn an impasse (aporia) into an exit (euporia).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Another way of saying this is that Cooper's unreadability/nothingness/absence/play corresponds to 'bare life', i.e. ('grammaticised') life in the *virtual* state of exception. Because "[t]he link between bare life and politics is the same link that the metaphysical definition of man as 'the living being who has language' seeks in the relation between *phoné* and *logos*" (Agamben 1998, p. 7).

highlights - take issue with "a différance [...] whose play of deferral and nullification is the foundational (non)source and (non)origin of the law" (2015, p. 14).<sup>17</sup> In short, I take issue with, and hope to undo, Cooper's *oikonomic* adherence to the 'Law' or, synonymous herewith, the Other; since, for him, "[w]e know ourselves only through the echo of the Other" (2016h, p. 58), even if we ought to grasp "Otherness as transient becoming and apparition, as the haunting of a seeming presence by an unnerving absence" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 156). Or, phrased slightly differently, here, I take issue with, and hope to undo, Cooper's persistent installing of meaningless play/absence as the foundational (non)source and (non)origin of presence as sense, inasmuch as, within expressive systems, "sense [is] in continuous movement always supplementing itself in an onward movement of deferral and anticipation" (Cooper 2016c, p. 287). Hence, rather than dialectically dynamising the biopolitical imposition of presence/sense, however transient or hazy, I point to the possibility of ex-position: of linguistic nonappropriation. *Il-legibly*, I point to the *possibility* of turning imperfect nihilism into perfect nihilism; for only the latter, I argue, allows us to exit biopolitics. It allows us to exit *oikonomia* and inhabit inoperative 'work'...

As touched on, within Agamben's spunky attempts to vanquish biopolitics, "Derrida must be considered Agamben's primary contemporary interlocutor" (Attell 2015, p. 3). In parallel thereto, Cooper must be considered the primary organisation studies interlocutor of my critique/case study of management literature's perpetuation of oikonomia's biopolitical grip on 'work'. Vitally, in this context, critiquing Cooper does not simply mean to, polemically, rebut or denounce his texts. After all, I do sympathise with certain aspects of his work. For example, I am fond of what Burrell and Parker describe as "[h]is insistence on academic work being carried out slowly, with creativity and integrity" (2016, p. 10). And, in equal measure, I appreciate his attempt to draw attention to what Spoelstra refers to as "organization as a generic process" (2016, p. 23), a view directed against an analysis of "organizations and their specific features" (Cooper, cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 126; e.g. Burrell and Dale 2002; Parker 2022).<sup>18</sup> Primarily, critiquing Cooper means, then, testifying to the *possibility* of turning the impasse his work, to my mind, doubtless, encapsulates into an exit. It means rendering *oikonomia* inoperative, the lynchpin being profanation, with a critique of Cooper's work serving as a contrast medium meant to bring out the potential of Agamben's work as far as organisation scholarship is concerned.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Curiously, Derrida's critique of Agamben (e.g. Derrida 2009, 2011a) has received far less attention (for exceptions, see Donahue 2013; Nguyen 2019; Swiffen 2012). Yet, ultimately, both men can be said to be entangled in a constant *dialogue* with the respective other and to even reply to the respective other's critique (see Richards 2019), both rarely going at it hammer and tongs, though.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Still, while Cooper equates organisation with open-ended, gramma-based interpretation, in my book, organisation is borne witness to as, to risk being repetitive, the reading of 'unwrittenness'.

Thus, while Cooper defines organisation in terms of "communication [that] is motivated [...] by the combined need 'to avoid the traps of meaning in language' and the 'dissolution of sense' implied by absence ('ab-sence' or 'off-sense')" (2016e, p. 270), I testify, with Agamben, to the *possibility* of organisation that "communicates nothing but its own communicability" (2007a, p. 60), its own, uncontaminated *il-legibility*. In this way, I *expose* "the word in its own mediality, in its own being a means" (2000, p. 59) – its perfectly nihilistic *suchness*/non-meaning, neutralising *oikonomia*. In virtue thereof, the words *you* read 'mean' that they, *il-legibly*, no longer mean... Concerned with the truth of testimony, they bear witness to utter 'speechlessness'.<sup>19</sup>

Alternatively stated, I expose the word not in terms of an effective off-sense equalling what Agamben - based on Gershom Scholem - calls the law's "being in force without significance" (1999b, p. 171). That means I expose the word not in terms of the law's being 'at work' or operative beyond its formal suspension, the law's 'imperfectly nihilistic' maintaining of itself as a still valid 'nothing' or, to return to Derridean/deconstructionist terminology, 'undecidability'. Instead, I do expose the word in terms of a completely *il-legible*, biopolitically non-appropriated, inoperative off-sense.<sup>20</sup> Also, while, for Cooper, "poetry (which we can also call poiesis [Greek for 'making']) emerges as a suspended condition between the unmarked space of indeterminate matter [or unreadability] and the marked spaces of humanized forms and meanings [or readability]" (2016c, p. 290), I testify to the il-legibility of poetry/poiesis/making. Regarding the 'work of man qua man', I testify to a *poetic* neutralisation of the 'Law/Other'. For, Agamben shows, "poetry is the language that remains when all the communicative and informative functions have been deactivated" (2022b, p. 69). Seen from this angle, poetry is the exposition and exposition of language, neutralising biopolitical communication and, concurrently, revealing humans/organisers in their inoperativity, in their, it bears repeating, suchness/non-meaning/il-legibility. Obviously, this reading of poetry differs from Derrida's work, following which "the poetic or ecstatic is that *in every* discourse which can open itself up to the absolute loss of sense, to the (non-)base of the sacred, of non-meaning, of unknowledge or of play" (2001, p. 330). Thus, while, for me, poetry entails the immediacy/profanity of play/non-meaning, for Cooper and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> In Cooper's view, "[t]he communication of social and cultural forms rests on the continuous collection of letters and words which [...] constitute an ever present background source of new and possible forms" (2001b, p. 18). As opposed to this, 'communicability' as well as 'pure mediality' in Agamben defy the *imposition* of forms, including such forms' negative self-*presupposition* in and as the formless. They defy words' reduction to a quasi-cornucopia of deferred reading/discourse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Put with Attell, *here*, I hope to undo "an empty and absolute law with no specific laws" (2015, p. 14).

Derrida, it centres upon a discursively/grammatologically mediated/appropriated 'relation' to play/non-meaning...<sup>21</sup>

Significantly then, the playful unreadability at stake in this book differs from Cooper's 'related' reflections, which both, it is little wonder, associate organisation with making "readability out of unreadability" (2007, p. 1573) and, at the same time, highlight our being "caught up in the re-creation of absence and unreadability without which there could be no readable presences" (ibid.). Referring to this, Cooper's unreadability is unmistakably at odds with what Agamben, affirmatively, calls a matter of "legendary emptiness" (2007a, p. 70). It is at odds with a matter of, as for logos/legend, non-appropriation and, thus, absolute, joyful vacuity. Contrasting with such vacuity, with Cooper, unreadability remains *oikonomic* as he, time and again, reduces unreadability to a source and product of the ongoing process of reading or *legibility*, of *legendary*/linguistic or, if you like, *logic* appropriation. Put another way, echoing the case of the so-called (imperfectly nihilistic) force-oflaw, Cooper's 'unreadability' keeps the law (logos, legend or leggibilità) 'working' beyond its suspension of firm, fully present identities. That is, with unreadability only *positioned* as a *presupposition* of readability, the *possibility* of a life outside of *oikonomic legibility*, including the *possibility* of a life outside of the unreadability of such legibility, is simply unacknowledged. For Cooper remains, throughout, devoted to the task of "saving the world by making and remaking it for the meaningful and readable comprehension of its human habitants" (2005b, p. xii). In line herewith, for Cooper, unreadability remains the empty vehicle, husk or shell based upon which legibility, in the form of alterable communicative informing/positioning/addressing, may not but should take place. Therefore, the *possibility* of an unreadability that remains completely irreducible to, and deposes, oikonomic legibility is - as sure as eggs is eggs - overlooked...

Attending to this oversight, the remainder of *this* preface consists of one more section that, to return to Agamben, like the rest of *this* book, constitutes "*parerga* which find their true meaning only in the context of an illegible *ergon*" (1993a, p. 3). It finds its true meaning in the context of an *ergon* or work *no longer* subject to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> This diverging take on poetry can be illustrated by comparing Derrida's and Agamben's rivalling *readings* of Celan's late poetry; concretely, in Derrida's view, "Celan's poems remain in a certain way indecipherable, retain some indecipherability and the indecipherable [...] call[s] endlessly for a sort or reinterpretation, resurrection, or new interpretative breath" (2005, p. 107), an oscillation between indecipherability and interpretation being the meat and potatoes of Derrida's approach. In contrast hereto, with one man's meat another man's poison, Agamben, drawing on Celan, suggests that "[p]oetry no longer imposes itself; it exposes itself' (1999b, p. 115); in Agamben's *reading* of Celan, poetry neutralises interpretation, withdrawing even from the grammatologically *posited* indecipherability that Derrida holds to, via process/recess or approaching/withdrawing, spur (and withhold) interpretation, grammatology found to cause us to be dead meat.

the obligation to mean.<sup>22</sup> Concretely, drawing on Kafka's infamous short stories and *parables* and inspired by a particular Swedish radio programme, viz., *Summer on P1*, the remainder of *this* preface explores what it means for organisers to live outside of glass and frames. Otherwise put, in what follows, I discuss what it means for organisers to be *immediately* in 'contact' with themselves and others and, in this sense, to indwell *a-topia*. In this connection, attention is given to the so-called *real* exception (perfect nihilism or perfect messianism) as a way to exit the impasse of the so-called *virtual* exception (imperfect nihilism or petrified and paralysed messianism), with the ensuing *parag*raphs following Agamben as "they put on paper the unreadable" (2017c, p. 79). Henceforth, as for authorship, these *parag*raphs point to, and echo, an "illegible someone who makes reading possible" (2007a, pp. 69–70), insofar as the *possibility* of reading pivots on reading being liberated from the negative self-*presupposition*, i.e. the *virtual* exception, underlying *logic* appropriation. They point to, mirror and merge into a *possibility* of reading that, happily, remains fully *il-legible*.

# In limine: on life outside of glass and frames

"Am not I / A fly like thee?" (Blake 2008, p. 23)

#### A really exceptional apparatus

Bliss! The tropic (related to *trópos*, meaning 'figure of speech') temperatures (from *temperāre*, meaning 'to govern' or 'manage') are gone... After a long, fairly exhausting, swelteringly hot, muggy high summer day, I turned on the old, light brownish, partly dust-covered radio I brought down from the horribly overcrammed attic earlier today. Almost predictably, I nearly dropped it when, a little too briskly, I descended the steep, wobbly flight of stairs and suddenly, not unlike Saul on his way to Damascus, fell to the ground (cf. Sørensen 2010). Thank goodness, I thought to myself, the radio, no longer a spring chicken, seems to be unscathed. Never mind myself...

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In Agamben, the prefix *para*- plays a vital, redemptive role; for instance, as for *para*digm, "[w]hat is essential [...] is the suspension of reference and normal use" (Agamben 2009b, p. 24), so that, "[i]n the paradigm, intelligibility [from *legere*, meaning 'to speak' or 'read'] does not precede the phenomenon; it stands, so to speak, 'beside' it[self] (*para*)" (p. 27). That means that the phenomenon's intelligibility/legibility hangs on hermeneutical intelligibility/legibility being neutralised. Similarly, as for *parousia*, i.e. messianic presence, Agamben underlines that "*parousia* literally signifies to be next to; in this way, being is beside itself in the present" (2005b, p. 70). Indeed, "[m]essianic presence [*parousia*] is beside itself, since, without ever coinciding with a chronological [i.e. represented] instant, and without ever adding itself on to it, it seizes hold of this instant and brings it forth to fulfillment" (pp. 70–1), *parousia* being the neutralisation of representation.

About 40 years old, its sound is a tad muffled and yet shrieking, to be sure. Looking at and listening to it brings back my 'infancy'; literally, it brings back my speechlessness or, rather – as Sergei Prozorov puts it in his fantastic book on Agamben's philosophy – my 'speaking the (as for representation) unspeakable', my speaking non-appropriating, non-representational 'speech'. For, as Zartaloudis clarifies, "[a]t the heart of the experience of infancy, the experience of language's existence, no system of representation or reference can sustain itself" (2010, p. 254). Calling a halt to *oikonomia/imposition*, at the heart of the experience of *in-fancy*, one realises that, to return to a previously used line, "it is possible to say something without speaking" (Agamben 2023c, p. 3). Like the 'son' in Kafka's *Home-Coming*, I feel that, in my father's house, i.e. language, "each object stands cold beside the next, as though preoccupied with its own affairs, which I have partly forgotten, partly never known" (1971, p. 756)...<sup>23</sup>

Needless to say, my (insufferably commanding, Freudian) *legally imposed* 'father' Archon – before he, akin to the awfully burdensome 'temperatures' I lived through or the reality in Trakl's poem 'Vision of Reality', "has sunk again into nothingness" (2011, p. 62) – had banned the radio to the attic for a reason (*causa*); no longer simply a glib apparatus for the reception of transmissions, the cherished radio – in a manner of speaking – comically 'deforms' or 'disfigures' (*entstellt*, i.e. literally 'deposes') the spoken word now and again. Like the nomads in Kafka's *An Old Manuscript*, radios of this sort "do not know our language, indeed they hardly have a language of their own" (1971, p. 708)...

Instead – sticking with Kafka – 'nomadic' radios "converse through the screeches of jackdaws" (1971, p. 708). Amusingly, they converse through the 'deforming' or 'disfiguring' (*entstellende*) 'infancy' of *kavky*, i.e. the plural form of the Czech word *kavka*, the corvine bird serving as the company emblem on the stationary of Kafka's father... All the same, whilst Archon (like *arche*, the Greek word for 'beginning', from \* $h_2erg^h$ , meaning 'to begin', 'lead', 'rule', 'command') told me not to 'touch' (*contingēre*) the wonky radio again, never would I have the heart to simply leave it 'unused' or, linked thereto, to 'self-defeatingly' grapple its utterly amiable, irreparable 'errancy'... Returning to Kafka's superb *Home-Coming*, never would I compromise my friend the radio's being "one who wants to keep his secret (*Geheimnis*)" (1971, p. 757); never would I compromise his happily being incompatible with the law of representational cognition.<sup>24</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Vitally, "[i]nfancy is the term by which Agamben means to preclude the philosophy of presupposition" (Willemse 2017, p. 11). It refers to illiteracy, insofar as we, as illiterates, remain happily outside of a grammatological 'written' *and* any reading or speech that, to be reading or speech, *presupposes* itself *negatively*, i.e. through *virtual* suspension, in and as a grammatological 'written'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Here, the radio and I can be likened to the two lovers of Titian's painting Nymph and Shepherd as these lovers, Agamben shows, dwell in "otium" (2004b, p. 87): inoperativity. As such, they "have

Despite this being just a few days after midsummer – the time, the lovers of *A Midsummer Night's Dream* know, of a "weak and idle theme" (Shakespeare 1994, p. 256) and of a Bottom that "hath no bottom" (p. 228) – it is already pitch-dark outside. Originally, Archon – if, like Count Westwest in *The Castle*, always represented by a cohort of unfriendly functionaries – was supposed to call to issue new orders. But none of these functionaries ever called to inform me about 'His' will. Prior to this, it was announced like clockwork. On reflection, that means that, like K. who, as Murray shows in a book zooming in on Agamben's reading of Kafka, "is only ever to interact with those who are servants of the castle, never Count Westwest, whose existence is, in fact, non-existent" (2010, p. 104), I only ever interacted with functionaries of Archon's business. All I ever experienced was the effect of bureaucratic – of managerial – intermediation.<sup>25</sup>

Anyway, after Archon's demission, which came like a bolt from the blue, only the 'silence' of a world without *causa*/grounding *claim* (from *clāmāre*, meaning 'to call') can most blissfully be *ex-claimed*. Some time ago – I cannot tell when, as the longcase clock had stopped working – someone else, I could not for the life of me figure out who, called, though. Harried, that someone asked a bunch of utterly baffling, bewildering questions. Yet, with Archon irreparably gone ever since I fetched the peculiar radio from the attic and fell to the ground, like the 'uncalled servant' in Kafka's *The Test*, I could not answer any of them... If truth be told, I "did not even understand these questions" (1971, p. 751), left to, happily, exit representational time... For truth, Bachmann's poem 'What Is True' stresses, does not create, but neutralises time (*macht sie wett*)...

Now it dawns on me that this unexpected call came from an increasingly crazed, jittery businessman in his early forties who, as in Kafka's *The Neighbour*, "made inquiries" (1971, p. 721). Since – as for myself, as for the neighbour – "nothing is known" (ibid.), which, in turn, caused this man to be caught up in all kinds of disquieting representations. Perhaps, after I put down the receiver, like the narrator in Kafka's *The Burrow* (cf. Beyes 2019), the man, ensnarled in such representations, feared to be "attacked from some quite unexpected quarter" (Kafka 1971, p. 560). Possibly, he felt that "the enemy may be burrowing his way slowly and stealthily straight towards him" (ibid.)... In any case, one thing remains as clear as day: like the peculiar, uncalled, masterless servant of Kafka's *The Test*, I, the son of an *agronomist*, remain, as happy as a lark, in utter "nonemployment" (p. 749)...

initiated each other into their own lack of mystery as their most intimate secret" (ibid.). But, crucially, they and, thus, also my dear friend the radio and I, "have not become any less impenetrable" (ibid.; cf. Alvesson and Kärreman 2011 apropos 'mystery' in organisation research).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Distinctly, all I had experienced was the *legibility* of a negatively *presupposed illegibility*, where, to return to Attell, this *illegibility* was but "an empty and absolute law without specific laws" (2015, p. 14).

Indeed, following Archon's sudden demission, I am – as the example of the amiably 'deforming' or 'disfiguring' (*entstellende*), 'nomadically infantile' radio shows – left only with a huge jumble of old appliances without 'economic' function whatsoever. I am left 'poor'. Or, rather, akin to Agamben's reading of Dürer's engraving *Melencolia I*, I am left completely 'propertyless' (*besitzlos*, like *Gesetz*, the German word for 'law', from \**sattjan*, meaning 'to set' or 'place'), blissfully unable to, harum-scarum, appropriate (*besitzlen*, literally meaning 'to emplace') myself or others. I am 'destitute' (like *entstellt*, literally meaning 'deposed'), lacking the means to *impose*...

Enjoying this newly found 'propertylessness'/'silence', the family seems asleep... Momentarily, an 'infantile', screeching tram passenger or 'tramer' – who, reminiscent of the protagonist of Kafka's *On the Tram*, feels "completely uncertain as to his position in the world, in the city and his family" (1971, p. 661) – makes me sit up. But apart from that and the radio, only the croaks of the frogs living in our reed-lined garden pond can be heard. All of a sudden, though, the neighing of a skincoloured, owner- or 'riderless', i.e. free from logic/legal/linguistic appropriation, stallion (from \**stel*, meaning 'place' or 'stand') that, studiously leafing through law (like *logos*, from *légō*, meaning 'to speak') books, originates, and – as for his *destiny* – goes, 'nowhere' (*no-place*) cuts through the air... Is he the horse off whose back Saul fell (cf. Burrell 1998)...?

#### A really exceptional speaker

That's all pretty strange, Kafkaesque even, isn't it...? Howsoever, I hurry to put myself to bed, waiting – while my beloved, peculiar pet has already perkily ensconced itself – with bated breath, for my favourite Swedish radio show, viz., *Summer on P1 (Sommar i P1)*... Earlier today, as if I were the protagonist in Kafka's *A Crossbreed*, I was approached by some men asking the strangest questions about this animal, questions no human being can answer, such as why there is such an animal and why I, rather than anybody else, have it. What's more, as in *A Crossbreed*, the men brought along other animals, "but against all their hopes, there was no scene of recognition" (Kafka 1971, p. 725). Since the animals, as Kafka writes, "accepted their reciprocal existence as a divine fact" (ibid.)...

But back to the here and now; of course, my teeth are already brushed. So I won't have any red wine this time round. Sure, for a while, I was a wee bit tempted... It's summer after all, and I just finished Thanos Zartaloudis's incredibly thoughtful book *The Birth of Nomos*, which somehow calls for a minor celebration and – not least – 'music' (cf. Rhodes 2004, 2007), insofar as, following Agamben, the experience of music refers to the "impossibility of accessing the event of the word that constitutes humans as humans" (2018d, p. 97). But no. Not tonight. A *really* exceptional speaker awaits. And he is going to play 'music' anyway... Finally, I am

about to tuck myself up as the holidayish, never-to-be-forgotten Summer on P1 jingle begins to ring out.<sup>26</sup>

In recent years, I had enjoyed *Summer on P1* hosts such as the marvellously empathetic Stina Wolter, a Swedish artist, television presenter and author, or the disarmingly charming Siw Malmkvist, a Swedish schlager singer and actress, as they talked about topics dear to them and played music of their own choosing. To get ready for tonight's radio broadcast, I carefully put the slightly scuffed radio on the white, grained chest of drawers, which is overfraught with poetry and philosophy books, next to my bed. Amidst this colourful welter of books, some idle knick-knacks Archon bequeathed to me lie strewn. Out of the blue, my tired, squinting eyes are wide open; I notice how, within this peculiar, most formidable clutter, a rather creased sheet of paper on which I noted down some of the beautiful sights I want to show friends soon coming for a visit, amongst them exceedingly gifted Carolina and wonderfully uncomplicated Jayne, peeks out... How I look forward to seeing you – all bright-eyed and bushy-tailed...!

You wonder what sights I have in mind...? Apart from 'the garden', 'lost places', of course! Unlike *aban*doned places that, still being owned, may or may not become the location of, say, media agencies or some anthropological or zoological institute (see Parker 2021), 'lost places' are no longer subject to ownership/appropriation.<sup>27</sup> Rather, they are wholly *neg-lected* (literally no longer subject to, *nec*, appropriating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Even as for 'music', there is a crucial difference between Cooper and Agamben; indeed, Cooper, referring to certain Beatles songs, emphasises "a generic medley of images, voices, sounds, etc., in which there are no identifiable subjectivities, no recognisable authors or sources, but simply the anonymous media through which we live" (2001c, p. 330). That means that, for him, in these songs, the Beatles are "alluding-that is, not directly expressing or representing-to a world they sensed but did not completely grasp" (ibid), which, once again, points to an oscillation between indecipherability and interpretation. Elsewhere, he, again referring to the Beatles, suggests that "[m]ost people will think of Penny Lane as a specific part of Liverpool on a map" (cited in Cavalcanti and Parker 2023, p. 150). Yet, in Cooper's view, "John Lennon says no, 'Penny Lane is in my ears and in my eyes" (ibid.). For Cooper, that means that, to begin with, "in a sense, I was nothing. But over a period of time I got to know parts of Liverpool" (p. 151). And that, he adds, "constitutes your ways of thinking and so on. Unless you step back and ask [...] more radical questions" (ibid.) - questions that entail an appreciation deferral and postponement. In contrast hereto, Agamben focuses on Glenn Gould: "He is not the title holder and master of the potential to play, which he can put to work or not, but constitutes-himself as having use of the piano, independently of his playing it or not playing it in actuality" (2015b, p. 62; see also De Boer 2022), Agamben, unlike Cooper, gesturing towards a 'contact', rather than a 'relation' ('articulation/connection'), between phoné and logos, between potentiality and act. In other words, Cooper remains stuck in 'imperfect nihilism/messianism', with Agamben pointing to an exit - 'perfect nihilism/messianism'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Short for the '(*virtual*) state of exception', the '(*virtual*) ban' is a state "in which the law (language) relates to the living being by withdrawing from it, by a-*ban*doning it to its own violence and irrelatedness" (Agamben 2000, pp. 112–3). In Cooper's work, it refers to *legibility*'s grammatological suspension as *illegibility*; in Luhmann's work, it refers to communication's (*virtual*) suspension as 'noise' (e.g. Andersen and Pors 2016; Knudsen 2006; Pors 2015; Stäheli 2003).

language, *logos*) and, in this way, akin to the peculiar radio, allow for a new, *possible* 'use'. It is in these *neg-lected*, lost places that the mentioned tram passenger or 'tramer' dwells. For, following Kafka's allusive musings in *On the Tram*, he – the 'tramer' – "cannot indicate any claim that he might rightly advance in any direction" (1971, p. 661).

Now, putting up the volume of the radio a bit, all of a sudden, I sense how my drowsiness – as if by magic – swiftly gives way to a feeling of joy over what, I presume, is to come. Or, rather, no longer subject to representational deferral or, related hereto, to reduction to – as for animals/stallions – the '(over)riding' *Logos-Arche*, the '(over)riding' 'Law'-Beginning, *supposed* by *proponents* of the Gospel of John, my drowsiness gives way to a feeling of joy over that which (always already) 'comes'. Differently put, my drowsiness gives way to what the poet Paul Celan, in a poem, refers to as 'the clandestine beginning at home in the open' (*der im Offenen heimliche Anfang*): an *an-archic*, i.e. unrepresentable/implaceably placed, non-appropriable, *arche*. It gives way to the experience of Kafka's Hunter Gracchus (from Italian *gracchio*, meaning 'jackdaw'): "I am here, more I do not know, more I cannot do" (1971, p. 404)...

Admittedly, I know surprisingly little about tonight's host Staffan Westerberg, an illustrious, one-of-a-kind Swedish stage director, screenwriter and actor. As soon as I got hold of the long list of this year's *Summer on P1* hosts, I knew, though, that I absolutely wanted to listen to him. Frankly speaking, the dashy photograph of his pleasantly wrinkly, cheekily smirking face – redolent of the famous picture where Albert Einstein sticks out his tongue – caught my attention. It made me smile from ear to ear... But, of course, I know Staffan's immensely immersive, fanciful television programmes for children. Still, for Staffan, I *read* somewhere that I cannot *recall*, these programmes were – it is true – ultimately aimed at 'adult-children' and 'child-adults'...

My guess is that they were intended as an homage to, and refuge of, the 'infantile', i.e. vocation-revoking, 'playfulness' and the ingenious gestures we all too often suppress in our 'economies'...in our well-functioning and ultimately – as far as 'adult-children' and 'child-adults' are concerned – 'useless', i.e. oppressively mediating and commanding, apparatuses (*dispositifs*)... As such, these programmes may reflect the story of the (foolish) narrator in Kafka's *Children on a Country Road*. Since not only does the narrator, if anyone asks a question, "gaze at him as if at a distant mountain or into vacancy" (1971, p. 646). He even "ran by the field paths into the forest" (p. 650), unperturbedly heading "for that city in the south" (ibid.) whose inhabitants, we are told, "never sleep" (ibid.) and "never get tired" (ibid.). For "they are fools" (ibid.); they are human beings who – indwelling perfect messianism/nihilism – are entirely immune to 'economic' intellect (from légō, meaning 'to speak', 'choose', 'mean' or 'read') and, based thereupon, sense.

With the heartwarmingly summery jingle gently finishing, I realise that Staffan's unmistakable, well-thought-out, *poetic* words will definitely 'touch' (*contingēre*) me. Yes, while the still partly dust-covered radio, once again, squeaks and, comically, 'deforms'/'disfigures' (*entstellt*) the transmission (from *mettre*, meaning 'to place', and *mittere*, meaning 'to send' or 'announce'), I know that this is a '*real* exception' or what Agamben calls "the state of actual exception" (1998, p. 65). The horrendously overbearing 'temperatures' gone, this is a farewell to representational knowledge...

#### A really exceptional topic

And, indeed - if in a way that I or any other radio listener could hardly anticipate or representationally imagine – the very second Staffan's programme begins, I am positively taken aback. Or, rather, I am fully elated. For I understand straight away that what he - in an enchantingly quaint, distinctly North Bothnian dialect - talks about unfolds right here and now in my delightfully orderless bedroom, as it does in countless other places. Probably, it sounds completely banal to you. But Staffan - now wheelchair-bound and relocated, together with his Dalecarlian life companion Hans, to a small house near Uppsala – talks, most eloquently, about an ordinary housefly. Reminiscent of the philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein's suggestion that philosophy's task is to "show the fly a way out of the fly-bottle" (1986, p. 103), he talks about a tiny Musca domestica that - we can all tell a thing or two about it – desperately struggles to find a way out... Meanwhile, similar to the narrator's fall in Kafka's Description of a Struggle – as for my (Pauline) fall from the flight of stairs - I grasp that "what happened is, by all means, without meaning (ohne Bedeutung)" (1971, p. 50). To lay it on the line, what happened is not by any stretch trivial. What happened is the occurrence of "an in-significance" (Agamben 2005b, p. 103) - of profaned 'play/original illegibility'...

This seeming banality notwithstanding, I am immediately struck and terribly excited, grasping that rhetorically talented, bright, if somehow 'illiterate' Staffan talks about this little friend bustling around upon a central, horizontal glazing bar of my bedroom window pane. Let's, from now on, call him Garland. For are we not advised by medical practitioners and other experts governing our lives, by powermongers, to see in every fly what Agamben, within the essay 'Contagion', critically calls "the figure of the anointer (*untore*), or plague-spreader" (2021, p. 14) – the figure of an infector with whom 'contact' or 'touch' (*contāgiō*) should, by hook or by crook, be avoided...?

And is not, at the same time, 'the anointed' (*l'unto*), Agamben hints elsewhere, the literal translation of 'the messiah' – of our longed-for saviour wearing a crown of thorns, a wreath or garland (*stéfanos*)? That is to say, is not 'the anointed' the one referred to in the gospels as 'he who comes' (*ho erchomenos*) (see Agamben 2012c, 2018c; Salzani 2017b)...? Blimey, '*infancy*' seems to have got the better of me... Writing and reading all this, I am wondering if – mayhap – I am wandering off the

topic. Perhaps, as for the unavailingly commanding narrator-cum-master in Kafka's fine *The Departure*, what does remain to be said is: "[o]ut of here – that's my goal" (1971, p. 762)...

Be that as it may. Already sleeping like a log, my adorably cute pet does not notice any of this, although, when still living under Archon, it had a peculiar predilection for flies and did, it is true, occasionally eat them: yuk! Similarly, the cheerfully 'riderless' or *alogic* and, hence, speechlessly speaking stallion remains deeply engrossed in his books as he – readers of Kafka's *The New Advocate* may tell – is concerned, *not* with, appropriatively, practicing or applying, but with understanding or 'studying' the law (as stressed, like *logos*, from *légō*, meaning 'to speak' or 'mean')...

After all, as Zartaloudis underlines, "[t]o study the law, rather than advocating it, means to observe and safeguard the non-fusion of the juridical and the non-juridical, law and life" (2010, p. 3). It means to observe and safeguard the non-fusion of *legibility* and life... Anyhow, as Staffan's and my world collapse into each other in a flash, Garland quickly scuttles up the increasingly smudgy windowpane, bravely, if more and more languidly, droning a little. Time and again, he falls down, landing on his grey, piliferous back, so as to expose the blazingly yellow, exceedingly stout trunk.

His six longish, spindly legs up in the air, he – I cannot help it – reminds me of a clumsy, panicking, sad angel; yes, for a while, I wonder if Garland, like Benjamin's 'angel of history', was caught up in a future-directed storm that brought him into his current prison. Most strongly, though, he reminds me of Hermês, from whom – as a messenger/mediator/*Künder*, representationally, 'relating' the heavenly and the earthly, God and man, potentiality and act – the word 'hermeneutics', the art of interpretation and understanding, is said to derive (see Brown 2000). Yet, in his profane nudity, he reminds me also of the 'deformed'/'disfigured' (*enstellte*) figure (*Gestalt*) of the vermin (*Ungeziefer*, meaning 'animal unsuitable for sacrifice') of Kafka's *Metamorphosis*... Back on his filigree insect feet, Garland rustles and buzzes for a while and – intermittently – cleans both his probiscis and the comparatively bulky head...

Let's not beat around the bush; our restlessly searching, flustered fellow does not understand this transparent wall. He does not understand the irks and quirks of signifying language. Mercilessly, it keeps him from all the beautiful that he, somewhat *pèreversely*, i.e. in a manner that remains subject to a commanding 'father' or spatio-temporally determined *arche* of sorts, sees the whole time... Maybe, even under such distressing, dramatic circumstances, he remembers that once, as an '*infant*', he had paid a visit to the other side. In any case, Garland hastily goes on rustling, instinctively trying to get out into the dark, but by now dimly moonlit, summery garden idyll again. For a moment, I believe, I can hear him heartrendingly sob. If I am not completely mistaken, he just heaved a sigh and, yes, wails, bawling his eyes out.

Quite possibly, in his despairing actions, one can find the attempt to emulate the Socratic gadfly's unquenchable thirst for unfiltered truth (*alétheia*, literally the *un*covering, *a*-, of something hidden or covered, \**leh*<sub>2</sub>). Interestingly, throughout history, numerous pundits have sought to become 'gadflies' (see Farmer 1996), hoping to, in upsetting the status quo, help spur the disclosure of the true nature of things. But have such 'gadfly-pundits' ever reached 'the garden' again...? Have they not, similar to the *collective* (from *légō*, meaning 'to speak', 'mean' or 'read') 'we' in Kafka's *The Great Wall of China*, known themselves through having "carefully scrutinized the decrees of a high command" (1971, p. 419) that was taken for granted or, in a different shape, reinstituted...? Oh dear! I am beginning to 'drift' again (cf. Ortmann 2010). Huh...?

Either way, Garland – unsurprisingly lacking the two sharp cutting blades attached to any female gadfly's mouth – fails to grasp his own irreparably being subject to what Agamben, in the essay 'Tradition of the Immemorial', refers to as 'unconcealment (*a-létheia*)'; Garland, betraying his own impenetrability – his *an-archic*, unrepresentable *arche* – fails to grasp the 'secret' that there is no secret to be uncovered. For the time *being*, i.e. as long as time remains subject to representation (*Vorstellung*), he remains caught, miserably enclosed and locked in *oikonomia*/biopolitics.<sup>28</sup>

Incidentally, Garland's pal the 'mayfly' (belonging to the order *Ephemeroptera*), too, remains entrapped. For, insofar as, following Böhm and *colleagues*, the mayfly indulges in "postmodernist pretensions by delighting in the fleeting ephemerality of life and meaning, accepting that this too shall pass, and dancing, rather than despairing, in the colossal wreckage of Professor Ozymandias' mighty Work" (2021, p. 182), it, too, due to its grammatological upbringing, does not evade the law of representational cognition. It does not depose, busy with emplacing itself and others. It does not understand that bureaucratically upheld Archon, rather than requiring ephemeralisation, needs to be demitted. Rather than (re)entering the pined-for garden, the 'mayfly' ultimately languishes and has others languish in the fly-bottle.

Oops! I am wandering off the topic again...am I not? Or, what, in fact, is my topic anyway – my *topos* or place, my theme or *Stelle*? And, even more fundamentally, what is a topic or place, a theme or *Stelle*? Is *virtual* or *real aban*donment its cornerstone...? What thesis (from *tithēmi*, meaning 'to put' or 'place'), what message or *Kunde*, am I hoping to deliver (from *līberāre*, meaning 'to set free')...?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Derrida's take could not be any more different; for him, "there is a secret there, withdrawn, forever beyond the reach of hermeneutic exhaustion" (2005, p. 26). There is a "secret [...] heterogenous to all interpretative totalization" (ibid.), a grammatological secret spurring deferred interpretation.

At any rate, given that houseflies normally only get up to 28 days old, apprehensive Staffan warns, it is high time that itsy-bitsy, fidgety, if knackered, Garland succeeded with his desire.

#### A really exceptional thesis

This thesis is a poetico-philosophical text that takes little Garland's and other flies' desperate situation seriously, arguing that human beings in or outside of organisations, *addressed* as employees (*Angestellte*, literally 'the emplaced' or 'positioned') or customers (*Kunden* – like *Künder*, the German word for 'angel' – from the adjective *kund*, meaning 'known'), tend to face strikingly similar problems. Focusing on unemployment-related management literature, I suggest that human beings tend to be imprisoned in linguistic representations. As if subjects of Kafka's *In the Penal Colony*, we become *officers*, literally work-makers, *and*, as for the apparatus's workings, "read it" (1971, p. 289)...

These representations may come in the form of signifieds that, communicatively, reduce human beings to bearers of identities (also called the law's normal functioning). But they, representations, also take the form of floating signifiers that, while suspending identities, conceive life in terms of an unwavering, nihilistic 'force-of-law' (also called the law's 'state of *virtual* exception')... A social philosopher of organisation, Robert Cooper, following Derrida and others, has frequently called attention to the latter form, albeit mistakenly grasping it as an engine for change and hope... Thus, rather than testifying to perfectly nihilistic *in-fancy*, Cooper, trying to strike a balance between the law's normal functioning and the state of *virtual* exception, views "language as a structure of material marks and sounds which are themselves 'undecidable' and *upon which meaning has to be imposed*" (2016b, p. 117). By no means airheaded/ditzy or rogue, Cooper, still, dodges the question of biopolitics, remaining caught in a neo-governmental trance, unable to snap himself out of it...<sup>29</sup>

Rife with all sorts of tragic consequences, both forms – normal functioning and *virtual* exception (imperfect nihilism or what Cooper, drawing on Derrida, calls undecidability) – underpin, and amount to, what Staffan Westerberg, towards the end of his breathtakingly thought-provoking radio broadcast, calls the 'needlessness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> For Cooper, "[t]he function or representation is to unfold the fold, detach its duplicity, lay it out on a plane, give it a temporal order so that a 'second' will always be seen to follow a 'first', a sign always to have a referent, a copy an original" (1992a, p. 301). Here, "the fold is the indeterminate, neither this nor that, and hence always 'between'; it is the unrepresentable, the pure act or event of the *un-ready*" (ibid.). Thus, 'fold' is just another term for imperfectly nihilistic 'meaningless play'. Indeed, "[t]he fold is the medium of *tuché*, constituted by unknowable and therefore unpredictable interactions" (ibid.), so that in "the never-ending effort of representation, there is always the fold that refuses unfoldment" (ibid.), with Cooper, alas, ignoring the *possibility* of 'profane play'. Indeed, he ignores that *tuché*, too, belongs to the realm of representation.

of life within glass and frames'; unnecessarily, both forms – collectively referred to by Agamben as *oikonomia*, a term often translated into Latin as *dispositio* and, as such, picked up and popularised by Foucault as *dispositif* (etymologically related to *Vorstellung*, i.e. 'representation', and *Gestell*, i.e. 'emplacement' or 'enframing') – separate human beings biopolitically from what, arguably, once was directly lived. Seemingly without a wince, its *exponents* wind up suppressing the *possibility* of approaching the 'work of man *qua* man' in terms of inoperativity: in terms of pure 'taking-place'.

Incarcerating human beings in what, following the situationist Guy Debord, might be called a gigantic 'spectacle', they, both forms of representation, undermine any unmediated 'contact' or 'touch' (*contāgiō*) with ourselves and others. Interestingly, 'specs', for instance in the guise of 'metaphors', i.e. representational figures of speech, still constitute a commonplace as far as organisation and its prolific research is concerned... But I am going off topic here, isn't that so...? However that may be, using Walter Benjamin's words, these two forms of representation, ruthlessly, undermine a "*real* state of exception" (2006, p. 392), which is to say a genuine 'way out'. Returning to Agamben's above-quoted rendering of Benjamin's phrase, they, ruthlessly, undermine an 'actual state of exception', nipping the *possibility* of an *an-archic*, i.e. unrepresentable, *arche* in the bud. Ruthlessly, they suppress genuine *illegibility*.

Still, unnecessary, disheartening biopolitical imprisonment in representation, in giant 'spectacles', is obviously not Staffan's last word. And, while I am ready to finally hit the hay as I can barely hold my eyes open, it, certainly, is not mine either. Invoking Marlene Dietrich's hugely gripping rendering of the American folk singer and activist Pete Seeger's magnificent song 'Where Have All the Flowers Gone?', Staffan wonders, after all, when, as for the transparent wall, as for the frighteningly gruelling life within 'glass and frames', we will ever learn (*wird man je verstehen*)...

Put a little differently, Staffan wonders when Garland will ever indwell his 'unconcealment' – his perfectly nihilistic *a-létheia*. In the end, he wonders when, like the six feet and six inches tall, skin-coloured *stableless stallion* in the garden, Garland (and his fellows) will under*stand* that human beings are under*stood* only in their incomprehensibility (*Unverständlichkeit*). Now, attentive 'fly' listeners of this particular, beautiful radio broadcast will, doubtlessly, have noticed that equally 'fly' (and friendly) Staffan's final two nouns are 'togetherness' (*samhörighet*) and 'love' (*kärlek*).

With this in mind, it is my contention that a full, 'fly' *exposition* of linguistic representation allows us to indwell Staffan's/Garland's representationlessness of *samhörighet* and *kärlek*. Shown in this *a-lethic* book, by rendering inoperative the operation of language, i.e. language's reduction to a representational apparatus, to a treacherous biopolitical 'spectacle', such an *exposition* allows us to neutralise all 'glass and frames'. Patently, it allows us – as entirely unrepresentable, *anoikonomic* 

and, in this very sense, inoperative angel-flies and, by implication, by way of 'contagiously' anointing and being anointed – to return to, and indwell, the sumptuously green, paradisical garden idyll. Following the example of the ownerless/*stableless stallion*, it allows us to take place without 'taking'/representing (a) place. Like the traveller of *In the Penal Colony*, we "can't decipher it" (Kafka 1971, p. 289) and, happily, *space out*...

Without further ado (from  $*d^heh$ , meaning 'to place') – 'at the threshold' (*in limine*) of an inoperative, unrepresentable 'contact' or 'touch' (*contāgiō*) between God and man, law (*nomos*) and life (*physis*) – *ex-position* allows us to, unhamperedly, 'fly' or, as riderless *stallions*, 'gallop' through *a-topia* or what I, below, call *u-topia*. For, as Zartaloudis explains, at stake is "a threshold where two planes remain proximate, yet different, the juridical and the non-juridical" (2010, p. 307). At stake is the *possibility* of a threshold that neutralises "the economic relation between a founding power and a founded power or constitutive and constituted power" (p. 13). To cut to the chase, at stake is the *possibility* of a threshold that fully neutralises the *oikonomic* oscillation between *virtual* exception (*illegibility*) and functionary (*legibility*). *Pace* Cooper, at stake is the *possibility* of non-grammatological *illegibility* – of *inoperosità*.

Suspending all 'economy', it allows us to 'fly' or 'gallop' through a dis-placed/deposed place/position. Staffan's 'adult-children' and 'child-adults' are doubtless in the know, it allows us to 'fly' or 'gallop' through a 'worklessness' or inoperativity (*Unangestelltheit*) not subject to representable notice (*Kündigung*)... Oh my gosh! I have lost the thread again and, untethered from spatio-temporal determination, untethered from 'His' commands, flyingly and gallopingly 'err' about, never getting it 'right'; for an *in-stant* and, thus, subject to *timeless time*, I squirm free of all 'glass and frames'. Lo and behold: all churned up inside, I squirm free of representation...

That said, a 'fly' *ex-position* of organisation (from *érgon*, meaning 'work' or 'operation') and its subjects, viz., employees (*Angestellte*) and customers (*Kunden*), enables us to be joyously 'deforming' or 'disfiguring' (*ent-stellende*) angels – messengers, mediators or *Künder*. And, as such, it allows us to 'playfully' testify to 'his', to Garland's, *u-topian* glory. That is, an *ex-position*, neutralising any knowledge of something (*qualcosa*), of an object (*Gegenstand*) of representation, enables us to know pure knowability: a non-representational and, therefore, non-appropriating, non-incarcerating *possibility* of knowing. It enables us to run off to Kafka's 'the city in the south', which amounts to "making the virtual exception real" (Agamben 1998, p. 57).

Vitally, echoing the experience of the protagonist of Kafka's *The Hunter Gracchus*, *ex-position* enables every human being to know what it means that "no one will read what I write, no one will come to help me" (1971, p. 403). Since, in *ex-posing*, writing or – more broadly – language remains *il-legible*, withdrawing from, and short-circuiting, logic-cum-bureaucratic *imposition*. In *ex-posing*, I remain

'destitute', withdrawing from, and short-circuiting, any promise of *oikonomic* salvation. Differently put, in *ex-posing*, I experience what Anke Snoek calls "redemption from salvation" (2012, p. 100)... Consequently, as for organisation, *ex-position* enables us to indwell an inoperative operation. Coinciding with the unlocking of unmediated, pure mediacy – of pure means, of means without representational end – it enables us to *write and read* an *ex-thetic*, i.e. *really* exceptional or perfectly nihilistic, *thesis: Buzzzzzzz...* Bliss!

#### A really exceptional place

Really exceptional, all this! No wonder you are winded... Expectably, you feel that you are completely 'out of place' or what, with Agamben, can be called "absolutely exposed" (1993c, p. 39). Unless you have been a 'playful' in-fant or a neg*lected/neg-lectful* Kafkan tram passenger or 'tramer' already, you just darted up the neck of the 'fly-bottle' from the inside. A moment ago, you succeeded in bidding good riddance to all 'glass and frames'. Or, as a tall, if stocky horse, you just happened to unseat *logos*, your ghastly 'rider', and, in so doing, escaped from the huge stable this 'rider' set up for you. Most certainly, you need a wee break to take a deep breath. Dazed, you pause either atop the mouth of the grimy bottle that, you cannot but realise, used to imprison you, or just outside the dissolved, mucky stable. All at once, the penny has dropped; it goes without saying that the appalled, dauntingly bellowing 'reader' who, with his discourteous, barbed remarks, had hoped to make a laughing stock of you, has got it all wrong. Obviously, as the two longish tell-tale tails (cerci) portend, he is an entrenched 'mayfly' and does not know any better. You may tell, because, for a while, you were something like a fullfledged 'mayfly' yourself; as busy as a bee and a 'Saul' of sorts, you used to incarcerate yourself and others in language...<sup>30</sup>

Superciliously buzzing inside the terribly smelly 'fly-bottle' or, if you prefer, *stable*, he, his hoity-toity glasses all fogged up, still has the hump and, fumingly, fulminates against the *possibility* of exiting this awful dungeon. For him, all you suggest is baloney, double Dutch and poppycock. Now that you rest atop the mouth of the towering bottle/outside the gigantic *stable* and, at ease, squint into the dewy, iridescently lush *di-stance* (literally *de-position*), you know for sure that what is at stake is a different kettle of fish altogether; at last, you have reached the garden you pined for all these years, ready to, unburdened from any meaning whatsoever, remain *il-legible*... Be careful, though, not to get caught anew! There are myriad 'fly-bottles'/*stables* or, consonant therewith, 'glasses and frames' out there. Apparently, they all lie in wait to jail flies/horses. How about us continuing to walk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Indicative of *oikonomic* readership or, if you will, *oikonomic* 'ridership', "Saulos is in fact a regal [from the verb *regō*, meaning 'to rule' or 'govern'] name" (Agamben 2005b, p. 9), with the substitution of *sigma* by *pi* – of Saul by Paul – signifying "no less than the passage from the regal to the insignificant" (ibid.). Of utmost importance, it signifies the passage from *imposition* to *exposition*.

through key parameters of Agamben's work? *This* way, you get around rushing headlong into representation again... With, like the protagonist of Kafka's *The New Advocate*, your "flanks unhampered by the thighs of a rider" (1971, p. 706), there is no need to 'hold your horses' any longer. The 'rider/reader' finally gone, what *you* read is straight from the 'horse's mouth'. No baloney, double Dutch or poppycock, what *you* read is, no doubt, non-representational horseplay<sup>31</sup>. Obviously, 'fly'-ing in the face of *oikonomia, you*, inoperatively, got off to a 'fly'-ing start...<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Waggishly intended as a pun, the expression 'non-representational 'horseplay' does *not* refer to a 'meaningless play' based on which meaning can be configured. Rather, it refers to a 'meaningless play' that defies meaning, including meaning's *virtual* exception as the non-meaning *of* meaning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> If you feel that this thesis takes a long time to proceed to the 'actual text', please be reminded that *this* book consists exclusively of *parerga* of a book/work that remains stubbornly unwritten and unwritable, there being no 'actual text'. Rather, similar to the *mise en ex-ergue* and the preface, the following chapters testify to our having lost the holy Writ, taking every opportunity to express pure anarchy, friendship and *il-legibility*. They take every opportunity to express inoperativity.

# Opening: on u-topia

"Topos research? Certainly! But in the light of that which is to be researched: in the light of u-topia." (Celan 1983, p. 199)

Drawing on the work of the contemporary Italian philosopher and political theorist Giorgio Agamben, this book gestures towards, and embodies, a much longed-for escape from biopolitics (e.g. Bachmann 2013; Benjamin 1996a,b,c; Hamacher 2020; Kafka 1971; Trakl 2011. See Fusco 2022; Moran 2018; Nedoh 2017; Salzani 2019; Zartaloudis 2017). Avidly, it gestures towards, and embodies, a much longedfor escape from "the growing inclusion of man's natural life [or what, in antiquity, the Greeks called  $zo\bar{e}$  in the mechanisms and calculations of power" (Agamben 1998, p. 119). Put differently, this book gestures towards, and embodies, a keenly longed-for escape from "the inscription of the biological in the political" (De Vaujany et al. 2021, p. 683), provided that the 'political' in question in that specific definition refers to the ambit of emplacement - to the ambit of this or that dispositif/Gestell. That is, trying to counter and suspend the relentless, pitiless advance of this rapacious inclusion/inscription, this book points to, and functions *itself* as a testimony of, the *possibility* of neutralising natural/biological life's or  $zo\bar{e}$ 's subjugation to an appropriating, incarcerating, juridifying apparatus, viz., signifying language. Considering Kafka's In the Penal Colony, this book is, then, a testimony of the *possibility* of neutralising  $zo\bar{e}$ 's subjugation to an apparatus that rests on 'marking/writing', inasmuch as, for Kafka, the 'apparatus' comprises two needles, where "[t]he long needle does the writing, and the short needle sprays a jet of water to wash away the blood and keep the inscription clear" (1971, p. 266)... Indeed, this book echoes the behaviour of the 'nomads' in Kafka's An Old Manuscript; it converses "much as jackdaws [Czech's kavky] do" (p. 708), "unwilling to make sense [...] out of [...] sign language" (ibid.).

Above all, determined to avoid fiddling while Rome burns, *this* book echoes, however, Agamben's behaviour; in the light of this or that *dispositif/Gestell*, it underlines that "[i]t is not possible to find the truth if one does not first exit from the situation—or institution [literally *emplacement*]—that impedes access" (Agamben 2024, p. 55), dedicated to what Willemse, summarising Agamben's work, calls a "philosophy without presupposition" (2017, p. xxx). Grappling the mentioned 'apparatus', i.e. signifying language, it is entirely dedicated to a philosophy that undoes any recourse (*pre*-) to some underlying (*sup*-) emplacement (*-position*),

hoping to reveal *u-topia*; *here*, to return to Agamben, "[t]he only sure thing is that we no longer know where we are" (2024, p. 3). Or, much rather, "we feel that we are at a point, that we are this point, this 'where', but we no longer know how to locate it in space and time" (ibid.). All that means that – lest we be left high and dry – we must grasp that "the machine [or 'apparatus'] is one and the same with the book that the author is writing" (p. 87).

Vitally, this neutralisation of the 'apparatus' takes aim not only at what Derrida refers to as the tendency to "subordinate [...] writing to speech" (2011b, p. 21) and the related *supposition* that "the *telos* of being is presence" (p. 7). Aware of the fact that Agamben and Derrida, for what we know (see Attell 2015), are not exactly joined at the hip, it takes aim not only at the 'traditional view', according to which, Derrida laments, "[w]riting comes to stabilize, inscribe, write down, incarnate a speech that is already prepared" (2011b, p. 69) – a speech that, as for its signifieds, is supposed to be 'fixed'. That is, my book differs from Derrida's critique of 'presence', a critique taking issue with the stance that "writing completes the constitution of ideal objects" (ibid.). Since, put with Agamben, I recognise that the specific character of Derrida's "grammatological project is expressed [...] [merely] in the affirmation according to which the originary experience is always already [...] writing, the signified always already in the position of the signifier" (1993b, p. 155). With him, I recognise that the "metaphysics of writing and of the signifier is but the reverse face of the metaphysics of the signified and the voice, and not, surely, its transcendence" (p. 156). As a result, this neutralisation also targets positions aimed at opening up the possibility of inherently unstable and ever-alterable readings of an underlying, illegible 'marking/writing'. As such, it also critiques Cooper's shift towards "[t]he primal mark [...] [as] a primitive sign that has not yet attained the status of a symbol or a concept; [for] it has no fixed direction" (2001a. p. 195). Instead, this text merges with what, with Agamben, can be called "the Nonmarked" (2009b, p. 80) as I hope to, as regards the apparatus/signifying language, bring about what, harking back to Kafka, is its "going to pieces" (1971, p. 295). Grasping Agamben as *not* just another new broom sweeping clean, I hope to unfurl what, so far, risks withering on the vine, *u-topia*...<sup>33</sup>

Therefore, as for biopolitics, as for "the intersection, or perhaps reciprocal incorporation, of life and politics" (Campbell and Sitze 2013, p. 2), of life and power, life and (positivist or, with Cooper, grammatological, i.e. 'marking/writing'-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> With Lawlor, I recognise that Derrida's deconstruction/grammatology "reopens the question of the meaning of being" (2011, p. xxvii). Indeed, it "makes us recognize that this question has no absolute answer, that every answer given to it is inadequate, that every answer will find itself opposed by another possible answer" (ibid.). In other words, following Derrida, "language is really the medium of [...] [a] play of presence ['reading'] and absence ['writing']" (2011b, p. 9), with Derrida still holding fast to what Kafka, as mentioned, refers to as 'sign language' and, thus, biopolitics.

based) legibility, this book points to, and functions itself as a testimony of, a possible 'exit'. After all, I concur with Fusco, who not only notes that "Agamben's works are constantly permeated by the search for a way out" (2022, p. 5). Fusco shows also that an appreciation of these works truly "offers us the chance of thinking a way out" (p. 3). Such an appreciation, Fusco underscores, allows us to - by dint of (a reading and writing of) 'non-marked/unwritten' *text* – merge with "a coming [i.e. messianic, redemptivel politics and ethics outside the catastrophic distortions of (bio)power" (p. vii). Hence, refraining from, helter-skelter, running with the pack, inasmuch as I resolutely avoid swallowing biopolitics hook, line and sinker, this book points to, and functions *itself* as a testimony of, the *possibility* of turning a dire impasse (aporia) into a felicitous exit (euporia). To this end, following Agamben, this book gestures to, and 'speaks' (or, rather, writes), language itself (i.e. 'nonmarked/unwritten' language), thus encapsulating 'work' in terms of inoperativity. It encapsulates 'work' or what Aristotle calls 'life according to the *logos*' in terms of a full untethering from, and suspension of, signification, this untethering and suspension including zero-degree signification – implied in Cooper's 'primal mark' or, in fact, Derridean 'undecidability' - as well. Since, in the words of Kafka's The Problem of Our Laws, as for the apparatus, "[t]he very existence of these laws [...] is at most a matter of presumption" (1971, p. 743)...<sup>34</sup>

In other words, *this* text points to, and functions as a testimony of, an exit from biopolitical language, recognising that biopolitics, rather than being too impetuously reduced to a particular form of governing or, perchance, to a particular ensemble of forms of governing only, is "not only [...] directed to the expropriation of productive activity, but [...] also, and above all, [...] to the alienation of language itself" (Agamben 2000, p. 95). That is to say, I recognise that biopolitics is, ultimately, coterminous with language's quotidian reduction to representation (*Vorstellung*, literally meaning 'positioning/emplacement'), with representation/positioning taking the form of *both* language conceived in terms of transcendental signifieds *and*, as in Derridean deconstruction or Cooper's social philosophy of organisation, in terms of the absence *of* transcendental signifieds. In brief, I recognise that, following Agamben, biopolitics is coterminous with *oikonomia*... Importantly, biopolitics/*oikonomia* or, if you wish, representation/positioning takes the form of *both* 'full presence' (the law's *normal* functioning) *and* 'absent presence' (the law's state of *virtual* exception). With this in view, to counter and suspend the unabated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> With zero-degree signification here suspended as well, *this* book eschews and undoes what Cooper, approvingly, calls "the pre-work of 'worklessness'" (2007, p. 1571); it eschews and undoes man's grounding in terms of "an absent and negative condition that is always with us as a ghost-like presence that refuses to make itself fully evident and that hides behind the familiar forms of the world" (p. 1568), hoping to dismantle the apparatus. In short, I eschew and undo what Cooper embraces as "the oscillation between meaning and ['marked/written'] un-meaning" (2001a, p. 171). I eschew and undo (the reverberations of) deconstruction, insofar as "deconstruction maintains the law beyond its content" (Willemse 2017, p. xxiv), insofar as it is rooted in the *virtual* exception.

onslaught of gloomy, positioning/emplacing biopolitics/*oikonomia, this* book emphasises and unfurls the *possibility* of *u-topia*; aiming to turn the state of *virtual* exception, on which the normal case, viz., signifieds, invariably rests, into a *real* state of exception, it unfurls the *possibility* of the placeless place of non-representational, purely profane language. It unfurls language, and, henceforth, life, as *destituent* potential. For, once again turning to Kafka's allusive *The Problem of Our Laws, this* book recognises that "our work seems only an intellectual game [*Spiel des Verstandes*, literally 'game of *emplacement*'], for perhaps these laws that we are trying to unravel do not exist at all" (1971, p. 743).<sup>35</sup>

In *this u-topian*, non-representational con*text*, much of Agamben's work (on biopolitics), I argue, reveals its *potential* if one recognises Agamben to be at loggerheads with Derrida over the latter's *grammatological* equation of language with signification. Concretely, Derrida, Agamben deplores, grounds man, deleteriously, in a language/law that remains as potent as it remains unintelligible, with man still subject to the dreadful whims of bureaucratically/*oikonomically* based sovereign violence. Indeed, Derrida – Agamben shows – grounds man in an absent presence that spurs man's ever fallible attempts to render this absence present, a *theme* thoroughly explored by, for instance, the organisation scholar Robert Cooper. Against this background and in order for organisation scholars to fully appreciate the specific *destituent potential* of Agamben's work, *this* book translates Agamben's critique of Derrida into a critique of Cooper and, at base, the current *state* of organisation at large...<sup>36</sup>

As a result, *this* book's critique of Cooper's work functions as a 'contrast medium', meant, as far as organisation scholarship is concerned, to help bring the *potential* of Agamben's work readily to the fore. Thus, taking issue with Cooper's grounding of work/organisation in what he calls "a placeless place that draws us and withdraws from us at the same time" (2005b, p. 1695) or, elsewhere, "a negative space that [...] [can] never be positively located" (2001a, p. 165) serves to throw Agamben's placeless place of non-representational, purely profane language into relief. To go straight to the nitty-gritty, whilst Cooper *supposes* a *constituent* power that – in the form of a "nowhere' that exceeds every 'where', every location" (2005b, p. 1695)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Elaborated in more detail below, "destituent power (or potential) [...] [refers to] a third element with respect to the dialectic constituent/constituted power" (Fusco 2022, p. 55). As a result, neither referring to the 'marked/written' nor to some legibility that *presupposes* itself in and as the 'marked/written', *destituent* power/potential is non-marked/unwritten language. It is *illegibility*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> This does not mean that Cooper or Derrida may not, to some extent, be said to be concerned with utopia. Lawlor, for instance, argues that "Derrida's thought is structured by an exiting movement, a line of flight to the outside" (2011, p. xii). For Lawlor, that "outside is a sort of utopian non-place, an 'elsewhere', in which it is possible to think and live differently, indicates what motivates de-construction" (ibid.). Yet, with Agamben, this utopia is revealed as rooted in a *virtual* exception.

or a "'spatiality without things'" (p. 1694) – may not but should lead to forms of ever-alterable *constituted* power, of ever alterable, open-ended *localisations* or *positionings*, Agamben gestures towards *destituent potential*; relentlessly, he gestures towards a *potentiality* that *deposes* not only (more or less fixed) *constituted positionings*, but also these *positionings' virtual* suspension and, thus, their *negative* self-grounding in and as *constituent* 'negative space' or 'nowhere'. Since "no matter how it is thought, constituent power is destined to be embroiled in the logic of sovereignty" (Fusco 2022, p. 55). It is destined to remain mired in the workings of the apparatus, its advocates failing to get to the bottom of *parables*, insofar as Kafka, in *On Parables*, suggests that "parables [...] set out to say that the incomprehensible is incomprehensible [*dass das Unfassbare unfassbar ist*]" (1971, p. 775). Or, put with Agamben, they fail to see that the messianic Kingdom, i.e. *u-topia*, "has no other reality than the word—the parable that it speaks" (2022b, p. 36). They fail to see that "[t]o speak in parables [*parabolare*] is simply to speak [*parlare*]" (2017c, p. 32), to speak non-marked/unwritten 'speech'.

Unlike Cooper, who – permanently running up against an *aporia*/impasse (i.e. the *virtual* state of exception) – he, Agamben, points to the *possibility* of a *real* exception; regarding biopolitics, Agamben points to, and offers, a 'way out'. He points to, and offers, purely *anoikonomic u-topia*. Obviously, this means that, in *my* reading, Agamben and Cooper (or Derrida for that matter) are like chalk and cheese. As a result, if concerned with a genuine critique of biopolitics, you cannot run with the hare and hunt with the hounds, with Cooper (and Derrida) dynamising *positioning* and bringing to light the basis of humanly produced sovereign violence, viz., the *virtual* state of exception, only. To undo biopolitics you still must render *oikonomia*'s awful grip on 'work' – on, to repeat, Aristotle's 'life according to the *logos'* – inoperative, an appreciation of Agamben's *destituent potential* paving the way to do so.

Recently, the number of publications upon 'biopolitics' in critical organisation studies and adjacent research areas, such as critical accounting studies and critical consumer culture studies, has, while still somewhat marginal, markedly increased (e.g. Antonelli et al. 2022, 2023, 2024a,b; Bigoni and Funnell 2024; Bokek-Cohen 2016; Chapman et al. 2021; Charitsis et al. 2019; Elraz and McCabe 2023; Fleming 2022; Knoppers et al. 2022; Middlemiss et al. 2024; Moisander et al. 2018; Moonesirust and Brown 2021; Reed and Thomas 2021; Skoglund and Redmalm 2017; Van den Bussche and Morales 2019; Walker et al. 2021; Zulfiqar 2025). The *theme* of biopolitics, however, is by no means new to this broader field. Surely, this does not mean that, within management studies as a whole, the gravity and omnipresence of what Śliwa et al. describe as the "biopolitical predicament" (2015, p. 246) have thus far been fully recognised or sufficiently combatted on a broader scale. Still, in any case, for a couple of decades, a handful of critical management scholars has *addressed*, or has suggested that others *address*, 'biopolitics' (and, tied thereto, 'biopower', as the application and impact of appropriating political power

on all aspects of human life) in a variety of organisational contexts (e.g. Aggeri 2005; Barratt 2008; Burrell 1988; Clegg 1998; Coll 2013; Dean 2013; Hatchuel 1999; Munro 2000, 2012; Pezet 2004; Raffnsøe et al. 2016b; Villadsen and Wahlberg 2015; Weiskopf and Munro 2012).

To this growing stream of research – Fleming suggests – one might also add certain studies that do not explicitly use the label 'biopower'/'biopolitics'. For him, this includes in particular critical studies that focus on organisational initiatives aimed at prompting more engaged employee performances by encouraging (certain, productive versions of) the staff's 'liberated', authentic, healthy and fun-loving 'selves' at work (e.g. Cederström 2011; Maravelias 2018; Picard and Islam 2020; Warren and Fineman 2013). Seen from this angle, critical studies concerned, for example, with the reconfiguration of play from an element to be forcefully suppressed or eschewed at work to a, putatively, revitalising driver of value-adding organisational creativity, motivation and adaptability may also be said to closely attend to biopolitical issues (e.g. Alexandersson and Kalonaityte 2018; Andersen 2009; Butler and Spoelstra 2024a,b; Pors and Andersen 2015). It is against this backdrop that Fleming notes that "a wide range of recent empirical findings about the changing nature of work might be explained through the concept of biopower[/biopolitics]" (2014, p. 876)...<sup>37</sup>

Explicitly 'biopolitics'-*themed* research by critical management scholars comprises, for instance, Cervi and Brewis's (2022) analysis of the discursive reconstruction of the non-reproductive female body through organisations offering fertility treatment. Further exemplary research includes Alawattage et al.'s (2019) study of for-profit banks' fostering of microaccountability aimed at creating from poor Sri Lankan villagers a legion of bankable individuals trained to invigilate each other's savings and credit behaviours. But also Fleming et al.'s (2023) investigation of how commercial flow is sought to be secured against the undocumented and unregulated flow of illegitimate people, finance and information, counterfeits, drugs, terror and other undesirables has put critical engagement with biopolitics on the agenda. Throughout, these studies have, for their theoretical framing, relied on Michel Foucault's genealogical analyses on the governance of, for instance, sexuality, hygiene, crime and mental illness. As such, following in Foucault's wake, they have,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> While helpful and important in many respects, Peter Fleming's work fails to grasp that biopolitics, as the inclusion of man's natural life in the mechanisms and calculations of power, is fundamentally about linguistic *imposition*; more concretely, Fleming *supposes* the floating signifier 'biopolitics', whose proper semantic content one ought to establish, with this very *supposition*, however, being part and parcel of the *virtual* state of exception (see Agamben 2005a). That means, from an Agambenian angle, Fleming reproduces *oikonomia*/biopolitics as he fails to *ex-pose/expose*. He fails to render *oikonomia* inoperative. Relatedly, while he, time and again, offers detailed analyses of the brutal ramifications of biopolitics, when it comes to contriving a genuine 'way out', he regularly falls flat. Indeed, while he has certainly helped to call attention to biopolitics, he, somehow, does not see the forest for the trees, thereby cementing man's capture in imperfect nihilism.

essentially, if implicitly, associated the steep rise of 'biopolitics' with the onset of European modernity.<sup>38</sup>

As priorly alluded to, this book picks up on a different, or at least somewhat reworked, term of biopolitics, stemming from Agamben's comments on Foucault. Doing so allows me to grasp biopolitics *not*, as many Foucauldians would have it, as a particular governmental regime, but as being coterminous with government tout *court.* That means, rather than associating biopolitics with this or that specific representation, biopolitics emerges, with Agamben, as being about signifying language's appropriation of natural/biological life or, synonymous herewith, zoe. As already pointed out, it, biopolitics, emerges as being about what Agamben calls oikonomia. Surprisingly, Agamben's take on biopolitics has hitherto gained little traction in organisation studies. But crucial work advancing Agamben's thought upon biopolitics as well as on an escape therefrom has appeared elsewhere (e.g. De Boer 2022; Fusco 2022; Gustafsson and Grønstad 2014; Heron 2017; Kotsko and Salzani 2017; Murray 2010; Nedoh 2022; Primera 2019; Prozorov 2014; Salzani 2020; Schütz 2011; Willemse 2017; Wilmer and Žukauskaitė 2016; Zartaloudis 2010, 2015, 2017). This book draws on these developments within Agamben scholarship and connects them to organisational debates; seeking to avoid reification, I do not content myself with detailing and bemoaning this or that manifestation of biopolitics. Instead, I hope to provide a 'way out', relying not on *oikonomic positioning* or an examination of its consequences, but on inoperativity; I rely on an *ex-position/exposition* of language, neutralising *oikonomia*/positioning and revealing language in its u-topian suchness.

Following Agamben, one might, then, on the one hand, say that we are all subject to "organized linguistic violence" (2009a, p. 105). But, on the other hand, he suggests also that we are able to unfurl, and become one with, a "violence that deliberately refrains from enforcing law, and instead breaks apart the continuity of time to found a new era" (p. 107). Put differently – on Agamben's diagnosis – we are still stuck in ancient Greek *conceptions* according to which 'the work of man *qua* man' amounts to 'life according to the *logos*' or 'Law'. Patently, we are still stuck in *conceptions* that couch man's 'work' or telos in *oikonomic* terms. Nonetheless, there is a 'way out'; this 'way out', Agamben gestures, should not be confused with "constituent [literally meaning 'emplacing' or 'imposing'] power"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Although I sympathise with (some aspects of) these studies, they never point to a 'way out'. Problematically, the authors of these *texts* fall prey to, and reproduce, biopolitics themselves, as their research remains grounded in the (empty) signifier 'biopolitics' or a range of seemingly connected signifiers, which prevents these authors from thinking of language and, hence, 'work' in terms of perfect nihilism. It prevents them from thinking and indwelling the inoperativity of *utopia*. Or, turning, once again, to Agamben, they fail to grasp that "terminology is the poetry of thought" (1999b, p. 208), thus overlooking the *possibility* of *ex-posing* (neutralising) biopolitics/*oikonomia*/representation/*emplacement and*, simultaneously, *exposing* (revealing) language *itself*.

(2016, p. 28), a term he uses to critique, and allude to, the 'absent presence' unfolded by, for instance, Derridean deconstruction. For *constituent* power "destroys law only to recreate it in a new form" (ibid.). Rather, the 'way out' coincides with "destituent [literally meaning *u-topian*] power – insofar as it deposes the law once for all" (ibid.), i.e. insofar as it *ex-poses positioning* and shelters the resultant non-place... Importantly, it is this "non-place, in which potentiality [or  $zo\bar{z}$ ] does not disappear but is preserved and so to speak dances in the act [or language], that deserves the name 'work'" (2017c, p. 94)<sup>39</sup>... All that means that – following Agamben – there is a *possibility* of neutralising biopolitics's grip on 'work', on man's *telos*. There is a *possibility* of thinking/living 'work' as inoperativity, i.e. as the (poetic) *ex-position and exposition* of language. *Pace* Robert Cooper (and Jacques Derrida), there is, in language, a *possibility* of indwelling *para*bles. In language, there is a *possibility* of achieving an exit: there is *u-topia*...<sup>40</sup>

To help clarify, and testify to, this possibility, this book provides a case study analysis of unemployment-related management literature. Concretely, turning to academic management publications that discuss unemployment, for instance, in relation to 'gendered class habitus', 'sheltered work' or 'ageism', I hope to help render *il-legible* what, in this *literature*, tends to be *oikonomised*. In sum, I hope to help render these *texts' oikonomic* footing inoperative, turning, as the icing on the cake, to Kafka not for dystopian 'wheels within wheels' (e.g. Parker 2002, 2005), but for messianic illustration. Naturally, as 'cases', the management publications analysed are seen as instantiations of the broader phenomenon and problem of biopolitics. That means that this book's aim to expose the position of 'employees' and 'customers' in unemployment-related management literature can be read in a narrow and a broad sense; narrowly defined, my aim is, simply, to wrest from the publications analysed what, in their discussions of employees and customers, has been repressed: the *possibility* of non-representational, *u-topian* language. And, more broadly speaking, in so doing, I hope to testify to the *possibility* of – in general - unfurling work and organisation in terms of inoperativity. As specified below, in relation to this second, broader reading, 'employees' and 'customers' are approached as emplaced or positioned human beings. 'Unemployment', the condition of not being angestellt/positioned, including the condition of not being subject to Cooper's "general process of relating the world as an implicit or enfolded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Saliently, in this context, "dance does [...] present itself [...] as reading, except that the text to be read is lacking or, rather, unreadable" (Agamben 2004a, p. 105).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> For Agamben, indwelling *u-topia* turns on grasping that "the human being exists in the human being's non-place, in the missing articulation between the living being and logos" (1999c, p. 134). As for the living being and logos, as for potentiality and act(ion), it turns on supplanting 'articulation' with 'contact'. Since "[a]t the point of contact—where any and every representation fails—only gladness and splendor remain" (2023c, p. 70).

source" (2014, p. 598), refers to inoperative life.<sup>41</sup> And 'management literature' designates *oikonomic* language, with *this* book *ex-posing oikonomic*/managerial language's positioning of inoperative 'work'. It seeks to testify to the *possibility* of entering the 'paradisical Kingdom': a *u-topian* opening...

# Research aims

To be *read* in this double sense, the primary aim of *this* thesis is to provide an *exposition* of the *position* of employees and customers in unemployment-related management literature. In brief, it seeks to turn an impasse into a way out.

Going about in this manner means also countering the dominant reception of Agamben's work in the field of management studies. For, as detailed in the chapter 'Contribution: on a way out', until now, most management scholars turning to Agamben *oikonomise* his references to inoperativity (for a notable exception, see Thaning et al. 2016). Now, to help clarify what is at stake in Agamben's suggestions, I draw also upon Kafka's work for illustration, hoping to, *pace* Derrida, underline the *possibility* of appreciating Kafka as a *u-topian* writer. Moreover, I turn to Robert Cooper to help delineate inoperative, *u-topian* research as incommensurate with, and opposed to, Cooper's Derrida-inspired 'social philosophy of organisation'. In this way, I hope, ultimately, to caution against an unwary celebration of Cooperian neo-governmental biopolitics.

Therefore, *this* thesis's secondary aim is to - in the connection of an *ex-position* and *exposition* of language - suggest a significant reappraisal of the work of Agamben, Kafka and Cooper in management studies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> While I prefer to refer to the German translation of 'employed', viz., angestellt, in order to highlight employment's link to representation/positioning/emplacement, a similar point can be made by way of focusing on the Latin root of 'employ', viz., implicāre, with implicāre literally meaning 'to enfold'. Specifically, drawing on Derrida's reading of Valéry, Cooper – in an attempt to find another term for 'the negative space that can never be positively located'– suggests that "[t]he Implex [from implicāre] is an unlocatable origin or source; it is negative or implicit space that can never be made explicit" (2001a, p. 166). Indeed, for him, "[t]he Implex is a capacity, a potential, from which the explicit [literally the unfolded] draws" (ibid.), so that "[w]e 'know' the Implex only through its articulation by the explicit" (ibid.). Thus, while Cooper embraces a never-ending oscillation between mutually constituting enfolding and unfolding, in focusing on (wresting) 'unemployment' (from oikonomia), I gesture towards un-enfolding. I gesture towards the possibility of exiting the bipolar signifier-cum-signified or enfolding-cum-unfolding apparatus.

# Terminology

Seeking to further clarify *this ex-thetic/u-topian* thesis's primary aim, the terms used to formulate this aim – exposition, position, employees, customers, unemployment-related, management and literature – are carefully defined on the next couple of pages.

## Exposition (*inoperativity*)

As for the term 'exposition', three tightly interrelated meanings underlie *this* book's central aim, viz., explanation (*expounding*), neutralisation (*ex-posing*) and revelation (*exposing*), with the latter two somewhat taking centre stage.<sup>42</sup> More concretely, in *this* book, 'exposition' is turned to in order to, all at the same time, designate a) a treatise concerned with expounding, explaining and exhibiting, b) a deposition/neutralisation of representation/'position' and c) the revelation of something heretofore largely unheeded, if not violently stifled and written off. Or, otherwise put, *this* book is concerned with explaining (*expounding*) the neutralisation (*ex-position*) of representational, biopolitical language so as to reveal (*expose*) language in its *suchness*, in its *il-legibility*. Taken together, it revolves around what Agamben calls "the end of representation..." (1995, p. 132).

Thus, for one thing, intent on explaining/expounding neutralisation (*ex-posing*), *this* book is concerned with the action of putting, or the condition of being put, out of place/position. Indeed, one may say that it is concerned with abandonment, insofar as 'exposition' refers also to leaving something unsheltered (OED 2023). Put with Agamben, that is to say that – in explaining/expounding the neutralisation (*exposing*) of representation/'position' – as for human beings, "there is literally no shelter possible, that in their being-thus they are absolutely exposed, absolutely abandoned" (1993c, p. 38). Crucially, such *ex-positional* 'end of representation' or absolute abandonment differs from most 'non-representational approaches' in the field of organisation scholarship. For these approaches, rather than liberating human life from the imposition of meaning, remain grounded in, and reproduce, the *virtual* state of exception. For they leave the law operative beyond its formal suspension of 'full presence' – beyond the absence of a transcendental signified.

Accordingly, Gherardi, for instance – echoing Derrida – suggests that, while there is a "crisis of representation" (2019, p. 745), this does "not [entail] the end of representation, but the end of pure presence" (ibid.). Concretely, for Gherardi, we should leave "behind any pretension to a fixed truth, authority or legitimacy" (p. 753). Since an "account could have been otherwise, and combining a variety of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> That *ex-posing* and *exposing* take centre stage means that genuine *expounding*, ultimately, entails the *possibility* of *ex-posing* and *exposing*. It *expounds* the *possibility* of *ex-posing* and *exposing*.

perspectives on the same event makes it possible to write and to read a text in which one event is always more than one" (ibid.). Similarly, for Komporozos-Athanasiou and Fotaki, "non-representational approaches foreground becomingness and emergence" (2015, p. 87). Indeed, for them, "non-representational approaches offer [...] a more nuanced and multi-dimensional notion of representability, that is people's ability of form-giving [...] [as well as] a notion of signification, which unpicks the inherent indeterminacy of meaning-giving processes in practical everyday experiences of organizing" (ibid.). After all, they go on, "the signification process is never complete in organizational life; it always entails a degree of indeterminacy" (p. 89). In like fashion, De Cock fails to neutralise/ex-pose representation, suggesting instead that, "if we are to explore fully the potential of a variety of representational practices, we need to add a 'fantastic' element to the traditional realist story" (2000, p. 590). For De Cock, doing so calls for "a rejection of the conventional desire to transform a messy, unsettled world into a place of fixed, rational continuities" (ibid.). This is echoed by Cooper, who departs from "a primal unknown" (2001c, p. 338) and maintains that "at best, it can be approached but never possessed" (p. 337).

For the other, seeking to explain/expound 'revelation' (exposing), this book aims to put into view or bring out what, in a certain sense, has been hidden from view, overlooked and suppressed. Thus, focusing on one of the meanings of the verb expose (from the Latin morphemes ex, meaning 'forth' and 'thoroughly', and pono, meaning 'position'), one might say that this book is also concerned with showing, displaying, uncovering and exhibiting openly what has hitherto tendentially been unnoticed if not downtrodden; critically, it is concerned with revealing/exposing language itself. As Agamben explains/expounds, that means that "the content of revelation is not a truth that can be expressed in the form of linguistic propositions about being (even about supreme being) but is, instead, a truth that concerns language itself, the very fact that language [...] exists" (1999b, p. 40). More specifically, 'revelation' "is not a word (a metalanguage), nor is it a vision of an object outside of language (there is no such object, no such unsayable thing); it is the vision of language itself" (p. 47). Hence, pace Cooper, for whom, as will be shown, there is 'an invisible power we call God' and, 'relatedly', a 'Church that assumes the responsibility for translating and interpreting this ultra-human presence into a language or symbolism that makes it somehow readily readable', at stake in 'revelation' (exposing) is what Agamben calls "a non-representative politics" (2015b, p. 237).

By implication, *this* book's aims also differ from what O'Doherty refers to as 'exposing'. Since, for O'Doherty, to 'expose' means to lay open "what remains apriori fragile and contingent" (2017, p. 8). And this laying open of the fragile and contingent, O'Doherty adds, would be necessarily wedded to a "commitment to *actively* participate in the testing and possible amplification of that which *might be made*—or might be being made fragile and contingent" (pp. 8–9), so as to give

"opportunity to the extension of political experiment and its sites of contestation" (ibid.). Henceforth, for O'Doherty, to "'[e]xpose' belies a simple representational and realist discourse at odds with [an] [...] 'activist' politics" (p. 8), which means that he, O'Doherty, wishes to seek out and explore alternative possibilities of signification/positioning. Yet, in so doing, what he overlooks, and ends up suppressing, is precisely what is at stake for *this* book: an *expounding* of the *exposition*/neutralisation of representation/position that reveals/*exposes* language in its *suchness* – the end of representation...

## **Position** (*signified*)

The ultimate target of 'exposition', in *this* thesis, the term 'position' refers to the subsumption of human beings – through imprisonment in representation (*Vorstellung*, literally the activity and product of 'placing'/'positioning') – into biopolitics. As such, 'position' points to life's subjugation to an active 'Law', being part and parcel of the 'imposition'/enforcement of this or that meaning, including the non-meaning *of* meaning, i.e. the *virtual* state of exception or – coterminous herewith – Derridean undecidability. Hence, 'position'/*Vorstellung*/representation may *not*, as Beyes and Steyaert insinuate, necessarily go hand in hand with "reification and closure" (2012, p. 47) or, as Lorino fears, with "static abstraction" (2018, p. x) and "idealism" (ibid.). Rather, via the appropriation of pure non-meaning/profane play, 'position' is also based on, and involves, crises, ruptures and uncertainties, threatening to trap human life in the spectacles of infinite signification. Once again, this is echoed by Cooper, for whom "[t]he mapping of the self is essentially a question of *locating* or *positioning* itself in [...] everchanging contexts" (2001c, p. 338)

Followingly, generally conceived of as a 'relation' in which a human being finds itself with respect to another or others (OED 2023), 'position', as it is used here, is largely synonymous with the ascription, assertion and embodiment of influence, role, class, rank and power. Etymologically traceable to Latin's ponere, meaning 'to put' or 'place', 'position' can fruitfully be linked to Heidegger's Gestell and Foucault's dispositif (from dispositio, the Latin name for oikonomia or, if you prefer, 'management'), both of which can, literally, be translated as 'emplacement'. Concretely, 'position' can, then, be associated with Gestell, insofar as Gestell, Hamacher's (2019) analysis suggests, pivots on allusions to the linguistic constatation (Feststellung) as well as the production (Herstellung) of influence, role, class, rank and power. Similarly, 'position' can also be said to resonate with dispositif, which, in Agamben's rendering, refers to a "set of practices, bodies of knowledge, measures, and institutions that seek to manage, govern, control, and orient, in a way that purports to be useful, the behaviors, gestures, and thoughts of human beings" (2009c, p. 12). Put differently, 'position' concerns the representational (vorstellende) capture of the non-relational or non-appropriating

'contact' (*contāgiō*) between *physis* and *nomos*, potentiality and act, in a 'relation', i.e. in linguistic appropriation. Or, put yet another way, 'position' refers to the signified that, in neo-governmental thought, is constantly deferred and altered, with 'exposition' aiming at returning 'position' to an *il-legible* 'taking-place'.

### **Employees** (*Angestellte*)

As the etymology of the German word for 'employees', viz., 'Angestellte', can be readily taken to imply, in *this* thesis, 'employees'/'Angestellte' refers to human beings that are 'positioned'/'emplaced'. It, Angestellte, refers to human beings imprisoned in and by representation (Vorstellung). Notably, it refers to life not in terms of *il-legibility* and profane play, but in terms of biopolitical, linguistic appropriation. In short, Angestellte points to human beings' subjection to signification. Therefore, as this book sets out to provide an 'exposition' of the 'position' of Angestellte, in rendering inoperative this subjection to signification (oikonomia), it does not envisage alternative or constantly deferred re-positionings, emplacements or employment (Anstellung). Rather, using a term coined by Hamacher, this book strives to testify to nothing less than the possibility of 'Ent-Stellung', aiming to wholly ex-pose/neutralise oikonomic subsumption.

### Customers (Kunden)

Usually, the terms 'customers' or 'Kunden', the German equivalent to 'customers', are used in order to designate people or organisations purchasing and/or using/consuming goods and/or services offered or provided by a professional person or an organisation. In this thesis, however, when writing about 'customers', I mean human beings that – like 'employees' ('Angestellte') – are subject to representation. Significantly, I mean human beings that are linguistically 'positioned', which, willynilly, makes them subject to legibility/the 'Law'. It makes them subject to biopolitics. In this particular connection, when writing about 'Kunden', I exploit this term's etymological linkage to the German verbs kennen ('know') and können ('can' or 'be able to'). After all, 'Kunden' – like 'Künder' ('messenger'), the German word for 'angel' - can be traced to the adjective kund, meaning 'known' and 'obvious'. That is, seen this way, 'Kunden' emerges as directly pointing to human beings' subjugation to representational knowledge (Kenntnis or Erkenntnis). At the same time, reference to Künder (angels) – as "His representatives" (Parker 2009, p. 1284) and, thus, as alleged conduits or intermediaries between the transcendent and the immanent – helps underline the transcendent anchoring of 'Kunden'. That is to say, the existence of 'Kunden', i.e. of human beings known (gekannt) by way of representation, rests on oikonomia. It rests on the immanent projection of an illegible transcendent on whose behalf/behest immanent angelfunctionaries, audaciously, claim to operate/render legible.

Now, concerned with an 'exposition' of the 'position' of 'Kunden', the core aim of this thesis can be described as rendering 'Kunde' (customer/message) into 'Se/Kunde': life in terms of language in its suchness/il-legibility. In this context, based on Hamacher's attentive reading of Celan's poem 'Stimmen' (Voices), 'Se/Kunde', refers to the secession from 'Kunde' (message), opening up the possibility of non-representational knowledge - of a-knowledge. Coincidentally, this resonates – while not, in this particular sense, intended by Benjamin – with the final lines of Benjamin's 'On the Concept of History': "every second [Sekunde] is the strait gate through which the Messiah may enter" (1980, p. 703). Indeed, 'exposition', akin to the Messiah's neutralisation of the 'Law', severs language from any message/signification, including zero-degree signification. In so doing, 'exposition' unfurls pure potentiality/Können, which, as such, is liberated from any oikonomic articulation with actuality/imposition. In sum, whilst 'Kunden' is used to point towards life confined in and by representational imposition or knowing (Kennen), this thesis seeks to testify to the secession from meaning entailed in pure Können/potentiality. Or, sticking to the etymology of 'customer', 'exposition' seeks to remove all *oikonomic* ballast, so as to return 'customers' to their pure 'selfness' (see Agamben 1999b), their pure potentiality.<sup>43</sup>

#### **Unemployment-related** (*signifier*)

Here, the term 'unemployment-related' concerns the biopolitical appropriation of profane, human life; 'unemployment', in this context, refers to life that is not subject to 'employment'/Anstellung or 'positioning'/emplacement. It refers to life that defies representation. However, insofar as such profane, human life or life defving representation becomes subject to 'relation' (linguistic appropriation), it becomes subjugated to the 'Law'/signification.<sup>44</sup> That said, the core aim of 'exposition', one might say, amounts to "thinking ontology and politics beyond every figure of relation" (Agamben 1998, p. 47). In fact, it amounts to thinking ontology and politics even beyond the limit or threshold 'relation' of the *virtual* state of exception, i.e. a "form of law remain[ing] in force beyond its own content" (p. 53). Thus, while a representational 'relation' with 'unemployment' or human life that is not subject to 'employment' (Anstellung) ends up with oikonomising/biopoliticising life. 'exposition' centres on what Agamben calls an "ontology of non-relation" (2015b, p. 237). As for life and law, it centres on the non-appropriation contained in 'contact' (contāgiō). Or, put differently, while a representational 'relation' with play ends up casting play as a substrate based upon which meaning may be configured.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> From an *oikonomic* point of view, 'employees and 'customers' are, then, co-definitive forms. Or, in Luhmannian terms, they are the respectively 'marked space' of a distinction, viz., 'employee'/'customer'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Here, it is important to note that "relation designates and object's character as signifier, independent of whatever concrete signified" (Agamben 2017b, p. 24).

'exposition' 'disfigures'. In short, 'exposition' *ent-stellt*/renders *u-topian*. It wrests life from signifiers.

#### Management (oikonomia)

To put it in a nutshell, 'management', a term that, in Agamben's vast vocabulary, is coterminous with *oikonomia*, refers here to the activity and product of 'positioning'/'emplacement'. As such, it renders human beings into 'employees' (Angestellte) or 'customers' (Kunden). Being necessarily 'relational', i.e. appropriating, it refers to the activity and product of representation, automatically reducing politics to biopolitics. In that context, as touched on above, the activity of representing or emplacing comes in two interrelated forms: a) signifieds that, communicatively, reduce human beings to bearers of identities (also called the law's normal functioning) and b) floating signifiers that, while suspending identities, address life in terms of an unwavering, nihilistic 'force-of-law' (also called the law's 'state of virtual exception'). Therefore, while classical 'management'/biopolitics may be said to centre on adherence to given 'full presence', modern 'management' consciously grounds itself in illegibility conceived as an 'absent presence', thus celebrating change, undecidability and deferral (e.g. Cooper 2016d, f; Derrida 2001). Put differently, 'management'/biopolitics works by conjuring up a foundational, absolute power (*illegibility*) that the vicars and executioners of such foundational, absolute power claim to help render legible, with modern 'management'/biopolitics promoting a 'play of signification'. All this happens, however, at the expense of profane 'play' or absolute non-meaning. It happens at the expense of 'exposition'.

#### Literature (*written*)

Conventionally *inter alia* referring to a body of writings (OED 2023), the term 'literature' is here – at least initially – taken to point to matters of *legibility*/the 'Law' and, by implication, to the *oikonomisation* of human life. In short, it points to biopolitical 'inscription/writing'. Put differently, initially, it, 'literature', points to the activity, process and result of *imposing* meaning, subjugating human beings to representation.<sup>45</sup> Therefore, in this thesis, 'literature' is – to start with – taken to resonate with a Derridean or deconstructionist notion of 'writing', insofar as "effacing the presence of a thing and yet keeping it legible, in Derrida's lexicon, is 'writing'' (Spivak 2016, p. lxi). Viewed from this particular, *oikonomic* perspective, 'literature' rests on a "gesture that both frees us from, and guards us within, the metaphysical enclosure" (ibid.). In other words, inasmuch as, following Derrida,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> As stressed, *pace* Cooper, representation does not simply refer to different signifieds. It refers also to life's submission to what Cooper calls 'the zero symbolic value of the signifier as play'. It refers to the Law's normal functioning *and* its *virtual* suspension as zero-degree signification.

"[the] advent of writing is the advent of play" (2016, p. 7), 'literature' designates life's fateful entrapment in infinitely deferred signification. For, 'play' or, synonymous herewith, *illegible* non-meaning, as "the shaking up of [...] the metaphysics of presence" (p. 54), function, within a Derridean/deconstructionist horizon, as the quasi-foundation of constantly postponed, alterable *legibility* or interpretation. As but the non-meaning *of* meaning, 'literature', i.e. 'writing', 'play' or 'illegibility', reflect and cement imprisonment in biopolitics.

However, once subject to 'exposition', Agamben emphasises, 'literature' – it turns out – does "not [correspond to] the desire 'to write this or that specific work or novel'" (cited in de la Durantaye 2009, p. 3). Instead, under the banner of 'exposition, 'literature' refers to "something much vaster – something more 'senseless and strange [*insensata e strana*]', but also 'more profound than any set goal or aim" (ibid.). That is, 'literature', on this contrasting view, amounts to rendering *oikonomia* inoperative. It amounts to returning to 'play' and, thus, to non-meaning, their purely profane vocation, severing writing(s) from signification, including zero-degree signification. All in all, while, initially, 'literature' refers to linguistic *imposition*, once subject to 'exposition', language is *ex-posed* and *exposed*, neutralising *oikonomic* language and revealed in its *suchness* – its incorruptible *il-legibility*.<sup>46</sup>

#### Summary

In view of the above, one can summarise *this* thesis's aim as pivoting upon testifying to the *possibility* of rendering *oikonomia* inoperative. Indeed, its aim is to neutralise biopolitical language's positionings and to show and use language outside of representation. Based on a 'contactual' 'non-relation'/'non-articulation' between the living being and the speaking being, it is to testify to the *possibility* of *u-topia*. It is to turn an impasse into an exit, a 'way out'.

# Disposition

With the parameters of this thesis outlined, the next couple of *paragraphs* are dedicated to detailing this book's disposition: first the thesis's theory and method are discussed, before the *exposition* chapters' varying foci are zoomed in upon. Thereafter, the consequences of *exposition* with regard to justice are perused in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Here, "in writing the philosopher will have to seek the point at which writing disappears in the voice, must chase it, in every discourse to the voice that was never written—to the idea" (Agamben 2024b, p. 119). That means, as for 'exposed' books, "they must be read in a totally different way, perceiving not the meaning and the discourse, but the language, [...] whose syllables I sound out ecstatically without understanding them" (pp. 88–9).

*plērōma* chapter. Then, final ideas and *this* thesis's contribution are pointed to. And, finally, a postilla rounds off *this* book.

## Theory

*This* thesis's next chapter is devoted to theory. Couched in assessments that point to the dismal state of theory in organisation scholarship, I delineate, based on Agamben's Deleuze-inspired musings, an alternative that involves grasping human life as '*immediately* theoretical'. More concretely, in this context, I delineate such contemplative life as absolutely immanent. That means that, with such an *idea* of theory, life can no longer, by way of the *virtual* state of exception, be separated from theory. And, by extension, theory, in the form of this or that semantic content, can no longer be imposed on such separated bare, *illegible* life. Instead, such absolutely immanent, immediately theoretical life coincides with *exposition* and defies *oikonomia*. *Here*, life, due to its being *immediately* theoretical, becomes *il-legible*. It becomes severed from biopolitical appropriation.

### Method

Building on from this, this thesis's chapter 'Method: on profane messianism' is concerned with method, grasping method (from the Greek morphemes met and hodós, meaning together 'pursuit of the way') as boiling down to profane messianism. That is, this chapter grasps method as turning on completely neutralising oikonomic imposition or, if you prefer, the Law. Method, thus pointing to the inseparability of life and messianic belief, of life and inoperativity, is, then, shown to counter social divisions. Specifically, it is shown to counter research's reduction to membership work. Instead, method, as it is outlined here, unfurls an anoikonomic divinity. It unfurls God as amounting to the irreducible profanity of the world. In this context, thwarted messianisms are cautioned against as they, rather than offering a *real* exception, ground humanity in a *virtual* exception. Since they fail to grasp inoperativity as the ultimate, messianic *telos* of the law. Moreover, the articles analysed in *this* thesis are listed, all of which have been collected with a view to help spur the loosening (analysis) of data (the visible) from the confines of signification, law and history. Finally, briefly referring to Kafka, this chapter shows how method, study and gesture are necessarily intertwined.

#### **Exposing constatation**

*This* thesis's chapter 'Exposing constatation' exposes putative constative references. More concretely, the articles *analysed* in this chapter refer to the irreducible objectivity of a post-industrial, Western, late-capitalist future argued to be increasingly marked by service work. In so doing, these texts identify the
performance of aestheticised, deferential 'emotional labour' as a key commodity that working-class men – now found to be condemned to unemployment, to an inhabitation of 'the past' – are, owing to a confining Bourdieusian 'habitus', unable to produce and alienate. Indeed, working-class men's 'habitus', claimed to be outdated, is positioned as negative whilst – as *opposed* to this – working-class women's and middle-class men's habitus is appraised as *positive*. That means the latter are constated as 'timely'.

Briefly drawing on Kafka, this chapter suggests that 'shame', as concerning the anguish to indwell a language that no longer signifies, provides a way out of such *oikonomic* constatation.

### **Exposing administration**

This thesis's chapter 'Exposing administration' comprises two different cases, both of which criticise the supposedly insufficient administrative enforcement of the future. In the first case, following a longstanding interest in the opposition between informal and formal organisation, employment office staff's allegedly informal policy administration is seen to endanger or jeopardise the actuality of a formalcum-workfare-based United Kingdom. In the latter case, following a longstanding interest in the opposition between the subjective and the objective, subjective-cumethnocentric public sector employees are seen to impede the realisation of an objective-cum-diverse and potentiality-centred, workist Sweden. Ultimately that is to say that in both cases substandard employees or, better, substandard frontline workers are seen to put a spoke in the wheel. After all, the observed, positioned as temporally distanced from the, by comparison, more sophisticated and complex time of an omniscient observer, are seen to fetter the future, argued to keep unemployed service users and, in the latter case, migrant workers, two sorts of customers, from being neatly *emplaced* – from being properly administratively codified/classified. Seen to threaten our continuous historical advancement, they are to be kept 'at bay', with their comportment found to urgently need managerial correction.

To counter *oikonomic* administration, this chapter suggests that we *a-knowledge* ourselves as irreducibly 'poor' or 'nude'. It suggests that we *a-knowledge* ourselves as inoperative.

### **Exposing government imposition**

Partly different in scope, for it concerns criticism levelled against a supposedly insufficiently thought-out governmental future, this book's chapter 'Exposing government imposition' looks at a critique of Australian government publications' arguably ageist, potentiality-insensitive *imposition* of 'the older worker'. It looks at

a critique that remains tied to the vision of an inclusive-cum-entrepreneurial Australia, a futurist vision marked by an overarching *active/inactive* binary that reproduces 'enterprising spirit' as an irrevocable, discursively commanding gold standard.

To help counter this imposition and, thus, to provide a 'way out', this chapter draws on Agamben, arguing that we ought to become apostles concerned with messianic hope and faith. For such hope and faith unfurl a remnant, irreducible to biopolitics. They unfurl *il-legible* play. They unfurl inoperative 'entre-prise'.

### **Exposing identity production**

This book's chapter 'Exposing identity production' turns once again to Sweden, focusing on a critique of *supposedly* insufficiently futuristic identity production. Concretely, subscribing to an ableist discourse that calls for rapid transition of rapidly (re)activated employees of sheltered workshops into the 'ordinary labour market', the publications in question take issue with the operator of these workshops, viz., Samhall. For Samhall is argued to foster negative identities that harm participants' activation and transition. Essentially relying upon an *able/disabled* binarism, Samhall is argued to keep these employees from being part of, and from belonging to, a workist future. Negatively *positioned* as an epitome of the past, it is regarded to keep participants locked in 'the past', which means that the publications analysed here overlook the *possibility* of what Agamben calls *deidentification*.

To helps bring about such *de-identification*, this chapter draws briefly on Kafka's *A Country Doctor* and suggests that comic gestures, which point to an absent basis of knowledge, allow us to exit medicalised, biopolitical identities.<sup>47</sup>

### Plērōma

This book's chapter 'Plērōma: on purely mediate justice' deals with silhouetting the consequences of *exposition* with regard to organisational justice. Briefly compared to Derridean and Luhmannian approaches to justice, Agamben's Benjamin-inspired formulation of post-juridical justice is introduced and connected to Agamben's musing on happy life, ethics and pure means. In sum, justice emerges, then, as pivoting on the fulfilment (*plērōma*) of the law, which, in turn, entails the law's inoperativity. To help illustrate all this, Kafka's work is once again drawn upon, with much focus resting on an Agambenian reading of *In the Penal Colony*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Importantly, all texts analysed are *oikonomic* as they reduce human beings to this or that emplacement, be it called identity, classification, discursive subjectivity or constated habitus.

### Final ideas

*This* book's chapter 'Final ideas: on Agamben and Cooper' introduces Agamben's term *idea* and juxtaposes Agamben's work with Cooper's work by focusing on issues such as love, God, knowledge and organisation.

### Contribution

Thereafter, the chapter 'Contribution: on a way out' underlines *this* book's contribution, focusing upon how an altered reception of Agamben's, Kafka's and Cooper's work may serve to help turn an impasse into an exit – into a way out.

### Postilla

Finally, *this* thesis ends with a postilla that, aware of its similarities to a true proem, seeks to purify the law from any commandment. That is, messianically, this postilla, too, seeks to wrest language from biopolitical incarceration. It seeks to expose imposition. As such, this postilla grasps itself as the paradigm of the end of time, hoping to help neutralise the *virtual* state of exception – the state of exception in which, according to Agamben, we live. To this end, it draws briefly on Kafka's parable Before the Law. After all, this parable, Agamben argues, both encapsulates the *virtual* state of exception and, simultaneously, gestures towards its undoing. In fact, by way of 'studying', i.e. by way of safeguarding a non-'relational' 'contact' between *phone* and *logos*, the *virtual* state of exception, the *parable* may be taken to imply, can be turned into a *real* state of exception. Since, in 'studying' the grammatological hinge (i.e. 'relation') between *phone* and *logos*, potentiality and act, is suspended. Indeed, 'studying' causes the door of the Law/Other to be shut forever, with man, thus, being able to, as for *oikonomia*/biopolitics, find a 'way out'. Now, only after the door of the Law is shut can the Messiah enter and, in a profaned way, show (mostra) his inoperativity.

## Theory: on absolute immanence

"*Theoria* and the contemplative life, which the philosophical tradition identified as its highest goal for centuries, will have to be dislocated onto a new plane of immanence." (Agamben 1999b, p. 239)

Theory, it is fair to say, tends to be viewed as the meat and potatoes of organisation scholarship (e.g. Hatch 2018; Styhre 2024; Zundel and Kokkalis 2010). But what (organisation) theory actually is and can be has often been perceived as a knotty issue (e.g. Reed and Burrell 2019; O'Doherty 2007), with myriad organisation scholars taking issue with the current state of 'theory'; Spoelstra, worried about a gradual narrowing down of 'theory', for example, underlines that "theory' is today primarily associated with methodology and the idea of a fixed path or a stable position" (2021, p. 163). As a result, for Spoelstra, there has been too little attention given to a beneficial and critical "drifting away from a narrow focus on the matter [allegedly] urgently at hand" (p. 177). For him, 'theory' tends to be voked to preconceived notions of 'relevance' and 'common sense'. From another perspective, while also uneasy about prevalent modes of 'theorising', Oswick et al. call on organisation theorists to exit their "cognitive comfort zone" (2002, p. 299) and, instead, to enter what is referred to as a "cognitive discomfort zone" (ibid.). For Oswick et al. construe the latter as "the basis of generative, transformative, and frame-breaking insights" (p. 301). No doubt, they construe it as the quintessence of more innovative, interesting and up-to-date 'theory'. Also concerned with the dismal state of 'theorising', Tsoukas suggests that we take "aim at complexifying theories" (2017, p. 132). That is, for him, we ought to engage in "the joining up of concepts normally used in a compart-mentalized manner" (ibid.) so as to "do justice to organizational complexity" (ibid.).

Against this background, scholars in our field have increasingly recognised and, even more so, encouraged a plurality of stances apropos 'theorising' organisation. Eichler and Billsberry, for instance, have attempted to map different "implicit theories of theories" (2023, p. 258). In so doing, they have *inter alia* suggested that the 'theories of theories' they have discerned "range from simple notions that theory is an idea or a concept, through frameworks of understanding, to cause and effect relationships for managerial understanding" (ibid.). Similarly, Cornelissen et al., in an essay focusing upon the range of forms that theorising *might* take, have stressed that different "forms of theorizing differ in terms of their aims, style of reasoning, their contributions, and the way in which they are written up as papers" (2021, p.

1). Such encouraged plurality notwithstanding, common to the growing cacophony of assessments is, as indicated, a palpable sense of dissatisfaction as far as the current state of 'theory' is concerned. Not surprisingly, I share this dissatisfaction, even though my point of criticism and the alternative I provide differ from what has been touched on so far; the bottom line is that, relying on Agamben. I define and approach 'theory' as "philosophical wisdom" (2014b, p. 13). And, rather than treating 'theory' as a matter of *oikonomia* (a governing, patterning 'Law'). I follow in Agamben's footsteps, insofar as I, like him, grasp 'theory' as pivoting upon the "potentiality of a joyfully and intransigently *in-fantile* existence" (ibid.). That is, rather than reducing philosophical wisdom ('theory') to the communicative imposition of this or that semantic content, I gesture towards the exposition (revelation) and ex-position (neutralisation) of language. Doing so means to think of 'theory' in terms of what Agamben, inspired by the late Deleuze, calls an "immanence [that] is immanent only to itself" (1999b, p. 227). Contra deconstruction, it means to think of philosophical wisdom ('theory') without grammatological 'articulation' between phoné and logos. Importantly, it means 'theorising' without any (transcendent) 'relation'.

Another way of saying this is that I refrain from anchoring 'theorising' in the virtual state of exception (a 'bare life' based on which meaning may in principle be configured) and, instead, hope to bring about a *real* state of exception (a life that entirely defies the imposition of meaning). As a consequence, the 'relation' I hope to undo in this thesis goes beyond Cooper's notion of relation; after all, for him, to "re-late [...] is to *translate* the latency of the pre-objective world into a reserve of parts or elements that can be endlessly combined and permuted to create and recreate the meaningful and communicable forms of life" (2005b, p. 1699). What Cooper, again and again, overlooks is that the latency he refers to *is* precisely a *virtual* exception. It is but life submitted to an empty and absolute law without any specific laws, rather than profane(d) life. Indeed, it is but an instance of 'the virtual ban', allowing life to be captured in biopolitics. By implication, here, I focus neither on pre-objective latency (the Law's virtual exception) nor upon its translation into meaningful forms (the Law's normal functioning). Rather, I approach 'theory', with Agamben, as turning on an "unpresupposable non-latency" (1993a, p. 9). That means that I grasp "theory as [...] touching (*thigein*)" (1999b, p. 234), as a 'contact' (contāgiō) between phoné and logos, potentiality and act, with all representation eliminated. 'Theorising', dislocated this way, means "opening to an alterity that [...] remains absolutely immanent" (p. 223). It means opening to an alterity that defies signification, including signification's virtual suspension as the 'latency' of still unprofaned play/non-meaning.

Curiously, Case et al.'s historically focused work upon *theoria*, i.e. the Greek term from which 'theory' also derives, remains stuck in *oikonomia*. Since, for Case et al., *theoria* "entails a form of situated connectedness that is beyond words, conception and seeing" (2012, p. 358). Indeed, in their opinion, "*theoria* entails an engagement

with the unknowable and comprises knowing beyond words" (p. 346). As in Cooper's work, a 'latency' is simply presupposed rather than exposed, which, as should be evident by now, opens the door to life's submission to biopolitics. For Agamben, by contrast, "life itself [...] is immediately contemplation (*theoria*)" (2015b, p. 215), so that any virtual exception gives way to a real state of exception, there being no 'theory' to be applied or 'related' to life.<sup>48</sup> Since, with immediately theoretical life, no latent 'bare life' is produced. Rather, as stressed above, there is 'contact' (contāgiō). In other words, on Agamben's profane-cum-messianic reading, with *theoria*-contemplation, all "works-linguistic and bodily, material and immaterial, biological and social-are deactivated and contemplated as such in order to liberate the inoperativity that has remained imprisoned in them" (p. 278). Taken together, that means that "[t]he political [emerges as] [...] the dimension that the inoperativity of contemplation, by deactivating linguistic and corporeal, material and immaterial praxes, ceaselessly opens and assigns to the living" (2011d, p. 251). Bearing this in mind, it becomes clear that "[c]ontemplation is the paradigm of use" (p. 63), with 'use' referring to "the epiphany of unattainability" (1993b, p. 26). It refers to non-appropriation. Obviously, following Agamben, as far as 'theory' is concerned, *this* thesis bears, then, witness to a life that remains absolutely immanent and, owing to its non-latency, remains outside of oikonomia. Throughout this book, I bear witness to a life that is *immediately* 'theoretical' and, hence, inoperative. In contemplating/theorising, I bear witness to the *il-legibility* of play. Testifying to the possibility of immediately theoretical life, I turn an impasse (oikonomia) into an exit (inoperativity).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> In other words, "[d]uring the instant of contemplation—an eternal instant—you can no longer distinguish between mind and body" (Agamben 2023c, p. 15).

## Method: on profane messianism

"Jesus is the way [*hodós*], and the truth, and the life. No one comes to the Father [*Patéra*] except through Jesus." (John 14:6)

### Pursuing the way towards the law

Repeatedly, organisation scholars have emphasised that the term 'method' can be traced to the Greek term *méthodos* (e.g. Butler and Spoelstra 2023; Calori 1998; Helin et al. 2014; Holt and Hjorth 2014; Holt and Reay 2018; Jonker and Pennink 2010; Kaulingfreks and Ten Bos 2005; Nayak 2008; Quattrone 2000). Thus, 'method', it has, on any number of occasions, been pointed out, can literally be taken to refer to the pursuit (*met*) of the way, road, street, track or path (*hodós*). It is against this background that Butler and Spoelstra highlight that "a method is commonly understood as a path to knowledge" (2023, p. 1266). Broadly building thereon, 'method', I suggest in this chapter, can, equally, be taken to refer to the pursuit of the way (*hodós*) towards the '*nomos*' (see Zartaloudis 2020).

Indeed, 'method', I argue, can be taken to refer to the way (*hodós*) towards whatever one winds up taking to be the law or, coterminous herewith, the Father/*Patéra* (God).<sup>49</sup> In other words, given our seeming status as 'speaking/organising animals' (e.g. Bunz 2020; O'Doherty 2017; Parker 2002), it, 'method', concerns the way (*hodós*) in which *phoné* (voice) and *logos* (language) – animal and cultivating or organising speech or, if you prefer, life and politics – interpenetrate one another. As such, 'method' emerges as linked to questions around the (im)possibilities of human

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> In Cooper's work, such a "father imposes constraint by naming" (2016h, p. 62), while, in discernibly circular fashion, "[t]he function of the name is to constrain, and constraint is the source of pattern" (p. 63) – of, etymologically, a *patéra*. In concert herewith, Arnaud defines the 'Other', a term Lacan-inspired (organisation) scholarship has popularised, as "the pre-eminence of a transsubjective extraneous place, from which all discourse emanates, as it were, and where speech is necessarily constituted: the place of the family, of the law of the father in Freudian theory, of history and of social positions" (2002, p. 700). Under the banner of such 'father(s)', organisers, Kenny holds, are "both created and also constrained by language, through its dependence for existence upon the symbolic order—a system of interlinked signifiers across which meaning is transmitted" (2020, p. 187)... By contrast, in *my* thesis, 'God' names, however, the profanity of the world; God names inoperativity: the *ex-position and exposition* of language.

life. At its heart, it – 'method' – emerges as intrinsically linked to our fully coming to terms with our inevitable interlocking(s) with the *nomos*/law...

Consonantly, 'method' may – at least at first glance – seem to be meant to help disclose the laws (*nomoi*) held to be governing human life. Yet, in truth, it tends to be the 'methods' – at least if, with Morgan and Smircich, defined as "the various views different social scientists hold about human beings and their world" (1980, p. 492) – that help enact these governing (*oikonomic*) laws (*nomoi*). Henceforth, it is, basically, our view of "man as a social constructor" (ibid.) or – ultimately indistinguishable therefrom, for both views rely upon linguistic imposition – of "man as a responder" (ibid.) that, *oikonomically*/'methodically', (re)produce the '*nomos*' (see Andersen 2003; Arnaud 2002; Baecker 2012; Burrell and Morgan 1979; Duberley et al. 2012; Parker 2009, 2016, 2021; Strati 2000)<sup>50</sup>... In any event, 'method', Cunliffe – echoing prevalent sentiments marking, if not constituting, the realm of 'qualitative organisation scholarship' – suggests, becomes, by and large, tantamount to the practice of "considering our metatheoretical positioning" (2011, p. 646).<sup>51</sup>

### Countering socially produced division

But, alas, such considerations, all too often, turn out to be little else than what Munro (1999), critically, refers to as 'membership work' (cf. Luhmann 1994, 2018a, 2019). More often than not, they, these considerations regarding metatheoretical positioning, are part and parcel of polemicising collective identity projects that pit 'us' against 'them' and, in so doing, aim, at least in the upshot, at status (re)production. Frequently, these considerations and, therefore, 'methods' are part and parcel of reproductive, *governmental (oikonomic)* practices that, as in Cooper's case, cast "'division' as a central force in the social production of 'visibility''' (2016i, p. 175). Lamentably, they tend to be part and parcel of biopolitics, reproductively suppressing that, as organisers, we "must not make the invisible visible, but only and ever the visible" (Agamben 2022a, p. 124). Regularly, methods

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Here, I take as given that casting man 'as a responder', too, turns out to imply 'construction', insofar as 'the responder' merely reacts to, and follows, social constructions. As for viewing man 'as a social constructor' or 'as a responder', this, in turn, underlines both views' secret solidarity and what appears to be their (pseudo-)antagonistic co-dependence on one another.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> In this chapter, 'method' is used rather inclusively; thus, while, as Duberley and Johnson note, organisation scholars tend to use 'method' only to refer to the "modes, procedures or tools used for collection and analysis of data" (2016, p. 66), the broader term 'methodology' tends to be turned to in order to describe a "set of beliefs and their accompanying methods" (ibid.). Duberley and Johnson, however, also suggest that "methods cannot be divorced from their overarching [...] methodology" (ibid.), with *this* book, partly inspired by this suggestion, using 'method' to highlight the inseparability of life and messianic belief – life and inoperativity.

are reduced to practices aimed at making an '*absent* presence' *legible*, thus ignoring life in its *suchness/il-legibility*.

Sadly, much of what goes by the term 'reflexivity', too, casts socially produced 'division' as a vital, if not axiomatic characteristic of organisation and, contained therein, of organisation scholarship. Haynes, for example, suggests that, in order to be reflexive (rather than unreflexive), we organisation scholars doing qualitative research attentively 'visibilise' "how our intellectual, perceptual, theoretical, ideological, cultural, textual and cognitive principles and assumptions inform the interpretation" (2012, p. 73). Pointedly, she maintains that, in order to be included 'members' (rather than excluded 'non-members'), we, as quickly as possible, become aware of, account for and, if deemed necessary, update our socio-'methodical' divisions...

Concretely, Haynes suggests that we become aware of, account for and, if deemed necessary, update our practices of distinguishing that 'visibilise' or, to use systems theoretical language, 'observe' (see Andersen 2009; Andersen and Pors 2017; Cooper 2005a) 'us' as distinct from 'them'. Effectively, one might say that she – participating in a peculiar discourse that, paradoxically, seeks to govern us as 'self-governing' (rather than simply governed) (see Andersen 2012) – suggests that we become 'observers of our own observations'; this means that, in her visibilisations of the invisible, i.e. of the 'meaningless play' or what Cooper calls "the unseeable space of raw mass" (2001b, p. 41), we are to visibilise ourselves as divided from those who use unbecoming, antiquated visualisations of themselves as dividing and/or, to make things even worse, do *not* 'observe' their own divisions/distinctions.

In this wider, 'methodical'-cum-divisive context, Prasad, for instance, positively visibilises/'observes', and appeals to, an eminent 'us' that, insofar as 'we' reject the tenets of positivism, is devoted to "the understanding of complex, nuanced, and context-dependent social processes" (2018, p. 4). And, moreover, this apparently pluralistic 'us', we are told, works within "reputed intellectual *craft traditions*" (ibid.). At the same time, this elevated, attentive and versatile 'us' is, 'visibly', distinguished from certain 'others' who, narrowly, work "with numerical data or statistical procedures" (p. 2) and/or adopt a "commonsensical realist approach to ontological and epistemological issues" (ibid.). In fact, 'they' are negatively 'visibilised' as still believing in the "accurate use of 'objective' methods for data collection" (ibid.)...

By implication, Prasad, it seems, winds up positing/constructing/'observing' 'us' members as admirably up-to-date and 'them' non-members as maddeningly out-of-date, with 'them' ultimately held responsible for what Agamben, using distinctly messianic references, calls "the delay of the Kingdom" (2023c, p. 46). 'They' are held responsible for the delay of the good – of the Father/*Patéra*. However, as Agamben underlines, "the delay—history—is the train from which priests ['us'] and

rabbis ['them'] do their utmost to prevent us stepping off, to keep us from seeing that we have always already arrived" (ibid.)...

As an aside, my point here differs from Mir and Jain's remarks, which, in contrast to Prasad, stress that "the boundary between qualitative and quantitative research is a spurious construct" (2018, p. 2). Thus, while I concur with Mir and Jain's assessment that "orthodoxies of our field have [oftentimes] moved us in the direction of watertight compartments, where a mutual suspicion characterizes the interaction between the two camps" (ibid.), my aim is *not* (so much) to highlight that "there are positivist qualitative researchers and inductive statisticians galore" (ibid.). That is, my point is *not* (so much) to suggest that certain 'priests' do (some) rabbi things and that certain 'rabbis' do (some) priest things. Rather, I suggest that we refrain from socially produced divisions and, instead, as touched on, visibilise the visible: inoperativity.

Regrettably, as far as the 'study' of the *nomos* – of the Father/*Patéra* – is concerned, little, if anything, is won in this connection. That is to say, little is won if we – like Cooper – mistake 'study' for what Cooper himself calls "a compulsive force that repetitively and literally per-*forms* social forms" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 152). Little is won if we, with Cooper, grasp "discipline-professions as social practices which create and maintain 'division' through visualization techniques" (2016i, p. 175) *and*, to top it all, by simply following in the footsteps of Cooper or of Haynes and Prasad for that matter, propel, and participate in, such divisive activities. Here – to put it with De Cock – we are, deplorably, still subject to "the rails [*hodoi*] of history [that] simply accelerate us into disaster" (2020, p. 384). Arguably, we – as (increasingly self-governing/self-'observing') 'dividers' – are still moving away from, and are kept from unlocking, the good. We do not come to terms with the *nomos…* 

Notably, by reducing 'method' to a (quasi-)*religious*, divisive struggle for the right path/hodós towards the Father/*Patéra*, we are still moving away from, and are kept from unlocking, the Kingdom. Since, as Kafka famously intuits, the "Messiah will come only when he is no longer necessary" (1991, p. 28). He will come only if no longer conceived in mediating, 'rabbinic'-cum-'priestly' terms. Or, as Hamacher – musing on Kafka's *The Test* – glosses, "[t]he Messiah can only be the one for whom there is no Messiah" (2020, p. 144) *and*, in that sense, remains, happily, "forgotten by every historical messianism" (ibid.). That is to say that, in the last analysis, "we're saved only when we're no longer interested in being saved" (Agamben 2023c, p. 53). We're saved only when we no longer want to be saved by (*oikonomically* conceived) 'godly disclosure'.

## Unfurling an anoikonomic divinity

In this light, as touched upon before, the 'study' of the *nomos* (see Agamben 1995, 2005a, 2011a, 2022a; Harney and Morten 2013; Kotsko and Salzani 2017; Salzani 2017a, 2019; Snoek 2012; Spoelstra 2024; Zartaloudis 2010, 2020) does *not* turn on advocating or applying this or that 'law' (*nomos*). It does not pivot upon *oikonomia* (government). Instead, the 'study' of the *nomos* concerns guarding, and testifying to, the non-fusion, i.e. to the non-relational 'contact' (*contāgiō*), between life (*physis*) and law (*nomos*) – between potentiality and act. It concerns guarding, and testifying to, a non-relational 'contact' – an absence of representation – between *phoné* and *logos*. It concerns the *anoikonomic* immediacy of the divine.

Or, as Brown's intriguing work can be taken to imply, 'study' concerns the opening up of a "space of liberty for non-proprietorial living" (2016, p. 146), with 'method', using Benjamin's words, in truth, aimed at countering "the degeneration of study into the heaping up of information" (1996c, p. 43). Crucially, *pace* Derrida (and Cooper), 'method' – seen from this 'anti-rabbinic' *and* 'anti-priestly' angle – aims even at countering the degeneration of 'study' into hazy, deferred information. Differently put, once properly understood, 'method' puts an end to (the compulsive force taken to spur) the per-*forming* and re*-forming* of social forms – of sociohistorical divisions, said to rely on "an invisible and missing wholeness" (Cooper 2005b, p. 1696).

Accordingly, neither Prasad's championed priestly 'us' members nor her debased rabbinical 'them' non-members get to the bottom of the *nomos*, with 'study' and 'method' – in her 'visibilisations' or what Cooper, affirmatively, calls, "'labour of division" (2016i, p. 175) – tending to be reduced to instruments of socio-juridical positioning. No doubt, they tend to be reduced to biopolitical claims regarding socio-economic privileges, complicit in what Fabian calls 'the denial of coevalness', i.e. the tendency to negate 'others' their presence in the same age as 'ours' (see Barros and Wanderley 2020).

More importantly though, with Prasad, they, 'study' and 'method', clamp down on what Agamben refers to as a "way [hodós] out of history" (2022b, p. 11). They clamp down on 'testimony', insofar as "testimony interrupts history and the discourse of lies, without inaugurating an ulterior time or discourse" (p. 79)... As with Cooper, 'study' and 'method', in Prasad's exceedingly influential stipulations, are, appreciably, compromised, treated as subservient to *oikonomia* (signification or government). Together, they become a biopolitical apparatus, suppressing an ethics centred upon, and unfurling, what Agamben calls "an Ungovernable that is situated beyond states of domination and power relations" (2015b, p. 108).

Unfortunately, Martin Parker's work can also be said to suppress an ethics of the Ungovernable. For he argues that – as organisers – we are necessarily entrammelled in a situation where, mirroring Cooper's priorly discussed dialectic relation between

readability and unreadability, "the construction of [...] 'information', 'rationality', 'management' or whatever relies on differentiating some features of the social world from some other 'noise', 'irrationality', 'anarchy' and so on" (2016, p. 495)...

What Parker ends up overlooking is, to put it with Kafka, that "truth is indivisible and is therefore incapable of recognizing itself; whatever claims to recognize it must therefore be a lie" (2006, p. 79). Or, as Kafka writes in the famous *Octavo Notebooks*, "in a world of lies, lies are not even eliminated by their opposites, but only by the world of truth" (1991, p. 265); thus, information/legibility is not even eliminated by its underlying noise/illegibility, but only by *il-legibility*/profane play...

To get around and adequately grapple with this pervasive pitfall, as far as 'study'/'method' and, ultimately, the *nomos* and, thus, the Father are concerned, my focus dovetails here with what Prozorov – writing about Agamben – calls "'profane messianism" (2014, p. 7). After all, "the messianic is always profane, never religious" (Agamben, cited in Smith 2004, p. 140), unreservedly short-circuiting imposed 'rabbinic' *and* 'priestly' 'division'/'observation'. That is, with Agamben, I recognise, and hope to counter, the "anti-messianic tendencies [...] operating within the Church as well as in the Synagogue" (2005b, p. 1). 'Studiously'/'methodically', my approach boils, then, down to the neutralisation *and* revelation of language. For, following Agamben's reading of Paul of Tarsus, "the Messiah renders the *nomos* inoperative" (2005b, p. 98).

In fact, the Messiah – Agamben tirelessly stresses – coincides with "a law rendered destitute of its power to command" (2015b, p. 273). In other words, the Messiah, as a genuinely 'anti-rabbinic' *and* 'anti-priestly' way (*hodós*), coincides with what Prozorov terms an "experience of language prior to and beyond all signification" (2014, p. 5). It coincides with an experience of language that supplants (the force underlying) the necessarily divisive per-forming and re-forming of social forms with the perfect messianic performative of faith (*performativum fidei*). Because, as Zartaloudis notes, "the perfect messianic performative of *faith* (*performativum fidei*) deactivates the penitential and sacramental performance of the law" (2010, p. 301).<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> It should be clear that this 'experience of language prior to and beyond all signification' must not be confused with what Cooper calls a "void of 'di-vide'" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 15); it must not be confused with the 'zero-degree signification', which, in Cooper's view, "the labour of division has to exclude in its construction of positive spaces and times" (ibid.)... Suffice it to stress here that, with this experience, "rule [Cooper's division or Parker's information] and life [Cooper's void or Parker's noise] lose their familiar meaning to point in the direction of a third thing" (Agamben 2013b, p. xii); they point to the 'use' and non-appropriation underlying what may be called 'form-of-life': "a life that can never be separated from its form" (Agamben 2000, p. 3). Critically, they point to a life that can never be posited or presupposed as 'void'/ noisy' and, thus, never as the basis and motivating force of division/information (see also Fusco 2022).

### Countering thwarted messianism

Patently, Agamben's reading of Paul differs sharply from that of Deslandes. Since, unlike Agamben, Deslandes – focusing on diverse organisational constraints – does not believe Paul to point to 'perfect nihilism/messianism', i.e. to inoperativity. Rather, Deslandes, bizarrely, takes Paul to gesture towards a confrontation with "difficulties, our limitations and, occasionally, our concerns, in order to more effectively overcome them when the opportunity arises" (2020, p. 135), with Deslandes, like too many others, remaining stuck in *oikonomia*.

Similarly, Agamben's reading of messianism also differs from that of Derrida. After all, 'profane messianism' neutralises even "a law that *is in force* but does not *signify*" (Agamben 1998, p. 51) or, coterminous herewith, "signification that only signifies itself" (2005b, p. 103). Otherwise stated, Agamben's 'profane messianism' also comprises the neutralisation of what Derrida promotes as "messianism without content" (2006, p. 82). Crucially, *pace* Derrida, messianic destitution also comprises the neutralisation of the '*virtual* state of exception', making the '*virtual* exception' (imperfect nihilism/messianism) a '*real* exception' (perfect nihilism/messianism)...

Put slightly differently, Agamben's messianic destitution neutralises even the 'undecidability' or empty 'zero-degree signification' that Derrida intends by the phrase "a messianic without messianism" (2006, p. 74). Since it, this destitution, recognises that "[d]econstruction is a thwarted messianism, a suspension of the messianic" (Agamben 2005b, p. 103). With this in view, I, decidedly, abstain from *oikonomically* positioning man as a 'social constructor' (i.e. as a producer of the *nomos*) or, connectedly, as a 'responder' (i.e. as a reaction or effect of the [*oikonomically* produced] *nomos*).

Because here, I am, in following Agamben, concerned with delineating 'method' as pivoting on "bringing language itself to language" (1993c, p. 83). Regarding 'method', I am concerned "not [with] this or that content of language, but [with] language *itself*" (ibid.). I am concerned with unfurling language that no longer signifies, and also with rejecting deconstruction's anchoring in signification that signifies itself only...

Consequently, echoing a growing interest in (quasi-)messianic and/or redemptioncentred motifs amongst organisation scholars (e.g. Beverungen et al. 2013; Butler and Spoelstra 2024b; Case 1999; De Cock 2020; Deslandes 2020; Dyck and Wiebe 2012; Höpfl 2003a, 2012; Kociatkiewicz and Kostera 2019; Murtola 2012; Śliwa et al. 2013; Spoelstra et al. 2021; Sørensen 2008, 2010, 2014a,b; Thaning et al. 2016), I attend, in this context, to the conspicuous 'profane messianism' I take to inhere in 'method'. Siding with Watkin, that means that I do "not sign up to the death of God but to his deactivation" (2014, p. 28). Put simply, I do not sign up to a renunciation or destruction of language, but to its being rendered inoperative, wresting language/the *nomos*/the Father from the influence of mediating 'rabbis' *and* 'priests', so as to profane it. No doubt, I sign up to an *anoikonomic* God or divine violence, insofar as, following Zartaloudis's ruminations on Agamben's Benjamin-inspired work, such "divine violence is the violence that leads to its [own] messianic *katargēsis*, its inoperativity, and, as such, it is a power or violence in alignment with the messianic, rather than the juridical or political powers" (2010, p. 129).

In other words, recognising the coincidence between this particular messianism *and* 'method' means "to revoke and render inoperative at each instant every aspect of the life that we live, and to make the life for which we live, [...] the 'life of Jesus', [...] appear within it" (Agamben 2011d, p. 248). It means to completely render inoperative the 'law', so as to offer and find a way out of biopolitical entrapment. Or, in short, it means to suspend *oikonomia*. As briefly touched upon above, at stake in 'method' is, then, "a form-of-life, that is to say, a life that is linked so closely to its form that it proves inseparable from it" (2013b, p. xi). At stake is a life beyond the grip of the '*virtual* state of exception' and its presupposition of 'continuous absence' or 'void'/'noise' as a drive to organise (cf. Cooper 1989, 2016i; Parker 2016). Indeed, at stake is a life beyond the production of 'naked/bare life', i.e. life beyond the production of a 'void/noisy life' on which identities (divisions or 'observations'), whether stable or flexible, may or may not be imposed.

As a result, as alluded to in the introductory quote, my point of departure is that Jesus is the way/hodós and the truth and the life. For, as implied by the Gospel of John, no one comes to the Father – the nomos – except through Jesus. More specifically, with Agamben, I suggest here that "Christ as messiah is *telos nomou*, end and fulfillment of the law" (2013b, p. 46). Importantly, as Agamben stresses, under the aegis of this particular *telos nomou*, under the aegis of the Messiah, "the factical and juridico-political conditions in which each one finds himself must neither be hypostatized nor simply changed" (2015b, p. 56).

Instead, "[t]he ultimate and glorious telos of the law [...] is to be deactivated and made inoperative" (Agamben 2011d, p. 166). Or, as Thaning et al.'s brilliant work can be taken to intimate, the *telos nomou* coincides with the "deactivation' of each and every social determination" (2016, p. 196). And, seen from this perspective, 'method', the Messiah, i.e. the way towards, and, by the same token, the end and fulfilment of, the *nomos* (God), gives rise to "a new possible use rather than an object of ownership and appropriation" (ibid.).

## Collecting with a view to analysing data

Following this profane way/hodós, this thesis's exposition relies on five thematically different case studies. Initially, using Google Scholar, 25 unemployment-related management articles were found and perused in this context. But, in order to ensure in-depth *exposition*, I eventually settled for five core articles. These five core articles, in turn, are complemented by thematically related, ancillary articles by the same author(s). All in all, including these eight thematically related, ancillary articles, 13 articles – adding up to a total of 278 pages of published, peer-reviewed academic text – form the basis of *this* thesis's *exposition*. Providing an overview, the table below contains central details of the 13 articles that make up these five cases.

Case		Title of the article	Author(s)	Journal	Year of publication
1	Core article	'I Can't Put a Smiley Face On': Working-Class Masculinity, Emotional Labour and Service Work in the 'New Economy'	D. Nixon	Gender, Work & Organization	2009
	Side article	'I just Like Working with my Hands': Employment Aspirations and the Meaning of Work for Low-Skilled Unemployed Men in Britain's Service Economy	D. Nixon	Journal of Education & Work	2006
2	Core article	The Social Construction of Clients by Service Agents in Reformed Welfare Administration	P. Rosenthal, R. Peccei	Human Relations	2006
	Side article	'The Work You Want, the Help You Need': Constructing the Customer in Jobcentre Plus	P. Rosenthal, R. Peccei	Organization	2007
	Side article	The Customer Concept in Welfare Administration: Front- Line Views in Jobcentre Plus	P. Rosenthal, R. Peccei	International Journal of Public Sector Management	2006
3	Core article	Sorting People Out: The Uses of One-Dimensional Classificatory Schemes in a Multi-Dimensional World	A. Diedrich, U. Eriksson- Zetterquist, A. Styhre	Culture & Organization	2012
	Side article	Making the Refugee Multiple: The Effects of Classification Work	A. Diedrich, A. Styhre	Scandinavian Journal of Management	2008
4	Core article	The Enterprising Self: An Unsuitable Job for an Older Worker	S. Ainsworth, C. Hardy	Organization	2008
	Side article	Mind over Body: Physical and Psychotherapeutic Discourses	S. Ainsworth, C. Hardy	Human Relations	2009

Table 1: Articles underlying the case exposition

		and the Regulation of the Older Worker			
	Side article	Critical Discourse Analysis and Identity: Why Bother	S. Ainsworth, C. Hardy	Critical Discourse Studies	2004
5	Core article	Identity Regulation in Neo- liberal Societies: Constructing the Occupationally Disabled Individual	M. Holmqvist, C. Maravelias, P. Skålén	Organization	2013
	Side article	Medicalization of Unemployment: Individualizing Social Issues as Personal Problems in the Swedish Welfare State	M. Holmqvist	Work, Employment & Society	2009
	Side article	The Active Welfare State and Its Consequences: A Case Study of Sheltered Employment in Sweden	M. Holmqvist	European Societies	2010

The selection of these articles has primarily been guided by the wish to provide a broad potpourri of different *oikonomic*/managerial themes. As a result, in addition to managerially conceived unemployment, these articles cover topics as diverse as ageism, categorisation/classification/codification/labelling, class, competence/skill, control, criticism, customer sovereignty, discourse, diversity/intersectionality, emotional labour, enterprise culture, frontline work, gender, habitus, identity/self, medicalisation, migrant/refugee labour, neoliberalism, new public management (NPM), post-industrial organisation, service work, sheltered work, social construction and validation.

It is these topics that – akin to unemployment – become the target of 'study'. They become the target of 'profane messianism' or what Śliwa et al. call "profanation as a method in organization studies" (2013, p. 862) and are – in their being returned to their profanity – meant to further inspire the 'study' of all kinds of *oikonomic* topics. In line with Prozorov's reading of Agamben, they are, in their profanity, meant to help us "break outside the confines of signification, law and history" (2014, p. 8). Returning to the narrow definition of 'method' as concerning 'the modes of collecting and analysing data', one can say that, here, the articles have been collected with a view to helping to spur the loosening (analysis) of data (the visible) from the confines of signification/law/history. They have been collected with a view to helping to render *oikonomia* inoperative.

## Kafkan studious gestures

In a way/hodós, 'profane messianism', it is true, follows the curious example of Kafka's 'students'. This concerns, for instance, Odradek, who – as Beyes and Holt

note – "is a real being, even though meaning is absent" (2019, p. 108). In other words, as a 'student', Odradek turns into a 'form-of-life' since he "offers nothing to grip" (ibid.).<sup>53</sup> In like fashion, Benjamin – an attentive reader of Kafka – can, too, be said to draw attention to the 'profane messianism' of Kafka's 'students'. Discussing the novel *Amerika (The Man Who Disappeared)*, he stresses, for example, that the end of this novel constitutes a "dissolution of goings-on into the 'gestural'" (1999, p. 801), with Hamacher (2011) helpfully underlining that 'gesture' – in Benjamin and Kafka – refers to that which was meant to carry the 'law' and, happily, remains after the (*oikonomic*) 'law' is gone: an experience of language prior to and beyond all signification.<sup>54</sup>

Obviously, that means that this *idea* of gesture differs from the dominant definition circulating in the management literature; Clarke et al., for instance, define 'gesture' as referring to the "movements of hands and arms that co-occur with speech" (2021, p. 141). Thus, rather than, as suggested by Agamben, pivoting on profanity, for Clarke et al., 'gesture' forms "a specific subset of embodied conduct" (ibid.). And, as such, it is found to be "coupled with the messages and actions that speakers project in natural settings" (ibid.). Indeed, for Clarke et al., focused upon "verbal and embodied messages [...] [in] their interplay" (p. 161), 'gestures' tend to "elaborate on what is said or add entirely new aspects not present in speech" (p. 141). Still, with Agamben, "what is at issue in gesture is not so much a prelinguistic content" (1999b, p. 78). Instead, what is at issue in studious gestures is *il-legibility* – an exit from biopolitics.

Vitally, the above implies not only that I side with Jones and Ten Bos, inasmuch as they suggest that "Kafka is one of the greatest philosophers of organization" (2007, p. 15). It also implies that – resonating with Agamben's reading of Kafka – I attend to, and recognise, what Snoek notes is "a Kafka who offers a way [hodós] out" (2012, p. 149). All that means that – through the profanity of the Messiah, through the 'studious' gesturing encapsulated in *méthodos* – 'rabbinic' *and* 'priestly' works are finally suspended. Or, as Thaning et al. write, here "work [*oikonomia*] comes to terms with and finds peace in inoperativity" (2016, p. 211).

This can also be briefly illustrated by reference to Kafka's *Excursion into the Mountains*, a short monologue that starts with a narrator exclaiming "'I don't know', I cried without a sound" (1971, p. 55); of course – in a certain way – nobody has heard this 'I'. Nobody has heard its exclamation. For, as mentioned, it is cried 'without a sound'. And, yet, one has somehow 'heard' or read the 'I' and its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> To reiterate, "form-of-life is the 'way out': the *hodos* leading to the interruption of the tragedy of our present through [...] endless profanation" (Fusco 2022, p. 196).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> That means that we should grasp "gesture as a non-signifying but expressive element, one which manifests itself in both language [...] and the face" (Agamben 2024b, p. 11).

exclamation, have we not? Critically, this, in turn, may be taken to suggest that the narrator, who knows that he doesn't know, and the one who hears the narrator, are not 'someone'. They are not the product of the 'labour of division', because, in some way, nothing 'legible', such as 'officer' or 'manager', has been heard or read.

At the same time, however, they are not 'noise' either. They are not some meaningless 'noise of communication' (i.e. no 'law in force without significance') that, as such, may or may not be rendered legible. Because, in some sense, something, 'I don't know', has clearly been heard or read... Indeed, 'nobody' has exclaimed/heard the exclamation. And this is precisely Kafka's point: what Kafka calls "a pack of nobodies" (ibid.), of which the narrator forms a part, has heard and/or read the exclamation; human beings irreducible to a dialectic between 'noise/void' and 'information/division' read here that they are completely il-legible. They know that they cannot be known and *ex-claim* that they cannot be exclaimed. Studiously, they gesture. Turning to Agamben, one might, then, say that what these gestures gesture to is that the "human being is the being that is lacking to itself and that consists solely in this lack and in the errancy [i.e. the 'pathlessness' contained in the messianic hodós] it opens" (1999c, p. 134). Now, "what is essential to language is a non-communicative moment, a muteness embedded within man's being a speaker – that is to say, his dwelling in language is not turned solely towards the exchange of messages but is above all gestural and expressive" (2024b, p. 110). *Here*, "[e]xpression is a suspension of the signifying relation (ibid), so that "[w]hat the gesture exhibits is not something unsayable but speech itself, the very being-inlanguage of man" (2024b, p. 110).

# Exposing constatation

"[T]he book, which is destined to the one who cannot read it, the illiterate, has been written by a hand that, in a certain sense, does not know how to write, an illiterate hand." (Agamben 2014c, p. 11)

Seemingly, the *writing* and *reading* of organisation and its research has historically been confined to the sphere of *constatives* (e.g. Beck 2009; Grint and Nixon 2015; Nixon 2009; Sandelands and Drazin 1989). In Austin's words, it has been confined to the "reporting [of] something" (1962, p. 13). More recently, though, there has been a noteworthy shift towards *performatives*, highlighting the more or less conscious "doing [of] something" (ibid.). Specifically, there has been a shift towards grasping language use as involving *acts* of (re)programming, enforcing and preserving socio-political ends (e.g. Gond and Cabantous 2016; Gond et al. 2016; Muniesa 2014). Nonetheless, *constatives* and *performatives* are here, strictly speaking, taken to coalesce into one another. Because, even for Austin – McKinlav points out - the constative "is not descriptive, but brings an act into being" (2010, p. 123). Accordingly, whilst this chapter is concerned with *exposing* Darren Nixon's outwardly constative references regarding the gendered and classed habitus of certain workers in a, reportedly, post-industrial Great Britain, it grasps such, allegedly, constative reference to, at bottom, be *performative*. More to the point, this chapter grasps Nixon's *descriptions* to be *oikonomically* reproductive as they, informed by Bourdieusian and Beckian sociology, tend to reduce human beings to 'game players': as subject to the 'rules of the game', with profane play being denied.55

Indeed, for Bourdieusians, Townley *writes*, "some people are better equipped and better suited to 'playing the game'" (2014, p. 48). This is due to their specific 'habitus', a terms Bourdieusians tend to use to refer to that which "'translates' the structured relations of the field [or game] into schemes of perception, thought and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Unsurprisingly, Cooper also focuses on performatives, stressing their indeterminacy and unfinishedness. Concretely, he writes that "[i]n contrast to the constative or referential function of language which simply indicates and represents an independently existing object or event, the performative actively gives form to—that is, per-forms—the object or event" (2001a, p. 170). Indeed, for him, "we perform and translate the raw matter of the world into symbolic meaning" (ibid.), so that "information must never be concluded; by definition, it must remain unfinished, infinite, indeterminate" (p. 169).

action (dispositions) that enable the individual to function in the field [or game]" (p. 46). As a consequence, there are always those who - allegedly - lack a "feel for the game" (ibid.). Or, put differently, for Bourdieusians, Townley goes on, some humans' "dispositions are too fixed, 'out of step' with existing circumstances" (p. 47). And, more often than not, this gives rise to these humans being "dismissed as resistant" (ibid.). Partly interlocked therewith, for Ulrich Beck, "the real, objective transformation of human society at the beginning of the twenty-first century is inadequately reflected both at the level of social consciousness and sociological methodology" (2009, p. 795), so that, to stay abreast in the 'field' or 'social game', advantageously *dispositioned*, future-oriented scholars like Beck himself ought to "decipher the new rules of the game even as they are coming into existence" (Beck et al. 2003, p. 3). However, referring to 'the (rules of the) game', Rhodes's sobering musings can be taken to suggest that Bourdieu(sians) and Beck(ians), while claiming to be committed to "a framework to describe social development and evolution" (2004, p. 9), help to enact (classed and gendered) power relations that purport to merely constate or describe the "survival of the fittest" (p. 8). Obviously, that means that Bourdieusians and Beckians, like Nixon, fail to testify to "a word that no longer means anything, that is no longer destined to the transmission of meaning" (Agamben 1999b, p. 53).56

Put differently, what Nixon overlooks is the *possibility* of the "becoming unreadable of the world" (Agamben 2017c, p. 78). That is, he ignores the *possibility* that "Schreiben [...] bewegt sich aus der geschichtlichen Welt und der Geschichte hinaus, indem es sich selbst löscht und—paradox—als Löschen schreibt, indem es [...] sich aus-schreibt und entschreibt" (Hamacher 2019, p. 14); he ignores that 'writing moves out of the historical world and history, by means of effacing itself and, paradoxically, writing itself as effacement, by means of *out-writing* and *unwriting* itself". As a result, he does not attend to a "'pure history'" (Agamben 1999b, p. 60) in which we, as authors/writers (and readers) of organisation (research), have "'burst the chains of writing"' (p. 57) and are, by implication, "released from time" (1993a, p. 104). Unsurprisingly, it is in this spirit that this chapter *analyses* Nixon's work, focusing on *ex-posing* his *constative* references with regard to, as far as the 'social game' *described* in these *texts* is concerned, a) *presently* excluded male working-class habitus, b) *presently* included female working-class habitus and c) presently included male middle-class habitus.<sup>57</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Dynamising imposition, Cooper, too, fails to testify to such a world; for him, "[d]escription [...] is a narrative strategy that translates the inhuman into the human" (2001a, p. 189), with Cooper simply opting for an oscillation between signifier and signified. After all, he emphasises that "[d]escription must become *de-scription (dé-criture)*, a form of unwriting that returns us to an experience of cultural estrangement where we begin to see matter returning to itself" (ibid.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> An exposition of Nixon's work differs from the *positions* taken by *proponents* of 'critical discourse analysis', inasmuch as, following Dick, "[t]he key concern of critical discourse analysis

#### Male working-class habitus

To get straight to the articles in question, Nixon, whose *texts* this chapter analyses, underlines that

[t]he [unemployed] men [in his, *supposedly*, non-normative, *descriptive* text] knew that their propensity to [in line with an unfavourable, Bourdieu-type working-class habitus] front up was causing them major difficulties in the labour market [...], but [nevertheless] they struggled to modify and adapt their usual ways of being. [Therefore, f]or most men it seemed that the best way of dealing with the problem [i.e. of dealing with their inhibiting habitus, with their inability to embrace the 'new rules of the game'] was to avoid high-stress work environments and interactive service work [...] (2009, p. 316).<sup>58</sup>

Importantly, as this quote helps illustrate, in the *texts analysed*, 'male working-class habitus' is drawn on as an unambiguous marker of anachronistic labour market impotentiality. It is drawn on as a marker of an inability to, more or less skilfully, impersonate the *present*, to live and, *as* but a function of the *present*, this chapter argues, wallow in discursively *imposed* 'reflexive modernity'. And, curiously, the men referred to are found to be fully aware of their impotentiality. Perhaps one may even say that, for these *texts*, these men, while seen to fail to *actualise as* Beck-type, 'reflexive moderns', are aware of themselves *as* reprehensibly drab impotentiality. In that case, they would, due to the internalisation of their *position vis-à-vis present*, 'reflexively' modern articulations of "'the world of gaming'" (Letiche and Maier 2005, p. 67), see themselves *as* manifestations of forms of a flawed, marginal life. Thus, seen from the angle of a particular metaphorical dictum, of high-stress, interactive service work environments, whose *chronological actuality* and efficiency these *texts* help confirm and guarantee, the flawed, marginal life that these men embody has served its time.<sup>59</sup>

is to understand language use as both constructing aspects of the world, and as simultaneously reproducing and/or changing these aspects" (2004, p. 212). Thus, while for critical discourse analysts, "there are always alternative discourses available that enable different individuals and groups to resist the regulatory norms in any specific social domain" (p. 204), *exposition*, Agamben can be taken to suggest, "eliminate[s] all discourse from language" (2022b, p. 70), stopping the *supposed/imposed* reality of the *alleged* 'discursive game'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Drawing on Bourdieu, Nixon uses *habitus* to stress that, as for his interviewees, "class and gender are internalized in the subconscious as dispositions to act or think in [...] [certain] ways" (2009, p. 310). What Nixon, following Bourdieu, overlooks is that habitus may be a form-of-life, defying the Law's virtual suspension and normal functioning. For as Agamben writes, "[*h*]*abito* is a frequentive of *habeo*: to inhabit is a special mode of having, a having so intense that it is no longer possession at all. By dint of having something we inhabit it, we belong to it" (2024b, p. 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Put briefly, following Beck's postulations, the term "'reflexive modernization' [...] refers [here] to the transition away from a first modernity locked within the national state, and towards a second,

At any rate, low-skilled working-class men, the quote implies, prove to be unable to sufficiently patch their drab labour market habitus. They prove to be unable to get to grips with, and *update*, what Adkins, in critical dialogue with Bourdieusian iterations upon habitus, calls "the active presence of the[ir] whole past" (2008, p. 185). In other words, for Nixon, the men interviewed prove to be unable to get to grips with, and *update*, the active presence of their – up to an asserted, post-industrial, 'reflexively modern' *present* – accumulated symbolic elements. Crucially, that means that Nixon and like-minded scholars equate 'male working-class habitus' with a *chronologically* dire, lethal failure to get to grips with and *update as* symbolically *present*. More specifically, they equate 'male working-class habitus' with an inadmissible failure to cope with a *present* that – to *install* itself *as* a 'timely' marker of what Parker, warily, calls "historical superiority" (2011, p. 559) – discursively identifies, and demonises, the *alleged* backwardness of "wild man" (ibid.).

Or, in other words, for these *texts*, it is primarily a, *supposedly*, striking habitusconditioned inability to succeed in breaking away from being 'wild man' that, in a self-evidently *present*, post-industrial, 'reflexively modern' era, makes humans branded 'low-skilled working-class men' prone to become, and to remain, unemployed. For, notably, in these *texts*, this inability is seen to prevent these men from familiarising themselves with, taking on board and reproducing themselves *as* – in keeping with the course of, chronologically, *present*, future-oriented time – impersonated simulations of the post-industrial 'reflexively modern' self. It prevents them from turning themselves into self-*present* futurist 'game figures'. In a patently tautological way, their being 'past life' is seen to keep them from being 'present life'.

Indeed, what Nixon takes to be a *chronologically* inadmissible habitus-conditioned inability is, then, argued to prevent these men from, at all, standing a chance of – in *chronologically agentic* fashion – (re)producing and consuming themselves *as* "civilized man" (Parker 2011, p. 559). It prevents them from (re)producing and consuming themselves *as* supposed avatars of *historically* superior, post-industrial, 'reflexively modern' *actuality*. Indeed, it is argued to prevent them from (re)producing themselves *as* swiftly re-gendering, stress-tolerant service workers. Thus, confirming and guaranteeing what, drawing on Munro, can be argued to be a 'production metaphor of self', in these *texts*, low-skilled working-class men's *constated* inability to break away from being 'wild man' prevents them from being 'civilised man'. It is seen to cause these men to be cast on the "dunghills of progress" (Munro 1998b, p. 185). At the same time, scholars, like Nixon, are themselves implicitly *contextualised as* recognised and meaningfully *constative* writers, happy

open, risk-filled modernity characterized by general insecurity" (2014, p. 19). Crucially, for Beck, this "transition takes place [...] within a continuity of 'capitalist modernization', which is now in the process of removing the fetters of the national and the welfare state" (ibid.).

to apply "gaming skills" (Macdonald and Kam 2011, p. 472) to play both "the publication game" (Butler and Spoelstra 2012, p. 891) and "the funding game" (Bristow 2012, 236).

As indicated, in Nixon's, *allegedly*, non-normative, *descriptive* work, this inability causes these men, then, to be locked up in the past, *as* past. It causes them to be cast *as*, one must not forget, the demonised past which, only by being *described as* 'wild' makes possible an aesthetics of 'civilised man' and, in this way, helps lay the *authorial* foundations of a, *chronologically*, self-sealing mechanism, of a biopolitically *transposed*, dreadful 'language game'. And, vitally, this 'language game', by dint of what Munro calls "a 'rubbishing' of the past" (1998a, p. 208), functions to enlist human beings to *agentically* reproduce and consume themselves *as*, variously, post-industrial and 'reflexively modern' – *as*, variously, belonging to, and impersonating, the *historical present*. That means that pointing to an *alleged* inability to reproduce and consume oneself *as updated*, *as present*, functions to *prescriptively* mark putatively low-skilled working-class men *as* what Hoskin refers to as "the not-self" (1996, p. 43). It functioned to mark these men *as* a, *constitutively*, excluded, *outdated* 'not-self' against which the 'reflexively modern' self can be differentiated and acclaimed *as historically updated*.

Conspicuously, this inability, this chapter finds, makes 'male working-class habitus' and those *textured* bodies seen to be fatally infested with it part of what Munro, alluding to Debord, calls the "technologies of the spectacle" (2005, p. 287). Indeed, it makes those *described as* "at odds with the deference and docility required in [...] low-level service jobs" (Nixon 2009, p. 302) *as* "rough-and-tumble" (2006, p. 209) and *as* carriers of "aggressive macho masculinity" (2009, p. 316) part of the technologies that give rise to the, *chronologically*, *present* edifice of time. Patently, one may, then, say that 'male working-class habitus' becomes a cipher of an inadmissibility based on whose authorial/writerly 'rubbishing' with regard to a, *supposedly*, *present present* 'reflexive modernity' can be, violently, *imposed* as the only 'game' in town. 'Spectacularly', it can be *imposed* as the only game in, and bedrock of, the post-industrial world.

Consequently, for this chapter, the literature *analysed* seems to *participate* in reproductive gaming processes that frighteningly serve to *position* 'reflexive modernity' *as* an immutable *condition*. They function to *position* reflexive modernity as a 'spectacular' hermeneutical 'whole' to which human beings would, irredeemably, *as* variously *up*- or *outdated* belong. In fact, it seems to participate in processes that function to *position* 'reflexive modernity' as an externally located reality, i.e. as a *chronologically contextualised*, defining 'whole', with 'play' risking being hermeneutically reduced to the relentless (re)production and consumption of spectacular-cum-secular 'parts'. Interestingly, Beck et al., if, perhaps, unaware of the sinister, far-reaching repercussions of their much-invoked dictum, concede that, under reflexive modernity, individuals inevitably become some sort of "prisoners" (2003, p. 25). Notwithstanding this, 'reflexively modern prisoners', Beck and others

exalt, would, *as* agents playing their hermeneutical part and subject to their unique *chronologically present position* with regard to the 'reflexively modern world of gaming', have some "field of play" (Beck et al. 2003, p. 25).

Hence, as Nixon seems to concur – while we are held accountable to, perpetually, reproduce and consume or write and read ourselves *as* selves that, *chronologically*, warrant "social inclusion and citizenship" (2006, p. 205) – within the policed impersonation of admissible selves, we would have the chance to "reflexively play" (p. 206). Depending on our 'habitus' and, by implication, on our 'feel of the game', we would have the chance to at least attempt to impersonate some other *chronologically* admissible self – some other *chronologically* admissible *updated* social-juridical identity. By extension, reflexive modernity's founding fathers, its *chronologically* most prophetic senior authors, may, then, be argued to be given a 'spectacular' hand with *installing* 'reflexive modernity' *as* a self-evident secular-cum-hermeneutical *present* to be perpetually *constated*. That means that the purpose of what, with Ten Bos, can be said to be little more than a *presently* performed, discursive disaggregation under "the simple headings of good and bad" (2003, p. 268) is to – via the violence of *constative* writing – make playfully illiterate writers 'free game'.

#### Female working class habitus

Interestingly, in Nixon's work, low-skilled working-class men's *alleged* anachronism – their *constated* inability to, once and for all, break away from what, Newton shows, management theories portray as "phylogenetically outmoded patterns of [...] human behaviour" (1995, p. 67) – is reflected in these men's conspicuous incompatibility with *chronologically present*, low-paid interactive service work. In short, for Nixon, these men's *constated*, phylogenetic being stuck in 'the past' is reflected in their incompatibility with "servicing the sovereign customer" (2009, p. 306). That is to say, within the articles *analysed*, *constated* woeful 'anachronism' is reflected in these men's incompatibility with a veritable 'cult of the customer'. It is reflected in an incompatibility with a 'cult' among many other things found to *replace* bureaucratic regulation and *stability* with a *substantive* focus on increasingly uncertain internal and external markets, *constant* competition and on employees' credible, embodied displays of 'enterprise'.

Notably, this anachronism is seen to be reflected in these men's incompatibility with an all-pervasive discourse based on which – Munro suggests – "there can be no permanent insiders" (1998a, p. 209). What is more, in the same (customer-centred) breath, low-skilled working-class men's *alleged* phylogenetic 'anachronism' is seen to be reflected in an unalterable incompatibility with types of work which, for Nixon, are self-evidently linked to 'low-paid-cum-low-skilled working-class women', to their specific habitus. That is, working-class men's anachronism translates into an incompatibility with types of work which, we are informed, befitting to such women's *supposed* habitus, involve "forms of low-skilled service work" (2009, p. 300) as well as what the American sociologist Arlie Hochschild refers to as 'emotional labour'.

More specifically, these men's professed anachronism is, then, seen to be reflected in an incompatibility with regimes of low-paid service work. It is seen to be incompatible with work regimes seen to revolve around *constatively* low-paid-cumlow-skilled female *performers*' ability to engage in the strategic production and elicitation of emotions that, in a *constated* (gaming) *present*, are deemed to be *oikonomically* desirable and profitable. Patently, it is found to be reflected in an incompatibility with work regimes seen to revolve around an ability to engage in what the literature invoked by Nixon *describes* as 'courteous and deferential interactions with customers' (e.g. McDowell 2002). That means 'they' are considered as unfit for work regimes that centre on an ability to produce commercially viable low-level servicing 'selves' that, in the eye of a, *supposedly*, excessively fastidious 'sovereign customer', do "look good and sound right" (Nixon 2009, p. 306).

Indeed, 'male working-class habitus', one may say, is argued to be (somatically and behaviourally) manifest in an insuperable inability to gainfully engage in the strategic production of aestheticised emotional commodities such as desire, empathy, warmth and trustworthiness – in the engineering of emotion-based commodities meant to boost today's customers' service experience. And 'working-class femininity', at the same customer-centred time, is *opposingly installed* as a courteous deferential source of energy on which the post-industrial service economy, 'the new game' *constatively* rung in by, for instance, Beck et al., can *presently* run. No doubt, 'working-class femininity' is depicted as a low-budget courteous and deferential 'raw material' which, it is implied, once skilfully *enacted*, is suited to power *supposed* 'timeliness'.

Hence, in contrast to the *outdated* 'working-class masculinity' of a "'detached male workforce'" (Nixon 2006, p. 202), for these *texts*, 'working-class femininity' is used as shorthand for working-class women's commercially convenient capacity to engage in the sophisticated dramaturgical production of what would appear to be 'inauthentic authenticity' – of what Höpfl calls a "grotesque counterfeit" (2002, p. 265). It is used as shorthand for these women's capacity for dramaturgical performances meant to beguile a *present*, hard-to-please audience, signalling *outstanding* compatibility with low-paid-cum-low-skilled service-work jobs. Put slightly differently, 'working-class femininity' signals a capacity that may keep *present* life, the policed chronological reproduction and consumption of 'reflexively modern' selves, from sliding into an 'uncivilised, wild past'.

In this spirit, 'gender' is *conceptualised* as a modifying, dichotomous variable that, with respect to the British working class, is found to indicate a propensity for either commendable low-end labour market attachment or - in *opposition* thereto - dismal labour market detachment. Consequently, in the articles *analysed*, 'male working-

class habitus' functions as an articulation of the 'wild, uncivilised not-self' against which 'civilised female working-class habitus' can be *positively installed* as a welcome, budget-friendly, post-industrial commodity. Markedly, 'male working-class habitus' serves as a marker of outright inadmissibility against which 'female working-class habitus' is *positioned* as what, Borgerson and Rehn's work suggests, dominant socio-economic discourse acclaims as a "feminine energy" (2004, p. 466) – an energy that, for Nixon, allows *present*, low-paid-cum-low-skilled (female) service work to be "friendly, deferential and flirty" (2009, p. 306).

In other words, it functions as British capitalism's 'edge of time' – as a *posited* point of reference and 'outer limit' that allows 'feminine working-class habitus' to be inclusively *described* as, through deferential flirtatious servicing of the sovereign customer, *present*. It allows feminine working-class habitus to be inclusively *described* as a highly admissible product for which, it is intimated, there is, today, an insatiable demand. Obviously, with this in view, it is unsurprising that Nixon underlines that the

unemployed low-skilled men in [...] [his *supposedly* non-normative, merely *descriptive*] study rejected growing forms of low-skilled customer-oriented interactive service employment, because such work calls for dispositions, skills and ways of being that are antithetical to the male working-class habitus. [Significantly, t]he men rejected female-dominated interactive service occupations that involved high amounts of emotional labour, because they struggled to manage their emotions and [to, in contrast to the demands posed by 'new economy' jobs,] be passive and deferential within the service encounter; and because such work denied them the opportunity to relieve their stress in their usual ways [that is in ways confined by their inhibiting habitus]—through shouting, swearing, taking the piss and having a laugh (2006, p. 318).

Plainly, human beings *described* as 'low-skilled working-class women' – reduced to carriers of a commercially gainful, deferential low-budget habitus, of "passive and bodily deportment" (Nixon 2009, p. 310) – are, then, associated with what Borgerson refers to as "aspects of stereotypical femininity, such as being passive, emotional, other-focused, or 'sensitive'" (2005, p. 489). By and large, they, these women, are associated with a 'timely' resource that, through *actualisation*, would help reproduce the post-industrial present, the *allegedly* inevitable '*social* game'. For one thing, as Borgerson's work helps underline, that means that Nixon ignores that the women *described* in his *texts* may – there can be little doubt – have "self-sacrificing caring traits forced upon them as appropriate to their sex" (2005, p. 483). Indeed, these texts, one may argue, *underwrite* such a ruthless force, confirming, and helping to guarantee, the display of these traits in low-level interactive service work as a requirement for low-paid-cum-low-skilled women's *chronologically conditionalised existence*. These texts help *underwrite* this display as a requirement for performance-based social inclusion and citizenship.

Additionally, that means that these *texts* do not only participate in what Tyler and Taylor refer to as "the commodification of [...] women's perceived difference from [chronologically *outdated*, uncivilised] men" (1998, p. 166) – from their rough-and-tumble "difficulty [...] [to, docilely, swallow] abuse from customers in the service encounter" (Nixon 2009, p. 316). Strikingly, drawing upon Adkins, one may even say that they help *position* "gender as a self-conscious stratagem [...] to be deployed in interactive service work" (2005, p. 123). That means these articles, this chapter finds, help *position* (working-class) femininity as a 'timely' raw material that the *chronologically* couched low-paid-cum-low-skilled women-self, owing to its capacity to, with respect to a futurist 'reflexive modernity', make itself *present*, consciously deploys to pass *as* comparatively *updated*, *as* chronologically *present*.

After all, these texts help *position* (working-class) femininity *as* an exploitable matter-energy that playfully manoeuvring low-cost-cum-low-skilled women-selves or low-end female *performers agentically* bring into play. Without question, these texts help *position* working-class femininity as a matter-energy that allows the low-end-women-self, the low-end female performer, based on continuous role-playing authentication of 'itself' *as*, aesthetically, deferential, abuse-resistant and flirty service performance, to play its part in a dramaturgical/hermeneutic/discursive whole. They *position* this particular woman-self as competent to play its part in, and blow life into, what, partly tongue-in-cheek, can be dubbed (the biopolitics of) 'game theory'.<sup>60</sup>

#### Male middle-class habitus

In like fashion, in these articles, *constating* low-skilled working-class men's 'anachronism' with respect to a discursively *imposed* 'post-industrial Britain' also serves to *position* 'middle-class masculinity' as *oikonomically* gainful 'raw material'. Indeed, it serves to *position* 'middle-class masculinity' as a highly suitable and coveted resource for the *performance* of displays of belonging. More specifically, in this *context, supposedly descriptive* or *constative* references, namely to the *constatively* irrevocable *outdatedness* of working-class men – to these men's mounting labour market detachment – serves a strategic function; they serve to *position* 'male middle-class habitus' as a privileged resource for displays of belonging with regard to a *chronological present*. Following this, as already hinted, this *outdating* or 'rubbishing' serves to *announce* a new futurist, *updated present*, with the corresponding, historical sea change *described* being *represented* as inescapable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Cooper, in my reading, does not offer a way out of Nixon's constative description; 'gender', for Cooper, would still be an imposed, if alterable form, grafted on bare life. In fact, for Cooper, "[m]an and woman are conversions of each other, if you like, but they are also counter forms [...] of each other" (cited in Cavalcanti and Parker 2023, p. 150), being "codefinitive" (ibid,), but gender "can be opened up in so many different ways, interpreted in so many different ways" (ibid.). Yet, what is suppressed is gender in terms of form-of-life, in terms of inoperativity.

Obviously, they, the processes *described* to be 'at work', are, then, treated as ineluctable facts to be scientifically (*con*)stated. And, as far as, ideally, malleable employees and customers are concerned, these processes are to be obeyed so as to assure continuous 'development'. Indisputably, in these articles, these processes are depicted as something to be actively embraced. In consequence, they help assure that human beings – *consistently emplaced* as employees and customers – endeavour to belong to what Czarniawska, when briefly summarising Fabian's insightful work on time, critically, refers to as an *allochronistically* ostracising, writerly "'our time'" (2012, p. 133).

In line with this, echoing Beck et al.'s frequently invoked *description* (of *constative* scientific *description*) – as far as the discursively *imposed* post-industrial *present* is concerned – these texts can, despite their explicitly declared focus on working-class men's untoward and wretched labour market detachment, be said to strive to "produce a [...] picture of this new world that people and institutions can use to orient themselves" (2003, p. 3). In particular, it, *constative* reference, can be said to function to produce a picture of the 'new rules of the game' that its attendant 'key players' and 'marrow' – men, for Nixon, seen to be equipped with an *oikonomically conceived* space-time. Indeed, it can be said to function to produce a picture of the 'new on to navigate within *chronologically conceived* space-time. Indeed, it can be said to function to produce a picture of the 'new game' that its 'key players' can draw on to navigate within what Agamben refers to as the maelstrom of "'progress" (1993a, p. 97).

In this constatively 'developed' and allochronistically 'our-timed' spirit, 'workingclass men' are, at least on the whole, seen to "lack the cultural capital to actively reconstruct themselves into new kinds of workers" (Nixon 2006, p. 211). By and large, they are seen to lack the habitus that would allow them become new kinds of readily aesthetically compliant, behaviourally tractable employees and customers of a *presently* proliferating service and knowledge economy. However, "the middle classes [in particular middle-class men, are seen to] possess the cultural resources or 'capital' to actively reconstruct themselves" (2006, p. 206). After all, they, 'middle-class men', as the supposed mainstay of what, as indicated before, Czarniawska, following Fabian, critically terms 'our time', are found to easily shoulder Britain's *constatively* irrevocable transition into a post-industrial service and knowledge economy. For, as distinguished from 'working-class men', 'middleclass men' are - hinting both at Beck et al.'s highly influential description (of constative, scientific description) and at Bourdieu's equally influential, objectifying work on 'habitus' - seen to be in the position to actively reconstruct themselves into chronologically highly admissible 'game-figures'. As such, 'middle-class men' are argued to be capable of incarnating and midwifing, indeed of actualising, the constated, chronologically new. They are argued to be capable of bringing about a new seen to thoroughly replace, and outdo, the chronologically necessarily outdated.

Vitally, management scholars of various persuasions have, of late, paid much attention to the strategic use of temporal references (e.g. Andersen and Pors 2014: Brun-ninge 2009; Cutcher et al. 2019; Godfrey and Lilley 2009; González 2016; Oertel and Thommes 2018; Suddaby et al. 2010; Ybema 2014). Primarily references that, allochronistically, praise certain human beings as "going forward" (Munro 2010, p. 294) and, oftentimes inextricable therefrom, those that, in opposite fashion, castigate others as "living in the past" (1998a, p. 236) have been attended to. Unsurprisingly, these references have often been found to express "membership" (1999, p. 435), that is "inclusion or exclusion from a group" (ibid.). Far less attention, however, has been paid to Benjaminian Jetztzeit (cf. Böhm 2006) and its coincidence with what Agamben terms "a community without presuppositions" (1993c, p. 65). Put differently, little attention has been paid to the "time of the now" (1993a, p. 102) and its dovetailing with a community marked by the "coming to itself of each singularity" (1993c, p. 25). Put yet another way, despite a growing focus on the 'time-*positing*' underlying the *allegedly* inevitable '*social* game', little focus has rested upon what Benjamin calls 'messianic cessation of happening' and on singularities who – entirely coinciding with messianic time – remain *il-legible*.<sup>61</sup>

That means 'working-class men' are, as previously emphasised, equated with a failure to *dispositionally update* and, therefore, to adequately display belonging to the British *present*, to – in order to be more precise – a reinvigorated, *chronologically* totalising service- and knowledge-based British capitalism. But, in opposition thereto, 'middle-class men' are equated with what – in reference to Borgerson and Rehn's musings on *oikonomically* conceived 'femininity' and, above all, on *oikonomically* gainful 'feminine energy' – may be called a *presently* even higher valued, *supposedly* more 'timely' 'masculine energy'. Because, for Nixon, these men's *textured* bodies are, at root, *representatives* of a historically superior 'our time' whose *constating* 'writer' or, to use Melvillian terminology, whose 'law-copyist' and 'scrivener' Nixon effectively *installs* himself as. That is to say, in Nixon's 'timely' is marked out as 'something to be put to work'. It is associated with – in comparison to 'working-class femininity' *and* 'working-class masculinity' – high *status, oikonomic* rewards and *substantial* influence.<sup>62</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Jetztzeit, Agamben explains, is "a time within time, which I am not able to place within any chronology" (2023c, p. 52).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Increasingly mentioned by management scholars (e.g. Benozzo et al. 2019; Beverungen and Dunne 2007; Fraiberg 2010; Kennedy and Lawton 1992; Letiche and Moriceau 2013; Schoneboom 2015; Smith et al. 2018; Ten Bos and Rhodes 2003; Van der Ven 2011), whilst Melville's novella *Bartleby the Scrivener: A Story of Wall Street* concerns *constative* writing – in particular scriveners' 'law-copying' – its main focus rests on what Melville refers to as 'the unaccountable Bartleby'. More specifically, as Letiche and Moriceau clarify, its main focus rests on the disfigured figure of a scribe, of writing, that "ceases to exist *as a functionary for 'the Other*'" (2013, p. 168).

Correspondingly, while 'working-class men' are argued to be "struggling to adjust to the demands of the new economy" (Nixon 2006, p. 201), 'middle-class men', opposingly described as positively present, are associated both with "mental dexterity" (2006, p. 209) and with the 'timely' performance of "high-value and producer services" (2006, p. 203). In other words, whereas 'working-class men' are - through chronological *constatation* of their *outdatedness* - 'rubbishingly' *written* off as instantiations of a forlorn 'past', 'middle-class men' are antithetically and, henceforth, approvingly *installed* as *instantiations* of a new 'historical superiority'. In effect, they are identified with phylogenetically superior chances of survival as concerns Beck et al.'s 'new rules of the game' – as concerns a newly discerned, allencompassing 'Law' that one, in order to become and stay 'timely', is urged to uphold. That is, the latter group of men, defined as nothing but an epistemological distance from the former group of men, are described as avatars of a post-industrial, futurist 'knowledge economy', of a futurist oikonomia that Nixon claims to decipher so as to help *describe*, *inform* and guide *presently* aspiring male middle-class *actors*' behaviour. Or, stated differently, once more drawing on the anthropologist Fabian. one can say that the latter group of male game-players, defined as nothing but a constated, allochronistic distance from a discursively denigrated, supposedly incompetent 'them', are cast as avatars of a futurist competent 'us'. And, of course, the reader is, in that connection, called on to identify, and side with, Nixon's privileged 'authorial' 'us', with a post-industrial, British capitalist, male (scientifically neutral), academic middle-class 'us'.

All in all then, Nixon's focus on working-class men's "masculinity as a key barrier to service work" (2009, p. 302) notwithstanding, Nixon must be said to participate in discursively confirming and guaranteeing the *supposed chronological* 'timeliness' of 'middle-class masculinity'. More precisely, Nixon must be said to participate in confirming, and guaranteeing, the *supposed* superior 'timeliness' of, by comparison, privileged kinds of male middle-class employees and customers in terms of two *allegedly* less 'timely', *chronologically* subordinate aberrations. Unsurprisingly, these aberrations are 'working-class masculinity' and 'working-class femininity'. Curiously, all this resonates with the processes pointed to in Kirkham and Loft's investigation of the historical construction of the 'professional accountant' in England and Wales, an investigation grasping the construction of 'the accountant' in terms of two corresponding negative constructs, viz., "the construct of the 'clerk'" (1993, p. 550) and "the construct of 'woman'" (ibid.).

Since it is only against the background of the relative *outdating* of both *constatively* low-skilled working-class men's anachronism and *constatively* low-paid-cum-low-skilled working-class women's deferential abuse-resilient and flirtatious low-level 'timeliness' that 'middle-class men' can be *positioned* as comparatively 'civilised', developed' and 'competent'. Patently, it is only against the 'progressivist', classed and feminised *outdating* of, to return to Keith Hoskin's apt expression, middle-class men's corresponding 'not-self', of what Kirkham and Loft, with regard to a

discursively privileged 'self', call its "'other'" (1993, p. 547), that 'male middleclass habitus' might be *positioned* as exceedingly 'timely'. Obviously, this allows Nixon to *position* his own *supposed* habitus and the *posited* 'self' he winds up working as a mouthpiece and *scribe* for as a preferred resource to be tapped into for the display of *chronologically* admissible belonging.

Put differently, in Nixon's work, 'middle-class masculinity', associated with attributes such as "academic success, higher education, non-manual work and conformity" (2006, p. 208), is explicitly drawn on to mark 'working-class masculinity' as *outdated*. No doubt, it is primarily drawn on to mark 'working-class masculinity' as incompatible with *present* service occupations. It is drawn on to mark 'them' as incompatible with *chronologically* meaningful or promising belonging. For, unlike human beings *described* as high-skilled middle-class men, human beings *described* as low-skilled working-class men are seen to fail to *actively* (re)align their wild, uncivilised masculinity with the alleged requirements of post-industrial service work. It is against this foil that Nixon, when juxtaposing both masculinities, stresses that

[w]hile previous studies have pointed out that middle class men working in genderatypical service employment tend to attempt to re-gender the [respective postindustrial, service-based] occupation as masculine, the low-skilled unemployed men discussed here did not consider gender-atypical service work a potential future source of employment. [...] [In point of fact, t]he men continued to imbue manual labour with the social superiority of masculinity and implicitly constructed emotional labour as something that they didn't do (2009, p. 319).

While Nixon's articles do not further detail middle-class men's re-gendering of gender-atypical middle-class *occupations* argued to abound in the post-industrial, service-oriented *present*, Adkins and Lury note that such men in such *occupations* tend to be *called on* to strategically aestheticise their (male-middle-class-*textured*) bodies. In fact, they tend to be *called on* to *perform* 'body work'. After all, men occupying middle-class sales jobs in the British banking sector, for instance, are found to be acutely "conscious of the significance of bodily discipline for their work" (1999, p. 606) and are said to "spend considerable time and money on the production of a sleek, sexy [male-middle-class-*textured*] body" (ibid.). Similarly, in a related publication, such men are found to be "aware of the interactive nature of service work" (McDowell 1997, p. 186). And, *supposedly*, this involves an awareness of "the inseparability of their bodily performance from the [actual banking] product sold" (ibid.).

Viewed from this angle, working-class men's *supposed* labour market anachronism would also be reflected in their unalterable inability to successfully bring their male working-class bodies into sales-conducive, aestheticised (middle-class) shape. Concretely, said to be curbed by an *outdated* masculine working-class habitus, humans *described* as 'low-skilled working-class men' would – from a post-

industrial 'new economy' angle – only produce *oikonomically* unviable, unpleasantly unsexy, male working-class bodies. They would produce 'wild, uncivilised man'... Now, whilst Nixon remains stuck in, and fans, what – with Agamben – can be called "a game of negation and difference" (1993b, p. 149), following Kafka's example (in *The Castle* or *The Trial*), one must not forget the *possibility* of 'writing the effacement of writing'. One must not forget the *possibility* of, by means of writing unwrittenness, unlocking a 'pure history', i.e. a truly playful 'language-game', severed from this or that biopolitical 'social game'...

Rarely attended to, in Kafka's The Castle, Agamben stresses, it is "the boundaries, separations, and barriers established between humans, as well as between the human and the divine, which the land surveyor [K.] wants to put into question" (2011b, p. 36). More specifically, *inter alia* tracing the name of Kafka's protagonist to the word kardo, Agamben underlines that "[k]ardo is not only a term in land surveying, it also means the hinge of the door" (ibid.), with Agamben adding that, following Isidore of Seville, "[t]he ostiarii, the doorkeepers, [...] are those who, in the Old Testament, impede the entrance of the impure into the Temple" (ibid.). That means that, according to Agamben, K. is "[t]he hinge, the turning point [...] where the door that obstructs access is neutralized" (ibid.). And, palpably, bearing in mind that the German word for count, viz., Graf, can be traced to the Greek grápho, meaning 'to write', throughout the novel, K. remains obstinately "ohne gräfliche Erlaubnis" (Kafka 2009, p. 5), literally 'without written permission', so that, whilst being in the "gräfliche Gebiet" (ibid.), in the 'realm of writing', he, in writing but unwrittenness, neutralises any (grammatological) articulation between writing and being. After all, he, K., "always want[s] to be free" (p. 9) and, thus, felicitously remains "fremd" (p. 12). Moreover, as a sidenote, the end of Kafka's *The Trial* can also be said to testify to *il-legible* writing. Since, insofar as K. 's eventual death gives rise to a life beyond itself, shame seems to outlive K. (see Agamben 1999c), with Hamacher noting that 'shame' concerns "das Leid, keine Sprache sein zu können, die noch Etwas Gegenständliches, Bestandhabendes, Bedeutsames sagen könnte" (2019, p. 83). Felicitously, 'shame' concerns 'the anguish of no longer being a language that could say something objective, enduring, significant'...

Perhaps you, dear reader, still wonder what – as the writer of *this* text – I am playing at. It can – I am 'ashamed' to *write* – only be gestured to: *Sort de la lecture! Sort!*<sup>63</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> This is French and means: 'Exit reading! Exit!'. Vitally, *this* exit amounts to "an experience of the springing forth of the word, a word that forever remains illegible and coming" (Agamben 2022b, p. 37).

# Exposing administration

"[T]o be poor means to use, and to use [...] mean[s] [...] to maintain oneself in relation with an inappropriable." (Agamben 2019a, p. 38)

Concerned with an *exposition* of administration, this chapter comprises two cases: vitally, in this connection, the first articles *analysed* criticise that, due to informal, subjective classification of 'the unemployed', British PES frontline workers may jeopardise the formal, administrative enforcement of work-(fare-)based measures (e.g. Rosenthal and Peccei 2006a, 2007). The second group of articles – whilst also focused on questions surrounding the administrative enforcement of allegedly proper classification - criticises Swedish public sector organisations' subjective, ethnocentric, potentiality-insensitive relegation of 'immigrant-worker competence' (e.g. Diedrich et al. 2011).<sup>64</sup> Exposing these groups of articles means here that their classifications (from the Ancient Greek klēsis, meaning 'vocation/calling') are wholeheartedly revoked. Since, with Agamben, "[t]he messianic vocation is the revocation of every vocation" (2005b, p. 23)... In consequence, inasmuch as "the *ekklēsia*, the messianic community, is literally all *klēsis*, all messianic vocation" (p. 22), in the end, "[f]actical klesis [i.e. 'present' classification], set in relation to itself via the messianic vocation, is not replaced by something else, but is rendered inoperative" (p. 28). Put differently, here, with Agamben, I invite you, dear reader, to "not ever make [...] calling an object of ownership, [but] only of use" (p. 26). Focusing on 'use', I invite you to grasp the human beings *classified* in this literature in terms of 'face', 'poverty' and 'nudity'...

#### Implementing work-(fare-)based measures

As indicated above, the first couple of articles *analysed* in this chapter focus on the British context, zooming in upon a particular part of the British civil service; they, these articles, zoom in upon Jobcentre Plus, i.e. the British PES. And, in so doing, frontline workers' codification or – if you wish – *classification* of 'the unemployed' is brought into view, turned into a target of scholarly criticism. More concretely, the articles problematise what they take to be Jobcentre Plus frontline workers' informal, subjective codification of 'unemployed service users', i.e. PES employees' informal, subjective classification of unemployed customers. For PES

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Obviously, these articles are not concerned with the *idea* of criticism, but with *oikonomic* critique.

employees' reportedly informal, subjective classification is seen to, perhaps, do immense damage, and is argued to potentially keep British labour market policy stipulations – i.e. a particular code that lays down administrative measures to increase the quality and the quantity of the national labour market supply - from being properly put into action. Indeed, for this reason, Jobcentre Plus frontline workers are seen to, under certain conditions, jeopardise a better British future, a future seen to depend on public governance apparatuses' and public sector managers' capacity to both "create employees who are creating themselves in the image of the [ir] organisation" (Andersen and Pors 2016, p. vi) and - via these 'self'governing employees – "engage [unemployed] 'clients' in their own government by demanding their complicity in [...] [the] practices of self-shaping, self-cultivation and self-presentation" (Dean 1995, p. 567). Consequently, what Rosenthal and Peccei, the authors of these articles, more or less implicitly end up suppressing is what Agamben refers to as "something like a way out" (2015b, p. 239). Not unlike Parker - committed to a sociology of classification - they end up suppressing the *possibility* of unlocking organisation in terms of messianic  $kl\bar{e}sis$  – in terms of the revocation of every (alleged) vocation.<sup>65</sup>

Or, drawing on Andersen's musings, one might even say that Jobcentre Plus frontline workers are seen to put at risk their own and unemployed customers' empowerment to transfigure themselves into ardently self-governing "partner[s] of the State" (2012, p. 128). Since the literature analysed overlooks the possibility of what Agamben refers to as a "nonstatist politics" (2000, pp. 8-9), the possibility of irreducibly monstrous life outside of and beyond the biopolitics of the (virtual) state of exception'. After all, "state sovereignty [...] can affirm itself only by separating in every context naked life [i.e. bare, illegible life] from its form" (p. 11). That is to say, unless we undo *oikonomia*, we end up forfeiting what Agamben, inspired by Benjamin, calls "happy life" (p. 114). For, as Benjamin shows, as for "the Kingdom of God" (1986, p. 312), from "the standpoint of history it is not the goal, but the end" (ibid.). Because, and this is vital, "the Messiah himself consummates all history" (ibid.), dovetailing with messianic klēsis, insofar as "messianic klēsis is something to use, not to possess" (Agamben 2005b, p. 26). In like fashion, as Agamben underlines in his insightful reading of Hobbes's work on the 'state', "the two primordial monsters, Leviathan [i.e. the signified] and Behemoth [i.e. the signifier], will fight one another in the days of the Messiah and both will perish in the struggle" (2015a, p. 58), so that, pace Rosenthal and Peccei, with Agamben,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> While Rosenthal and Peccei as well as Parker seem to treat classification as inevitable, insofar as even for Parker "[t]he beginnings of classification are the beginnings of organization [...] constituting insides and outsides, us and them" (2021, pp. 604–7), Parker differs from the former authors, inasmuch as he highlights alternative ways of reclassification. Sadly, however, Parker, in perpetuating Cooper's legacy, completely overlooks the possibility of messianic *klēsis*, which Agamben defines as "the revocation of every worldly condition, released from itself to allow for its 'use'" (2005b, p. 43). Thus, regrettably, Parker, too, remains stuck in, and advocates, a biopolitical conception of organisation, failing to provide 'something like a way out'.

philosophers of organisation "will prepare a messianic banquet, in the course of which they will eat the flesh of the two beasts" (ibid.).<sup>66</sup>

At bottom, that means that what, in a noticeably anti-messianic fashion, is described as Jobcentre Plus frontline workers' informal, subjective categorisation or classification is argued to compromise the historical unfolding of a 'lean and mean' United Kingdom, i.e. United Kingdom decreed and celebrated in central British government publications (e.g. DfBIS 2009; DfWP 2007, 2009). As a result, for the literature *analysed*, the efficient potentiality-sensitive realisation of a more resourceful national labour market and, more broadly, the materialisation of a United Kingdom which not only weathers, but excels in and drives an, allegedly, increasingly globally oriented, capitalist future is, then, at stake. It is against this backcloth that 'the Jobcentre Plus frontline worker' and 'the unemployed service user', i.e. the two soci(ologic)al classifications that, by far, receive most attention in the articles *analysed*, are described as means to be more rigorously deployed and developed. In other words, they are, to use Agamben's words, described as "means subordinated to an end" (2000, p. 116) – as (grammatologically) appropriated means to be properly actualised and, in that sense, finally be full-fledged 'partners of the State'. Relatedly, drawing on Cruikshank's work, one might, indeed, say that, in these *texts*, human beings classified as employees and customers are – of course in their own, classification-specific way - described as in need of transforming themselves into "active, participatory citizens" (1999, p. 3), with Rosenthal and Peccei failing to notice that, "[w]hile the modern State pretends through the state of exception to include within itself the anarchic and anomic element it cannot do without, it is rather a question of displaying its radical heterogeneity in order to let it act as a purely destituent potential" (Agamben 2015b, p. 279).

In this vein, unless resolute PES managers intervene, it is implied, employees, who are held accountable to create 'themselves' in the image of an allegedly futureoriented PES so as to "help people help themselves" (Cruikshank 1999, p. 4), and customers, who, in accordance with this, receive 'help to help themselves', would go astray. They would, so the story goes, stand in the way of, and undercut, what British labour market policies appear to envisage as frontline workers' and unemployed service users' dovetailing, potentiality- and function-specific actualisation. That is, without management, it is claimed, 'they' – as their own allochronistic 'not-selves' – would stand in the way of 'themselves', unable to shake off what – through the eye of the State and, ultimately, as zealous 'partners of the State', in their own eyes – is unbefitting for 'themselves'. Indeed, they would risk wandering off what Munro, critically, calls "the path of progress" (2005, p. 285)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Empowerment, Cruikshank notes, can be defined as the attempt to "act upon others" (1999, p. 68), an attempt aimed at "getting them to act in their own interest" (ibid.) – at least, it should be added, insofar as their alleged 'own interest' dovetails with the impositions of the empowering institution.
and are, henceforth, grasped to pose a serious threat to 'themselves' and, by extension, to the British labour market's historical unfolding. Overall, as Andersen's reflections unmistakably suggest, no matter if employee or unemployed customer, in this literature, the human being is "expected to observe itself through the gaze of the [respective] function system [of the State] and to take responsibility for acting according to [...] [its] logics" (2012, pp. 112–3).<sup>67</sup>

Inspired by Ashforth and Humphrey's (1997) work about 'labelling processes' in organisational *contexts*, in these articles, allegedly informal, subjective classification is, in particular, seen to cause what is described as frontline workers' judgemental, unprofessional 'discretion'. It is seen to cause PES staff's purportedly biased administrative decision-making. And this judgemental, unprofessional 'discretion' is, in turn, taken to clash with the so-called customer service ethos enshrined and hailed in government publications (e.g. DfWP 2011, 2014). That is, 'discretion' is argued to be at odds with a supposedly more attentive and conducive attitude. It is argued to be at odds with what Höpfl – warily – calls a supposedly more effective "servicing of a role" (2002, p. 225) that policymakers aim to foster in frontline workers so as to expedite labour market policy stipulations' effective actualisation.

As hinted at before, Jobcentre Plus frontline workers' informal, subjective classification is, then, seen to inhibit these human beings' code-based, dutiful ('self'-)functioning, i.e. their impartial implementation of, and becoming one with, (neoliberal) labour market policies. Discernibly, frontline workers' professed dysfunctional disposition for biased, injurious classification of 'unemployed service users' is seen to keep frontline workers from orderly actualising as allegedly modern open- and 'service-minded' street-level bureaucrats who help bring about a (neoliberally induced workfare-based) United Kingdom. With that in mind, one might say that these articles mobilise and tap into a, by now, markedly inveterate, forceful canon according to which the neoliberally vivified promised land risks being betrayed by inflexible, complacent and amoral public bureaucracy - and in this particular case, by bureaucrats' informal, subjective 'discretion'. Doubtless, these articles appear to mobilise, and tap into, a canon which both springs from, and hails, what Agamben refers to as "the capitalist religion" (2007a, p. 81). And, in so doing, they project public sector employees' indisposition to slickly operate (themselves) as service-minded intermediaries as an exasperating stumbling block holding back actuality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> As Andersen's work can be taken to suggest, the division between 'self' and 'not-self' underlying the focus on avidly 'self'-governing employees and unemployed customers dovetails with a division between, on the one hand, "legitimate, responsible and wilful citizens" (2012, p. 128) and, on the other hand, "passive people with destructive inhuman characteristics" (ibid.). This division does not only imply classed relationships among humans, but cuts also through the human itself.

Conspicuously, it is frontline workers' allegedly dysfunctional disposition for informal classification that, these articles contend, may keep these employees from fully being in the service of and, based thereon, from making possible the neoliberally invigorated British State or what, for Agamben, is one of "the spectacular-democratic societies in which we live" (2000, p. 10). Indeed, their proclivity for informal, wrongful classification is, more generally, seen to prevent frontline workers from helping to blow life into a modernised, accountable and potent public sector that, conceived as the British government's extension and tool. should 'empower' British citizen-workers to adapt to, thrive in and produce a global-cum-capitalist, future-oriented United Kingdom, Additionally, informal classification is, as indicated before, also said to impede unemployed service-users' unbiased, lawful integration into and, henceforth, their governance through, neoliberal labour market policy programmes. That is, policy programmes setting out to fight 'welfare dependency' and, in the same 'spectacular' breath, aiming to prompt enterprising labour market participation are seen to be kept from fully taking shape. In consequence, frontline workers are, as touched on before, seen to jeopardise what British labour market policies project as unemployed service-users' and, by extension, the United Kingdom's untroubled, future-oriented actualisation. It is in this context that Rosenthal and Peccei, noticeably vexed about frontline workers', supposedly, unprofessional classification of the unemployed service user, state that, at Jobcentre Plus,

categorisation and labelling are ubiquitous because the inherent tendency for individuals to categorize and to label others is exacerbated by organizational structures and by task demands [characterising Jobcentre Plus]; and [informal categorisation and labelling] are potent, cause the categorization of individuals [...] is related to the treatment they receive from organizational members and often to their own self-understanding and behaviour. [...] [Thus, s]ervice encounters are one important domain in which individuals (workers) sort others (customers) into various categories and then act, effectively or ineffectively, on the basis of their definition (2006b, p. 1634).

Patently, with frontline workers' informal, subjective classification of 'unemployed service users' seen to detrimentally affect, and curtail, unemployed human beings' 'self'-understanding and corollary behaviour, effective managerial control over frontline workers' service-encounter behaviour emerges as a fundamental concern. It is in this spirit that Rosenthal and Peccei point out that reform-oriented British politicians who, duteously, aim at a more potentiality-sensitive realisation of a sustainably futurist United Kingdom – the realisation of the aforementioned promised land often seen to be threatened by complacent, if not recalcitrant bureaucrats – should internalise that frontline workers represent a

significant [...] target [...]. [In effect, r]eformers can design and impose initiatives intended to customerise public sector organisations, but[, sadly,] they cannot directly

enact appropriate treatment of recipients [i.e. of 'the unemployed']. For this, they must rely on frontline staff. [...] This raises the important question of how frontline staff perceive and evaluate (2006a, p. 68).

Troublingly, singling out frontline workers as a primary target of managerial manoeuvrings does not only seem to encapsulate what. Barratt's musings suggest, various critics have pointed out constitutes "an obsession with 'micromanagement" (2014, p. 152). It appears to also underwrite bureaucratic processes which, as Munro warns, "help people to 'forget', or efface, their common humanity with other human beings" (2005, p. 286). Patently, it appears to make human beings, classified as employees and customers, to overlook their "absolutely immanent alterity" (Agamben 1999b, p. 223), to overlook their "face beyond the mask" (2011b, p. 54), insofar as "it is through the mask that the individual acquires a role and a social identity" (p. 46) and "the face exposes and reveals [...] not something that could be formulated as a signifying proposition of sorts, nor is it a secret doomed to remain forever incommunicable" (2000, p. 92). Rather, "[t]he face's revelation is revelation of language itself" (ibid.). Since, "where I find a face do I encounter an exteriority and does an outside happen to me" (p. 100). That is, faced not with classification, but with the face, I encounter 'something like a way out' and, followingly, depose the biopolitics of what Rhodes, warily, calls "a work-based promised land" (2004, p. 14). Still, in spite of this, Rosenthal and Peccei report that their investigation of Jobcentre Plus points to

a pervasive structuring and valorization of clients [on the part of frontline workers,] according to their perceived job-readiness on the reported basis of body language and demeanour in interviews [occurring during the service encounter]. This segmentation [the authors state] was embedded in a more complex, categorical system for making sense of [unemployed] customers, encompassing criteria such as interactional style, gratitude, capacity for aggression and social class and age (2006b, p. 1655).

Distinctively, the above quote suggests that rash, first impressions of unemployed service users' social background, their age and their communication habits, but also of their dress and – more generally – of their 'employability', are argued to result in stubborn classification on the part of PES staff. And, as touched on before, it is such rash, stubborn, potentiality-insensitive classification that, in turn, is argued to negatively influence Jobcentre Plus frontline workers' administrative dealings with 'unemployed service users'.

Now, while Rosenthal and Peccei contend that conscientious Jobcentre Plus managers have taken vital strides towards expunging frontline workers' misaligned, non-compliant behaviour, Jobcentre Plus managers, they insist, should continue to control, and mitigate, frontline workers' dysfunctional sense-making. They should continue to control, and mitigate, these employees' interpretative frames, in order not to allow unprofessional, informal classification to gain the upper hand. For

biased classification – they warn – might mean that some 'unemployed service users' are, undeservedly, written off, barred from appropriate labour market programmes that, Melinda Cooper points up, often aim to put "welfare back to work [and make] workfare one of the most instructive laboratories of contingent labor practice in the low-level service sector" (2012, p. 645). Other service users' labour market potentiality, in contrast, may be vastly overrated, with frontline workers' motivation and effort seen to both hinge on, and risk, being distorted by frontline workers' informal classification. Venting their worries about possibly unjust, potentiality-insensitive treatment of unemployed service users' potentiality, Rosenthal and Peccei emphasise, then, that duteous, future-oriented PES managers

have successfully structured the sense-making of staff via their design of the organizational context and the job role. At another level, [however,] the rapidity and the basis (body language) of [frontline] workers' segmentation of clients may be of some concern to the agency [...]. [Since, to all appearances], judgements once made [the authors suggest] tend to stay made. Subsequent information about clients will [then] be interpreted in light of the initial categorization. A rapid characterization of a client as job-ready or as resistant to work (e.g. a lazy git) will be resistant to change over the series of encounters between clients and their advisers" (2006b, p. 1653).

Saliently, while these lines do suggest otherwise, it is not only frontline workers' *classifications* that could be said to pose a problem. For, tragically, Rosenthal and Peccei, completely entrammelled in *classification*, fail to encounter their own and other human beings' faces, so that no *outside* is happening to them. For – as Agamben *shows* (*mostra*) – "[t]he face is the only location of community, the only possible city" (2000, p. 91). After all, the 'face' cannot but show our 'poverty', our lacking any means to *impose*, our 'usefully' being unable to appropriate ourselves and others. For "in a face we are unknowable and exposed" (Agamben 2022b, p. 14).

## Assessing immigrant-worker competence

Similar to the articles focusing on frontline workers' *allegedly* informal, biased classification of (human beings classified as) 'unemployed service users', the next articles *analysed* find fault with what they take to be public sector organisations' dysfunctional, subjectively biased enforcement of a specific labour market policy programme; they find fault with the administrative enforcement of a particular future-oriented 'Law' aimed at assessing and making available (what is classified as) 'immigrant-worker competence'. For, in that specific context, these public sector organisations' allegedly dysfunctional, subjectively biased enforcement procedures, i.e. their flawed administrative classification, is seen to jeopardise the potentiality-sensitive actualisation of the Swedish labour market – of a particular hoped-for future. Or, put differently, these allegedly faulty classification procedures are seen to jeopardise the realisation of a competitive-cum-diverse, post-ethnocentric potentiality-sensitive Sweden (e.g. Diedrich et al. 2011), as the organisations in

question are, noticeably tautologically, argued to, incompetently, fail to competently appraise 'immigrant-worker competence'. That is, these public sector organisations are, at least in their present form, seen not to be eligible to constate these human beings' seeming vocation or eligibility, with Diedrich et al., however, seeming to feel eligible to defend and become spokespersons of what Munro, critically, refers to as "God's plan" (2002, p. 134). To all appearances, Diedrich et al. feel eligible to help realise 'His' will. They feel eligible to act as guarantors of 'our' historical destiny: classification-based actualisation of 'ourselves' as, eligibly, postethnocentric employees – as, eligibly, post-ethnocentric ('self'-governing) 'partners of the State'.

In short, they, Diedrich et al., defend and become, then, spokespersons of oikonomia. They defend and become spokespersons of what Linstead calls "an approach where difference is incorporated and reconstructed, and in effect denied" (2000, p. 71), with the *possibility* of inoperative life, of life outside of biopolitical subsumption, being overlooked. Palpably, returning to Munro, one might, perhaps, even say that they, Diedrich et al., feel eligible to, scholarly, promote the administrative enforcement of "paradise as an 'enclosed space" (2002, p. 131), a space, as Burrell and Dale underline, "meant to contain within it all that is perceived to be best and worthy of nurture while at the same time holding outside what is beasty" (2002, p. 108). Put differently, they, Diedrich et al., feel eligible to promote a space underpinned by an eligible/ineligible division as they, persistently, overlook the *possibility* of human beings being irreducible to signification. Doubtless, they end up promoting a division between eligible 'self' and illegible 'not-self' that, and this has been stressed before, does not only correspond to classed relationships among human beings, but also cuts through the human being itself.<sup>68</sup>

Distinctly, within the articles *analysed*, these organisations' *allegedly* dysfunctional, subjectively biased enforcement procedures, one might say, are seen to risk putting paid to the realisation of the present-day equivalent of what Simons, enthralled by Sweden's seemingly buzzing interbellum economy, praised as the "Garden of Sweden" (1934, p. 414). In fact, Diedrich et al.'s work might be said to be underpinned by a "strong desire to re-enter [...] paradise" (Kyrtatas 2004, p. 78). Or, in a way, it, this work, can be said to be underpinned by a strong desire to bring about the (paradisiacal) 'Kingdom of God', while overlooking that the (paradisiacal) 'Kingdom of God', as suggested above, is not the goal of history, but, in lieu, coincides with history's deactivation, with history's messianic fulfilment or consummation. Thus, obviously differing from Steyaert, for whom "the Garden of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> While not explicitly mentioned in Diedrich et al.'s text, the public sector organisations called on to enforce this particular labour market programme include the Swedish Migration Board (Migrationsverket), the National Labour Market Board (Arbetsmarknadsstyrelsen) the local PES offices (Arbetsförmedlingen), the Municipal Refugee Units (Flyktingenheterna), the Social Services (Socialtjänsten) and the Adult Education Administration

Eden [...] [functions as] the imaginary ideal of an unreachable place" (2010, p. 46), Diedrich et al. appear to somehow side with Kyrtatas, who suggests that "the Garden has not been lost forever" (2004, p. 67). After all, for the articles *analysed*, 'the Garden' or, if you wish, the 'Kingdom of God' has not been lost for those (in Sweden) classified as 'competent', i.e. suited for a certain task classified, in particular for those (in Sweden) classified as competent to classify (who is or is not competent, who is or is not eligible). That is, above all, the Garden seems not to be lost for Diedrich et al. themselves and other apologists of what Rhodes, fittingly, refers to as "the cultural idealization of work" (2007, p. 24).

Consonant therewith, in these texts, the public sector organisations listed above are, then, seen to risk putting paid to the realisation of the present day. And that seems to imply a late capitalist, competitive-cum-diverse, post-ethnocentric version of what in Burrell and Dale's work is, warily, dubbed "a 'paradisiacal garden" (2002, p. 107) or indeed a "walled garden" (p. 109). Conspicuously, they, Diedrich et al., turn out to be proponents of an *oikonomic* classification-based pseudo-'paradise' or '-Kingdom' to be, competently, re-entered. And, as a result, they overlook the possibility of messianic klesis, i.e. of the revocation of every (alleged) vocation. Patently, they overlook the *possibility* of messianically unlocking 'the Garden'. For it is only in a profane-cum-messianic sense, Agamben stresses, that "paradise is the cipher of the beatitudo huius vitae, of the happiness [...] possible on earth" (2020, pp. 126–7). All in all, that means that Diedrich et al. fail to realise that "[o]nly the Kingdom [as the realm of messianic klēsis] gives access to the Garden, but only the Garden [as the realm of irreducible nudity] renders the Kingdom thinkable" (Agamben 2020, p. 152), inasmuch as - like Adam and Eve - to "see a body naked means to perceive its pure knowability beyond every secret, beyond or before its objective predicates" (2011b, p. 81). For, it is the "condition of not having anything behind it, this pure visibility and presence, that is nudity" (ibid.). In other words, it is the condition of defying the *virtual* state of exception that is 'nudity'.

Patently though, the articles turned to appear to resonate with a veritable flood of Swedish and international policy publications whose colourful, somewhat rhapsodic projections take aim at setting the course for a more inclusive, competitive-cumdiverse Swedish labour market (e.g. Ds 2007:4; OECD 2011; SOU 2000:7, 2007:18, 2008:58). In particular, they seem to echo these policy papers' pronounced enthusiasm for a possible Swedish economy in which, outwardly, all 'human potential' available – all individuals who, by law, are allowed to take up ordinary employment in Sweden and who, as such, are poised to populate this late capitalist 'walled garden' might, irrespective of individuals' ethnic and racial background, be given the chance to, without hindrance, vie for actualisation – based upon their individual labour market potentiality alone.

It is against this background that these articles point the finger at public sector organisations' dysfunctional ethnocentric classification procedures. After all, such procedures, Diedrich et al. complain, do not only underlie but also fundamentally frustrate the administrative enforcement of a specific labour market programme that, by means of taking stock of extant immigrant-worker potentiality, aims to help the Swedish economy capitalise on this potentiality. Indeed, these procedures are understood to get in the way of proper assessment and validation of so-called immigrant workers' 'prior learning' and, thus, of immigrant workers' potentiality-befitting integration into the Swedish labour market. Drawing on Adkins, one may, then, say that this literature espouses the common view that social inequalities and divisions are due to the fact that marginalised individuals' "skills and capacities are by various means not recognized [...] [and that to fight social inequalities and divisions marginalised individuals would] need to acquire the political right to store up, own, and alienate labour power" (2008, pp. 186–7).

It is in this competence-centred spirit that the literature *exposed* argues that the administrative enforcement of the labour market programme fails to focus on what the (competent) 'immigrant worker' could do and on how the (competent) 'immigrant worker' may help diversify, and blow new life into, Sweden's future-oriented labour market. In concert therewith, the public sector organisations supposed to help validate 'immigrant-worker competence', this literature bewails, tend to discard the competent immigrant worker along ethnocentric lines and fail to duteously effectuate policymakers' vision of post-ethnocentric, labour-market-potentiality-inclusive, capitalist Sweden. That is to say, these organisations' ethnocentrically underpinned validation procedures are thought to prematurely exclude 'immigrant-worker competence' from the Swedish labour market and to, perhaps unknowingly, brand possible labour market participants as prone to become, and stay, unemployed. Taking up the cause of 'spectacularised' immigrant-worker potentiality, Diedrich et al. indicate, therefore, that their investigation

suggests that, in Sweden, [public sector organisations' validation of immigrantworkers' prior learning] [...] prioritizes procedural effectiveness over a more comprehensive understanding of the competence and qualifications [...]. By exploring the process of classification in which [public sector staff's harmfully entrenched] cognitive structuring of the perceived world results in organizational, administrative and structural enactment, [...] [our] study provides further insights into how practices of classification are a central part of [detrimental, potentialityinsensitive features of] organizational life (2011, p. 271).

As a result, due to public sector organisations' *alleged* failure to properly determine and, thus, to help harness immigrant-worker potentialities' idiosyncratic skill and competence – Diedrich et al. warn – the particular labour market programme's original, wider aim, i.e. the realisation of a hoped-for competitive-cum-diverse, tolerant, potentiality-centred Sweden, may come to nothing. For

[d]espite good intentions, the study shows [that existing] bureaucratic procedures for sorting out potential labour market entrants are not leading to the desired outcomes, namely the conducive evaluation of immigrant workers' competence. On the contrary, [...] [the enforcement of the policy programme] generates significant social costs in terms of the time and financial resources invested and the disappointment felt by the immigrants [...] when learning that their skills and competence cannot be properly determined by the [extant, potentiality-insensitive] classificatory system (2011, p. 272).

As this quote underlines, in these texts, immigrant workers' alleged 'self'-esteem and -confidence are regarded to be positively correlated with functional actualisation in the Swedish labour market. That means Swedish public sector organisations' wanting administration of (neoliberal) labour market policy is not only seen to preclude exacting, fair assessment of immigrant workers' actual potentiality and, at the same time, to squander public funds set aside 'to sort people out', based upon their specific labour market potentiality. It is also said to wear down the confidence of potential, foreign-born labour market entrants. It is for this reason that Diedrich et al. focus on Swedish public sector organisations' woeful, untimely involvement in systematic ethnocentric exclusion of valuable 'competence'. Specifically, they maintain that

[w]hile the [particular labour market] project aimed to establish a system for identifying and assessing the skills and competences of immigrants on arrival in Sweden, in practice, the assessment activities functioned upon the basis of what it meant to be Swedish and an immigrant [with immigrant workers' actualisable potentiality dropping off the work-centred neoliberal radar]. In this context, language skills were used to indicate 'Swedishness' and to differentiate 'the [unemployed] Other' [thus causing valuable immigrant-worker skills to remain unassessed and unused] (2011, p. 287).<sup>69</sup>

Vitally, for Diedrich et al., this 'othering' and the concomitant imposition of socioeconomic inactivity are occasioned by subjective ethnocentrism's undercutting of otherwise impartial, justified, bureaucratic classification-based procedures. And the only way forward would, in their view, be helping to fuel a competitive-cum-diverse future that is borne by 'objective' assessment and validation of 'immigrant-worker potentiality'. 'Objectivity' marks, then, the path into a future projected to teem with what Munro, critically, calls "conceptions of a proactive population" (2012, p. 346) – with, to return to expressions used before, keenly 'self'-governing active

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Here, Diedrich et al. draw on the work of Goody (1977), which, in turn, points to the problem of ethnic binarism, i.e. the discriminatory ethnocentric tendency to divide the world into simple, trailing and complex leading cultures – a tendency that involves casting supposedly simple, trailing cultures in a reductionist pathologising way. Tragically though, while Diedrich et al. seem to advocate an anti-ethnocentric appreciation of immigrant worker competence, they remain stuck in an allochronistic, classificatory division between the allegedly simple and trailing and the complex and leading. In this context, the former is seen to seriously endanger (the realisation of) the work- and competence-based 'Garden of Sweden', i.e. the 'paradise' of the latter.

participatory citizens. It is for this reason that Diedrich et al. stress that their findings reveal that extant

bureaucratic procedures did not turn out to be technologies of objectivity [striven for by clairvoyant policymakers and required to get a competitive-cum-diverse Sweden off the ground] [...]. Instead, subjective classification influenced by a national-centric understanding of gender, language and professionalism, produced ineffective bureaucratic procedures which [being gravely insensitive to immigrant workers' labour market potentiality] led to rather limited results (2011, p. 287).<sup>70</sup>

As hinted at before, it is a lack of proper, objective assessment that, in these texts on Swedish public sector organisations, is regarded to get in the way of a more competitive-cum-diverse Swedish labour market. It is considered to keep these organisations from helping to sow the seed for a competence-centred, competitivecum-diverse capitalist Sweden, the seed for a Sweden where all labour-market potentialities earmarked as 'competent' would - to use Jönsson's apt line - actualise in a potentiality-befitting manner and, thereby, give rise to "a land of milk and money" (2005, p. 105). Fundamentally, what Diedrich et al. fail to grasp is that 'the Garden/Kingdom' is incommensurate with institution. Since "[t]he Kingdom always coincides with its announcement; it has no other reality than the word [...] that it speaks" (Agamben 2022b, p. 36), so that "[t]he word of the Kingdom does not produce new institutions or constitute law: it is the destituent potentiality that, in every sphere, deposes powers and institutions" (p. 41). In sum, the 'coming' of the Messiah entails the fulfilment of the 'Law', its becoming inoperative. It entails our happily *a-knowledging* ourselves as irreducibly 'poor' and 'nude'. It entails being one's face.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> The term 'technologies of objectivity' used by Diedrich et al. is taken from the work of Porter (1994), who associates it with 'the ideal of impersonality' in organisations (see also Ott et al. 2003). Broadly speaking, that means that objectivity is seen to be premised on explicit rules and on their meticulous observance so as to minimise arbitrariness and judgement and to prevent self-interested distortion.

## Exposing government imposition

"[T]he messianic is not a third eon situated between two times; but rather, it is a caesura that divides the division between times and introduces a remnant." (Agamben 2005b, p. 74)

This chapter complements the previous chapter's *analysis* of articles that criticise the allegedly deficient administrative/bureaucratic enforcement of an *oikonomically* envisioned, 'given' future, i.e. the enforcement of that which. Agamben notes, exists [only] to the extent that our faith manages to give substance [...] to our hopes" (2012b, p. 1). Concretely, this chapter focuses upon oikonomically 'faithful', academic articles that, in contrast to the articles exposed before, find fault with a supposedly deficiently thought-out governmental future as they hope to get 'faith' vis-à-vis a discursively recalibrated, governmental future underway. That means this chapter focuses on *analysing* academic discussions that, unlike the cases analysed before, find fault with a supposedly deficiently thought-out futurist representation. Indeed, full of oikonomic pistis, the Greek term for 'faith', which, as such, Agamben stresses, "is normally constructed with the dative, or with the accusative, or even with hoti plus a verb, in order to convey the content of faith" (2005b, p. 127), the articles analysed here criticise a particular, presently imposed governmental regime.<sup>71</sup> 'Faithfully' (in the *oikonomic* rather than in a Pauline or messianic sense), they criticise the so-called 'enterprise discourse', doggedly striving to make this particular discourse or what Oswick, more generally, refers to as "a process of meaning-making through talk and text" (2012, p. 473) decidedly more accommodating and inclusive as far as the labour-market potentiality of those discursively classified as 'older workers' is concerned. They aim to positively reclassify the 'older worker', caught in a "blind drive towards salvation and progress" (Agamben 2022b, p. 5).

Or, put simply, noticeably dissatisfied with presently dominant concepts of a future to be administratively enforced, the articles zoomed in on seek – under the discursively 'faithful' banner of enterprise-based, societal inclusion – to update or reconceptualise this future to be worked towards. Sadly, 'faithfully' dedicated to an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> As Agamben hints, for Paul of Tarsus, "faith [...] is an experience of being beyond existence and essence, as much as beyond subject and predication" (2005b, p. 128). As a result, contrary to *oikonomic* 'faith', Pauline or messianic faith refers to, and unlocks, "a world of indivisible events, in which I do not judge, nor do I believe that the snow is white and the sun is warm, but I am transported and displaced in the snow's-being-white and in the sun's-being-warm" (p. 129).

*oikonomically* 'updated' future, these texts fail to 'testify' insofar as "[t]he truth that testimony entails can never present itself to intentional consciousness, where knowing is necessarily a form of discourse that says something about something" (Agamben 2022b, pp. 50–1). Rather, as Agamben underlines, "[t]estimony [and bound up herewith 'truth'] begins when the subject of knowing is left speechless" (p. 51). It begins when the organiser "brings a speechlessness into words" (ibid.).

As a consequence, rather than unlocking organisation in terms of messianic testimony, the articles analysed, and this regrettably, remain caught in dispositifs. Lamentably, they, the two articles perused, remain caught in conceiving organisational language as an inescapably *oikonomic*, biopolitical apparatus as they merely end up calling for a discursive reappreciation of (human beings classified as) 'older workers' as positive resources. Perchance unawares, they end up calling for a discursive reappreciation of (human beings classified as) 'older workers' as superlatively entrepreneurial, rather than supposedly unemployable beings. And, thereby, they overlook these and other human beings' irreparably being-thus. In short, they overlook our playful *il-legibility*. Significantly, they install themselves as prophets, who, in turn, Agamben underscores, are "defined through [...] [their] relation to the future" (2005b, p. 61), insofar as "each time the prophets announce the coming of the Messiah, the message is always about a time to come, a time not yet present" (ibid.). As such, they fail to become messianic apostles, inasmuch as, with Agamben, "[t]he apostle is [...] not an emissary of men, but an emissary of [...] Jesus Messiah" (p. 59). They fail to grasp that "[t]he apostle speaks forth from the arrival of the Messiah" (p. 61) and "[a]t this point prophecy must keep silent, for now prophecy is truly fulfilled" (ibid.).

Concretely, as shown below, the texts turned to - an Organization article entitled 'The Enterprising Self: An Unsuitable Job for an Older Worker' and a Human Relations text entitled 'Mind over Body: Physical and Psychotherapeutic Discourses and the Regulation of the Older Worker', both of which are penned by Susan Ainsworth and Cynthia Hardy - call consistently for what, drawing on Höpfl, can be called a codicil. They call for a supplementary, reformulating postscript. Saliently, they call for, and become emissaries of, a supplementary, reformulating prophecy. Hence, 'faithfully', they call consistently for an amendment to, rather than a messianic neutralisation of, the 'codex', the Law. For, conspicuously, they, the two articles analysed, disapprove of so-called older workers' ageist marginalisation within this particular discourse – a discourse that, however, as to the rest, is fatally left intact. After all, Ainsworth and Hardy themselves, this chapter argues, end up doing what they accuse (from *causa*, indicating thingification and emplacement within relationships of accountability) others of. Distinctively, they slide into discursively reproducing allochronistically positioned others, such as, supposedly, non-entrepreneurial (older) workers or myopically ageist policymakers, who, in these two articles, are construed "in terms of distance, spatial and temporal" (Fabian 1983, p. xi). For they overlook that "[t]he messianic announcement means

that [...] division no longer exists between men, or between men and God" (Agamben 2005b, p. 49).

Doubtlessly, they, Ainsworth and Hardy, to use their own words, "take the concept of the older worker for granted" (2004, p. 233). For they maintain 'the older (unemployed) worker' as the semantically corresponding *opposite* or other, of a dominant '(enterprising) self'. Or, by the same token, harking back to Oswick's priorly turned-to definition of discourse, they entirely fail to 'think' singularities without constitutive reference to this or that meaning-making through talk and text. Since they, to - once again - use Ainsworth and Hardy's own words, fathom "the ability of the older worker to become part of this enterprise culture" (2008, p. 389). And, in so doing, they merely deplore that "older workers [...] are unable to don the mantle of enterprise, although they are nonetheless subject to it" (ibid.). As such, with the texts studied, when it comes down to it, simply aiming to observe and revise a 'given' discourse/state, this discourse or state is left operative, if not stoked up. Therefore, in 'faithfully' observing/revising, Ainsworth and Hardy, this chapter argues, fuel an 'intensification of the same'. They fuel an intensification of the 'enterprise discourse'. Completely deaf to 'testimony' and, embedded therein, 'truth', they fuel an intensification of the 'religion of capitalism'.

Put somewhat differently, by and large, the two publications analysed fail to properly profane the 'enterprise discourse' as they - in strikingly circular fashion take the position of a negative determination of that which they 'faithfully' criticise, i.e. of that which they oppose: the, by necessity, exclusionary 'enterprising self' propagated by an Australian public parliamentary inquiry concerning the older worker. That means, in siding with the position of 'the older (unemployed) worker', they aim to achieve a positive re-evaluation of older workers' labour market potentiality along the lines of an 'inclusive-cum-entrepreneurial Australian future'. More precisely, they strive to achieve a revision of older workers' indiscriminate reduction to, within the horizon of enterprise, solely negative 'stock', with human beings - whether young or old - implicitly presented as in need of being "ordered and guided toward salvation" (Agamben 2011d, p. 252), towards full-blown 'enterprise'. That is to say, these two authors, to, once again, use Ainsworth and Hardy's own words, seek to achieve a revision or reformulation of a particular "view of what persons are and what they should be allowed to become" (2008, p. 390). All that means that Ainsworth and Hardy overlook that "[h]e who upholds himself in the messianic vocation [...] knows that in messianic time the saved world coincides with the world that is irretrievably lost and that [...] he must now really live in a world without God" (Agamben 2005b, p. 42). After all, "[t]he saving God is the God who abandons him" (ibid.).

In this vein, paradoxically, while the two articles turned to take issue with texts produced in the context of a public parliamentary inquiry, they end up positioning corresponding higher-level decisions as increasingly irrevocable. And, what is more, in so doing, they – the two articles – reproduce, and stoke up, a futurist,

capitalist dispositif that, partly mirroring Florida's notorious extolment of 'the creative class', pivots on quasi-religious 'faith' in a "more inclusive Creative Society that can more fully harness its members'—all of its members'—capacities" (2012, p. xi). No doubt, the articles participate in reproducing, and stoking up, a futurist *dispositif* that – in criticising that "the enterprising self is not uniformly accessible" (Ainsworth and Hardy 2008, p. 390) - opens the doors to a more comprehensive production of "more motivated, self-reliant employees who are willing to accept responsibility and exercise initiative" (ibid.), to a more comprehensive circulation of discourses in which "individuals not normally associated with enterprise [...] still access the enterprising self" (p. 403). They, too, turn out to be proponents of a (quasi-)religious cult – of discourse. Or, turning to a line mooted by Costea et al., they, Ainsworth and Hardy, risk reproducing a governmental apparatus that, extolling "infinite human resourcefulness" (2007, p. 245), revolves around calling on human beings to conduct themselves as stores of 'unlimited potentialities' to, time and again, be creatively and innovatively actualised in the constant outdoing of an at-present supposedly still inhibiting self.

In other words, Ainsworth and Hardy run the risk of, perhaps, inadvertently fuelling a governmental apparatus that, as Berglund et al. emphasise, is part and parcel of "the advancement of neoliberal societies" (2017, p. 892) – a governmental apparatus that, to use Bröckling's words, in constantly lionising "something we are supposed to become" (2016, p. viii), strictly speaking, emplaces human beings as "only ever an entrepreneur *à venir*" (ibid.). Thus, both authors tend to, 'faithfully', position 'the past' as useless or, at best, as subject to what Kaulingfreks et al. term "a way of organising [...] objects that destroys their singularity" (2011, p. 311). And, in like fashion, they, the two authors, mobilise a vision of the present as a state serving to prepare the future, as – to return to Ainsworth and Hardy's 'faithfully' observing words – a state characterised by "provision for the future" (2008, p. 394).<sup>72</sup>

Patently, this chapter ventures, then, to expose this codicil-like and, as it were, faithful critique, striving to render it, the critical *stance* espoused, *possible* anew. And, crucially, in so doing, i.e. in *analysing* critiques seeking to merely observe and – on that basis – revise the 'enterprise discourse', this chapter – drawing on Agamben, who, in turn, paraphrases Karl Marx – argues that "hope is given [only] to the hopeless" (cited in Smith 2004, p. 123). Indeed, hope, which, Agamben

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Vitally, in view of the above-mentioned, this chapter refrains from treating *oikonomic* 'faith' (in the entrepreneur) as uniformly wholehearted and fervent. Instead, with Agamben, it suggests that, more often than not, "faith [is] maintained by force and without conviction" (2012b, p. 1), which for many, makes our epoch one of "empty futures and false hopes" (ibid.). Moreover, grasping, with Agamben, that "[t]he future [...] is in fact today one of the primary and most effective devices [*dispositivi*] of power" (2017a, p. 1), it also refrains from following De Cock's proposition to open up "the future to the possibility of radical change without delimiting that future by prescribing its form" (2009, p. 437), a proposition that remains stuck in the *virtual* state of exception.

intimates, is given only to those who are "consigned without remedy to their beingthus" (1993c, p. 39), remains inaccessible to those who obstinately pin their hopes on what, Sørensen's perusal of government reports eulogising 'the entrepreneur' suggests, is at its core a futurist "religious figure" (2008, p. 85). Tragically, hope remains inaccessible to those who faithfully participate in the perpetuation of a discourse that, Kenny and Scriver's article on articulations of 'the Irish entrepreneur' hints, sustains and adds fuel to, "the reproduction of political hegemony" (2012, p. 615) and, hence, serves to "legitimize the continuation of market logics and, relatedly, the existing political status quo" (ibid.).

Hence, criticising these critiques' still operative quasi-religious 'faith' in what, Sørensen suggests, policy documents portraying 'the entrepreneur' celebrate as a figure "saving the world" (2008, p. 85), this chapter argues that what can be called hope must reach beyond any known or conceptualised hope. And, likewise, what can be called Messiah must be something other than, and differ from, every known historical determination of a Messiah, of a messianism or of a messianic tendency. Naturally, that means that this chapter refrains from relegating organisation to hope or 'faith' in futurist entrepreneurial 'salvation' as epitomised by visions of "[t]he entrepreneur as savior in the age of creativity" (ibid.). Instead it clings to 'hopeless hope'. Since 'hopeless hope' 'saves' organisation only insofar as it concerns and preserves "truly unsavable life" (Agamben 1993c, p. 6). Or, in Sergei Prozorov's unmistakable words, it is only thanks to 'hopeless hope' that we can be "saved from the salvation promised by [...] historical apparatuses" (2014, p. 167), including the entrepreneurial machine. For, undoubtedly, as Agamben suggests, it is "the unsavable that renders salvation possible, the irreparable that allows the coming of the redemption" (2001, p. 1). And, clearly, it is in this special context that one must appreciate Agamben's focus on Paul's citation of the messianic prophecy of Isaiah: "only a remnant will be saved" (2005b, p. 54).

To be sure, unlike previous articles, which, as has been stressed, anti-messianically settle for lamenting issues related to the *supposedly* proper 'administration' of, as for 'the Law', the texts at the heart of this chapter take then, if, too, anti-messianically, issue with a neoliberal government rationality, striving to modify the corresponding representation of the future. Indeed, they take issue with a dominant biopolitical rationality which – as Burchell's (1993) influential reflections suggest – aims to produce autonomous, self-regulating productive behaviour so as to have singularities (*singolarità*), referred to as 'individuals', allegedly in their own best interest, unfurl and make use of their professedly latent, unique creativity and skill, arguably hoping to revise the future to be 'administratively' enforced. More specifically, in the 'faithful' texts *analysed*, Australian policy documents' portrayals of 'enterprise' are criticised, argued to rudely and crudely dismiss (human beings referred to as) 'older workers' as unable to figure as entrepreneurs. Thus, human beings classified as 'older workers', these texts bewail, figure as unable to become avatars of enterprise, avatars of what Agamben calls the "ideology of the spectacle,

of the market, and of enterprise" (2000, p. 137), of a realm in which "organizations themselves assume the character of spectacle" (Gabriel 2008b, p. 277). Hence, 'older Australian workers', these texts protest, are kept from occupying advantageous positions within prevalent policy discourse, viewed to be kept from "clamber[ing] the good ship Enterprise" (Comaroff and Comaroff 2000, p. 299), from boarding an ark that may protect the Australian people from collective and individual malaise and carry them into a future reality, a supposedly better futurist *oikonomia*. Or, put differently, barred from being "proper' entrepreneurs" (Ainsworth and Hardy 2008, p. 400), they, 'older workers', would be reduced to "the older unemployed" (2004, p. 226).

Against this backcloth, one may say that the articles perused in this chapter criticise Australian policymakers' vision of an incipient entrepreneurial future, finding fault with this vision's supposedly ageist overtones (e.g. Ainsworth and Hardy 2008). Plainly, this entrepreneurial future's association with a spectacularly accomplished, youthful being, i.e. the 'entrepreneur', who, Sørensen stresses, is projected to make "all things new" (2008, p. 91), is criticised, taken to spell doom for 'the older worker'. Thus, while Australian policymakers, the articles perused contend, wax lyrical about the spectacularly accomplished youthful entrepreneur and, as a result, strive to rebuild Australia along spectacularly youthful, entrepreneurial lines, Ainsworth and Hardy fear that prevalent policy allusions to an incipient entrepreneurial future ignore and write off 'older workers'. For, in their view, it seems, this extant codex, centred upon a 'spectacularly' youthful enterprising Australia, on "a youth-centred ideal where aging is hidden, masked or denied" (Ainsworth and Hardy 2009, p. 1202) might prevent 'older workers' from what in Strathern's work is called "being enterprised-up" (1992, p. 38). Put a little differently, these policy sources, the articles analysed bemoan, tend to close their eyes to older workers' labour market potentiality, with 'older workers' said to risk being unhinged from the spectacular, incipient entrepreneurial future (e.g. Ainsworth and Hardy 2009). Indeed, these policy sources are argued to propel unduly generalising and dismissive stereotypes which, it is implied, would allochronistically consign 'older workers' to the proverbial scrapheap, i.e. to involuntary unemployment - to forced inactivity.

As a result, similar to academic articles *analysed* in the preceding chapter, the articles criticising Australian policy documents, too – rather than, with Benjamin, helping to liberate 'the coming' from its deformed, *verbildeten* (literally 'imaged'), form in the present (see the chapter called 'Final ideas') – further a still quasi-religious position; specifically, not only are the authors of the two articles in question, echoing an increasing interest in 'the older worker' among organisation scholars writing from the standpoint of the critical camp, distraught over ageist prejudices that, they underline, are exacerbated by these policy documents' celebration of a spectacularly youthful, enterprising Australia. The articles also aim to eliminate these inhibiting, ageist prejudices, striving to pave the way for a fairer,

more attentive, unprejudiced appreciation of older workers' idiosyncratic labour market potentiality. Indisputably, they hope to whip up support for the construction of an, it is true, equally spectacular, humane, inclusive-cum-entrepreneurial potentiality-centred Australia, which, it seems to be suggested, would constitute a better or improved enterprise 'codex'. It would constitute a better or improved dispositif. In this particular context, it is unsurprising that Ainsworth and Hardy complain that the Australian policy documents 'observed' tend to campaign for a future that only accommodates youthful workers, workers who ardently parade their spectacularly juvenile resilience and, thus, take great pleasure in continually reinventing, and outstripping, themselves. Indeed, echoing reservations expressed in a range of OECD publications, Ainsworth and Hardy underline, then, that obsessive fixation on spectacularly youthful resilience and on constant reinvention may give rise to older workers' premature relegation to inferior positions both within and outside the 'ordinary labour market'. That is, the ageist overtone said to pervade, and to be fuelled by, Australian policy documents, they seem to fear, might lead to older workers' functional exclusion from enterprising. In other words, 'the older worker', the articles moan, may, returning to some phrases 'used' before, be exempted from actualising as autonomous and self-regulating productive behaviour and, simultaneously, as the unfurling of hitherto dormant skill and creativity. They may be exempted from becoming what in Adkins's work on present-day capitalism, ruminations that markedly take issue with Bourdieu-inspired 'observations' of social reproduction, is referred to as "stored-up, embodied capacities and skills" (2008, p. 187). They may be exempted from what Comaroff and Comaroff call an overpowering, encroaching "universe of infinite enterprise" (2000, p. 316).<sup>73</sup>

Effectively, this literature bemoaning Australian policy articulations of 'the older worker', one may say, advocates a more humane and inclusive, entrepreneurialcum-capitalist future, thereby hoping to transform proliferating ageist norms into what are seen to be more enabling, empowering ways of being and knowing 'the older worker'. For, in the articles *analysed*, more emancipatory ways of *being* and *knowing* 'the older worker', i.e. epistemologies that recognise, and help propel, old-age potentialities' actualisation in an entrepreneurial future, are hoped to be roused. Put a little differently, although Ainsworth and Hardy problematise, and point to, mechanisms of in- and exclusion in the Australian enterprise discourse, they undermine the pure potentiality of the poetic word, 'faithfully' aiming, as noted before, for a 'codicil' as far as the Law is concerned. In fact, rather than rendering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> While Ainsworth and Hardy remain vague in this context, two strategies to fight ageism resonate particularly well with these texts' focus on older workers' marginalisation. For one thing, ageism may be fought by pointing to the specific skills that older workers are seen to exhibit, with older workers being equated with a useful, easily neglected skill set which younger workers may lack (e.g. Backes-Gellner et al. 2011). For the other, attempts to fight ageist attitudes may involve underlining that individual older workers may not necessarily feature the negative characteristics that older workers, as a group, may be known to exhibit (e.g. Ng & Feldman 2013).

such mechanisms inoperative, i.e. to profane them, they seem to suggest that Australian policy documents' criteria for admission to this 'spectacular' future or to prominent positions therein be reviewed and modified, with the onus being on "fighting for inclusion" (Ainsworth and Hardy 2009, p. 1215). Such criteria should become more sensitive to older workers' potentiality so as to reveal, and grasp, the various work functions by means of which old-age Australian workers may actualise as taxable third-age-entrepreneurial spry labour.

As emphasised before, it is in this context that Australian policy documents discussing older workers' aptitude to become 'entrepreneurs' are said to throw a spanner in the works, seen to keep the history of a hoped-for anti-ageist Australia from properly unfurling and gaining steam; they are seen to associate older workers with welfare dependency, dwindling productivity and plummeting cognitive capacity. And these biased ageist assumptions, Ainsworth and Hardy warn, may risk tarring all older workers with the same brush; not only might such assumptions keep employers seeking to optimise their employee portfolio to be able to properly grasping older workers' potentiality, so as to stop older workers from putting themselves, as employees, to good capitalist use. These assumptions, the texts fear, may also prevent older workers from getting a chance to realise their own business ideas, as 'free agents', with prevalent ageist leanings seen to take an inappropriately dim view of 'aged entrepreneurs'.

Curiously, Ainsworth and Hardy stress that this ageist relegation and the related inconsiderate squandering of old-age labour market potentiality appear to occur at a critical historical juncture when 'older workers' are said to constitute an everincreasing proportion of the Australian population and workforce. Markedly, in these articles. Australian policy documents are regarded to take the bread out of Australia's mouth; for, in Ainsworth and Hardy's view, it is due to Australian policymakers' undiscerning ageist leanings that 'older Australian workers' are kept from accessing the 'spectacular' 'enterprising self'. In effect, the policies are regarded to keep 'older workers' from participating in Australia's inclusive-cumentrepreneurial future at a point in time when older workers' continual economic contribution is regarded to be needed more than ever - not least in order to make sure that such a future has a chance to get off the ground at all. Relatedly, older workers' marginalisation is said to stand in stark contrast to allusions to equal opportunities or achievement-based social mobility - allusions that enthused policymakers, who cast 'enterprise' as a key to a more exhilarating, eventful capitalist future, Ainsworth and Hardy underline, tend to mobilise. Indeed, Ainsworth and Hardy suggest that it is due to such exalted accounts that one might jump to conclusions, led to overlook such allusions' ageist ramifications; one may be led to think that, under the banner of 'enterprise', all Australian workers were allowed to 'spectacularly' become entrepreneurs - indeed, that all individuals were, considered from the side of the transcendent, to actualise their individual labour

market potentiality. Hence, hoping to debunk such gullible beliefs, Ainsworth and Hardy ally themselves with other articles that also write from the position of the critical 'camp', with other articles that take issue with various discursively presupposed social groups' exclusion. It is in this context that they point out that

[d]espite its supposed accessibility, researchers have argued that the entrepreneurial self is not an identity that everyone can assume. For example, small business entrepreneurship has been shown to promote an identity of the entrepreneur as white and male [...]: women and certain ethnic groups are marginalized [...]. [Indeed], research has shown that, when the discourse of enterprise intersects with gender and race, it becomes harder for these individuals to access (2008, pp. 391–2).

Moreover, seemingly worried about older workers' ageist relegation into economic inactivity, Ainsworth and Hardy indicate, then – as mentioned before – that, in the policy documents that they reviewed,

[t]hose who [...] [are portrayed to be unable to] conduct themselves in an appropriately 'entrepreneurial' and hence responsible manner are excluded or marginalised. [...] [In this context, t]he intersection of enterprise- and age-related discourses constructed older workers as: a) unattractive products [for employers] and b) risky [enterprise] projects, both of which served to restrict the access of the older worker to the enterprising self discourse [...]. The implication was that the older worker was an unsuitable employee for prospective employers; and would therefore find it difficult to escape unemployment without the assistance of agencies which made up the privatised enterprise model of contractually based, government-funded labour market services (2008, pp. 391–6).

Patently, it is, henceforth, an undiscerning 'dualism', i.e. the misguided division between the youthful, omnipotent entrepreneur and the useless and sapped 'older worker', which, in the articles exposed in this chapter, is argued to project older workers as prone to slide into, and remain trapped in, unemployment. Indeed, the older worker, it is stated, risks being pushed out of the labour market, viewed to be likely to be written off as a customer of the network of organisations forming the government-funded Job Services Australia. That means what Ainsworth and Hardy object to is not so much the imposition of a 'spectacular' ideal being, i.e. the 'enterprising self', on life as such. Rather, it is particular biopolitical labour market potentialities' exemption from that ideal. Since, clearly, Ainsworth and Hardy are interested in "discourses that [are] [...] less disadvantageous to the older worker" (2008, p. 403) – in particular discourses detailing "ways that allow them to access the enterprising self" (ibid.). It is in this spirit that they point out that, in influential Australian government publications,

[o]lder workers were unlikely to be successful entrepreneurs [...]. While the younger employed were constructed as entrepreneurial material, their older counterparts were constructed as unsuccessful and unsuitable entrepreneurs. [In fact, the articles 'cited'

suggest] [...] that the enterprising self is an inherently aged construction and therefore not equally accessible to all age groups of workers because of the manner in that enterprise and age intersect to produce two versions of identity for the older worker. A specific older worker was constructed that constrained [...] access to the enterprising self: not only were [...] older workers not enterprising enough to secure employment; they were just not enterprising enough to start up a new business either (2008, p. 391).

Taking issue with Australian policy documents along such lines, Ainsworth and Hardy focus in particular on how so-called physical and psychological discourses are mobilised to regulate and subordinate old-age labour market potentiality, i.e. the presupposed biopolitical governance regime called 'older worker'. Whilst both discourses undermine the actualisation of older-worker potentiality, they are found to

have separate effects: [In Australian policy documents, it is said,] physical discourse [focusing on and stressing impeding bodily defects,] suggested that job loss for older workers would be permanent, whereas psychotherapeutic discourse suggested that the solution to unemployment lay in the mind of older workers themselves. [However, both discourses] [...] also have combined effects through the notion of grief: older workers are expected to progress through the normative stages of grief to arrive at acceptance of job loss and continued exclusion from the labour market (2009, p. 1199).

In fact, together, both discourses mentioned are argued to almost seal older workers' fate. For, as Ainsworth and Hardy hold, it is due to such discourses that 'older workers' risk being urged to *view* unemployment as an irrevocably permanent, definite condition. That is, 'older workers' – they lament – are called on to put up with and accept their allegedly deficient entrepreneurial aptitude, with 'the older worker' seen to be discursively banned from what, for them, 'older workers', must be life-affirming work and from the material, social and psychological benefits, by custom, regarded to necessarily spring from capitalist wage labour. Specifically, Ainsworth and Hardy argue, then, that potentiality-insensitive

negative stereotypes about older workers suggest [that older workers] [...] possess inferior physical abilities; are less able to learn; and are more resistant to change compared with younger workers. [...] [In addition to this,] representing older workers' responses to unemployment as grief was consistent with the prominent death analogy, drawn on to depict the loss of work: the loved one is not coming back, their career is over [...]. [In effect,] permanent loss became the objective of the grieving process. As a result, there was a heavy emphasis upon the appropriate way to manage grief by working through the various stages to arrive at acceptance of [job] loss (2009, pp. 1202–3).

Vitally, as this chapter's final quote makes clear, the supposedly deficiently thoughtout governmental future promoted by Australian policy documents is seen to project older (unemployed) workers as lost both for themselves and for Australia's, at the end of the day, irrevocably enterprising future. No doubt, it is old-age labour market potentialities' likelihood to accept their relegation and to forego 'spectacular' actuality that, in the articles *analysed*, causes grief. That is to say, these articles grieve over Australian policymakers' failure to discursively integrate old-age potentialities in what Sørensen's astute analysis reveals as a "religious script" (2008, p. 87). Luckily, salvation is, however, near. Contrary to Ainsworth and Hardy's quasi-religious, prophetic stance, which, using Sørensen's and Spoelstra's fitting words, is subtended by "faith in the redemptive possibilities of business" (2013, p. 518), for Agamben, it resides in 'hopeless' hope's unlocking of an irreducible remnant (resto); it resides in the apostle's profane-cum-messianic unfurling of *il*legible play. Or, put yet an-other way, pace Cooper, it resides not in a focus on the virtual exception of the 'between' (cf. Chia and Kallinikos 1998), but in the coincidence of the entre-preneurial with what Agamben refers to as "philo-sophia" (2017b, p. 54): "a love of knowledge and a knowledge of love [...] that would be neither knowledge of the signifier nor knowledge of the signified" (ibid.). Instead, it. the remnant, the entre-preneurial, "is situated in the fracture that divides them" (ibid.).

## Exposing identity production

"[T]he end of man, for its part, is the return of the beginning of philosophy. [...] It is nothing more, and nothing less, than the unfolding of a space in which it is once more possible to think." (Foucault 1994, p. 342)

As indicated before, the fifth and final case turned to in *this* book revolves around scholarly discussions - at core scholarly discourse - regarding unemployed human beings' supposed identity. More concretely, this case revolves around scholarly discourse regarding these beings' - to use Munro's wording - supposed "belonging to this or that grouping" (2011, p. 142). Indeed, it revolves around their supposed vocation, with my *analytical* focus resting on messianically fulfilling, i.e. *exposing*, this vocation. And, thus, more generally, this case revolves around neutralising the convention of - to stick with Munro - "placing' one another as this or that" (2015, p. 162). Importantly, the three texts analysed in this connection are an Organization article entitled 'Identity Regulation in Neoliberal Societies: Constructing the Occupationally Disabled Individual', a Work, Employment & Society article entitled 'Medicalization of Unemployment: Individualizing Social Issues as Personal Problems in the Swedish Welfare State' and a European Societies article entitled 'The Active Welfare State and its Consequences: A Case Study of Sheltered Employment in Sweden'. All of these texts are either lead- or sole-authored by Mikael Holmqvist and vehemently criticise what they take to be the systematic, organisational production of negatively charged, inhibiting personal identity. Notably, the three articles mentioned criticise the organisational production of, as far as oikonomic actualisation in the labour market is concerned, unfavourable 'personal identity' taken to be induced by an increasing medicalisation of unemployment. Thus, in equating organisation with signification, these articles criticise the production of medicalised self-classification, reproductively calling for an immediate, supposedly empowering reclassification.<sup>74</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Chiefly, these three articles have been 'collected' – in the sense of what Agamben, with a view to Benjamin's work on the 'collector' (*Sammler*), refers to as the freeing of things "from the 'slavery of usefulness'" (1999e, p. 65) – for they resonate with a) an extensive literature on organisational identity (see Munro 2011, 2015) and b) a growing literature on disability in organisations (e.g. Barnes and Mercer 2005; Beatty et al. 2019; Dobusch 2017; Duff and Ferguson 2012; Jammaers and Zanoni 2021; Knights and Latham 2020; Van Laer et al. 2022; Williams and Mavin 2012). Thus, in line with "[t]he collector [who] [...] cites the object outside

Significantly, in this context, for Holmqvist, 'medicalisation' refers to "the process by which human behaviours become defined and are treated as medical problems and issues" (2009, p. 406). In this vein, the 'medicalisation of unemployment' turns, for him, on "the individualization of the social issue of unemployment into a personal trouble of disability" (p. 405). That means, as far as organisational targets for intervention are concerned, the 'medicalisation of unemployment', Holmqvist laments, tends to shift attention to "individuals' personal troubles rather than social issues" (ibid.). And, what is more, based on organisational practices such as labelling/classification, but also work-driven therapy or coaching procedures, "medical norms and ideas", he maintains, "act to create the disabled person" (p. 407). As a result, "individuals' impairments come forth as socially constructed and gradually imprinted in [...] identities" (Holmqvist et al. 2013, p. 197), with Holmqvist et al., in an attempt to articulate alternatives, *inter alia* hinting at different "competing bases of identification" (p. 207) that might, perhaps, more positively inform people put in specialised work programmes "in their 'identity work"" (p. 206). After all, the work programmes on offer, Holmqvist underlines, do "not necessarily contribute to clients' activation" (2010, p. 223), with these clients - due to their unemployment being 'medicalised', he intimates - "becoming progressively locked in a situation of disablement, incapacity and helplessness" (p. 222). Curiously, then, whilst Holmqvist broaches the issue of what - drawing on Agamben - can be called "the 'medicalization' of ever-widening spheres of life" (2000, p. 8), he remains stuck in it, failing to profane it...

Indeed, insofar as he hopes to 'remedy' those who, in the articles exposed here, are seen to, detrimentally, be made to adopt "a passive identity" (Holmqvist et al. 2013, p. 207) based on a new identity that, he stresses, would allow them "to compete and to take part in society as full-worthy and active citizens" (p. 208), he partakes in the medicalisation of life. That is, he functions as a medical expert, which is all the more deplorable, for, as Agamben firmly stresses, "the medical religion offers no prospect of salvation and redemption" (2021, p. 53). Salvation and redemption and, henceforth, medicalisation's suspension reside only in what Agamben refers to as "de-identification" (2000, p. 100). In other words, as Agamben notes in an interview published in *Libération*, they reside in the idea of a subject as that "which remains between subjectification and desubjectification, between the human and the nonhuman" (1999a, p. ii). Or, as he highlights in an insightful interview with Hanna Leitgeb and Cornelia Vismann, they all reside in the idea that "[t]he subject is sort of 'remnant', a rest" (2001, p. 20). That means that salvation and redemption reside beyond the biopolitics of both the signified and of the signifier. And here "the impossibility to determine an identity is the decisive point" (ibid.).

its context and in this way destroys the order inside which it finds its value and meaning"

<sup>(</sup>Agamben 1999e, p. 64), this chapter 'cites' these articles, hoping to, in so doing, inspire further 'citations' of literatures.

Thus, hoping to remedy (like medicine from the Proto-Indo-European \*med, meaning 'to advise' or 'counsel' and, hence, corresponding to German's raten, which, for its part, is related to reden, 'to discourse') present placing through rectified, futurist placing, these articles fail to expose. After all, these articles overlook that – with Agamben – "[w]e can have hope only in what is without remedy" (1993c, p. 102). We can have hope only in what is without biopolitical 'apparatus' (Gerät or Gerede)... As this chapter sets out to foreground, they fail to grasp that the human being, the 'coming' organiser, is Odradekian and, as such, as a monstrum, irreducible to logic/reason. Indeed, as an Odradekian, one belongs, Hamacher's 'studious' reading of Kafka's work suggests, "to no kind [Czech's rod] and is without counsel [Czech's rada and German's Rat], [being] the one with neither a discourse [German's Rede] nor a name" (2011, p. 307). Since - as for Odradek - "his name says that he has no name" (ibid.)... Therefore, echoing the violent reactions of the family members of Gregor Samsa, the protagonist of The Metamorphosis, who - one morning - found himself disfigured into a giant "Ungeziefer" (Kafka 1971, p. 168), literally a being unsuited (un-) for religious operations (\*tībra), these texts seem to proclaim that "Gregor is ill. Go for the doctor, quick" (p. 184). In short, hastily pushing in-fancy aside, they reduce organisation(al language) to emplacement. They overlook the possibility of our joyously being ratlos (uncounselled) in language.

Vitally, as Gregor's voice, Kafka writes, "left the words in their [...] shape only for the first moment and then rose up reverberating around them to destroy their sense" (1971, p. 172), Gregor's turning into an Ungeziefer can, then, be appreciated as involving such joyously *ratloses*/uncounselled indwelling of language; it can be seen as coinciding with an unlocking of organisation in terms of *in-fancy*. Hence, what can be gleaned from turning to Kafka, this chapter suggests, does not so much concern Rhodes and Westwood's reading of The Metamorphosis, a reading focusing on the limits of reciprocation "when the other person one is dealing with becomes so 'other' that one can no longer see him through any real mode of identification" (2016, p. 240). Rather, it concerns an otherness immanent to selfness that defies representation and conceptualisation. Alluding to Michel Foucault's above-quoted intervention, it concerns a return to the anoikonomic beginning, the an-archic arche, of philosophy. Unfortunately, however, Holmqvist et al., like Gregor Samsa's father, mother and sister, remain subject to an oikonomic 'first'. No doubt, akin to Gregor's father, mo-her and Grete, they remain subject to, and reproduce, "management" (Kafka 1971, p. 251), a "commissioner" (ibid.) and a "principal" (ibid.)...

As it turns out, themselves fully trapped in the diffusion of medicalising language, these articles wish to remedy supposedly disabling, organisationally produced selfclassification. They wish to do so by way of supposedly enabling, organisationally propped reclassification, with their authors installing or placing themselves as indispensable socio-medical practitioners. Consequently, the three articles in question criticise both the Swedish PES, Arbetsförmedlingen, and a state-owned company officially tasked with helping to produce what Holmqvist et al. class the "able' and 'fit' employee, ready to take a job on the regular labour market" (2013, p. 204), viz., Samhall. Since, as far as those employed in related public work/activation programmes are concerned, the PES and Samhall, the state-owned firm responsible for the realisation of these work/activation programmes intended for the 'occupationally disabled', Holmqvist et al. complain, do "not bring them closer but further away from the labour market and from society" (ibid.). That is to say, both organisations bring them further away from a "labour market and [a] society that" – Holmqvist et al. concede – "[to begin with,] expelled these people" (ibid.), with the people the PES assigns to Samhall as employees reported to "gradually acquire an identity as 'occupationally disabled'" (ibid.).

In this vein, Holmqvist criticises, for instance, governments' "diverting' [of] working age people on to disability benefits" (2009, p. 407). That is, he is critical of governments' attempts to, in this way, 'reduce' and, thus, whitewash or 'massage' unemployment statistics. He is critical, it is true, of any medicalisation of unemployment that might mean that "long-term unemployed individuals [are put] to forms of work that the labour market finds too simplistic, too dreary, too dirty, and too expensive to handle with ordinary employees" (Holmqvist et al. 2013, p. 208). Since Holmqvist and colleagues fear that both Arbetsförmedlingen's and Samhall's seeming recourse to "a 'medico-economic discourse' within which issues concerning individuals' activity and agency are transformed into matters of illness and disability" (p. 193) may "diminish [a] person's future employability by implying that he or she is not only unemployed, but also disabled" (Holmqvist 2009, p. 407). Indeed, the unemployed assigned to these very programmes, Holmqvist et al. argue, "first accept and then, gradually, begin freely to see themselves and to act as occupationally disabled" (2013, p. 207). For them, they assume the identity 'occupationally disabled'.

Thus, whether reluctantly or readily, Holmqvist et al. take neoliberalism's focus on what, in these articles, is called "self-governing, active, and entrepreneurial identities" (2013, p. 196) for granted. In so doing, they partake in – from an equally neoliberal point of view – denigrating the state "for creating passive and state-dependent populations" (ibid.). As a consequence, their critique does not so much concern the imposition of (neoliberal) identities on the part of the state and its organisations *per se.* Rather, it concerns supposedly insufficiently futurist identity production. It concerns supposedly insufficiently enabling (em)placement or grouping, with Holmqvist and his co-authors installing themselves as advocates of a 'hoped-for future' marked by a rapid transition of rapidly (re)activated work programme participants into the 'ordinary labour market' – as, to re-echo, 'self-governing, active and entrepreneurial identities'. For, as for the unemployed people whose optimal identity or emplacement is, for the articles turned to, at stake, Holmqvist et al. bewail that the PES and Samhall do "not [...] give them moral

guidance and motivation to adapt to society in general and to the labour market in particular, but [...] help them adopt an identity that constitutes them as the very antipode to the neoliberal ideal of the active and self-governing individual" (2013, p. 197).<sup>75</sup>

Yet, in so doing, Holmqvist and his co-authors overlook that our "transformation [...] into a principle of identity and classification is the original sin of our culture, its most implacable apparatus [*dispositivo*]" (Agamben 2007a, p. 59). In other words, the debilitating self-definition/self-categorisation that Arbetsförmedlingen and, above all, Samhall – a state-owned company and principal provider of sheltered employment for people with disabilities in Sweden – are said to foster in people whom Arbetsförmedlingen and Samhall should activate and rehabilitate is taken issue with. Correspondingly, Holmqvist's, as well as his two co-authors', critique, this chapter suggests, remains stuck in an inhibiting identitarian logic as these three authors happen – to return to Munro's wording – to (em)place humans as *this* of *that* and – in so doing – mobilise a 'commanding' ableist discourse that, more or less explicitly, centres on hinging belonging on people's *actualisation* in terms of (radically) augmented employability and eventual employment-based participation in what Holmqvist et al. concede are "neo-liberal regimes of government" (2013, p. 194).

In short, overlooking the *possibility* of what Ten Bos, inspired by Agamben, calls a 'community without identity', they participate in conditionalising belonging. Overlooking the *possibility* of what Agamben 'terms' an 'unpresupposable community' or of what Sergei Prozorov, in like fashion, calls a "community [...] rethought in the absence of identity and conditions of belonging" (2014, p. 6), they implicitly conceive belonging, in Luhmannian fashion, as membership. That is, they rely on, and propel, a systemic distinction between, as far as neoliberal work regimes are concerned, active/able members and inactive/disabled non-members. Indeed, based on the invocation of an able/disabled binary, which, curiously enough, reproduces what Holmqvist et al., if with some suspicion, as indicated, call 'the neoliberal ideal of the active and self-governing individual', they remain caught in, and perpetuate, a logic that, bemoaning (unemployed) people's personal-identity-mediated reduction to negative self-classification, reproductively conceives humans automatically in terms of what Agamben calls "social-juridical identities" (2000, p. 6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Obviously, Holmqvist's concept of redemption, which turns on the production of a positive identity that may, so he hopes, allow those referred to as 'occupationally disabled' to actively participate both in a neoliberal society and a neoliberal labour market – contrasts with this chapter's idea of the end of man and the concomitant return of the beginning of *philosophy* – an idea that is, perhaps, best expressed in a fine passage of Ingeborg Bachmann's beautiful novel *Malina*: "[A]ll humans will be free, also from the freedom that they have meant" (2013, p. 175).

Obviously, the *possibility* that, as far as organisation is concerned, "humans [may] co-belong without any representable condition of belonging" (Agamben 1993c, p. 86) is, in these articles, effectively trampled on. And so is the concomitant *possibility* of "singularity without identity" (p. 65). Palpably, these authors fail to see a space in which we, as thinking singularities, *expose placings*. For, as Agamben shows, "[t]he thing of thought is not [...] identity, but the thing *itself*" (p. 96): "not presupposition, but exposure" (p. 97), so that "thought becomes possible only through an impossibility to think" (2011c, p. 78). After all, with Agamben, thought becomes *possible* only through an impossibility to think some*thing*, through man's encounter with himself as pivoting on an impossibility to identify, with thinking, Agamben can be taken to suggest, proceeding "not by means of presupposition, but absolutely" (1999b, p. 33). Put simply, thought is *possible* only "without supposing, without hypothesizing and subjectifying" (ibid.) that which one thinks.<sup>76</sup>

As a consequence, Holmqvist and his two fellow authors, Christian Maravelias and Per Skålén, in locating a "promise of freedom" (2013, p. 194) in a futurist state of "full, active participation in society" (ibid.), i.e. in a state that, they hold, involves "the re-integration of [...] long-term unemployed individuals on the labour market" (ibid.), wholly overlook the possibility of "exodus from any sovereignty" (Agamben 2000, p. 8). Entirely unaware of what Agamben refers to as a "life directed towards the idea of happiness" (ibid.), of a "happiness [that] is, precisely, for us, but [that] awaits us only at the point where it was not destined for us" (2007a, p. 20), they overlook the *possibility* of exodus from language's reduction to an *oikonomic* law. Put differently, arguably concurring with Morgan's dictum that "[o]ur speaking and writing are inherently metaphorical" (2006, p. 368), in the sense that "metaphor implies [...] a way of seeing that pervade[s] how we understand our world generally" (p. 4), Holmqvist and his co-authors seem to be unaware of Paul Celan's paradoxical metaphor 'Ohnebild' (see Hamacher 2019), a metaphor for the impossibility of metaphor that, as such, 'means' that it does not mean, pointing to something impossible to mean, to - as Agamben aptly suggests - "imagination with no more images" (2011c, p. 80).<sup>77</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Unsurprisingly at this point, bearing witness to *the thing itself*, to – and this amounts to the same thing – pure singularity, this thesis contrasts with, and abstains from participating in, the *traditions* that make up the mainstream or the critical camp. After all, as Agamben shows, through *tradition*, "we presuppose, pass on, and thereby—according to the double sense of the word *tra-di-tio*—betray the thing itself in language, so that language may speak about something" (1999b, p. 35). Indeed, as such, "effacement of the thing itself is the sole foundation on which it is possible for something like a tradition to be constituted" (ibid.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Pace Cooper, for whom, "we are all [...] raw matter for the creation of images" (2001b, p. 41), that means that images "are no longer images of something about which one must immediately recount a meaning, narrative or otherwise. They exhibit themselves as such. The true messianic power is this power to give the image to this 'imagelessness'" (Agamben 2014a, p. 26).

Rarely the subject of redemptive critique, Morgan's book Images of Organization, like Holmqvist's articles, remains caught in, and furthers, emplacement that, 'rubbishing the past' (see Munro 1998a) as simple, outdated and no longer feasible, aims to enlist people as apologists of a supposedly superior future – a future marked, as it were, not by the certainties of a single image or metaphor framing our understanding of organisation, but by the demands to flexibly and successfully juxtapose and integrate aspects of a variety of images or metaphors. As a result, informed by dominant clichés, Morgan commences his book with a short portraval of a 'past' marked by "[1]arge centralized bureaucracies" (2006, p. xi) and "sound foundations" (p. 363), both of which, he maintains, "are becoming obsolete" (ibid.), so that people who do not adapt, he argues, are left "[1]ess effective" (p. 4), as they still "seem to interpret everything from a fixed standpoint" (ibid.) - from the standpoint of a simple, single-metaphor-based 'past'. Such people, Morgan underlines, "are often rigid and inflexible" (p. 4), so that "much of the richness and complexity of organizational life is passing them by" (p. 340). After all, to succeed in the future, people, he avers, have to be "open and flexible" (p. 4), intent on searching for what he calls "a more comprehensive view of the situation" (ibid.). Indeed, to wholly master the future, organisers would need an "ability to gain an overall view" (p. 337), an overall view that "cuts through surface complexity to reveal an underlying pattern" (p. 364), allowing people to "stay abreast of new developments" (ibid.) said to spring from "a turbulent world" (p. 8) marked by "unprecedented change" (p. 363) as well as by "ambiguity and flux" (p. xi).

Additionally, unlike the past, the future, Morgan maintains, comes along with "more decentralized and fluid forms of organization" (ibid.), which require ever "fresh ways of seeing" (p. 5) and an ability to "cope with flux in a positive way" (p. 364). Indeed, to thrive in the future, Morgan suggests, one must "gain comfort in dealing with the insights and implications of diverse perspectives" (p. 365); one must "use and integrate the insights of different metaphors" (p. 8), of different ways of seeing. Similarly, Cooper, hoping "to subvert the tyranny of the image" (2016g, p. 35), merely points to "pure action, uncontaminated by a directing image" (ibid.), where the point of "such 'action' is to create a cognitive vacuum which man must fill with images that break new ground" (ibid.). Rather than, with Morgan or Cooper, placing itself in terms of futurist, supposedly superior ways of seeing or, in opposition thereto, in terms of a supposedly tried and trusted, single way of seeing, this book engages in, and gestures towards, redemption from metaphorisation. Or, put differently, rather than striving to belong to either 'the past' or to 'the future', it points to the possibility of Jetztzeit - a term, Agamben shows, "with the same qualities as those pertaining to [...] Paul's paradigm of messianic time" (2005b, p. 143). That means that, with a view to the commanding (from the Latin mandare, meaning 'to give an order or a task', ergon) image that Holmqvist and his co-authors draw of organisation, this chapter, dedicated to 'imagination without images', points - with Agamben - to the possibility of "the image-less: the farewell-and the refuge-of all images" (2011c, p. 80).

Henceforth, partly reminiscent of articles turned to and exposed before, articles which problematise Australian government publications' mobilisation of physical and psychological discourses, for these discourses are found to write off 'the older worker' (e.g. Ainsworth and Hardy 2009), the articles combed through in this chapter criticise Arbetsförmedlingen's and Samhall's rehabilitation and activation programmes. They lament that unemployed people assigned to such programmes are bit by bit socialised into adopting a medicalised identity. More concretely, that means that these public sector organisations and their programmes are believed to, by means of medical frames of references drawn on throughout these programmes, regulate and adversely influence unemployed people's sense of self. They are argued to contribute to making these people understand themselves as marred by impairment, by chronic illness and disability – as dysfunctional, rather than functional, with regard to the neoliberal Swedish labour market.

As a result, both organisations, the three texts zoomed in on warn, fail to accomplish part of their mandate, including citizens' empowerment, the reduction of public expenses and the enhancement of the labour supply (e.g. Holmqvist 2009). Indeed, they are accused of failing to provide the long-term unemployed people in question with the mindset and skills necessary to properly combat their exclusion, of failing to prepare them for, and, thus, accommodate them in, the future. Consequently, people whom Holmqvist et al. refer to as 'passive and dependent individuals' are, then, said to be governed not primarily as part of a low-performing segment of the working population, but as a disabled segment of the working population, thus seen to be shunted aside. Echoing policy publications that stress the importance of transforming disability into ability, dependence into self-reliance and (taxable) work, the presently passive and dependent, the articles 'studied' in this chapter appear to maintain, do not receive the empowering administrative treatment that their particular potentiality deserves. Instead, 'the passive and dependent', it is stated, tend to be paralysed and discouraged from taking their fate into their own hands, with Samhall regarded to fail to render 'the passive and dependent' fit for an employability-dependant society.

Worried about long-term unemployed people's overdue, potentiality-befitting *actualisation*, i.e. their self-confident, empowered transition into the 'ordinary' labour market, Holmqvist et al. point, then, to what they, as alluded to before, believe to be a disconcerting discrepancy between Samhall's official mandate, on the one side, and blatant, dysfunctional organisational practice, on the other side. Specifically, they underline that the

official aim of the work program and of Samhall is to activate and rehabilitate 'occupationally disabled' people back to the labour market. Yet, in sharp contrast to this official aim, our study suggests that the work program in fact constitutes the participants as passive and unable to meet the criteria of activity and employability on the current labour market. The term 'occupationally disabled' emerges not primarily as a medical label that refers to already existing, inner characteristics of the

individuals concerned, but as an identity that they take on as they pass through the work program (2013, p. 194).

Crucially, in the articles exposed in this chapter, being occupationally disabled or being unfit for the future is, then, not regarded as a condition that arises from innate or fixed features, but as a condition that arises from a debilitating and dysfunctional sense of self that long-term unemployed people tend to acquire as they pass through the programmes provided by Samhall. Particularly worrying, Holmqvist underlines, is, then, that the medicalised identity that participants are found to assume individualises unemployment of 'the passive and dependent', seen to push these people into a vicious circle, which makes them focus on, and become absorbed by, their deficiencies, instead of actualising their labour market potentiality. In fact, it is supposed that Samhall's

framing of unemployment as [a composite set of] individual medical problems, [...] [its framing of] unemployment as a result of a person's medical disorders, rather than the result of lack of social and economic opportunities, raises a host of moral and political issues which need to be addressed in the current conversation on social policy and unemployment (2009, p. 408).

Interestingly, not only is 'medicalisation' said to blame and discourage passive and dependent people. For the Samhall programmes in which (unemployed) people tend to learn to become occupationally disabled, Holmqvist surmises, might be worse than arrangements associated with 'the traditional welfare state', which, he holds, simply excluded disadvantaged groups, jettisoning the *actualisation* of below-average labour-market potentiality. It is in this spirit that Holmqvist asks

what is 'worse' from the individual's point of view? Remaining unemployed, but not [being] officially regarded as disabled; or getting a job through a labour market programme as disabled? Obviously, there are economic benefits [...] [related to] accepting that one is disabled, in that one can be offered sheltered work or a wage allowance, leading eventually to a 'real' job. But the label of disabled may be more degrading than the stigma of unemployment. Unemployment can be attributed to structural causes; disability is primarily seen as personal, a result of your individual condition or character (2009, p. 416).

Dissatisfied with Arbetsförmedlingen's and Samhall's dysfunctional rehabilitation and activation of passive and dependent people, Holmqvist suggests in addition that these people's condition, their actualisable 'ordinary-labour-market-potentiality', will deteriorate. For those

recruited by Samhall eventually learn to become disabled, by participating in a work organization that is adapted to the presumed needs of disabled people; hence occupationally disabled people are produced and reproduced through the activation offered by Samhall. [...] [And, disconcertingly, t]he longer [...] [those earmarked for

activation and rehabilitation] stay at Samhall, the more disabled they become in a sociological sense, i.e. in the sense of acquiring a 'disabled self' (2010, pp. 222–3).

Remedying work programme participants' identities and – in that way – helping to *actualise* their labour market potentiality, Holmqvist notes, should be comparatively easy to address. This might, for instance, be done by

hiring staff that emphasize disabled people's capabilities and competencies, rather than their impairments and deficiencies. Another avenue to deal with these problems would be to design programs where disabled people are able to alternate between jobs at different non-sheltered employers. This would probably allow them to broaden their competency basis significantly, which could contribute to their overall employability so that they eventually could find permanent employment with a 'regular' employer (2010, p. 223).

Notwithstanding all this, considered from an Agambenian angle, the most enabling possibility is a fully de-identified life, life completely unbound from the gruelling shackles of conditionalised belonging and the constant reproduction of this or that placing. Indeed, dovetailing with what Fleming refers to as "inoperative critique" (2015, p. 449), rather than with the discourse-based placings, the traditional, biopolitical *Gerede*, the most enabling possibility, is a life dedicated to 'collecting' images, so as to engage in 'imagination without any images'. Only in this way will we, in leaving behind the biopolitics of the "religion of health" (Agamben 2021, p. 8), return to the beginning of philosophy and think. After all, in thinking we detraditionalise and, consequently, render inoperative our medicalising images of organisation, insofar as we, with Kafka, stop "expecting the impossible from the doctor" (1971, p. 393).

Coinciding with this thesis's idea of critique, 'inoperative critique', Fleming underlines, is a critique that "remains inscrutable to and independent of capitalist rationality" (2015, p. 439). Let there be no mistake, it is a critique that remains inscrutable to, and independent of, *oikonomia*. Or, echoing Kafka's text *A Country Doctor*, a text in which, Snoek shows, the doctor eventually realises that "[t]here is no work for him" (2012, p. 69), it is an *il-legible* critique. For, using Rehberg's words, and this applies both to Kafka's story and this chapter, "neither parson nor doctor can heal or sanctify the text. They are left with nothing but comic gestures as the basis of knowledge is absent" (2007, p. 254). It is in this sense that inoperative critique assures that one of Bachmann's most beautiful aphorisms – 'specialists and experts multiply, while thinkers remain absent' – loses *actuality* and gives way to pure *possibility*.

After all, as Rehberg emphatically shows, Kafka's doctor (from the Proto-Indo-European \* $de\dot{k}$ -, meaning 'to take') "finds no locatable ground that could lend determination to a knowledge system" (2007, p. 253), indwelling his own *inoperosità*. Relatedly, Deleuze and Guattari, mulling over Kafka's work, stress that

"Kafka deliberately kills all metaphor[s], all symbolism, all signification, no less than all designation" (1986, p. 22). All that means that, instead of being reducible to medicalising, identity-based propositions done on the hoof, organisation, exposition helps reveal, turns on profanity. At odds with traditional "Tropen" (Kafka 1971, p. 255), German for 'tropics' *and* 'tropes/figures of speech', with the placings of *The Penal Colony* and its apparatus – its biopolitical *Gerät* or *Gerede* – it turns on the *possibility* of imageless, uncounselled disfiguration.<sup>78</sup> Organisation turns on thought, becoming a pure exteriority. It turns upon indwelling inoperative medical practice, unfurling life in terms of a de-mitted *Arzt* – in terms of a de-mitted *arkhíatros*, meaning 'leader (*arkhós*) who seeks to remedy (*īáomai*)'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Obviously, *this* differs from Cooper's work, where it is the "implicit vagueness of Mass that leads to its tropes or creative embellishments of its words" (2001c, p. 345) and where "[t]roping [...] indicate[s] that [...] early conceptions of *mass* [conceptions that Cooper subscribes to] recognised that its essential indeterminacy and vagueness was perhaps *the* source of human culture and meanings" (ibid.). He shuns de-identification, stressing instead that "[i]dentities have no natural location; they are constituted by repetition out of the flux and flow of the 'placeless relational mobility' of dispersion" (2001b, p. 27), our grounding in the *virtual* state of exception left intact.

## Plērōma: on purely mediate justice

"Language as pure means and pure violence is deposition." (Hamacher 1994, p. 347)

Having, in the preceding chapters, analysed those texts that are at the heart of this thesis's exposition, this book is, in this very chapter, concerned with delineating organisation in terms of what Agamben calls "a violence outside the law" (2005a, p. 53). Picking up on Zartaloudis's fitting words, it is centrally concerned with outlining organisation as the experience of "a real exception to the law without being an exception of the law" (2010, p. 300). And with that, one can say, this chapter turns on bringing off what Benjamin, in contrast to the law's disconcertingly gloomy 'being in force without significance' marking the virtual state of exception, calls the *real* state of exception - a term that. Agamben shows, refers to the felicitous inoperativity and pure *potentiality* of the law. Patently, it, this term, refers to the felicitous inoperativity and pure *potentiality* of *organisational language*. Or, put differently, the *real* state of exception, Deleuze and Guattari's reading of Kafka's work can be taken to suggest, does not concern the issue "of liberty but of escape" (1986, p. 10); crucially, it does not concern liberty, if set in opposition to a godly Pater. Rather, akin to Bay's work, it concerns organisational life that "escapes its own foundations and understandings" (1998, p. 50). Thus, the real state of exception refers to the free, common 'use' of the law, with, for Agamben, the free, common 'use' of the law amounting to a life that is "pure, profane, [and] freed from sacred names" (2007a, p. 74). Followingly, in keeping with this book's method and theory, the term 'the *real* state of exception' refers, then, to the experience of language *itself*, uncoupled from any transcendent reference - uncoupled from the abominable apparatuses of legal violence.

Without question, this chapter testifies to a way out of the current biopolitically conditioned, seemingly interminable malaise, here – with Benjamin – found to revolve around, and arise from, our, as *supposedly* transcendently bound transient beings, being "limited by structures of time and space" (2003, p. 166) and a corollary "possessive character" (ibid.), which, in turn, Benjamin leaves no doubt, "is always unjust" (ibid.). That is, again resorting to Zartaloudis, this chapter points up, and becomes coterminous with, a completely untrammelled, free, common 'use' of the law, of organisational language where, importantly, "the *use* of the law has no end(s) and is just *pure means*" (2010, p. 282) and where, by extension, "[p]ure means *are* just (*just* as they are)" (ibid.). Otherwise put, this chapter, in countering

the iron-fisted culture of 'work' and, equally, with Agamben, in exiting into "a common use of bodies" (2015b, p. xxi), points up, and becomes coterminous with, the experience of justice, insofar as, siding with Benjamin, justice "lies in the condition of a good that cannot be possessed" (2003, p. 166). Thus, displaying, and availing itself of, language as a pure means, as a medium of justice, this chapter counters and neutralises biopolitical organisation, itself exiting into, and paving the way for, what, before long, is discussed as happy life. Opting for propertylessness or possessionlessness, it exits into ethics, grasped in terms of happiness (*felicità*).

Etymologically, countering the iron-fisted culture of 'work' by way of exiting into ethics, grasped in terms of happiness, relates to the term 'ethos' which, in turn, Agamben, bringing into play the philologist Bréal, stresses, is made up of the pronominal reflexive root e and the suffix thos and, therefore, "means simply and literally 'selfhood'" (2015b, p. 247). By implication, from an etymological point of view, exiting into ethics implies entering a "mode in which each one enters into contact with oneself" (ibid.). And, into the bargain, it comprises entering our proper dwelling inasmuch as, Painter-Morland and Ten Bos suggest, in ancient Greece, "ethos' meant 'home' or 'dwelling place'" (2011, p. 339). With this in view, given that Agamben, in the Italian version of the essay 'Walter Benjamin and the Demonic: Happiness and Historical Redemption', underlines that the 'mai stato è la patria, storica e integralmente attuale, dell'umanità', that the never happened, i.e. literally the 'never stanced', is the patria, historically and fully actually, of humanity, our entering into contact with ourselves, i.e. our entering 'home', coincides with what Bay calls "the uprooting of every stance" (1998, p. 23). In short, it coincides with the deactivation of any juridical apparatus. Or, in other words, exiting into ethics, as Jones et al.'s reflections clarify – with ethics, since the days of ancient Greece, concerned with "the good life" (2005, p. 2) - implies entering "a relationship with other people and with difference more generally" (p. 6). Needless to say, that means that the happiness at stake in (exiting into) ethics remains entirely incommensurate with what Cederström rolls out as the 'happiness fantasy', a stealthy dispositif that supposes and propagates that "happiness comes only to those who work hard, have the right attitude, and struggle for selfimprovement" (2018, p. 17) - a treacherous biopolitical apparatus that maintains that we "find happiness through work and being productive" (ibid.) and impels us to "curate our market value, [to] manage ourselves as corporations, and live according to an entrepreneurial ethos" (ibid.). After all, for Agamben and this thesis, "happiness (Glück) and redemption (Erlösung) are inseparable" (1999b, p. 139), with happiness premised on (an) ethics (of inoperativity), on the neutralisation of the Law.

Now, ethically keyed to happiness, this chapter is wholly concerned with delineating organisation in terms of a pure violence springing from, and testifying to, the justice of inoperative author- or, if you will, leadership (*archigía*). Overtly, disposed in this non-violently violent way, this chapter outlines, and merges into, a language that,

echoing Agamben, by dint of its very turning into a 'pure violence' – by dint of its very turning into a non-violent violence outside the brute, violent violence of the 'Law' - "leaves off giving orders" (2019a, p. 55). And, let there be no mistake, this leaving-off comprises also spiteful zero-degree orders. Vitally, put with Agamben, as for the author- or leadership at stake, the " $arch\bar{e}$  [...] [here brought] to light is not homogenous to the presuppositions that it has neutralized" (2015b, p. xiii). Rather, regarding these presuppositions, the *archē*, here appraised as authority or leader, "is given entirely and only in their collapse" (ibid.), so that, as for the archē, "[i]ts work is their inoperativity" (ibid.). It is in this sense only, in the sense of an inoperative, neutralising archē, that, turning to a line coined by Rhodes, "leadership is the practice of justice" (2012, p. 1311). Obviously, this means that this chapter sides with Rhodes, at any rate insofar as he both laments that, in prevalent management research, "justice is just a means to [...] organizationally sanctioned end[s]" (p. 1326), ends oftentimes "understood in terms of calculable financial success in a competitive market place" (p. 1315), and points up that "true justice must arise from ethics" (p. 1325). That is, justice must arise from our being inoperative. It must arise from uprooting every stance, exposing the arch $\bar{e}$  of organisation as joyously anarchic.

Importantly, our messianic neutralisation of His, of our supposed Author/Leader (Árkhōn), becomes possible only in the moment that we grasp and undo the virtual state of exception underlying the law's normal functioning and, in this vein, open up what Agamben refers to as "a community without presuppositions" (1993c, p. 65). It becomes possible only through our opening up a community of joyously inoperative singularities, such as, for example, Kafka's Josephine, i.e. the singer of the mouse people, the great swimmer in Kafka's eponymous short text and, of course, Odradek; Kafka's Josephine is a figure of pure singularity. That means, as Richter and Donat's review of Raunig's Kafka-influenced book Factories of Knowledge, Industries of Creativity evinces, "Josephine is [...] a singularity that can only emerge in the 'multitude'" (2015, p. 308), where, with Agamben, "multitude [marks] [...] a figure [...] of a working that in every act realizes its own shabbat" (2007b, p. 10), a working that "in every work is capable of exposing its own inactivity and its own potentiality" (ibid.). Likewise, the great swimmer, who set a world record even though he cannot swim at all, Agamben hints, is paradigmatic, insofar as he "swims his inability to swim" (2019a, p. 22). Truly, this swimmer indwells "the potential-not-to, [which] by suspending the passage to the act, render[s] potential inoperative and expose[s] it as such" (p. 23). Finally, Odradek - as a being without address, goal or site - is a creature that emerges in the moment that "poetry becomes the laboratory in which all known figures are undone" (1999d, p. 91).

Obviously then, the idea of community endorsed by, and reflected in, *this* book differs from Parker et al.'s surprising cogitations regarding community. Since, for Parker et al., community, supposedly like all forms of organisation, has inexorable
"rules, otherwise [...] [it] would have no division of labour, no boundaries, and no conception of belonging" (2007, p. 59), with Parker et al. remaining stuck in the *oikonomically* underpinned semantics of 'membership work'. Signally, failing to grasp organisers as inoperative, as human beings who belong based on what, with Agamben, can be called their "being-*thus*" (1993c, p. 2), Parker et al. lose out on exiting into ethics, understood in terms of happiness. They lose out on exiting into the justice marking the common use of bodies, entirely failing to escape their own foundations and understandings. Thus, Parker et al. miss out on organisational life that, in Deleuze and Guattari's words, "escapes signification" (1986, p. 6).

Or, put yet another way, partly animated by Calás and Smircich's curious reflections on the historical conditions that have sustained the organisational leadership literature as a 'seductive game' - in particular by their mulling over "what other seductions may be possible, and with what consequences" (1991, p. 572) - this chapter, in alluding to what ultimately comes down to the Latin rendering of an $arkhi\bar{a}$ , invites you – dear reader – to be seduced by se-duction. Appreciably, following Calás and Smircich's lead, inasmuch as these authoresses call attention to and – duly – hope to unsettle "the basic power relations [...] on which 'leadership' has been constituted and re-constituted" (p. 569), this chapter invites you to think of organisational leadership in terms of a *real* exception to the law. It invites you to think of organisational leadership in terms of the real state of exception and, thereby, to undo the limiting structures of time and space rightly and vehemently deplored by Benjamin. Accordingly, inspired by organisation scholarship that stresses, and attends to, sacralisation, i.e. the removal from free, common use, that underlies traditional organisational leader- and entrepreneurship (e.g. Sørensen 2008; Sørensen and Spoelstra 2013; Wray-Bliss 2019) – above all by Śliwa et al.'s work, inasmuch as it "highlights the need for organization scholars to profane the sacralizations embedded in leadership thinking" (2013, p. 860) - this chapter opens up, and becomes tantamount to, organisation in terms of secession (se) from sacred leading (*ductus*). Correspondingly, eving, as far as organisers are concerned, justice, this chapter, relying on 'pure means', i.e. on language wrested from an oppressive, transcendently anchored Law, points towards, and passes over into, the pure possibility opened up by an-arkhiā/se-duction - opened up by inoperativity. And, vitally, in pointing towards and passing over into (the profanity of) inoperativity, this chapter reflects Kafka's aforementioned proclivity for escape/flight, where, as specified by Deleuze and Guattari, Kafka, as an author, "didn't 'flee the world" (1986, p. 45). Rather, "it was the world and its representation that he made take flight" (ibid.).

Importantly, sensitised to the exigency of profaning, in particular to the exigency of profaning stubborn sacralisations underpinning most leadership (theory), *this* thesis hopes to give a new, decisive twist to Grint's elaborations on the sacred nature of leadership. For, while Grint, who emphasises that "the sacred nature of leadership [...] allows leadership to work" (2010, p. 89), urges organisers to "find ways of

engaging with, rather than seeking to avoid, the sacred nature of leadership" (ibid.), this thesis picks up on Grint's request, yet, in so doing, rather than proposing engagements that merely preserve or reshuffle sacralisations, suggests engagements that open up leadership to a new possible 'use' of the sacred. That is, put with Agamben, it, this thesis, opens up leadership to a "use to which the sacred is returned" (2007a, p. 76) and, thereby, harkening back to profanation, engages with, rather than avoids, the sacred. To be sure, in this context, following Agamben, "[s]acred or religious [...] [are] the things that in some way belong to the gods" (2007a, p. 73), things that are "removed from the free use [...] of men" (ibid.); and "use is always a relationship with something that cannot be appropriated" (2007a, p. 83), thus referring to "things insofar as they cannot become objects of possession" (ibid.). Returning to Benjamin's reflections, that means that here an attempt is made to think of leadership as untethered from the, by necessity, unjust possessive character organisers, as supposedly transcendently bound, transient beings tend to be reduced to. An attempt is made to think of leadership in terms of a collapse of presuppositions.

In this spirit, thinking of organisation as *an-archic/se-ductive* becomes *possible* only once we refrain from, put based on Gabriel's account of traditional leadership, presupposing an excepted or 'exclusively included' (state of) "power vacuum" (2008a, p. 113) that, according to diehard mythologems, would normally have us "yearn for a strong leader, 'a strong man', who will restore order, purpose, and direction" (ibid.); bizarrely, in a piece on Kafka and the COVID-19 epidemic, Gabriel himself remains caught in, and abets, traditional leadership mythologems, which, sadly, keeps Gabriel from - in, with Kafka, escaping signification - exiting into ethics, grasped in terms of happiness. Markedly, Gabriel fails to appreciate to, again, draw upon Rhodes's formulation - that 'leadership is the practice of justice', with justice, within this thesis, appraised as arising from ethics, from, as far as organisational language is concerned, a presuppositionless uprooting of every stance. Specifically, while, as Agamben shows, Kafka's parable The Silence of the Sirens turns on our "encounter with language, with our own intimate siren" (2019b, p. 1054), an encounter in which Ulysses – neither caught by the sirens' song (by the law's normal functioning) nor by their silence (by the zero-degree signification of the virtual state of exception) – "did not hear their silence" (Kafka 1971, p. 918) and, consequently, "escaped them" (ibid.), Gabriel sees in Kafka's parable the promise of "new forms of leadership and followership that highlight civic responsibility and solidarity" (2020, p. 329). Bluntly, Gabriel, and this despite rightly highlighting that "Kafka's story acknowledges neither followers nor leader" (p. 325), succumbs to his own siren as he overlooks the *possibility* that the *arch* $\bar{e}$  is an-archic.

Palpably, organisation, as the realm of the *an-archic/se-ductive*, becomes *possible* only once we refrain from imprisoning organisational life within the bipolarity of what Agamben refers to as the "anarchic-governmental" (2011d, p. 65) – within

oikonomia; here, the notion 'anarchic(ally archic)' refers to the mute zero-degree signification underlying the *virtual* state of exception. Vitally, it, the anarchic(ally archic), refers to an exception of the law rather than to an exception to the law. For this reason, the 'anarchic(ally archic)' differs from recent elaborations on, and celebrations of, anarchism in the field of management (theory) (e.g. Parker et al. 2020; Swann and Ghelfi 2019), which, by and large, belong to the category of the 'governmental'. For, rather than directly referring to life submitted to a floating signifier and, in so doing, to the *virtual* state of exception, these elaborations and celebrations submit organisational life to actual, imposed semantic content and, therefore – whilst still relying upon life's submission to a floating signifier – remain trapped in, and reproduce, the bipolarity of the anarchic-governmental machine. They remain trapped in, and reproduce, an apparatus that keeps organising animals from exiting into happy life, into ethics. With this in view, it is unsurprising that Kafka – Deleuze and Guattari's reflections reveal – disapproved of anarchist movements, rightly fearing that "[b]ehind them already are [...] the modern satraps [Old Median for 'kingdom-protectors'] for whom they are preparing the way to power" (1986, p. 58).

More concretely, the unstinting neutralisation of a ruthless, axiomatically unjust biopolitics becomes *possible* only once we see ourselves in terms of the inactive servant in Kafka's short text *The Test*, in terms of an inactive human being that, in defiance of traditional organisation scholars' 'observations' of persistent interpellation (e.g. Huber 2019; Hultin and Introna 2019; Mirchandani 2015), as Kafka underlines, simply is "not called upon to serve" (1971, p. 938). That is, we, as organisers, become purely *possible* only once we, following the (*an-archic/se-ductive*) lead of the apostle Paul, indwell what Agamben calls "the messianic calling" (2005b, p. 14), which, as shown, involves the revocation of every vocation. All in all, taking its cue from Agamben, this chapter is, then, in the midst of charting the contours of organisation as the realm of language's (messianic) liberation from its *reduction* and subjugation to the *operations* of the 'Law', calling (without *actually* and, hence, with Kafka and Agamben, *an-archically* or messianically calling) – with its connected plea for justice – "not [for] the erasure of law, but [for] its deactivation and inactivity [*inoperosità*]" (Agamben 2005a, p. 64).<sup>79</sup>

Differently put, firmly intent upon justice, this chapter calls here (without actually and, thus, *an-archically* or messianically calling) for an appreciation of organisation along the lines of what Agamben 'terms' "destituent power (potenza destituente)" (2014d, p. 65). Singularly, in an *in-fantile*, messianic sense, it calls for unreserved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Contrary to Huber, who posits that "Kafka's writing offers a perspective on situations in which the call from power is incomprehensible—where we are subject to power but do not fully understand what power wants from us, yet still try to turn ourselves into its subjects" (2019, p. 1824), *this* book, following Hamacher, grasps Kafka, then, as showing "a world without call" (2020, p. 129) – an "an-archic world, before the beginning of the world of the call" (p. 141), where "there is no work" (Kafka 1971, p. 938).

deposition. As such, countering what Munro characterises as "a near vacuum over justice of the field marked off as organisation theory" (2004, p. 55) – a near vacuum that, oddly enough, is no less pronounced in circles that identify themselves as representing the critical camp and regularly overlook that "justice doesn't let itself be represented" (1986, p. 50) – it is concerned with charting the contours of organisation as the realm of post-juridical/-legal justice. And, here, in line with Benjamin's musings, which, as already shown, define justice as the condition of a good that cannot be possessed, "[j]ustice", following Agamben, "[...] [refers] to a state of the world as inappropriable" (2015b, p. 91).

Using Munro's words, whilst, based on "the institutions of the law, the market and the audit" (2004, p. 52), many things may, in management research, be done "in the name of justice" (ibid.), on the whole "justice is organised out" (p. 56). Hence, rather than bringing about justice, due to an unthinking reliance on such dispositifs, Munro suggests, "the opposite is the case" (2004, p. 52). As noted, this, Munro hints, applies even to people placed and placing themselves as members of the critical camp. For, whilst they "have much to say about 'injustice" (p. 56), they "have less to say than might be expected about justice" (ibid.). More often than not, they have little to say about 'possessionlessness'. Accordingly, taking up a central, if sketchily developed line from Munro's text, few people grasp that "[i]ustice takes place in the time of the stop" (p. 53), with the stop taken to refer to the in-fantile 'silence' flowing from pulling the word out of the flux of meaning. Thus, people occupying positions in management research tend to be busy "deferring on calls for justice and so prevent the 'stop'" (p. 66). Obviously, this is also true for a couple of scholarly interventions that, inspired by Derrida's reading of Walter Benjamin's 'Critique of Violence', thematise organisational justice in relation to the operations of the Law; Andreas Rasche, for instance, propounding that "law and justice are different" (2011b, p. 275), so that "justice [...] cannot be reduced to some sort of programmed law" (ibid.), only "highlights the need to question 'easy' solutions regarding organizational justice" (ibid.). In other words, while acknowledging that - in the context of the Law, which, in turn, is left operative - "real/true/genuine/authentic justice remains impossible" (ibid.), for Rasche, the key takeaway of musings upon justice turns on "questioning the desire of standards to pre-regulate justice in a universal way" (p. 276). No doubt, "more than 'blindly' following rules and procedures" (2010, p. 283), such reflections - instead of paving the way for an appreciation of a 'violence outside the law', of language itself - merely involve counteracting the "disregard [of] the contextual nature of justice" (ibid.).<sup>80</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> To keep things short, Derrida's take on justice reflects deconstruction, to the extent that, for him, "[d]econstruction is justice" (2018, p. 243). Unsurprisingly, for Derrida, "[1]aw is not justice. Law is the element of calculation, and it is just that there be law, but justice is incalculable; and aporetic experiences are the experiences, as improbable as they are necessary, of justice, that is to say of moments in which the decision between just and unjust is never insured by a rule" (p. 244).

Similarly, Richard Weiskopf – in an equally Derrida-inspired book chapter – fails to call a 'stop'. He, too, fails to call a 'messianic halt'. Thus, while noting that "justice belongs to the open, which, as such, cannot be named, constated and represented" (2004, p. 214), Weiskopf, partly mirroring Rasche's propositions, points to a "disjunction between general and codified rules and the singularity of the other" (p. 212), so that the "just decision [...] is located in the aporetic space between the (general) law and the singularity of the other" (ibid.). Plainly, falling short of unbinding justice from the operations of the 'Law' by way of deposition, for Weiskopf, justice - reduced to a constant, insoluble ordeal of legal decisionmaking – "is not a moment of security and certainty" (ibid.), but is rather "full of anxiety going beyond rational calculation" (ibid.), with Rasche and Weiskopf partaking in turning judgement on language into judgement in language. Indeed, Rasche and Weiskopf reduce the *novissima dies* of judgement to a *krisis*, split from its 'decisive day'. Put simply, both Rasche and Weiskopf fail to free organisation from the shackles of the Law. Notably, Rasche and Weiskopf fail to see that, with Deleuze and Guattari, "the judge himself is completely shaped by desire" (1986, p. 51), with desire, Agamben's essay 'Desiring' helps clarify, relying upon, and revolving around, "the pure word" (2007a, p. 54), an entirely inoperative word, opening up "the beatitude of paradise" (ibid.).<sup>81</sup>

In so doing, geared to profanation, to, literally, an experience of prepositionality that, Murtola intimates, boils down to the "suspension of the actual" (2010, p. 49), this chapter mobilises what, drawing on Benjamin's essay 'Critique of Violence', can be called a "politics of pure means" (1996a, p. 245). That means that, squaring with the above reflections on *an-arkhiā/se-duction*, this chapter is in the midst of bearing witness to an experience of organisation as fully merging into purely mediate, *a-nomic* justice. Importantly, in contrast to what Agamben refers to as Schmitt's attempts "to inscribe anomie within the very body of the *nomos*" (2005a, p. 54), i.e. in contrast to this jurist's attempts "to anomie through the state of exception" (p. 59), *this* book, hoping to avoid "lead[ing] such a violence back to a juridical context" (p. 54), 'bears witness' to a "pure anomic violence" (ibid.). It 'bears witness' to *anomie as such*. That means, intent on post-*juridical/-legal* justice

Or, put yet another way, justice, with Derrida, is but an oscillation between signifier and signified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Obviously, this desire of the pure word differs from Cooper's work, where "[d]esire [...] embraces both generation and decline in its unrelenting quest for expression" (2001b, p. 30), so that "[d]esire in its wider sense is the desire for freedom and openness [...] that goes beyond the specific and local; it desires dispersion, looseness, even loss" (p. 27). That is, in Cooper such desire remains simply opposed to fixed signifieds, failing to neutralise signifiers as well. Consequently, Cooper remains stuck in criticising common-sense desire, where "[c]ommon-sense desire is thus the desire of a self-contained, self-directing human agent that seeks always to augment its sense of individual self" (ibid.). Indeed, for Cooper, "[c]ommon-sense desire already knows what it wants and its knowledge is therefore always conscious of some identifiable object that it lacks; it seeks to satisfy a known lack or need in order to make itself whole again" (ibid.).

and, in that manner, on an experience of language *itself*, it hopes to bear witness to an *anomie* that "has shed [*deposto*] every relation to law" (Agamben 2005a, p. 59).

No doubt, it testifies to an "anomy [...] [that] becomes accessible only through the exhibition and the deposition of the anomy that law has captured within itself in the state of exception" (2014d, p. 72). For, to recover "anomy [...] it is necessary [...] first to release oneself from the form that [...] [it has] received in the exception" (p. 73). In consequence, differing from traditional representations of anomie in the field of organisation scholarship (e.g. Cohen 1993; Hodson 1999; Johnson and Duberley 2011), in which - following Durkheim, who, as Agamben hints, consistently supposes "a need of human beings to be regulated" (2005a, p. 67) – "[t]he normative element needs the anomic element in order to be applied to it" (p. 86), in *this* book, *a-nomie* turns on the idea of "justice [...] as a state of the world in which the world appears as a good that cannot be appropriated or made juridical" (p. 64). Patently, such recovered *a-nomie* is at odds with Rasche's, at bottom, Schmittian appreciation of the anomie underlying the 'zero degree of organisation' as the "[d]isorder and chaos [that] do not destabilize organizations but enable them to be formed in the first place" (2011, p. 260). For true *a-nomie* is "the idea of language" (Agamben 1995, p. 113), "the becoming visible of the word" (ibid). In other words, with Agamben, this chapter contemplates organisation based upon "a violence that deliberately refrains from enforcing law, and instead breaks apart the continuity of time to found a new era" (Agamben 2009a, p. 107). After all, differing from a Durkheimian take on organisation - a take that, for Dobbin, rests both upon the supposition "that humans are driven to understand the world through collective classification and meaning-making" (2009, p. 202) and, concurrently, upon the view that there is "an ideal level of normative control" (p. 203), beyond the 'too oppressive' and the 'too lax' – justice, this books suggests, resides in organisers' indwelling of *u-topia*.

Put a little differently, relying on means that do not serve as means to ends outside the sphere of pure mediality and, in accordance with this, Agamben shows, transport their "object not toward another thing or another place, but toward its own takingplace" (1993c, p. 2), this chapter mobilises, and completely rests on, neutralisation of *legal imposition* and, in this way precisely, helps manifest justice. All in all, that means that *this* book aims to unleash organisation as the freedom from obstinate ideological ends, including, and this is crucial, systems theoretical autopoiesis, which, insofar as it follows Luhmann's influential *Organization and Decision*, mistakenly claims to do away with ideology. Since, and this should be clear by now, mobilising post-ideological pure means, this thesis argues, entails appreciating organisation, with Agamben, as a "gate to justice" (2007a, p. 76). Here, Agamben shows, "the violence that was only a means for the creation or conservation of law become[s] capable of deposing it to the extent that it exposes and renders inoperative its relation to [...] purposiveness" (2018a, p. 82). Whilst Luhmann's organisation theory, in hoping to unveil organisation's "intrinsic logic" (2018b, p. vii), opposes "subjection to [...] liberal or socialist ideologies" (ibid.), like these very normative programmes, his organisation theory remains trapped in a binary, oppositional logic, reducing – as a perusal of Luhmann's essay 'Organisation' highlights – organisation to a system that consists of decisions and that produces the decisions of which it consists through the decisions of which it consists. In other words, with organisation conceived as a distinction-generating and -processing operation, an operation that, as Seidl and Mormann's remarks on Luhmann's habilitation thesis illustrate, hinges upon deciding on "who belongs [... 1 and who does not" (2014, p. 130) and, linked thereto, on "what kind of behaviour is allowed and what is not" (ibid.), Luhmann still installs organisation as a *dispositif*. That is, he fails to, with Kafka, as Deleuze and Guattari or Agamben read him, escape signification, to exit into happiness. For this reason - as Andersen's elaborations imply - for Luhmann, organisation emerges as constitutively marked by conceptual oppositions, such as "man/woman" (2011, p. 254), with organisational inquiry meant, for instance, to only show how the meaning condensed into the counter-concept of 'woman' sets up restrictions for the meaning of 'man' or – and this still reproduces a binary, (op)positional logic – how, through re-entry of a basic 'us/them' opposition within itself, "somebody among 'us' may act like 'them'" (p. 259). As such, organisation, once construed in terms of Luhmannian systems theoretical autopoiesis, does rule out an appreciation of pure singularity – of a 'third' irreducible to any dichotomies' two terms.

Doubtlessly, Luhmann's approach to organisation rules out an appreciation of organisation as the realm of pure means. It does rule out appreciating *organisation* as "the gate to use" (Agamben 2007a, p. 76). Sadly, this must also be said about Luhmann's expressly justice-related work, which, in the field of organisation theory, has only been hesitantly/cursorily applied (e.g. Liebig 1997); put simply, opposing any conceptualisation of justice based on natural law and, thus, for instance, based on a virtue or a fixed norm informing legal decision-making, for Luhmann, justice, as a 'contingency formula', suggesting that things could always be otherwise, appears merely as "a scheme for the search for reasons and values, which can become legally valid only in the form of programmes" (2004, p. 218), i.e. in the form of principally alterable legal norms and laws based upon which an unambiguous enforcement of a lawful/unlawful binary takes place. Thus, as Philippopoulos-Mihalopoulos explains, for Luhmann, justice is an Überbegriff, "a reference above all reference and referencing within the system" (2010, p. 91), which, yet, to begin with, "sets normativity in motion" (ibid.), whilst, itself, being what Zartaloudis calls a "juridical non-norm" (2017, p. 203). Consequently, Zartaloudis goes on, for Luhmann, "[i]ustice, no longer an *index sui*, is replaced by a contingency formula that is [operative], but that [simultaneously] remains

inaccessible to itself as to its content" (p. 204), with Luhmann, echoing Rasche and Weiskopf, failing to be open to a "non-juridical idea of justice" (p. 215).<sup>82</sup>

In this view, contrasting with much extant organisational justice literature (e.g. Cole et al. 2010; Folger and Cropanzano 1998; Fortin 2008; Jepsen and Rodwell 2012), a literature whose approach to justice. Rhodes suggests, is one of "me first" (2011, p. 145) and, with that said, tends to be marked by an "obsession with individualised perceptions" (ibid.), this chapter points to pure mediacy. Concretely, as far as the extant organisational justice literature is concerned, Rhodes points to a tendency to exclusively focus on people's desire "not to be treated unfairly by others" (2011, p. 142), a tendency which, more often than not and this dangerously, takes place at the expense of a focus on people's desire "to treat others justly" (ibid.). In other words, in this literature, the self, Rhodes stresses, is not involved in a reflection of its own treatment of others, but is solely concerned with how it is treated by Others, with justice often simply positioned as a 'lubricant' that inter alia, if all goes to management's plan, "promotes the acceptance of organizational change" (p. 145) and that "reinforces the sense of trustworthiness in people in positions of authority" (ibid.). As a result, these texts, Rhodes underlines, fail to approach otherness "in terms of 'face'" (p. 150), with the face, Agamben's essay 'The Face' suggests, marking "the irreparable being-exposed of humans and the very opening in which they hide and stay hidden" (2000, p. 91). As such, it, otherness in terms of face, remains irreducible to Böhm's quest for "different, repositioned organisational futures" (2006, p. 18) – irreducible to his insistence on the futuristic production of "subjectivities in a specific social formation of time and space" (p. 3). For, and this has been underscored before, whatever is limited by structures of time and space has a possessive character, with there being, Benjamin emphasises, "no system of possession, regardless of its type, that leads to justice" (2003, p. 166). In lieu, justice lies in the condition of a world that can in no way be appropriated, coinciding with an opening towards the "deactivation of the law" (2005b, p. 98), so that, echoing Deleuze and Guattari, "where one believed there was law, there is in fact desire and desire alone" (1986, p. 49). Since "[j]ustice is desire and not law" (ibid.).

Focused on helping to liberate the 'coming', this chapter testifies, then, to a politics and its associated violence – a paradoxical non-violent violence that Benjamin refers to as pure or divine violence – which, in contrast to traditional politics, which, in turn, exclusively rests on a violence that founds or conserves the law (*Ge-setz*), aids manifest justice. And, notably, it aids manifest justice solely by being entirely untainted by the programming and preserving of certain (bio)political ends. It – this chapter – aids manifest justice by (being) part and parcel of what Agamben calls a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Similar to Derrida, justice, in Luhmann, is, then, an oscillation between signifier and signified – an oscillation Luhmann himself referred to as 'de-paradoxification' (see Seidl 2006). Also, while Cooper, to my knowledge, never specifically grappled with justice, his implicit theory of justice turns, too, on an oscillation between signifier and signified, absence and presence, illegibility and legibility.

"pure language" (2005a, p. 62), which, vitally, lies "beyond operativity and command" (2013a, p. 129), including zero-degree signification. On that basis, being itself purely mediate, this chapter supports and reflects an organisational politics that - with Agamben - realises that "law is not directed toward the establishment of justice" (1999c, p. 18). For law in its canonical, operative form is solely directed to - using an important line Whyte mints to stress the blurring of both a) linguistic and legal sentences (Sätze and Verurteilungen) and, intricately linked thereto, b) legal sentences and punishment (Verurteilungen and Strafe) in Agamben's reflections on Kafka's In the Penal Colony - "the work of sentencing" (2008, p. 66). Or, otherwise put, traditionally, Agamben hints while drawing upon Bachmann's novel Malina, "language is the punishment" (1995, p. 105). And arguably, it is due to such Kafkan language-based, penal 'sentencing work', due to penal 'Sätzung', that Benjamin, Agamben underlines, seeks to spell out "the possibility of a violence [...] that lies absolutely 'outside' (außerhalb) and 'beyond' (jenseits) the law" (2005a, p. 53). Indeed, Benjamin spells out the possibility of a "violence as 'pure medium" (Agamben 2005a, p. 62).<sup>83</sup>

With this in view, it is vital to point out that Agamben, following Benjamin, finds Kafka's allegories to contain a "possibility of an about-face that completely upsets their meaning" (1998, p. 38). More concretely – chiming with a small group of scholars, such as, for instance, Camus, Snoek, Deleuze and Guattari, Rehberg and Hamacher, who all show that Kafka not only thoroughly describes the nightmarish torment in which we presently live, but also shows a way out - Agamben's perusal of Kafka's literary work 'gestures', and this time and again, to a redemptive kernel. This being so, Agamben's perusal of Kafka's literary work resonates particularly with Camus's essay 'Hope and the Absurd in the Work of Franz Kafka', an essay in which Camus argues that "[t]he whole art of Kafka consists of forcing the reader to re-read" (1979, p. 112). Moreover, like Agamben, Camus emphasises that, as for the hu-man condition, there (is) a "hope that allows an escape from that condition" (p. 121). After all, for Camus, "when the creation ceases to be taken tragically, [...] man is concerned with hope" (p. 124). All in all, that means, countering the spectacle constituting our present, Agamben's perusal of Kafka's work points to the possibility of messianic 'inversion'. In other words, his perusal of Kafka's work points to the *possibility* of what Benjamin, in a letter to Scholem - a letter revolving around Benjamin's and Scholem's diverging readings of Kafka's evocative parables - refers to as Umkehr, which, in turn, for Benjamin, encapsulates the direction of 'study'.

Naturally, intent upon the *possibility* of messianic *Umkehr* (inversion) and, related thereto, on a politics of pure means, Agamben takes issue with readings of Kafka's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Put with Fusco, "[d]ivine violence—in doing violence to the mythical violence of law—is capable of deposing the law, while remaining essentially alien to the actualisation and formalisation into constituted power" (2022, p. 60).

works that, reproductively, see in them "only a summation of the anguish of a guilty man before the inscrutable power of a God become estranged and remote" (1995, p. 85). More broadly, he takes issue with readings of Kafka's work that fail to notice its calling a 'stop' - its calling a messianic halt. Arguably then, Agamben would also reject Savers's interpretation of Kafka's A Report to an Academy. Since, here, Sayers takes A Report to an Academy to provide "avenues for theory to respond to and incorporate nonhuman Others" (2016, p. 371), in order to help address the fact that "[n]onhuman animals are marginalised subjects in organisational theory" (ibid) and to "destabilise the process of forgetting which is essential to sealing and forgetting humanities' animal origins" (p. 378). Instead of inviting an incorporation of non-human others into the discourse that presently constitute organisational theory, the short story may, rather, be taken to pivot on the *possibility* of authorial escape. After all, as Red Peter, a former ape, underlines, "I had no way out [Ausweg] but I had to devise one, for without it I could not live" (Kafka 1971, p. 553); "I had to stop being an ape" (ibid.). Indeed, "freedom [Freiheit]", Red Peter reports, "was not what I wanted. Only a way out [Ausweg]" (p. 554). For, sooner or later, he admits, "I should have been caught again and put in a worse cage" (p. 556), which is why he began "to imitate [...] people" (p. 558); "I imitated them because I needed a way out, and for no other reason" (p. 562). That means that neither animal freedom (freedom from language) nor human freedom (freedom through biopolitically bound language) is feasible. But language may be rendered inoperative and, in this way, escaped.

In this vein, instead of, helter-skelter, equating Kafka's In the Penal Colony with a tragic story of *imprisonment* in presuppositional language, this chapter finds In the Penal Colony to - in the last analysis - point to the 'comic', which Agamben, when musing on Pulcinella, a classical commedia dell'arte character, refers to as the "impossibility of saying exposed as such in language" (2018b, p. 65) and, related therewith, as the "impossibility of acting exposed in a gesture" (ibid.). Differently put, this chapter finds In the Penal Colonv to centre on the 'comic', insofar as the precept 'Be just!', which the colony's officer inserts into the sentencing machine, marks a cleverly thought-out strategy to deactivate the machine, with language "ceasing to perform its penal function" (1995, p. 117) and the machine "shattering into pieces" (ibid.). For, in a nutshell, as Salzani glosses - with Agamben's reading of Kafka's In the Penal Colony - the "justice of language is [...] revealed as the breakdown of its connection to judgement and thus to signification" (2017a, p. 334), including zero-degree signification. Without question, justice – the short story can be taken to imply – resides in language's being *de-position*, in our turning into pure means.

With Kafka's literary work, lately, making increasing inroads into the field of organisation theory (e.g. Caygill 2019; Czarniawska 2019; Beyes 2019; Hodson et al. 2013a; Jørgensen 2012; Keenoy and Seijo 2010; Kornberger et al. 2006; McCabe 2015; Ossewaarde 2019; Rhodes and Westwood 2016; Ten Bos 2000 and Warner

2007), it comes as no surprise that, in this connection, even In the Penal Colony has attracted much attention, usually seen as an expedient source to help illustrate and unravel complex organisational phenomena. However, more often than not, mobilising this text has involved a perpetuation of the virtual state of exception, with, for instance, Huber and Munro's article on moral distance in organisations being symptomatic of a wider, reproductive tendency. Doubtless, it is symptomatic of a stubborn tendency that revolves around holding on to language's presupposition of the non-linguistic as that with which it - language - must maintain itself in a virtual relation so that it - later - may denote it in actual speech. After all, in lamenting that, in In the Penal Colony, principles overrule compassion, Huber and Munro – instead of releasing the imprisoned person – still tinker with 'bare life' – with life that, through "inclusive exclusion" (Agamben 1998, p. 12), is captured (by language as the sovereign), by what Kafka terms 'the Commandant', without yet being subjected to what Whyte, as stressed, refers to as 'the work of sentencing'. Tragically, holding onto life's 'inclusive exclusion' in the form of a prisoner (to be 'sentenced'), Huber and Munro, in a higgledy-piggledy interpretation that still presupposes guilt warranting imprisonment, merely complain about the fact that "no reform of the prisoner is intended" (2014, p. 265) and that "the prisoner cannot learn from his mistakes" (ibid.).

Consequently, as Rhodes and Kornberger's comparison between a) traditional organisation theory and b) imposing, signifying language - the awful 'machine of torture' inter alia containing an Inscriber and a Harrow described in In the Penal Colony - suggests, rather than manifesting justice, the 'Law', if applied, turns on the "inscription of order [...] on the body, into the body" (2009, p. 103). In other words, rather than being directed towards justice, towards organisational language's taking place as such, towards its pure possibility and, eventually, our moving past language's presuppositional structure, our moving into u-topia, the Law's being operative turns on what, with Höpfl, can be called "literal dermatography" (2003b, p. 75). Since it has 'order', including zero-degree 'order', inscribed all over and in our bodies. Therefore, the 'Law', this book argues, is in no way a necessary condition of organisational justice. Instead, to use a central Pauline passage, it is that which must be realised and fulfilled in the passage to justice. For, as Agamben shows when expanding on the characteristically Pauline line 'justice without law' (dikaiosynē chōris nomou), "[j]ustice without law is not the negation of the law, but the realisation and fulfillment, the *plērōma*, of the law" (2005b, p. 107), with the law's messianic *plērōma* – he adds – referring to "an absolutizing of *katargēsis*" (p. 108); it refers to the law's inoperativity...

# Final ideas: on Agamben and Cooper

"This zone of a-knowledge or infancy in which we hold ourselves in rapport with something without knowledge and command of it..." (Agamben 2023b, p. 181)

Caught your breath? Brilliant! Let's continue putting a spoke in biopolitics' wheel. In fact, let's, once more, compare Agamben and Cooper, so as to bring the *possibility* of turning the *virtual* exception into a *real* exception to the fore. Again, here, I refrain from, with Cooper, positing "[c]onsciousness [...] as a moving force that advances on the unconscious, from which it gets its motive and power" (2016e, p. 261). Instead, I call, it is no wonder, attention to a-knowledge. In this connection, a-knowledge is, in line with Agamben's elaborations, defined as a possibility of knowing that – completely irreducible to representational knowing (consciousness) and, implied therein, this knowing's virtual suspension/exception in the form of representational knowing's appropriated not-knowing (unconsciousness) – turns on maintaining oneself in 'contact' (contagio) with an inappropriable. Crucially, this *possibility* of knowing turns upon *il-legibility*, seen, with Agamben, as involving a life "freed from the bonds of the law" (2015a, p. 69). Obviously, holding on to aknowledge and, thus, a life freed from the bonds of the 'Law' includes, first and foremost, countering Cooper's reproductive belief that due to exposure to unconsciousness, "we and our systems [from sunistēmi, meaning 'to emplace'] are moved by forces we cannot fully grasp" (2005a, p. xii)...<sup>84</sup>

As this chapter's introductory quote is – root and branch – meant to underline, *this possibility* of knowing turns on a life that, *il-legibly* in rapport with something, remains without consciousness and command. Sharply contrasting with the neo-governmental biopolitics of Robert Cooper's dynamised *dialectic* between consciousness/presence/*legibility and* unconsciousness/absence/*illegibility, this possibility* turns on inoperativity. Since, echoing *this* book's core aim, *a-knowledge* resonates with turning an impasse into an exit. Reusing Agamben's apt words, it resonates with making the *virtual* exception *real*. For I strive to provide a 'way out'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Vitally, these 'forces' are but *legibility*'s *virtual* suspension in the form of (unprofaned) *illegibility*.

as far as *oikonomia* is concerned. I strive to render an impasse ('glass and frames') into an exit (garden).<sup>85</sup>

To bring the *possibility* of turning the *virtual* exception into a *real* exception to the fore, I, partly inspired by Sørensen's work, rely on juxtaposition... For him, the aim of juxtaposition "is to let the collision of the two items [juxtaposed] make the reader/viewer stand back and think anew" (2014b, p. 48). Put simply, juxtaposition places two items – in this case the *virtual* exception and the *real* exception – side by side so as to contrast, compare and accentuate similarities and differences. Hopefully, in the course of this, the stakes of turning an exception *of* the 'Law' into an exception *to* the 'Law' do become much clearer. As noted, all this takes place against the background of what Attell calls a "philosophical gigantomachy between Agamben and Derrida" (2015, p. 3). Perhaps, one could say that, in *my* book, this gigantomachy is – if at much lower wattage – translated into a dispute between my *a-knowledge*-based view on organisation and Cooper's social philosophy of organisation, with Cooper's work echoing assumptions more ubiquitous and diehard than citations suggest...

Proceeding in this manner does *not* mean that I consider Derrida and Cooper, as far as their work is concerned, to be two peas in a pod. *Nor* does it mean that I regard Derrida and Cooper to be the clear-cut intellectual wellsprings of neo-governmental biopolitics. Rather, I recognise their partly differing foci *and* view both scholars as intricately enmeshed in this ongoing socio-political and -economic development. In this light, to me, both scholars' work, reproductive of *oikonomia*, encapsulates and has helped paved the way for this development, a critical engagement with their respective, if connected, theoretical edifices being long overdue in the field of organisation studies. Zooming in on Cooper, I seek to help confront this lack of attention.

In this spirit, fleshing out the main features of *a-knowledge* by way of distinguishing it from Cooper's social philosophy of organisation and, more or less obliquely, from Derridean deconstruction, I call attention to the *possibility* of "*know*[*ing*] each other in the sense of knowing that there is nothing to be known about each other" (Prozorov 2014, p. 168). I call attention to the *possibility* of *a-létheia*. On that account, unlike Cooper, I call attention *not* to knowledge as this or that appropriating *legibility*, as this or that biopolitical-cum-*oikonomic* 'articulation' of the 'Law' regardless of how ephemeral and unstable its sense may be. Rather – clarified in some detail below – I call attention to the *idea* of knowledge and, by implication,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Here, neo-governmental thought is defined as a type of governance that, more or less explicitly, winds up incorporating 'rupture', 'uncertainty', 'disorganisation', 'non-sense' or 'noise' – in short, the *virtual* state of exception – as a central pillar of governance. Usually, this goes hand in hand with what Derrida, for Agamben a key proponent of such thought, calls a "waiting without horizon of expectation" (2006, p. 211; e.g. De Cock 2009; see Zartaloudis 2010 for a splendid critique).

the *idea* of law... At this juncture, suffice it to say that doing so means two tightly interconnected things. On the one hand, it means understanding organisers as what Agamben refers to as "prisoners of representation" (1995, p. 37). Doubtlessly, it means understanding organisers as overwhelmingly being subject to what, before, has been introduced as 'giant spectacles'. But, on the other hand, it also means pointing out a *possibility* for these 'prisoners' "to make their way out" (p. 99). In the teeth of biopolitics, it means testifying to an *hors d'œuvre*; quintessentially, considering the dogged identification of the 'work of man *qua* man' with 'life according to the *logos*', it means testifying to the *possibility* of remaining entirely outside (*hors*) of any *oikonomic* work (*œuvre*). It means turning the *virtual* exception that Cooper and many of his sources of inspiration – not least Derrida, Bataille or Luhmann – endorse, and fall victim to, into a *real/actual* state of exception. It means exiting meaning, including, it bears repeating, meaning's self-presupposition in non-meaning. At base, it means to *ex-pose*.

As a corollary thereof, boiling down to *il-legibility*, "the being-*such* of each thing is the idea" (Agamben 1993c, p. 101). Crucially, idea does not refer to an idealist conception of the law (or *legibility*). Nor, does it refer to some abstract, theoretical engagement with the question of the law (or *legibility*). Rather, as Zartaloudis, summing up Agamben's reflections on the term idea, stresses, idea refers to the "law's existence *as such*, the law in its profanity" (2010, p. 283). As for *nomos*, it refers to "the experience of its use(s)" (2020, p. xv), with 'use(s)', as noted, tied to *neg-ligence*. To put it bluntly, that means that – rather than pointing towards the *operation* of representation, to, in short, *oikonomia* – idea or, synonymous herewith, *a-knowledge* involves *inoperativity*. Idea involves the neutralisation of any sort of representation.<sup>86</sup>

In consequence, when writing about ideas, *this* book does *not*, for example, follow Vandenbosch et al.'s conceptualisation, which approaches ideas as "plan[s] formed by mental effort" (2006, p. 259), often, in the context of innovation research, defined as "plans to be implemented" (p. 260). And, likewise, within *this* book, idea also differs from Mueller and Whittle's kindred definition, which, in relation to lean production, total quality management or business process re-engineering, centres on the "imagined" (2011, p. 187), generally seen – Mueller and Whittle underline – to remain "meaningless without the work involved in translating the idea into practice"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Here, it is worth stressing that I concur with Zartaloudis's suggestion that "words do not have 'core' meanings, but rather uses" (2020, p. xxi). In *this* context, the initial sense expressed by the *némein* family, to which the term *nomos* belongs, may, Zartaloudis notes, be "the use (*chrēsis*) of a 'rule', rather than one of the 'application' of an external authority or principle or some kind of 'law''' (p. xxxviii). Hence, insofar as it is still possible to speak of 'rule' in this connection, "this rule [...] is not separable from the life to which it applies" (ibid.). Put differently, with 'use', there is no *virtual* exception and, thus, no *oikonomia*/biopolitics; there, is no longer a "production of bare life" (Agamben 1998, p. 181), of *illegibly* 'written', 'noisy' life. There is, instead, a 'way out' (see Agamben 2024b; Attell 2015; Fusco 2022; Richards 2019; Zartaloudis 2010, 2015, 2017).

(ibid.). As noted, *here*, idea alludes to the profanity or, tantamount hereto, deactivation of the 'Law,' with the subsequent juxtaposing micro-essays on, for instance, criticism, God, humanity and love – all in their specific ways – gesturing to the *possibility* of *a-knowledge*... Or – put with reference to Kafka's utterly 'playful' *Description of a Struggle* – idea and *a-knowledge no* longer involve a narrator who "leapt onto the shoulders of his acquaintance and, by digging his fists into the back of the acquaintance, urged him into a trot" (1971, p. 54). Rather, they involve a 'fall' *and* a 'riderless' horse, both of which, as highlighted above, remain 'without meaning (*ohne Bedeutung*)'.

## The idea of knowledge

To get straight to the nitty-gritty, for Cooper, knowledge is far from being an idea. Instead, knowledge springs from a "dialectic between primary and secondary thinking" (2016e, p. 253). In that context, 'primary thinking', he suggests, hinges on viewing the indeterminate, negative and irrational as necessarily immanent in human action, whilst 'secondary thinking', Cooper argues, is said to view the social and cultural world in determinate, positive and rational terms. Based upon this distinction, Cooper claims that "the primary-secondary dualism of the conscious-unconscious is a dynamic dialectic in which both terms actively create each other" (p. 260). This in turn forces us to grasp "knowledge as always incomplete and unfinished" (p. 261). Thus, "[k]nowledge of the world [...] appears less as secondary commodity or possession and more as a vehicle for moving about and exploring socio-cultural mindscapes" (ibid.). Indeed, "it is not the product that is significant but the *movement* of reproduction itself" (1998, p. 101). Significant is "not a state of being but an always ongoing [becoming] that never arrives anywhere, never completes itself" (p. 103).

In this vein, "[n]o longer a repository of incomprehensible, unwelcome or menacing spectra, the unconscious functions as a missing presence whose absence or lack continually provokes [us] to complete it" (Cooper 2016c, p. 286). Concerning organisation scholarship, this means that "the accumulation of knowledge is not its goal" (2001c, p. 325). Since "once it thinks it knows something, it turns this knowledge into yet another question" (ibid.). Linked thereto, Cooper argues that the dynamic dialectic between conscious and unconscious he promotes implies the view "that the world does not naturally offer itself to human comprehension, that it's intrinsically unreadable and that we have to convert its inarticulation into meaningful signs and symbols" (p. 322). By extension, "understanding' loses its sense of revealing a permanent truth that lies *under* and, instead, reveals a forever open-ended, ambivalent and shifting process that can't be known in any formal sense" (cited in Chia and Kallinikos 1998, p. 132). That is, for Cooper – falling,

slapdash, into his own biopolitical trap – understanding reveals "open and fluid fields of knowing" (p. 133).<sup>87</sup>

In contrast, Agamben's work implies that Cooper falls prey to, and reproduces, oikonomic conceptions, following which the "unknown is that which knowledge presupposes" (2011b, p. 114), so that "the unconscious is the darkness into which consciousness will have to carry its light" (ibid.). That means that Cooper, overlooking the *possibility* of the idea of knowledge, fails to maintain himself in 'contact' (contāgiō) with an inappropriable. Equating organisation and, in tandem herewith, the work of man qua man, with representation, he fails to know and understand what Agamben calls an "an opacity that resists every interpretation and hermeneutics" (2017c, p. 78). In conclusion, he does not *a-knowledge*, failing to grasp that, with the idea of knowledge, "there is nothing more to understand" (2023b11). There is but *il-legibility*. Or, put slightly differently, for Agamben "[t]o know [conoscere] means to be born [nascere] together, to be generated or regenerated by the thing known. This, and nothing but this, is the meaning of loving" (2024b, p. 8). Therefore, "it is best to expunge from the verb 'to know' all merely cognitive claims (cognitio in Latin is originally a legal term meaning the procedures for a judge's inquiry)" (ibid.).

### The idea of humanity

Intricately intertwined with questions regarding knowledge, a definition of the human being taking its cue from the dynamic conscious-unconscious dialectic touched on above looms large in Cooper's work. Needless to say, that means that – in Cooper's view – there is no idea of humanity, inasmuch as the idea of humanity revolves around human beings' *il-legibility*. Rather, in his social philosophy of organisation, the human remains *legible*, albeit in terms of "vague and hazy forms that will always remain vague and hazy" (Cooper 2016c, p. 288). That is to say, anchoring the human in an absence conceived as a missing presence or, as he writes, "a *missing presence* whose absence literally makes possible the multiple presences that constitute the being of everyday life" (p. 282), causes Cooper to posit an "essential incompleteness of being human" (p. 288). Using deconstructionist terms, he posits man as 'deferred', supposing "an innate human compulsion to seek the open and unknown, the vague and indeterminate" (2001c, p. 329).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> That Cooper focuses on open and fluid fields of knowing means that, for him, "[c]omprehension requires the apprehension of undivided wholeness in a specific space or location" (2001a, p. 187). As a result, "science is fiction, the creation of transient and tentative images out of raw, dynamic matter" (p. 190), so that "[m]odern knowledge does not seek permanence and truth; it is ephemeral, mutable, dispersed in [...] non-local, non-causal space" (ibid.).

Correspondingly, for Cooper, the "[h]uman being is the autopoiesis or making over of the forever absent primary space of being" (2016c, p. 285). Here, Cooper highlights, "[p]rimary being is absent in a special sense: it withdraws from every attempt to re-present it" (ibid.). As a consequence, "[w]hat we make present or represent in human culture simply echoes this more pervasive absence" (ibid.). Obviously, however, this does not amount to a departure from representation – from biopolitics. Rather, it means that Cooper conceives "human being as *re-presentation* or the production of presence out of absence" (p. 294). It means that he still *oikonomises* man.

Contrasting herewith, Agamben's idea of humanity no longer views the human in terms of a dynamic conscious/unconscious or, if you wish, human/not-human dialectic. Instead, Agamben grasps the human being as completely *il-legible*. Therefore, rather than grounding the human in 'the state of virtual exception', i.e. in a *legibility* that, while suspending putatively given or fixed identities, still remains valid, Agamben's idea of humanity pivots on "the suspension of the suspension" (2004b, p. 92). It pivots on turning imperfect nihilism (a virtual suspension) into perfect nihilism. In a nutshell, it turns on a *real* suspension, suspending the *virtual* suspension. Thus, avoiding viewing the human in terms of a "struggle of a power to be against a power to not-be" (1993c, p. 32), Agamben grasps the human in terms of the possibility to "not not-be" (ibid.). In other words, a-knowledging the human, Agamben, using a line coined by Benjamin, points to the *possibility* of "a new inhumanity" (2004b, p. 83). Incessantly, he points towards inoperativity. After all, in this 'new in-humanity', potential and act, the living being and the speaking being, are "neither separated nor united into a new more noble compound: they are, rather, in contact, in the sense that between them there is no possible representation" (2023b, p. 182).

# The idea of showing

Similarly, Cooper's concept of 'showing' ( $m\bar{o}nstrati\bar{o}$ ) can be said to heavily reflect Derrida's *oikonomic* references to 'monsters' ( $m\bar{o}nstra$ ). For, as Derrida underlines, "it shows itself [*il se montre*] – that is what the word monster means" (1995, p. 386). More specifically, the 'monster', as "that which is absolutely foreign or strange" (p. 387), Derrida writes, "frightens precisely because no anticipation had prepared one to identify this figure" (p. 386). Yet, "as soon as one perceives a monster in a monster, one begins to domesticate it" (ibid.). That means, while 'monsters', in Derrida's reading, tend to "provoke, at the outset, reactions of rejection" (p. 387), "monstrosities are often [...] appropriated, assimilated, acculturated, [so as to] transform the nature of the field of reception, [so as to] transform the nature of social and cultural experience, historical experience" (ibid.). To keep it short and sweet, as for the 'monster', Derrida concludes, we tend to "make it part of the household and have it assume the habits, to make us assume new habits." (ibid.; see also Bloom 2014; Linstead and Westwood 2001; Nyberg and De Cock 2022; Rasche 2011b).<sup>88</sup>

Differing therefrom, Agamben's idea of showing (*monstrātio*) pivots on the advent of "a singular object that presents itself as such, that *shows* [*mostra*] its singularity" (1993c, p. 10). No longer subject to representation, the idea of 'showing' pivots upon what Hamacher calls "a monstrum without monstratum" (2011, p. 302), pointing to a showing without an *oikonomic* shown. Hence, whilst, as Thanem and Wallenberg note, the 'monster', i.e. the absolutely foreign or strange, has "traditionally [been] associated with the excessively horrifying, vicious and unruly" (2015, p. 433), the idea of *monstrātio*, Bay leaves no doubt, refers to "monsters that resist, even defy, [...] logic and reason" (1998, p. 167). And *as such*, as Ten Bos, if perhaps unwittingly, ends up 'showing', "monsters [...] are everywhere, that is, not only outside us, but also inside us" (2004, p. 23); *pace* Cooper and Derrida, pure, non-representational *il-legibility* resides in ourselves and others, with 'monstrously' *il-legible* singularities neutralising life's entrapment in signification. Such 'monsters' *are* the 'way out'...

## The idea of criticism

Concerned with a certain notion of 'the good life', the role of criticism, for Cooper, is, on the one hand, to caution against what he refers to as "the constraint of full and explicit presence" (2016c, p. 289). More concretely, following Derrida, Cooper cautions against "the suppression of *différance* and the substitution of 'presence'" (2016d, p. 103), arguing that "the undecidable can only become decidable through the practice of power and 'violence'" (p. 100).<sup>89</sup> Thus, for Cooper, "[t]o appropriate the undecidable is to claim a certainty on 'information', which is to say that knowledge is power" (p. 103). Put differently, to appropriate the undecidable is to reproduce "a socially instituted, socially controlled way of fixing the mobile, aberrant tendencies of the texture of the text" (Cooper and Fox 1990, p. 578). Ultimately, this woeful fixing, we are told, goes hand in hand with "the historical privileging, especially in the development of modern sciences, of order over disorder, as if order were the degradation of a pristine and originary state of harmony" (Parker and Cooper 2016, p. 238).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> For Cooper, reproduction, for him the crux of human organisation, necessarily mixes "the normal and the monstrous in a way that recalls the ancient origin of the word *product*: both prodigal, prodigious, monstrous, uncontrollable (from the Latin *prodigere, prodigus, prodigiosus*) and predictable, knowable efficient, workable ([from the] Latin *producere, productio*)" (1998, p. 103).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Pace Cooper, undecidability, too, entails violence/power, casting life as 'written' but not read.

On the other hand, however, Cooper also cautions against sticking with undecidability; indeed, he fears "the existential shock that would accompany the disappearance of the constitutive forms and meanings of the human world" (2005a, p. ix). As a result, what is bemoaned is "the general bias to think order [the decidable or *legible*] and disorder [the undecidable or *illegible*] as separate forces in opposition to each other" (Parker and Cooper, 2016, p. 238). For "[w]ithout the constant work of reproduction and repetition by our systems, the human world would dissolve and disappear and so would its human habitants since we can only know and maintain ourselves as reflections of the objects and structures that serve as props for our daily living" (Cooper 2005a, p. ix). Against this background, we are called on to recognise that "stability/order and instability/disorder are mutually constituting forces" (Parker and Cooper 2016, p. 238). Doing so, Cooper raves, would, for the human being, entail a "sense of becoming" (2016c, p. 289), an "anticipation of possibilities" (ibid.) and the "freedom to re-create its world" (ibid.). In addition to this, it would also open up the possibility "to overcome the view of managerial competence as readership or authorship of 'managerial ideologies' assumed as the justifications of the manager's authority" (Malavé and Cooper 1991, p. 54). For competence, too, echoes 'becoming'...

Contrasting herewith, relying on Benjamin, criticism, for me, centres on liberating 'the coming' – a term referring to Benjamin's idea of the messianic and, thus, the deactivation of the 'Law' – from its 'deformed'/'imaged' (*verbildeten*) form in the present. It means liberating the messianic from its current capture in the *virtual* state of exception by way of a *real* state of exception. It means to *a-knowledge* and, hence, to neutralise representation. It is in this very sense that one ought to understand Agamben's suggestion that "criticism consists not in discovering its object but in assuring the conditions of its inaccessibility" (1993b, p. xvi).

# The idea of comedy

In like fashion, it is only due to *a-knowledge* that we are able to experience the idea of comedy. After all – following Agamben – "[t]o show, within language, an impossibility of communicating and to show that it is funny—this is the essence of comedy" (2018b, p. 15). Viewed this way, comedy, one might say, turns on "joke[s] in which there is precisely nothing to understand" (2023b, p. 23). Concretely, it turns upon the neutralisation of signification, which, unsurprisingly, means that comedy, grasped this way, contrasts with Cooper's postulations, according to which "we are essentially transmitters of messages" (2001c, p. 338). It, the idea of comedy, contrasts with his dyed-in-the-wool *presupposition* that "life is a dynamic stream of communication in which we as individuals are forever caught up and moved along" (ibid.).

Of course, in this context, for Cooper, "the control mode [i.e. secondary thinking], through joking, is actively beset by the nomadic mode [i.e. primary thinking]; the former's orderings and hierarchies are momentarily upset" (Cooper and Fox 1989, p. 253). That means that organisational sense-making is never settled. Since, "the nomadic process of non-sense [contained in joking] does not permit any 'natural' condition of organization" (ibid.). Rather, smacking of 'undecidability', the nomadic process of non-sense, we are told, "points freely in all directions" (ibid.), with Cooper remaining trapped in zero-degree signification; instead of neutralising the 'Law', he grounds it in the form of its *virtual* exception, equating life, as suggested before, with capture in, notionally, alterable streams of communication, while the idea of comedy, as mentioned, revolves around an impossibility of communicating.

For this reason, the comic at stake in this thesis differs also from Butler's concept of comedy – a concept following which "humour is inextricably linked to a socially normative mechanism" (2015, p. 51). Consequently, I refrain from, with Butler, linking humour and, more broadly, the comic to inveterate processes in which "behaviour that deviates from acceptable standards within a particular milieu is singled out for ridicule [...] and brought back into line with the normal flow of organizational life, whether seen from the perspective of a marginalized group [...] or a dominant group" (p. 53). Since, once *a-knowledged*, the comic emerges as involving the neutralisation of linguistic appropriation, of *oikonomia*.

It is therefore that – echoing Agamben's musings on Dante's *Divine Comedy* – *this* thesis is written as a "comic' poem" (1999d, p. 1), inasmuch as a comic poem seeks but "rhetorical opportunities to express its own silence" (2019b, p. 1054). Put slightly differently, comic poems centre on what Moriceau calls "a silence within words" (2017, p. 298), being completely at odds with Derrida's *oikonomic* approach to silence. After all, for Derrida, "the praise [*éloge*] of silence always takes place within *logos*, the language of objectification" (2001, p. 44), while, with Agamben, silence, "not [as] the simple suspension of discourse, but [as] the silence of the word itself" (2012a, p. 97), neutralises the logos/'Law'. In sum, that means that the idea of comedy, *contra* Butler and Cooper, entails suspending what Agamben refers to as the heinous "doctrine [that] a speaking being cannot in any way avoid communication" (1999c, p. 64).<sup>90</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Vitally, *this* is echoed by Kafka: "the world, the semblance of the world which hitherto I had seen before me, dissolved completely, and I burst into loud and uninhibited laughter" (2016, pp. 147–8).

# The idea of love

Resonating with comedy's neutralisation of communication/signification, the idea of love is at odds with what Vachhani, rightly, deplores as "narrow definitions of love that construct love as an ideology, condition or interior state that suggest a denial of politics or an aura of sentimentality or naiveté" (2015, p. 159). And, simultaneously, it - love approached as an idea - resists positions following which, Vachhani adds, "[b]eing anti-love is translated as a sign of being realistic or strong" (p. 150). For the idea of love, Agamben stresses, refers to living "in intimacy with a stranger, not in order to draw him closer or make him known, but rather to keep him strange, remote" (1995, p. 61). As such, love differs also from Cooper's Heidegger-inspired musing on 'a-partness' (Ent-fernung). For, according to Cooper, "a-partness is the making of presence out of absence; it is also the recognition that the missingness of absence is also a missing presence in which absence is a felt and implicit presence that always haunts human beings like the shadowing of the visible by the invisible" (2016c, p. 293). That is, a-partness frustrates the *possibility* of love as, with a-partness, the stranger, the *il-legible* monstrum, is subjected to representation - to oikonomia.

## The idea of God

Expectably, the idea of God also reflects *a-knowledge*. However, for Cooper, there is no such idea. There is no *il-legibility*. Instead, God is reduced as an illegible absence that motivates *religion*'s attempts to render God *legible*. More specifically, inspired by Bataille, Cooper holds that "[t]he Christian Mass reveals 'meaningless infinity' and inarticulation [or what we call God] as that aboriginal absence that, despite its inexpressibility, [the] human being feels compelled to make present in some way" (2016e, p. 267). That means "[t]he *missive* communicated by the Mass points not only to a radical absence – a profound unfoundedness – but also to a generative need of the human being to express this absence" (ibid.). Put differently, for Cooper, the "Church recognizes [...] an invisible power in the general conduct of human affairs and assumes the responsibility for translating and interpreting this ultra-human presence into a language and symbolism that makes it somehow readily readable" (2007, p. 1565). Thus, in Cooper's view, despite 'his' unpresentability, "'he' demands to be made present as an existential necessity in the living of everyday life" (ibid.).

Seen this way, Cooper adds, "the primal vagueness of the holy is the ultimate source of all human creation and re-creation" (2016e, pp. 266–7), so that "a felt absence mystically conveys a demand to be made present" (p. 267). Furthermore, "[t]he Mass itself offers no clear meaning and at best only intimates and suggests" (ibid.).

Stated differently, "Mass [...] can never come to rest in a finite concept or finished product but is always in the process of 'becoming'" (p. 269). All that means that, in Cooper's trademark grammatological view, "religion coincides with [...] [the] rejection of 'full presence' as the ideal of formal thinking" (p. 265), urging us to embrace "vagueness as the preconceptual and prelinguistic origin of secondary thinking" (ibid.).

Simultaneously, the idea of God also differs from what Ashforth and Vaidyanath refer to as "secular religion" (2002, p. 365). For, unlike secular *religions*, a concept used to describe organisations found to be pervaded by "existential desires for transcendence" (ibid.) and to exhibit related "motives of identity, meaning, control, and belonging" (ibid.), the idea of God resides in pure *il-legibility*. It resides in profane(d) play/non-meaning. And, as such, it neutralises biopolitics. Likewise, the idea of God is also at odds with appraisals that call for a return to God as a seat of power. Correspondingly, it is, for instance, incompatible with Sandelands's proposition that "[o]ur power belongs under Divine authority" (2008, p. 141). For, according to Sandelands, "[p]ower sundered from the Divine is a cataclysm for man" (ibid.).

Evidently, the idea of God is completely incommensurate with what Sandelands delineates as "faithful obedience to God's law" (2012, p. 1006) and as "a secure grounding in the physical, temporal, and social world" (p. 1008). After all, for Sandelands, "[o]nly [the law of] a transcendent God can provide the unitary and absolute commonality in which persons of every stripe and background can abandon their differences to join productively with others in markets and organizations" (p. 1009). Thus, while I agree with Sandelands, insofar as he singles out "God as the (too-often) neglected first term in organization studies" (2003, p. 169), *this* book remains incommensurate with his position. Since Sandelands espouses the operation of "a higher law: the law of God" (p. 170)...

Now, approaching God as an idea means being alive to "another God, [...] stripped of the faculty of accusation [related to *cosa*, meaning 'thing'] and judgement" (Agamben 2018a, p. 8). It means being fully alive to our "birth in God of love" (1993c, p. 32). It means indwelling divine violence, insofar as, Agamben shows, "divine violence neither posits nor conserves violence, but deposes it" (1998, p. 65). Therefore, at odds with *oikonomia*, the idea of God amounts to "an experience of language as such, in its pure self-reference" (1993a, p. 5) – "[not] as this or that signifying proposition, but as the pure fact that one speaks, that language exists" (ibid.). Completely coinciding with inoperativity, *in-fancy* or the *monstrosity* afforded by (the idea of) 'comedy', "[t]he world—insofar as it is absolutely, irreparably profane—is God" (1993c, p. 90). Or, in other words, for Cooper, there are "no positive forms of God but we produce and reproduce him all the time in a thousand different religions, so yes, we are relating the latent all the time, and religion is a good example of this" (cited in Cavalcanti and Parker 2023, p. 152). In contrast hereto, with Agamben, we indwell a profane God: "God but without the comforts of religion" (2024b, p. 55).

## The idea of organisation

Lastly, there is, strictly speaking, also no idea of work in Cooper's myriad writings, inasmuch as, for him, "the work of organization is focused upon transforming an intrinsically ambiguous condition into one that is ordered, so that organization as a process is constantly bound up with its contrary state of disorganization" (2016d, pp. 83-4). Aimed at bringing about *legibility*, work or organisation (from *ergon*, mean-ing 'work') are, thus, seen to rest on a "condition of no meaning, no form, of absolute disorder which one might call the primary source of form or organization" (p. 97). Work or organisation are seen to rest on "a state [...] of no specific order, organization or direction, a process of undecidability" (p. 93), so that "organization loses its rationalistic and monolithic presence" (Cooper and Fox 1990, p. 579). That is to say that, following Cooper, "[t]he disorder of the zero-degree is that which is essentially undecidable and it is this feature which energizes or motivates the call to order or organization" (2016d, p. 97). Another way of putting this is that - with Cooper – "the 'natural' is not just unknown, unplanned and unrealized" (2001a, p. 164). In addition, "it is also a source of possibilities that have to be made over in order to realize human culture" (p. 164). Accordingly - in his way of thinking -"[t]he work of culture is to articulate the muted mutterings of matter, to make them speak clearly" (ibid.). To call a spade a spade, reproductive of the virtual state of exception, it is to render the grammatologically presupposed *illegible* 'written' said to be in the voice *legible*.

By contrast, the idea of organisation/work turns on *il-legibility*, rendering inoperative all *oikonomia*. It turns on the *possibility* of non-representationality contained in *a-knowledge*. Put with Agamben, the idea of work implies that man is "the being whose work is the use of the body" (2015b, p. 4), insofar as, apropos *physis* and *nomos*, *potentiality* and *act*, 'use' springs from the non-appropriation of 'contact' (*contāgiō*). It springs from ending grammatology's 'relation' between *phoné* and *logos*...

# Contribution: on a way out

"Extra is the place of thought." (Agamben 2024b, p. 55)

Of course, with *this* book being dedicated to inoperativity, its overall contribution is a testimonial of the *possibility* of *u-topian* language. Put differently, *here*, potentiality and actuality, *physis* and *nomos*, matter and form, are shown to be in 'contact' (*contāgiō*), revealed in their non-relation and suspended, which amounts to rendering *oikonomia* inoperative. Below, I discuss how this testimonial plays out regarding changing management literature's current appraisal of Agamben's, Kafka's, as well as Cooper's work. Doing so means helping to turn a horrid impasse into 'a way out'.

### Contribution vis-à-vis Agamben's work

With a view to organisation theory, which, like many other research areas, has come to take note of Agamben's work (e.g. Antonelli et al. 2022; Banerjee 2008; Bar-Lev and Vitner 2012; Beltramini 2020, 2021; Clegg 2013; Cunha et al. 2012; Ek et al. 2007; Funnell et al. 2022; Huber 2020; Huber and Scheytt 2013; Jagannathan and Rai 2015; Johnsen et al. 2017; Johnson 2010; Jones and Munro 2005; Le Theule et al. 2020: Letiche 2008: Martí and Fernández 2013: Miller and Stovall 2019: Styhre 2010, 2012; Mir et al. 2015; Ortmann 2011; Ouattrone 2006; Schellmann 2018; Stavrakakis 2014; Stevens 2017; Sørensen 2014a; Tedmanson 2008; Ten Bos 2005a,b; Thorne 2009; Twyford 2021; Twyford and Funnell 2023), this thesis provides further clarification of key terms of Agamben's increasingly widely used, evermore influential philosophy. In this context, it focuses not least on inoperativity and pure play as important, interrelated building blocks or cornerstones. Hence, in the face of biopolitics, by way of further clarifying terminology, this thesis seeks to help pave the way to exit from oikonomic organisation (theory), noting, with Agamben, that his work "should not be confused with a sociological investigation" (cited in Raulff 2004, p. 610).

That sociological investigation differs from inoperative organisation (theory) can be illustrated by means of contrasting Agambenian philosophy with Luhmann's *propositions* in the essay 'Meaning as Sociology's Basic Concept'; for Luhmann, inasmuch as sociology "is willing to face up to the assumption of a contingent world" (1990, p. 22), it proceeds "no longer from the point of view of the accurate reproduction of what is simply pregiven and waiting to be discovered, but from that of grasping and reducing this contingency of possible worlds" (ibid.). Consequently, sociology recognises, Andersen notes, that "social systems create themselves through *meaning*" (2003, p. 72), so that "social systems [...] are [...] unable to operate outside of meaning" (ibid.). Here, sticking with Luhmann, as the sine qua non for modern sociology, "meaning refers to the way human experience is ordered" (1990, p. 25) and, for this very reason, "always appears within some delimitable context and yet at the same time always points beyond this context and lets us see other possibilities" (ibid.), with Luhmann, Andersen explains, ultimately defining "meaning [...] as the unity of the distinction *actuality/potentiality*" (2003, p. 73). Specifically, that means that, when "something appears central to [...] thought or to [...] communication, [this] something is actualised, but this always happens in relation to a horizon of possible actualisations (that is, potentiality)" (ibid.). After all, all things sociological can be different. There can be different actualisations. This chimes with Cooper, for whom we should recognise "the social as the presence of convenient fictions grounded in the non-presence of meaningless infinity" (2001c, p. 344).

Obviously, however, this differs from Agamben's focus on language prior to signification/meaning, from his focus on human life beyond the *virtual* state of exception. Put differently, for Luhmann – as expressed, for instance, in *Social Systems* – something is contingent insofar as it is neither necessary nor impossible; it is just what it is (or was or will be), though it could also be otherwise. Yet, for Agamben "[c]ontingency is [...] the way in which a potentiality exists as such" (1999c, p. 146). Or, put yet another way, while (Luhmannian) sociology focuses upon diverse articulations of biopolitical positioning/emplacement, Agamben points to 'exposition'. Henceforth, while (Luhmannian) sociology submits organisation to *oikonomia*, Agamben adverts to inoperativity.

Distinctively, through further elaboration, I seek, then, to unlock what, before, has been called *in-fancy*. That is, focused on what Agamben, already early on in his career, points out as his sole philosophical concern, viz., "what is the meaning of 'there is language'; what is the meaning of 'I speak'?" (1993a, p. 5), *this* thesis seeks to testify to language in its suchness. Hardly surprising at this point, on several occasions, Agamben intimates that, for him, the meaning of 'I speak' turns on being "capable of *not having* language" (1999c, p. 146). As for the living being, it turns on being "capable of its own in-fancy" (ibid.), so that speaking – unlike what sociologists like Luhmann claim – no longer means perpetuating, and submitting to, the Law, which, in turn, Agamben stresses, "is made of nothing but what it manages to capture inside itself through the inclusive exclusion of the exceptio" (1998, p. 27). All that means, that, as distinguished from those who only attend to the Law, i.e. to 'the written', the *in-fant*, Agamben suggests, finds himself in the condition of "being able to pay attention precisely to what has not been written, to somatic

possibilities that are arbitrary and uncodified" (1995, p. 96). Seen *this* way, the *in-fant* is "cast out of himself" (ibid.), whilst "whoever believes in a specific destiny cannot truly speak" (p. 97), in-fancy being what Fusco calls "a strategic resource towards thinking against the tragedies of our present" (2022, p. viii).

### Tying in with others

For one thing, providing further clarification of key terms of Agamben's philosophy with a view to providing an exit from *oikonomic* organisation (theory) means tying in with, and further spelling out, important *ideas* turned to by a handful of attentive management scholars. Faced with myriad biopolitical positionings, these scholars incorporate vital Agambenian terminology, such as love, exemplarity, play, profanation, study and pure mediality. And more or less explicitly, they highlight, and testify to, the immanent *possibility* of hope, optimism and redemption: the *possibility* of a '*real* state of exception' (e.g. Bay and Schinckus 2012; Beverungen and Dunne 2007; Beyes 2009; Murtola 2010; Śliwa et al. 2013; Sørensen 2004; Spoelstra 2024; Ten Bos 2005b; Ten Bos and Rhodes 2003). Plainly, based on unremitting elaboration, *this* thesis sets out, then, to both advance and disseminate Agambenian *ideas*, so as to allow for inoperativity: for a way out.

Or, *in nuce*, intent on clarifying Agambenian terminology with a view to providing an exit from *oikonomic* organisation theory, *this* thesis ties in with the aforementioned pioneering, if oftentimes unconnected and in part unduly tentative, studies. It does so by, in the light of Agamben's above-mentioned prominently *infantile* philosophical concern, firmly contextualising Agambenian criticism as fundamentally concerned with the neutralisation of linguistic imposition. Aimed at justice, it throws inoperativity into relief as fundamentally concerned with the neutralisation of signification. In sum, providing crucial clarification of central terms of Agamben's work, it offers a critical context for, and helps to stimulate, a non-appropriating use of his *ideas* among organisation scholars.<sup>91</sup>

### Countering the dominant reception

For another thing, providing further clarification of central terms of Agamben's philosophy also means countering the mistaken, yet arguably dominant, mode of reception of his work. Concretely, it means countering what Frost calls the "negative' reading of Agamben" (2016, p. 125). It means countering a reading which – partly prompted by Agamben's allusions to a dismaying politics secretly working towards the 'production of emergencies', 'indefinite detention' or the 'camp as the fundamental biopolitical paradigm of the West' – sees him as a decidedly pessimistic Cassandra. Therefore, in *this* thesis, I hope to correct a reading that reduces Agamben's work to startling, disturbingly accurate portrayals of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Importantly, while highlighting hope and optimism, not all of the scholars referenced here succeed in rendering *oikonomia* inoperative, which makes further clarification all the more vital.

altogether gloomy human existence inexorably marked by political despotism and extreme legal/bureaucratic violence.

Crucially, in addition to viewing Agamben as a present-day Cassandra, at least two further readings that, too, might be referred to as 'negative' can be discerned. One deems Agamben's suggestions impracticable, the other finding his texts exaggeratedly one-sided; a representative of the former view, Ten Bos describes Agamben's work as "too philosophical or, perhaps better, too cerebral" (2005a, p. 23). Since Ten Bos "do[es] not see how [...] [ human beings] can emancipate themselves from [...] identity" (ibid.). Specifically, he does not see how one can, insofar as one follows Agamben, be "willing to live the life of a refugee" (ibid.). This reading, however, is based on a grave misunderstanding; for Ten Bos takes Agamben to simply maintain "that the normal and civil order in which we, as average citizens of our late-capitalistic society, might feel so protected and secure might easily turn into a perverted order where the law is suspended and where we lose our civil status and become, indeed, less-than-human" (p. 18). What Ten Bos fails to understand is that, in Agamben, the refugee/bare life, referring to life under the virtual state of exception, is ultimately meant to help pave the way for the real state of exception. In other words, exemplifying life under 'imperfect nihilism', the refugee/bare life is meant to pave the way for perfect nihilism. Indeed, for Agamben, "the refugee [...] makes it possible to clear the way for a long-overdue renewal of categories in the service of a poli-tics in which bare life is no longer separated and excepted, either in the state order or in the figure of human rights" (1998, p. 134). The refugee/bare life makes it possible to wrest life from linguistic appropriation and make language the "refugium (refuge) of the singular" (2000, p. 24).

Similarly, finding, as mentioned, Agamben's work too one-sided, Costas claims that, inasmuch as Agamben equates the law with violence, "more positive aspects of the law remain excluded from his theory" (2019, p. 133). Hence, like Ten Bos, she overlooks that, for Agamben, what is at stake is unfolding the *possibility* of neutralising representation. For him, what is at stake is an "experience of abandonment [which] is freed from every idea of law and destiny" (1998, p. 60). As a result, Costas remains stuck in, and reproduces, the *virtual* state of exception. She submits life to a floating signifier, to the mute zero-degree of organisation, failing to get Agamben's point. As a result, she ends up positing that, concerning the 'refugee', "it is the law that determines his or her status, that also ensures his or her new life, security and safety once he or she is granted asylum" (2019, p. 133).

No doubt, providing further 'clarification' of central terms of Agamben's philosophy means countering a trend that, in sociologising his work, *conceptualises*, i.e. *positions* as "a condensation and generalisation of a multiplicity of meanings and expectations" (Andersen 2011, p. 254), that which is meant to be inappropriable: human life. It means countering modes of reading that completely overlook that his analysis of the refugee/bare life or the *virtual* state of exception gesture not towards pessimism and biopolitical appropriation. Instead, as Agamben

emphasises himself, ultimately his work gestures towards "a care of self that should lead to a letting go of self" (cited in Smith 2004, p. 117). It gestures *not* towards this or that *dystopian topic*, but to *u-topia*. Now, in order to exemplify, within management research, at least four emerging streams of research that, too, mistake Agamben for a pessimistic philosopher and, thus, falsely reproduce, and fall prey to, Cassandra-like conceptions can be discerned.

First, Agamben's work is used to show how increasingly ruthless government and management elites - in the context of capitalist resource accumulation, financial risk management, health crises or natural disasters – tend to augment or challenge conventional forms of management control. This, it is argued, allows these elites to, in their own interest, avail themselves of, justify or permanentise so-called exceptional measures (e.g. Andreaus et al. 2021; Antonelli et al. 2022; Banerjee 2008; Huber and Scheytt 2013; Sargiacomo 2015). Second, Agamben's work is used to illuminate the persistence of brutal state- or police-based suppression of, and control over, ethnic and religious minorities (e.g. Jagannathan and Rai 2015; Tedmanson 2008). Third, his work is found to help explain the appalling violence and dehumanisation underpinning markets, marketing and exclusionary consumer culture (theory) (e.g. Ayrosa and de Oliveira 2019; Miller and Stovall 2019; Varman 2018). And finally, fourth, historical examinations focusing on accounting practices' implication in contributing to the spread of enforced labour and the mass extermination of Jews during the Second World War draw on Agamben (e.g. Funnell et al. 2022; Twyford 2021).

As indicated, however, whilst such research may offer penetrating descriptions of the past and of the present, inasmuch as it mirrors, and is driven by, historiographical or sociological concerns only, it forecloses an exit from biopolitics. It does foreclose the liberation of the 'coming' as it – as Prozorov underlines – fails to see that Agamben's numerous analyses are "not intended as tragic ruminations of the inaccessibility of redemption, but rather as the proper pathway towards it" (2014, p. 3). Differently put, this research tends to overlook that – using Primera's words – Agamben's work "is a critique of metaphysics that aims at its suspension" (2019, p. 1). Indeed, returning to Prozorov, one must stress that Agamben is concerned with "tracing the possibilities of rendering inoperative the structures of power that capture and confine human existence" (2014, p. 4). Or, as Zartaloudis explains, "throughout his work, Agamben searches for an escape route from the realm of law's triumphant self-consecration" (2010, p. 4). He points to the possibility of life outside of biopolitics. He points to and, in his work, unfurls, "pure exteriority" (Agamben 2010, p. 27).

## Contribution vis-à-vis Kafka's work

*Here*, Kafka's literary work is sought to be unlocked as a means to think of work/organisation as severed from *oikonomia*. Going about in this way means, among other things, siding with Benjamin, who convincingly suggests that Kafka's literary work, and that strikingly, centres on the question of how life and work are organised in the human community. Yet, as Hamacher underscores, if, following Barthes, "literature is the communication or even constitution of meaning" (2011, p. 304), including the meaning of the organisation of life and work in the human community, then, and this felicitously, "Kafka's texts miss the meaning of literature" (ibid.). Indeed, as far as Kafka's literary texts are concerned, "missing is for them the medium of another success" (ibid.). Since these texts neutralise *positioning*, inasmuch as they, Hamacher leaves no doubt, revolve around, and are indicative of, an "interpretation [*Deutung*] that slips away from itself" (p. 305), giving way to "Entdeutung" (ibid.), to *de*-construal/*de*-interpretation.

In like fashion, Agamben, in 'Kafka Defended against His Interpreters', stresses that, as for the legends concerning 'the inexplicable', the most notorious of them "claims that, being inexplicable, it remains so in all the explanations which have been given and that will continue to be given through the centuries" (1995, p. 137). Crucially, according to this *legend*, a *legend* espoused by, for instance, Derrida and Luhmann, "[t]he only content of the inexplicable, and in this lies the subtlety of the doctrine, consists in the command—truly inexplicable: 'Explain'!" (ibid.). Luckily, however, on "the 'day of Glory'" (ibid.), to which Kafka's work is *here* found to unfalteringly bear witness, Agamben argues, "explanations would end their dance around the inexplicable" (p. 138). On that day, "[w]hat was not to be explained is perfectly contained in what no longer explains anything" (ibid.).

In line with *this*, *this* thesis also resonates with Śliwa et al.'s attempt to unfold literary fiction as an expedient resource informing, and underpinning, profanation as a highly expedient tool in organization studies. Patently, like Śliwa et al., it attempts to unfold literary fiction as a resource to 'expose' any 'position'. More broadly then, *this* thesis chimes, to some extent at least, with Beverungen and Dunne's approach regarding literature, inasmuch as it, my book, turning to Kafka, too, bears witness to a "moment where the machine of managerialism fails to assimilate that which resists it" (2007, p. 178). That is to say, in keeping with Beverungen and Dunne, it foregrounds literature's involvement in "completely expung[ing] the very possibility of being infiltrated by the social" (p. 179), its "affirmation of possibility as such" (ibid.).

#### Tying in with others

For one thing, seeking to unlock Kafka's literary work as a means to help neutralise biopolitics means, here, tying in with the elaborations of numerous contemporary

philosophers and literary theorists. It means tying in with elaborations which, as for Kafka's stories, focus on, and accentuate, the neutralisation of metaphysics at work in these texts, so as to help underline their inherent testimony to hope and optimism; Sloterdijk, for instance, spotlights that "Kafka's experiment [...] reveal[s] what remains of metaphysical desire when its transcendent goal is eliminated" (2013, p. 71), so that "Kafka experiments with leaving out religion" (ibid.).

Similarly, Schuller, while referring to Kafka's *Josephine the Singer, or the Mouse Folk*, suggests that Josephine "sings without having recourse to an actualisable potency" (2019, p. 427). As a result, as for her singing, the "referential and representational function of language is suspended" (p. 428). Equally concerned with Kafka's neutralisation of biopolitics, Salzani zooms in on the protagonist of Kafka's short story *The New Advocate*. He zooms in on Bucephalus, i.e. Alexander of Macedon's battle charger, stressing that Bucephalus "outlives his master and, free from the burden of a rider and from the clamor of the battle, delves into the study of law books" (2019, p. 403). According to Salzani, "[i]t is this emancipation and new freedom that is, for us, the matter" (ibid.).

Perhaps even more emphatically, Benjamin writes that Kafka "was neither a mantic nor a founder of a religion" (1999, p. 806), highlighting that, with regard to *The New Advocate*, Bucephalus is the figure in which "[t]he law [...] is studied but no longer practiced" (p. 815). Finally, Hamacher underlines that Kafka's stories gesture towards "a history that releases itself from history as a normative continuum in which meaning is mediated and transmitted" (2011, p. 289). Correspondingly, within these stories, Hamacher's study reveals, names such as, for instance, Gregor Samsa, Odradek or the outlandish Cat-Lamb, i.e. the protagonist of *A Crossbreed*, point to "a distortion [*Entstellung*] that escapes fixity in any civil or literary order, in any order whatsoever" (p. 302). Against this background, it is completely unsurprising that, as Hamacher shows, "Odradek is the leap from the series of rationality's normative positionings; he is nothing but ex-position" (pp. 308–9).

Of course, even Agamben draws on Kafka's work, pointing out that "Kafka's characters—and this is why they interest us—have to do with the state of exception; they seek, each one following his or her own strategy to study and deactivate it, to 'play' with it" (2005a, p. 64). Snoek, in particular, has concentrated on Agamben's numerous references to Kafka, rightly arguing that "Agamben uses Kafka [...] to show a way out, an exit strategy, from the present political situation" (2012, p. 2). Indeed, Snoek underscores that, within Agamben's philosophy, "Kafka's work plays an important role in [the] [...] formulation of a theory of freedom" (p. 4). However, here, the focus lies not so much on Agamben's engagement of Kafka's literary work alone. Rather, it lies on unlocking Kafka's work as a means to help testify to inoperativity. It lies on pointing to a way out.

#### Countering the dominant reception

For another thing, seeking to unlock Kafka's literary work as a means to help neutralise biopolitics also means countering the dominant reception of Kafka's literature in organisation scholarship. It means countering a reception which, quite maddeningly, reduces this literature to portrayals of an inescapably dystopian, contradictory and complex lived experience of marginalised people; Warner, for instance, when arguing that "Kafka insightfully explores a number of themes that are highly germane to a deeper understanding of organization theory" (2007, p. 1032) – themes "such as bureaucracy, power and authority, rationality and lastly, alienation" (p. 1019) – maintains that Kafka was a representative of "deep 'cultural pessimism'" (p. 1020). In fact, he takes Kafka to be marked by "Oedipal' struggles" (ibid.), with his stories said to point to the "*estranged employee*" (p. 1031) as well as to "the perils of *organizational dystopia*" (p. 1032). That is, for Warner, "Kafka [...] does identify with the 'underdog' rather than the 'top-dog'" (p. 1028), thereby calling attention to "the dysfunctions of [...] loneliness and marginalization" (p. 1032).

Pretty much taking the same line, Yang asserts that "Kafka provides us with a lived experience from a bottom-up lens, looking at the bureaucratic phenomenon through persons who are often marginalized" (2022, p. 9). Kafka, for Yang, assumes the perspective of people who are "helpless in the face of cage-like qualities of the bureaucratic forms" (p. 18). In line with this, for Yang, "Kafka's vision of bureaucracy is a form of 'soft' determinism in the sense that Kafka still tends to emphasize how bureaucratic processes are shaped by Weberian forces that reinforce conformity while allowing nonconformity as long as it does not overthrow the iron cage" (p. 4). Also comparing Kafka to Weber, in particular to the latter's ideal type of bureaucracy, Jørgensen argues that Kafka provides "a counter-punctual ideal type" (2012, p. 194). Kafka's work, Jørgensen holds, centres on "excessive worship of rankings, endless hierarchies, hierarchical contradictions and cracks in the hierarchy" (p. 198), while Boland and Griffin turn to Kafka to highlight "the impenetrable obscurity and implacable absurdity that can arise in dealings with bureaucratic systems" (2015, p. 100). Similarly, for Pelzer, "Kafka achieves a much deeper look behind the shiny facade of [...] organization" (2002, p. 855). For Pelzer, "[i]t is to Kafka's lasting credit that he makes us realize that [...] organization usually is disgusting" (p. 859), properly disclosing "the world we live in" (ibid.).

Sticking to the most commonplace interpretations, Parker, too, pulls out biopolitical chestnuts, professing that "Kafka's books have become a powerful metaphor for the cultural consequences of bureaucratization" (2002, p. 138). Since, as Parker holds, his stories "capture a more general sense of organizational nightmares" (ibid.) and revolve around "labyrinths of mysterious conspiracies, helpless individuals endlessly attempting to understand the reasons for their circumstances, and bureaucrats who defer to rulebooks and superiors that are nowhere to be found" (ibid). In addition to this, Parker writes that, "[i]n Kafka's world, cruelty is a

bureaucratic matter, and the affairs for little people [...] are of no consequence for those who merely carry out orders" (2005, p. 160). But it, Kafka's work, is also identified with "critique through representation" (p. 153) – critique meant "to reframe sanitized versions of a brave new world" (ibid.). Now, what Parker seems to completely overlook is that Kafka is a poet and that, as Hamacher intimates, "the poem is the place where all tropes and metaphors want to be made non-sense of—and just like tropes, even *topoi*" (2019, p. 122).

Finally, Huber also – annoyingly, for he bases his interpretation partly on a blatant misreading of Agamben's essay 'K.', an essay whose end is overlooked – draws on Kafka. Specifically, Huber hopes to address "how people deal with being subjected to power and participate in their own subjectification" (2019, p. 1823), so as to provide "a corrective to approaches that overemphasize either the possibilities of resistance [...] or the impotence of the subject in the face of power" (p. 1823). In so doing he leaves *oikonomia* intact. In a way then, *this* thesis continues Agamben's work, defending Kafka against the dominant, biopolitical reception of his literary work in organisation research.<sup>92</sup>

### Contribution vis-à-vis Cooper's work

Finally, as has already been shown, *this* thesis is also concerned with stimulating a critical and, thus, profanation-based (re-)evaluation of Cooper's important, philosophically underpinned work. In this connection, *this* thesis focuses, above all, on reappraising unreadability beyond its subjugation to *oikonomia*. It focuses upon reappraising unreadability beyond Cooper's above-mentioned, action-centred elaboration and corollary appropriation of this pivotal term. To be clear, *pace* Cooper, it, *this* thesis, focuses, then, on reappraising unreadability purely immanently. Simply put, offering a long-overdue critique of Cooper, it focuses on reappraising unreadability/*il-legibility as such*. It focuses on reappraising unreadability/*il-legibility as such*. It focuses on reappraising unreadability/*il-legibility* as being untethered from this or that transcendent reference.<sup>93</sup> After all, heretofore, scholarly focus concerning Cooper and his work has – and this almost exclusively – rested on explicating, promoting and applying (certain parts of) Cooper's conceptual apparatus (e.g. Chia and Kallinikos 1998;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Interestingly, Cooper provides a 'positive' reading of Kafka, but unsurprisingly remains entrammelled in deconstructionist biopolitics. Indeed, for Cooper, "Kafka [...] saw himself not as an author who created fictional objects but as part of an ongoing, generalized process [...] that constituted both himself and his products" (1998, p. 115). Accordingly, Kafka's work, Cooper suggests "refuses the sense of a finished whole closed upon itself" (p. 113).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Another way of saying this is that I am *not* concerned with *imposition*, no matter how hazy and unstable. Instead, I am concerned with *exposition*.

Hassard et al. 2008; Knox et al. 2015; Land 2001; Parker 2016; Plotnikof et al. 2022; Rasche 2011b; Weiskopf 2002).

Unsurprisingly, this has coincided with, and resulted in, a palpable dearth of genuinely critical engagements with Cooper's work. Indeed – and this is the lynchpin of this thesis's critique – has left unchallenged Cooper's patent indebtedness to semiology – to the metaphysical signifier/signified duality. Vitally, it has left unchallenged Cooper's semiological reduction of unreadability/*illegibility*. More broadly, with Cooper, not unlike Derrida, time and again, negatively grounding organisation in mute zero-degree signification, i.e. in the biopolitics of the floating signifier or what Agamben, infamously, calls the *virtual* state of exception, it has left unchallenged and unexamined Cooper's blatant indebtedness to *oikonomia*, foreclosing an appreciation of human life that is couched in terms of pure *possibility*. In short, it leaves unchallenged Cooper's participation in the reproduction of the 'Law'.

In this context, Böhm's engagement with Cooper – at least at first blush – stands out as a notable exception as it explicitly takes issue with Cooper's work, associating it with "organization theory discourses that continuously celebrate movement and process" (2006, p. 3). Indeed, it associates Cooper's work with what Böhm, disapprovingly, refers to as "the 'depositioning project" (ibid.). More concretely, for Böhm, "by fetishizing processes of depositioning these organization theory discourses are not able to politically engage with the important questions and challenges faced by today's society and organizations" (ibid.), with Cooper's work said to lack a "political project of pointing towards the production of new subjectivities and a new social" (p. 137). As for this thesis's focus on unreadability/*il-legibility* as revolving around the opening of an inoperative *u-topia*. this means, however, that Böhm, too - his critique of Cooper's approach notwithstanding – remains trapped in biopolitics. No doubt, he, too, concerned with and adamantly calling for repositioning, relegates organisation to the realm of semiology. Therefore, like Cooper, he grounds life negatively in a transcendently anchored zero-degree (see Böhm 2005). Or, and this boils down to the same thing, he grounds life in Derridean 'undecidables', relegating organisation to the realm oikonomia.

Suffice it to say here that, for Agamben, what Derridean "deconstruction does [is] positing undecidables that are infinitely in excess of every possibility of signification" (1998, p. 25). As such, 'undecidables' point to a situation "in which language can maintain itself in relation to its *denotata* by abandoning them and withdrawing from them into a pure *langue*" (ibid.), with pure *langue* referring to "a discourse whose actual denotation is maintained in infinite suspension" (p. 20). As Agamben underlines, that means "undecidables' [...] call into question the primacy of presence and signification [...], yet they do not truly call into question signification in general" (2005b, p. 103). For "radicalizing the notion of [...] zero degree, [...] ['undecidables'] presuppose both the exclusion of presence and the

impossibility of an extinguishing of the sign" (ibid.). Thus, for Agamben, Derrida leaves intact the very differentiating structures through which biopolitics operates.

To be sure, from an Agambenian angle, Cooper's eventually insufficient theorisation of unreadability, this thesis suggests, has to do with his strict reliance on philosophers such as Derrida or Heidegger. It has to do with his reliance on philosophers who, explicitly, give up on overcoming metaphysics and thus eclipse the possible profanity of unreadability/il-legibility. After all, for Derrida, "it is more necessary, from within semiology, to transform concepts, to displace them, to turn them against their presuppositions, to reinscribe them in other chains, and little by little to modify the terrain of our work and thereby produce new configurations" (1981, p. 24). For he "do[es] not believe in decisive ruptures, in an unequivocal 'epistemological break'" (ibid.). In like fashion, for Heidegger, "metaphysics still prevails even in the intention to overcome metaphysics" (1972, p. 23), so that one has to "cease all overcoming, and leave metaphysics to itself" (ibid.). Thus, like Cooper, Derrida and Heidegger appear to make do with positioning, overlooking expositioning. Indeed, the persistent prominence of biopolitical influences in Cooper's work, I argue, makes him blind to the irreparable profanity of inoperativity. It makes Cooper blind to his own being irreducibly other to himself.

All that means that Cooper, despite the indisputable merits of his work, remains a "social philosopher" (Burrell and Parker 2016, p. 9). Here, the stress is on social rather than on philosopher, with society, following Seidl, being "the system that encompasses all communications" (2006, p. 28), so that "all communications that are produced are part of society and as such reproduce it" (ibid.). In other words, Cooper ultimately remains committed to a biopolitical, imposing philosophy that continues to reduce language to its communicative or semantic function and, as a result, overlooks the possibility of *in-fancy*. He, Cooper, remains committed to a position that overlooks the *possibility* of human beings being inoperative/'without work'. Or, put differently, he remains committed to a position that, negatively grounding speech in 'muteness', overlooks the poetics of *in-fantile* 'silence'. Thus, at the end of the day, he still inspires organisation theorists to think of human life in terms of what, drawing on the poet Keats, can be called 'negative capability'.

Let there be no mistake, profanity fully differs from what Cooper, in referring to Keats's famous line, defines as "the putting of oneself among uncertainties and staying there" (2016g, p. 43). In like manner, it differs also from Chia and Nayak's rendering of this line, according to which negative capability involves "learning to live with the creative anxiety of not knowing and not being in control" (2016, p. 130) and thus being "able to be content with 'uncertainties, mysteries, doubts' without the 'irritable tendency to reach after fact and reason' prematurely" (ibid.). And, finally, profanity differs also from Parker's version of Keats's line, which turns on "the capacity to think in a way that contradicts the formative contexts that we find ourselves in, that imaginatively posits new ways of thinking about ourselves

and our social relations" (2018, p. 177), with Parker, too, perpetuating, and submitting to, the biopolitics of semiology.

Interestingly, in this context, Spoelstra, perhaps unwittingly, in an essay on Cooper that also draws upon Agamben's work, offers some openings that, while taking their point of departure in Cooper, help to venture beyond Cooper's action-centred representations. In a sense, by taking Cooper seriously, Spoelstra offers openings that help to undo oikonomia. More specifically, for Spoelstra, insofar as Cooper's chief concern turns upon "the question of the beyond" (2016, p. 18), this inevitably involves an experience of "potentiality not tied to actuality" (p. 15)... That is to say, if genuinely concerned with the 'beyond', Cooper, too, despite his stance that "action [...] [is] a means of revealing the latent in himself and the world" (2016g. pp. 35-36) so that "action makes visible what is invisible" (p. 36), should eventually, with Agamben, concede that the 'beyond', as for being, concerns "its pure non-latency, its pure exteriority" (1993c, pp. 98-9). He, too, should move beyond the position of the human being as an *oikonomic*, positing being. He, too, should neutralise and escape from this or that biopolitical apparatus. He, too, should neutralise, and escape from, the chains of inclusively excluding, representational language... He, too, should find a way out.

# Postilla: I am now going to shut it!

"[T]he Messiah will be able to enter only after the door is closed, which is to say, after the Law's being in force without significance is at an end." (Agamben 1998, p. 57)

Meriting reflection, a true postilla is, in many respects, very similar to, if not somehow congruent with, a true proem; for a true proem's profane-cum-messianic task, Agamben underscores, pivots upon the "attempt to purify the law from commandment" (2018d, p. 94). That is to say that – concerned with God, inasmuch as "inoperativity is the name of what is most proper to God" (2011d, p. 239) – the proem seeks to "bring back every discourse to the proem" (2018d, p. 94). Indeed, by dint of 'contact' between *potentiality* (the living being) and *act* (the speaking being), it seeks to neutralise *oikonomia*. As such, the proem seeks, unrelentingly, to untie the representational 'relation' between *phoné* and *logos* and is, therefore, dedicated to "pull[ing] it [i.e. the word] out of the flux of meaning, to exhibit it as such" (2002, p. 317). Or, in brief, the proem seeks to *expose imposition*. It seeks to short-circuit language's reduction to this or that *dispositif* (cf. Raffnsøe et al. 2016a,b; Villadsen 2021) and, in this way, allows us to be "writing a book that [...] [is] only the proem or postlude of a missing book" (Agamben 2024b, p. 74), shedding grammatological self-*presupposition*.

Bearing *this* in mind, a true postilla, for what it's worth, can only be a text that shows (*mostra*) how an author – by way of *in-fantile* gesturing – has absolutely nothing to add to his 'proemical book'. Like such a 'silent', 'comical' book, the postilla, too, engages in "studious play" (Agamben 2005a, p. 64). In virtue thereof, a true postilla is primarily concerned with repetition, given that to "repeat something is to make it possible anew" (2002, p. 316). Vitally, it is concerned with 'use', 'truth' and 'justice'. Messianically wresting language from biopolitical incarceration, the "postilla is, in this sense, the paradigm of the end of time" (2001, p. 1) as it, once again, testifies to the *possibility* of turning an impasse into an exit. Exploding Wittgenstein's treacherous 'fly-bottle' or, synonymous herewith, Westerberg's irksome 'glass and frames', it, too, *is* the 'garden'. Appreciably, it, too, *is* the 'way out'.

As a result, akin to *this* book's previous pages, *this* postilla, too, chimes with Kafka's allusive work. For as Benjamin explains, Kafka's texts turn on the "Entstellung des Daseins" (1981, p. 41); they, Kafka's texts, turn on the '*deposition* of Being', so that, as Jones and Ten Bos stress, "[t]he world depicted in Kafka's stories is one of
[...] meanings continuously breaking down" (2007, p. 15). In fact, within Kafka's exquisite work, meaning fully evaporates. That said, it, *this* postilla, must become what Jones and Ten Bos, inspired by Gilles Deleuze's pertinent deliberations on Kafka, call "a stammering and stuttering" (ibid.). It must become – and certainly *is* – what Agamben, in the Italian version of *Means without End: Notes on Politics*, calls '*un inguaribile difetto di parola*'; happily, *this* postilla merges into 'an incurable speech defect' (from the Latin *de*, meaning 'removal', and the Proto-Indo-European *d*<sup>\*</sup>*eh*, meaning 'position', and, thus, together pointing towards, and effectuating, 'deposition').<sup>94</sup>

By implication, *this* postilla, too, defies traditional readings of Kafka and Agamben, readings that, curiously enough, treat their work as a plain reservoir of resources for displaying, and becoming sensitised to, the nightmarishly fatal 'dark side' of organisation(s). Decidedly, it defies readings that end up participating in casting organisation as pervaded by disciplinary and sovereign power (e.g. Costas 2019; Cunha et al. 2012; Hodson et al. 2013a,b; Huber and Munro 2014; Jagannathan and Rai 2015). Instead, *this* postilla testifies to the *possibility* of, with Agamben, like Kafka's 'studious' man from the country in the parable *Before the Law* – a *parable* found in the novel *The Trial* – being "able to live to the very end outside the trial" (2011b, p. 31).<sup>95</sup> No doubt, writing *and*, hopefully, also reading *this* postilla become here tantamount to neutralising life's submission to the ambit of the 'Law'. Writing *and* reading – in testifying, *pace* Derrida *and* Cooper, to the *possibility* of 'unwrittenness' *and*, wedded thereto, *il-legibility* – become indispensable organs of profanation...

As Agamben underlines, in traditional renderings of the parable *Before the Law*, the "man from the country is delivered over to the potentiality of the law because [the] law demands nothing of him and commands nothing other than its own openness" (1998, p. 50). That means, within such renderings, the man from the country – encountering the Law's doorkeeper and exposed to zero-degree signification – finds himself in the '(*virtual*) state of exception', so that the "[law's] open door destined only for him includes him in excluding him" (ibid.; see Attell 2015 for a brilliant juxtaposition of Agamben's and Derrida's rivalling readings of *Before the Law*).<sup>96</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> This 'speech defect' can be illustrated by referring to Gregor Samsa, the monstrous vermin (Ungeziefer) in The Metamorphosis. For, while no longer emplacing life, his monstrous words were clearer than ever before: "[t]he words he uttered were no longer understandable [...] although they seemed clear enough to him, even clearer than before" (Kafka 1971, p. 184, emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> My argument is *not* that these readings are mistaken in diagnosing our present as thoroughly biopolitical. My argument *is* that these readings overlook that Agamben and Kafka offer a 'way out'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Crucially, Agamben sees the doorkeeper as an angel, as an intermediary that, grammatologically, 'relates' God and man. Accordingly, in this parable, man comes face to face with his own being

Notwithstanding all this, in the field of organisation scholarship, other interpretations of the iconic parable have been proposed. Burrell, for instance, maintains that we ought to pass "through the door" (1997, p. 30) guarded by the "doorkeeper in The Trial" (ibid.), so as to "enter Pandemonium" (ibid.) - an expression Burrell uses for that "which lies under the rim of modern organizations and modern organized life" (p. 46). Pandemonium, he notes, involves inter alia "the visceral, the carnal, the bodily [...] [and] the unclean" (p. 47). McCabe, by contrast, wants us to see "the doorkeeper as representing management or those in positions of authority more generally, and the man as representative of employees" (2014, p. 262). This, in turn, causes McCabe to argue that the parable can be taken to suggest that it is "our belief that others are powerful, and that we are powerless, which inhibits us from [...] going through the door ourselves" (ibid.). Offering yet another interpretation, Nasir claims that "the man from the country in 'Before the Law' [...] holds the Law in awe [and] submits to its workings without compulsion" (2012, p. 54). But, at the same time, Nasir offers consolation, at least insofar as he suggests that "[w]hat has emerged through one historical process can be replaced through another" (p. 55).

Agamben, however, emphasises that "the behaviour of the man from the country is nothing other than a complicated and patient strategy to have the door [of the law] closed in order to interrupt the Law's being in force" (1998, p. 54). That is to say – for Agamben – the man is dedicated to "the long study of its doorkeeper (*dem jahrelangen Studium des Türhüters*)" (2011b, p. 31), so that, via 'studying', he unhinges the 'hinge' (i.e. the doorkeeper) that, grammatologically, links (i.e. 'relates') *physis* and *nomos*, man and God. And, in so doing, he "succeeds in having the door of the Law closed forever" (1998, p. 54). Because *this para*ble, effectively rendering inoperative any parable, finishes by having the doorkeeper-angel say: 'I am now going to shut it'.

In *this* light, what can be gleaned from *my* book concerns any *oikonomic* 'lawbook'. It is – due to a speech defect that, funnily involving 'clarity' (i.e. non-signifying language), safeguards me from being under*stood* – a stammered and stuttered *exclamation*: 'Shut!'

an act of government. For "each act of government is an angel" (Agamben 2011a, p. 119). In this spirit, for Derrida, "the words spoken by the law [its doorkeeper] do not say 'no' but 'not yet', indefinitely" (2018, p. 53), with the man from the country "[s]ubject to the law" (ibid.). After all, as for doorkeepers, Derrida holds, "[t]heir power is the *différance*, an unending *différance*, since it lasts days, years, and finally until the man's end" (ibid.) For, in Derrida's reading of *Before the Law*, "[t]hat which is forever deferred, even until death, is entry into the law itself" (ibid.).

"Speak loudly now, unspoken word." (Agamben 2021, p. 99)

## References

- Adkins, L. (2005) The New Economy, Property and Personhood. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 22(1): 111–30.
- Adkins, L. (2008) From Retroactivation to Futurity: The End of the Sexual Contract? *Nora*, 16(3): 182–201.
- Adkins, L. & Lury, C. (1999) The Labour of Identity: Performing Identities, Performing Economies. *Economy & Society*, 28(4): 598–614.
- Agamben, G. (1985) Un'idea di Giorgio Agamben (Interview with Adriano Sofri). *Reporter*, November 9–10, 32–33.
- Agamben, G. (1991) *Language and Death: The Place of Negativity*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Agamben, G. (1993a) *Infancy and History: The Destruction of Experience*. London: Verso.
- Agamben, G. (1993b) *Stanzas: Word and Phantasm in Western Culture*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Agamben, G. (1993c) *The Coming Community*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Agamben, G. (1995) The Idea of Prose. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Agamben, G. (1998) *Homo Sacer: Sovereign Power and Bare Life*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (1999a) Agamben, le chercheur d'homme (Interview with Jean-Baptiste Margongiu). *Libération*, April 1, ii-iii.
- Agamben, G. (1999b) *Potentialities: Collected Essays in Philosophy*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (1999c) *Remnants of Auschwitz: The Witness and the Archive*. New York: Zone Books.
- Agamben, G. (1999d) *The End of the Poem: Studies in Poetics*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (1999e) The Man without Content. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2000) *Means without End: Notes on Politics*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Agamben, G. (2001) *Tiqqun de la Noche*. Postface to *The Coming Community*. Available at: <u>http://notesforthecomingcommunity.blogspot.com/2008/04/tiqqun-de-la-noche.html</u> (Accessed: 26 April 2024).

- Agamben, G. (2002) Difference and Repetition: On Guy Debord's Films. In T. McDonough (Ed.), *Guy Debord and the Situationist International: Texts and Documents*. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Agamben, G. (2004a) Image et Mémoire: Écrits sur l'Image, la Danse et le Cinéma. Paris: Desclée de Brouwer.
- Agamben, G. (2004b) The Open: Man and Animal. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2005a) State of Exception. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Agamben, G. (2005b) *The Time that Remains: A Commentary on the Letter to the Romans.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2007a) Profanations. New York: Zone Books.
- Agamben, G. (2007b) The Work of Man. In M. Calacro & S. DeCaroli (Eds.), *Gorgio Agamben: Sovereignty and Life*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2009a) On the Limits of Violence. *Diacritics*, 39(4): 103–11.
- Agamben, G. (2009b) The Signature of all Things: On Method. New York: Zone Books.
- Agamben, G. (2009c) *What Is an Apparatus? and Other Essays*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2010) Le Silence des Mots. Po&sie, 1–2(131–32): 21–8.
- Agamben, G. (2011a) Angels. Angelaki, 16(3): 117–23.
- Agamben, G. (2011b) Nudities. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2011c) Nymphs. In J. Khalip & R. Mitchell (Eds.), *Releasing the Image: From Literature to New Media*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2011d) *The Kingdom and the Glory: For a Theological Genealogy of Economy and Government*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2012a) Image and Silence. *Diacritics*, 40(2): 94-8.
- Agamben, G. (2012b) Se la Feroce Religione del Denaro Divora il Futuro. *La Repubblica*, 16 February. Available at: <u>https://ricerca.repubblica.it/repubblica/archivio/repubblica/2012/02/16/se-la-feroce-religione-del-denaro-divora.html?ref=search</u> (Accessed: 29 April 2024).
- Agamben, G. (2012c) The Church and the Kingdom. London: Seagull Books.
- Agamben, G. (2013a) *Opus Dei: An Archaeology of Duty*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2013b) *The Highest Poverty: Monastic Rules and Form-of-Life.* Palo Alto: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2014a) Cinema and History: On Jean-Luc Godard. In H. Gustafsson & A. Grønstad (Eds.), *Cinema and Agamben: Ethics, Biopolitics and the Moving Image*. New York: Bloomsbury.
- Agamben, G. (2014b) *The Unspeakable Girl: The Myth and Mystery of Kore*. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2014c) To Whom in Poetry Addressed? New Observations, 130: 11.
- Agamben, G. (2014d) What Is a Destituent Power? *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 32(1): 65–74.

- Agamben, G. (2015a) *Stasis: Civil War as a Political Paradigm.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2015b) The Use of Bodies. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2016) From the State of Control to a Praxis of Destituent Power. In S.E. Wilmer & A. Žukauskaitė (Eds.), *Resisting Biopolitics: Philosophical, Political and Performative Strategies.* New York: Routledge.
- Agamben, G. (2017a) Che Cosa Resta? *Quodlibet*, 13 June. Available at: https://www.quodlibet.it/giorgio-agamben-che-cosa-resta (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- Agamben, G. (2017b) Taste. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2017c) The Fire and the Tale. Redwood City: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2017d) *The Mystery of Evil: Benedict XVI and the End of Days*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2018a) *Karman: A Brief Treatise on Action, Guilt, and Gesture*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2018b) *Pulcinella: Or Entertainment of Kids in Four Scenes*. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2018c) The Adventure. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Agamben, G. (2018d) What Is Philosophy? Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2019a) Creation and Anarchy: The Work of Art and the Religion of Capitalism. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2019b) On the Impossibility of Saying I: Epistemological Paradigms and Poetic Paradigms in the Work of Furio Jesi. *Theory & Event*, 22(4): 1047–57.
- Agamben, G. (2020) The Kingdom and the Garden. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2021) Where Are We Now? The Epidemic as Politics. London: Eris.
- Agamben, G. (2022a) Studiolo. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2022b) When the House Burns Down. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2023a) *Hölderlin's Madness: Chronicle of a Dwelling Life 1806–1843*. London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2023b) *Pinocchio: The Adventures of a Puppet, Doubly Commented Upon and Triply Illustrated.* London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2023c) What I Saw, Heard, Learnt... London: Seagull.
- Agamben, G. (2024a) First Philosophy Last Philosophy: Western Knowledge between Metaphysics and the Sciences. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Agamben, G. (2024b) Self-Portrait in the Studio. London: Seagull.
- Aggeri, F. (2005) Les Régimes de Gouvernementalité dans le Domaine de l'Environnement. In A. Hatchuel, E. Pezet, K. Starkey & O. Lenay (Eds.), Gouvernement, Organisation et Gestion: L'Héritage de Michel Foucault. Laval: Presses Universitaires de Laval.
- Ainsworth, S. & Hardy, C. (2004) Critical Discourse Analysis and Identity: Why Bother? *Critical Discourse Studies*, 1(2): 225–59.

- Ainsworth, S. & Hardy, C. (2008) The Enterprising Self: An Unsuitable Job for an Older Worker. Organization, 15(3): 389–405.
- Ainsworth, S. & Hardy, C. (2009) Mind over Body: Physical and Psychotherapeutic Discourses and the Regulation of the Older Worker. *Human Relations*, 62(8): 1199– 1229.
- Alawattage, C., Graham, C. & Wickramasinghe, D. (2019) Microaccountability and Biopolitics: Microfinance in a Sri Lankan Village. *Accounting, Organizations & Society*, 72(1): 38–60.
- Alexandersson, A. & Kalonaityte, V. (2018) Playing to Dissent: The Aesthetics and Politics of Playful Office Design. Organization Studies, 39(2–3): 297–317.
- Allen, S. (2017) Learning from Friends: Developing Appreciations for Unknowing in Reflexive Practice. *Management Learning*, 48(2): 125–39.
- Alvesson, M. & Kärreman, D. (2011) *Qualitative Research and Theory Development: Mystery as Method.* Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Andersen, N.Å. (2003) Discursive Analytical Strategies: Understanding Foucault, Koselleck, Laclau, Luhmann. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Andersen, N.Å: (2009) *Power at Play: The Relationships between Play, Work and Governance*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Andersen, N.Å. (2011) Conceptual History and the Diagnostics of the Present. *Management & Organizational History*, 6(3): 248–67.
- Andersen, N.Å. (2012) Citizens' Contracts as a Tricky Steering Medium. In N. Thygesen (Ed.), The Illusion of Management Control: A Systems Theoretical Approach to Managerial Technologies. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Andersen, N.Å. & Pors, J.G. (2014) Playful Membership: Embracing an Unknown Future, Management & Organizational History, 9(2): 166–83.
- Andersen, N.Å. & Pors, J.G. (2016) *Public Management in Transition: The Orchestration of Potentiality*. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Andersen, N.Å. & Pors, J.G. (2017) On the History of the Form of Administrative Decisions: How Decisions Begin to Desire Uncertainty. *Management & Organizational History*, 12(2): 119–41.
- Andreaus, M., Rinaldi, L., Pesci, C. & Girardi, A. (2021) Accountability in Times of Exception: An Exploratory Study of Account-giving Practices during the Early Stages of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Italy. *Journal of Public Budgeting, Accounting* & Financial Management, 33(4): 447–67.
- Antonelli, V., Bigoni, M., Funnell, W. & Cafaro, E.M. (2022) Accounting for Biosecurity in Italy under COVID-19 Lockdown. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 35(1): 120–30.
- Antonelli, V., D'Alessio, R. & Walker, S.P. (2023) Operationalizing Expulsion: Jewish Accountants in Fascist Italy, 1938–1943. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 94: 102462.
- Antonelli, V., Bigoni, M., D'Alessio, R. & Funnell, W. (2024a) Accounting for Colonial Domination in Liberal and Fascist Italy, 1912–1941. *Accounting History*, 0(0).

- Antonelli, V., D'Alessio, R. & Walker, S.P. (2024b) The Expulsion of Jews from the Accountancy Profession in Fascist Italy. In W. Funnell, M. Bigoni & E. Twyford (Eds.), Accounting for the Holocaust: Enabling the Final Solution. London: Routledge.
- Arnaud, G. (2002) The Organization and the Symbolic: Organizational Dynamics Viewed from a Lacanian Perspective. *Human Relations*, 55(6): 691–716.
- Aroles, J. & Küpers, W. (2022) Towards and Integral Pedagogy in the Age of 'Digital *Gestell*': Moving between Embodied Co-presence and Telepresence in Learning and Teaching Practices. *Management Learning*, 53(5): 757–75.
- Ashforth, B.E. & Humphrey, R. (1997) The Ubiquity and Potency of Labelling in Organizations. *Organization Science*, 8(1): 43–58.
- Ashforth, B.E. & Vaidyanath, D. (2002) Work Organizations as Secular Religions. *Journal* of Management Inquiry, 11(4): 359–70.
- Attell, K. (2015) *Giorgio Agamben: Beyond the Threshold of Deconstruction*. New York: Fordham University Press.
- Austin, J.L. (1962) *How to Do Things with Words: The William James Lectures Delivered at Harvard University in 1955.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Autonomous Artists Anonymous (2017) Political Art without Words: Art's Threat of Emergence, and its Capture within Signification and Commodification. *Ephemera*, 17(4): 877–94.
- Ayrosa, E.A.T. & Oliveira, R. (2019) Marketing and the Production of Consumers' Objective Violence. In M. Tadajewski, M. Higgins, J. Denegri-Knott & R. Varman (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Critical Marketing*. London: Routledge.
- Bachmann, I. (2013) Malina. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Backes-Gellner, U., Schneider, M.R. & Veen, S. (2011) Effect of Workforce Age on Quantitative and Qualitative Organizational Performance: Conceptual Framework and Case Study Evidence. *Organization Studies*, 32(8): 1103–21.
- Baecker, D. (2012) *The Throne Is Not Empty: A Calculus of Power* [Paper Presentation]. Berlin: Schaubühne Berlin.
- Banerjee, S.B. (2008) Necrocapitalism. Organization Studies, 29(12): 1541-63.
- Bar-Lev, S. & Vitner, G. (2012) Performing a Crisis: Institutional Politics and the Construction of (Ir)Responsibility. *Organization*, 19(6): 667–84.
- Barnes, C. & Mercer, G. (2005). Disability Work and Welfare: Challenging the Social Exclusion of Disabled People. *Work, Employment & Society*, 19(3): 527–45.
- Barratt, E. (2008). The Later Foucault in Organization and Management Studies. *Human Relations*, 61(4), 515–37.
- Barratt, E. (2014) Modernizing Government: The Case of the Cooperatives of the Civil Service. *Management & Organizational History*, 9(2): 150–65.
- Barros, A. & Wanderley, S. (2020) Decolonialism and Management (Geo)History: Is the Past also a Place? In K. Bruce (Ed.), *Handbook of Research on Management and Organizational History*. Cheltenham. Edward Elgar.
- Bay, T. (1998) And...And...And: Reiterating Financial Derivation. PhD Thesis. Stockholm University.

- Bay, T. & Schinckus, C. (2012) Critical Finance Studies: An Interdisciplinary Manifesto. Journal of Interdisciplinary Economics, 24(1): 1–6.
- Beatty, J. E., Baldridge, D. C., Boehm, S. A., Kulkarni, M. & Colella, A. J. (2019) On the Treatment of Persons with Disabilities in Organizations: A Review and Research Agenda. *Human Resource Management*, 58(2): 119–37.
- Beck, U. (2009) Reframing Power in the Globalized World. *Organization Studies*, 29(5): 793–804.
- Beck, U. (2014) The Brave New World of Work. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Beck, U., Bonss, W. & Lau, C. (2003) The Theory of Reflexive Modernization: Problematic, Hypotheses and Research Programme. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 20(2): 1–33.
- Beltramini, E. (2020) Power and Management according to Agamben: Some Implications of Agamben's Thoughts to Management Scholarship. *Ephemera*, 20(4): 195–221.
- Beltramini, E. (2021) A Genealogy of Command. Ephemera, 21(2): 275-85.
- Benjamin, W. (1980) Gesammelte Schriften. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Benjamin, W. (1981) Benjamin über Kafka: Texte, Briefzeugnisse, Aufzeichnungen. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Benjamin, W. (1986) *Reflections: Essays, Aphorisms, Autobiographical Writings.* New York: Schocken Books.
- Benjamin, W. (1996a) Capitalism as Religion. In M. Bullock & M.W. Jennings (Eds.), Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings. Volume 1, 1913–1926. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Benjamin, W. (1996b) Critique of Violence. In M. Bullock & M.W. Jennings (Eds.), Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings. Volume 1, 1913–1926. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Benjamin, W. (1996c) The Life of Students. In M. Bullock & M.W. Jennings (Eds.), Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings. Volume 1, 1913–1926. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Benjamin, W. (1999) Franz Kafka: On the Tenth Anniversary of His Death. In M.W. Jennings, H. Eiland & G. Smith (Eds.), *Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings. Volume* 2, 1927–1934. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Benjamin, W. (2003) Notes to a Study on the Category of Justice. In E. Jacobson (Ed.), Metaphysics of the Profane: The Political Theology of Walter Benjamin and Gershom Scholem. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Benjamin, W. (2006) On the Concept of History. In H. Eiland & M.W. Jennings (Eds.), Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings. Volume 4, 1938–1940. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Benozzo, A., Koro-Ljungberg, M. & Adamo, S. (2019) Would You Prefer not to? Resetting/Resistance across Literature, Culture, and Organizations. *Culture & Organization*, 25(2): 131–45.
- Berglund, K., Lindgren, M. & Packendorff, J. (2017) Responsibilising the Next Generation: Fostering the Enterprising Self through De-mobilising Gender. *Organization*, 24(6): 892–915.
- Beverungen, A. & Dunne, S. (2007) I'd Prefer not to: Bartleby and the Excesses of Interpretation. *Culture & Organisation*, 13(2): 171–83.

- Beverungen, A., Otto, B., Spoelstra, S. & Kenny, K. (2013) Free Work. *Ephemera*, 13(1): 1–9.
- Beyes, T. (2009) Spaces of Intensity: Urban Entrepreneurship as Redistribution of the Sensible. In D. Hjorth & C. Steyaert (Eds.), *The Politics and Aesthetics of Entrepreneurship: A Fourth Movements in Entrepreneurship Book.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Beyes, T. (2019) Uncanny Matters: Kafka's Burrow, the Unhomely and the Study of Organizational Space. *Ephemera*, 19(1): 179–92.
- Beyes, T. & Holt, R. (2019) Für ein Bestiarium der Organisation: Kafkas Grenzwesen. In G. Ortmann & M. Schuller (Eds.), *Kafka: Organisation; Recht und Schrift.* Weilserswist: Velbrück.
- Beyes, T. & Steyaert, C. (2012) Spacing Organization: Non-Representational Theory and Performing Organizational Space. *Organization*, 19(1): 45–61.
- Bigoni, M. & Funnell, W. (2024) Accounting and Biopolitics: An Italian Perspective. In H. Vollmer (Ed.), *Handbook of Accounting in Society*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Blake, W. (2008) *The Complete Poetry and Prose of William Blake*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Bloom, P. (2014) We Are All Monsters Now! A Marxist Critique of Liberal Organization and the Need for a Revolutionary Monstrous Humanism. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 33(7): 662–80.
- Boje, D.M. & Jørgensen, K.M. (2014) Friendship as a Way of Living: Deconstruction and Quantum Storytelling. *Tamara*, 12(4): 33–57.
- Bokek-Cohen, Y. (2016) How Are Marketing Strategies of Genetic Material Used as a Mechanism for Biopolitical Governmentality? *Consumption, Markets & Culture*, 19(6): 534–54.
- Boland, T. & Griffin, R. (2015) A Telling Silence: Beckett, Kafka, and the Experience of Being Unemployed. In M. Izak, L. Hitchin & D. Anderson (Eds.), Untold Stories in Organizations. London: Routledge.
- Borgerson, J.L. (2005) On the Harmony of Feminist Ethics and Business Ethics. *Business & Society Review*, 112(4): 477–509.
- Borgerson, J.L. & Rehn, A. (2004) General Economy and Productive Dualisms. *Gender*, Work & Organization, 11(4): 455–74.
- Bowden, B. (2020) Jacques Derrida: Cosmopolitan Critic. In B. Bowden, J. Muldoon, A.M. Gould & A.J. McMurray (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Management History*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Brewis, J. (2014) The Ethics of Researching Friends: On Convenience Sampling in Qualitative Management and Organization Studies. *British Journal of Management*, 25(4): 849–62.
- Bristow A. (2012) On Life, Death and Radical Critique: A Non-Survival Guide to the Brave New Higher Education for the Intellectually Pregnant. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 28(3): 234–41.
- Brown, S.D. (2000) Book Reviews: Extended Review: The Angelology of Knowledge: Michel Serres. *The Sociological Review*, 48(1): 147–53.

- Brown, S.D. (2016) They Have Escaped the Weight of Darkness. In C. Steyaert, T. Beyes & M. Parker (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Reinventing Management Education*. London: Routledge.
- Brunninge, O. (2009) Using History in Organizations: How Managers Make Purposeful Reference to History in Strategy Processes. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 22(1): 8–26.
- Bröckling, U. (2016) *The Entrepreneurial Self: Fabricating a New Type of Subject.* Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Bunz, M. (2020) Conversational Interface. In T. Beyes, R. Holt & C. Pias (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Media, Technology, and Organization Studies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Burchell, G. (1993) Liberal Government and Techniques of the Self. *Economy & Society*, 22(3): 267–82.
- Burrell, G. (1988) Modernism, Post-Modernism and Organizational Analysis 2: The Contribution of Michel Foucault. *Organization Studies*, 9(2): 221–35.
- Burrell, G. (1997) Pandemonium: Towards a Retro-organization Theory. London: Sage.
- Burrell, G. (1998) Linearity, Control and Death. In D. Grant, T. Keenoy & C. Oswick (Eds.), *Discourse and Organization*. London: Sage.
- Burrell, G. (2020) Chaos: The Unspeakable Other to Origins and Organizing. In T. Peltonen, H. Gaggiotti & P. Case (Eds.), *Origins of Organizing*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Burrell, G. & Dale, K. (2002) Utopiary: Utopias, Gardens and Organization. In M. Parker (Ed.), *Utopia and Organization*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Burrell, G. & Morgan, G. (1979) Sociological Paradigms and Organisational Analysis: Elements of the Sociology of Corporate Life. London: Heinemann.
- Burrell, G. & Parker, M. (2016) Organizing a Life. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Butler, J. (2016) Introduction. In Derrida, J., *Of Grammatology*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Butler, N. (2015) Joking Aside: Theorizing Laughter in Organizations. *Culture & Organization*, 21(1): 42–58.
- Butler, N. & Spoelstra, S. (2012) Your Excellency. Organization, 19(6): 891–903.
- Butler, N. & Spoelstra, S. (2023) What Is the Point of Method Sections? *Organization*, 30(6): 1266–72.
- Butler, N. & Spoelstra, S. (2024a) Playful Work. In P.M. Bal (Ed.), *Elgar Encyclopedia of Organizational Psychology*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Butler, N. & Spoelstra, S. (2024b) Redemption through Play? Exploring the Ethics of Workplace Gamification. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 193: 259–70.
- Böhm, S. (2005) Zero. In C. Jones & D. O'Doherty (Eds.), *Manifestos for the Business School of Tomorrow*. Turku: Davlin.
- Böhm, S. (2006) *Repositioning Organization Theory: Impossibilities and Strategies*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Böhm, S., Jones, C. & Land, C. (2021) Theory and Politics in Organization. *Ephemera*, 21(4): 181–202.
- Calás, M.B. & Smircich, L. (1991) Voicing Seduction to Silence Leadership. *Organization Studies*, 12(4): 567–602.
- Calori, R. (1998) Essai: Philosophizing on Strategic Management Models. *Organization Studies*, 19(2): 281–306.
- Campbell, T. & Sitze, A. (2013) Biopolitics: An Encounter. In T. Campbell & A. Sitze (Eds.), *Biopolitics: A Reader*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Camus, A. (1979) The Myth of Sisyphus. Harmondsworth: Penguin Books.
- Carollo, L., Sferrazzo, R. & Shymko, Y. (2025) Is It the End as We Know It? Apocalyptic Reflexivity in and around Organizations. *Ephemera*, 0(0).
- Case, P. (1999) Remember Re-engineering? The Rhetorical Appeal of a Managerial Salvation Device. *Journal of Management Studies*, 36(4): 419–41.
- Case, P., French, R. & Simpson, P. (2012) From *Theoria* to Theory: Leadership without Contemplation. *Organization*, 19(3): 345–61.
- Cavalcanti, M.F.R. & Parker, M. (2023) Professor Bob's Memory: An Interview with Robert Cooper. *Ephemera*, 23(3): 143–67.
- Caygill, H. (2019) Miracles of Organization: Chance and Error in Kafka's The Castle. Organization Studies, 40(12): 1841–50.
- Cederström, C. (2011) Fit for Everything: Health and the Ideology of Authenticity. *Ephemera*, 11(1): 27–45.
- Cederström, C. (2018) The Happiness Fantasy. Medford: Polity Press.
- Celan, P. (1983) *Gesammelte Werke in fünf Bänden, Bd 3, Gedichte, 3; Prosa; Reden.* Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Celan, P. (2003) Collected Prose. Manchester: Carcanet Press.
- Cervi, L. & Brewis, J. (2022) Fertility Treatment and Organizational Discourses of the Non-Reproductive Female Body. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 29(1): 8–27.
- Chapman, C., Chua, W.F. & Fiedler, T. (2021) Seduction as Control: Gamification at Foursquare. *Management Accounting Research*, 53, 100765.
- Charitsis, V., Yngfalk, A.F. & Skålén, P. (2019) 'Made to Run': Biopolitical Marketing and the Making of the Self-Quantified Runner. *Marketing Theory*, 19(3): 347–66.
- Chia, R. & Kallinikos, J. (1998) Epilogue: Interview with Robert Cooper. In R. Chia (Ed.), Organized Worlds: Explorations in Technology and Organization with Robert Cooper. London: Routledge.
- Chia, R. & Nayak, A. (2016) The Art of Relevation/Revelation. In C. Steyaert, T. Beyes & M. Parker (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Reinventing Management Education*. London: Routledge.
- Clarke, J.S., Llewellyn, N., Cornelissen, J. & Viney, R. (2021) Gesture Analysis and Organizational Research: The Development and Application of a Protocol for Naturalistic Settings. *Organizational Research Methods*, 24(1): 140–71.
- Clegg, S.R. (1998) Foucault, Power and Organizations. In A. McKinlay & K. Starkey (Eds.), *Foucault, Management and Organization Theory*. London: Sage.

- Clegg, S.R. (2013) Anyone and Everyone, Potentially: For a Political Philosophy for all Humans, without Limits. *Journal of Political Power*, 6(1): 157–64.
- Clegg, S.R., Cunha, M.P., Rego, A. & Dias, J. (2013) Mundane Objects and the Banality of Evil: The Sociomateriality of a Death Camp. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 22(3): 325–40.
- Clegg, S.R., Kornberger, M. & Rhodes, C. (2007) Organizational Ethics, Decision Making, Undecidability. *The Sociological Review*, 55(2): 393–409.
- Cohen, D.V. (1993) Creating and Maintaining Ethical Work Climates: Anomie in the Workplace and Implications for Managing Change. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 3(4): 343–58.
- Cole, M.S., Bernerth, J.B., Walter, F. and Holt, D.T. (2010) Organizational Justice and Individuals' Withdrawal: Unlocking the Influence of Emotional Exhaustion. *Journal* of Management Studies, 47(3): 367–90.
- Coll, S. (2013). Consumption as Biopower: Governing Bodies with Loyalty Cards. *Journal* of Consumer Culture, 13(3): 201–20.
- Comaroff, J. & Comaroff, J.L. (2000) Millennial Capitalism: First Thoughts on a Second Coming. *Public Culture*, 12(2): 291–343.
- Cooper, M. (2012) Workfare, Familyfare, Godfare: Transforming Contingency into Necessity. *South Atlantic Quarterly*, 111(4): 643–61.
- Cooper, R. (1989) Modernism, Post Modernism and Organizational Analysis: The Contribution of Jacques Derrida. Organization Studies, 10(4): 479–502.
- Cooper, R. (1992a) Formal Organization: Remote Control, Displacement and Abbreviation. In M. Reed & M. Hughes (Eds.), *Rethinking Organization: New Directions in Organization Theory*. London: Sage.
- Cooper, R. (1992b) Systems and Organizations: Distal and Proximal Thinking. *Systems Practice*, 5(4): 373–77.
- Cooper, R. (1993) Technologies of Representation. In P. Ahonen (Ed.), *Tracing the Semiotic Boundaries of Politics*. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Cooper, R. (1998) Assemblage Notes. In R. Chia (Ed.), Organized Worlds: Explorations in Technology and Organization with Robert Cooper. London: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2001a) A Matter of Culture. Cultural Values, 5(2): 163-97.
- Cooper, R. (2001b) Interpreting Mass: Collection/Dispersion. In N. Lee & R. Munro (Eds.), *The Consumption of Mass*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Cooper, R. (2001c) Un-timely Mediations: Questing Thought. Ephemera, 1(4): 321-47.
- Cooper, R. (2005a) Foreword. In D. Seidl, Organizational Identity and Self-Transformation: An Autopoietic Perspective. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Cooper, R. (2005b) Relationality. Organization Studies, 26(11): 1689-1710.
- Cooper, R. (2006/2023) The Culture of Information. Ephemera, 23(3): 119-41.
- Cooper, R. (2007) Organs of Process: Rethinking Human Organization. *Organization Studies*, 28(10): 1547–73.

- Cooper, R. (2014) Process and Reality. In J. Helin, T. Hernes, D. Hjorth & R. Holt (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Process Philosophy and Organization Studies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cooper, R. (2016a) Formal Organization as Representation: Remote Control, Displacement and Abbreviation. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper R. (2016b) Information, Communication and Organisation: A Post-structural Revision. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper R. (2016c) Making Present: Autopoiesis as Human Production. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016d) Organization/Disorganization. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), For Robert Cooper: Collected Work. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016e) Primary and Secondary Thinking in Social Theory: The Case of Mass Society. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016f) The Generalized Social Body: Distance and Technology. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016g) The Open Field. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), For Robert Cooper: Collected Work. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016h) The Other: A Model of Human Structuring. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. (2016i) The Visibility of Social Systems. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. & Fox, S. (1989) Two Modes of Organizing. In R. Mansfield (Ed.), *Frontiers* of Management: Research and Practice. London: Routledge.
- Cooper, R. & Fox, S. (1990) The 'Texture' of Organizing. *Journal of Management Studies*, 27(6): 575–82.
- Cooper, R. & Law, J. (2016) Organization: Distal and Proximal Views. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Cornelissen, J., Höllerer, M.A. & Seidl, D. (2021) What Theory Is and Can Be: Forms of Theorizing in Organizational Scholarship. *Organization Theory*, 2(1): 1–19.
- Costas, J. (2012) "We Are All Friends Here": Reinforcing Paradoxes of Normative Control in a Culture of Friendship. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 21(4): 377–95.
- Costas, J. (2019) Die Macht der Gewalt in Kafkas *Der Proceß*: Jenseits der Disziplinarmacht in Organisationen. In G. Ortmann & M Schuller (Eds.), *Kafka: Organisation; Recht und Schrift*. Weilserswist: Velbrück.
- Costea, B., Crump, N. & Amiridis, K. (2007) Managerialism and Infinite Human Resourcefulness: A Commentary upon The Therapeutic Habitus, Derecognition of Finitude and The Modern Sense of Self. *Journal of Cultural Research*, 11(3): 245-64.
- Cruikshank, B. (1999) *The Will to Empower: Democratic Citizens and Other Subjects*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

- Cunha, M.P., Clegg, S., Rego, A. & Lancione, M. (2012) The Organization (*Ângkar*) as a State of Exception: The Case of the S-21 Extermination Camp, Phnom Penh. *Journal of Political Power*, 5(2): 279–99.
- Cunliffe, A.L. (2011) Crafting Qualitative Research: Morgan and Smircich 30 Years On. Organizational Research Methods, 14(4): 647–73.
- Cutcher, L., Dale. K. & Tyler, M. (2019) Remembering as Forgetting: Organizational Commemoration as a Politics of Recognition. *Organization Studies*, 40(2): 267–90.
- Czarniawska, B. (2012) Organization Theory Meets Anthropology: A Story of an Encounter. *Journal of Business Anthropology*, 1(1): 118–40.
- Czarniawska, B. (2019) Digital Kafka: For Better and for Worse. In G. Ortmann, & M. Schuller (Eds.), *Kafka: Organisation, Recht und Schrift*. Weilerswist: Velbrück Wissenschaft.
- Dean, M. (1995) Governing the Unemployed Self in an Active Society. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24(4): 559–83.
- Dean, M. (2013) *The Signature of Power: Sovereignty, Governmentality and Biopolitics.* London: Sage.
- De Boer, Y.M. (2022) *Happy Life: Agamben's Poetico-Philosophical Experiment*. PhD Thesis. Radboud University Nijmegen.
- De Boever, A. (2016) *Plastic Sovereignties: Agamben and the Politics of Aesthetics*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- De Cock, C. (2000) Reflections on Fiction, Representation, and Organization Studies: An Essay with Special Reference to the Work of Jorge Luis Borges. *Organization Studies*, 21(3): 589–609.
- De Cock, C. (2009) Jumpstarting the Future with Fredric Jameson: Reflections on Capitalism, Science Fiction and Utopia. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 22(4): 437–49.
- De Cock, C. (2020) Railway Tracks. In T. Beyes, R. Holt & C. Pias (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Media, Technology, and Organization Studies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- De la Durantaye, L. (2009) *Giorgio Agamben: A Critical Introduction*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Deleuze, G. & Guattari, F. (1986) *Kafka: Toward a Minor Literature*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Derrida, J. (1979) Speech and Phenomena, and Other Essays on Husserl's Theory of Signs. Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- Derrida, J. (1981) Positions. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Derrida, J. (1995) Points--: Interviews, 1974–1994. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Derrida, J. (2001) Writing and Difference. London: Routledge.
- Derrida, J. (2002) Acts of Religion. New York: Routledge.
- Derrida, J. (2005) *Sovereignties in Question: The Poetics of Paul Celan*. New York: Fordham University Press.

- Derrida, J. (2006) Specters of Marx: The State of the Debt, the Work of Mourning and the New International. London: Routledge.
- Derrida, J. (2009) The Beast and the Sovereign I. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Derrida, J. (2011a) The Beast and the Sovereign II. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Derrida, J. (2011b) Voice and Phenomenon: Introduction to the Problem of the Sign in Husserl's Phenomenology. Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- Derrida, J. (2016) Of Grammatology. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Derrida, J. (2018) *Before the Law: The Complete Text of Préjugés*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Derrida, J. (2020) The Politics of Friendship. London: Verso.
- Deslandes, G. (2020) Weak Theology and Organization Studies. *Organization Studies*, 41(1): 127–39.
- De Vaujany, F.-X., Leclercq-Vandelannoitte, A., Munro, I., Nama, Y. & Holt, R. (2021) Control and Surveillance in Work Practice: Cultivating Paradox in 'New' Modes of Organizing. Organization Studies, 42(5): 675–95.
- DfBIS (2009) *Skills for Growth: The National Skills Strategy*. London: Department for Business, Innovation & Skills.
- DfWP (2007) *Opportunity, Employment and Progression: Making Skills Work.* London: Department for Work and Pensions.
- DfWP (2009) Building Britain's Recovery: Achieving Full Employment. London: Department for Work and Pensions.
- DfWP (2011) *DWP Policy on Interpreting Services for Customers*. London: Department for Work and Pensions.
- DfWP (2014) Our Customer Charter. London: Department for Work and Pensions.
- Dick, P. (2004) Discourse Analysis. In C. Cassell & G. Symon (Eds.), *Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*. London: Sage.
- Dickinson, C. (2022) Giorgio Agamben's Homs Sacer Series: A Critical Introduction and Guide. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Diedrich, A. Eriksson-Zetterquist, U. & Styhre, A. (2011) Sorting People Out: The Uses of One-Dimensional Classificatory Schemes in a Multi-Dimensional World. *Culture & Organization*, 17(4): 271–92.
- Diedrich, A. & Styhre, A. (2008) Making the Refugee Multiple: The Effects of Classification Work. Scandinavian Journal of Management, 24(4): 330–42.
- Dobbin, F. (2009) How Durkheim's Theory of Meaning-making Influenced Organizational Sociology. In P. Adler (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Sociology and Organization Studies: Classical Foundations*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Dobusch, L. (2017). Gender, Dis-/ability and Diversity Management: Unequal Dynamics of Inclusion? *Gender, Work & Organization*, 24(5): 487–505.
- Donahue, L. (2013) Erasing Differences between Derrida and Agamben. *The Oxford Literary Review*, 35(1): 25–45.
- Ds 2007:4 *Arbetsutbud och sysselsättning bland personer med utländsk bakgrund.* Stockholm: Finansdepartementet.

- Duberley, J., Johnson, P. & Cassell, C. (2012) Philosophies Underpinning Qualitative Research. In G. Symon & C. Cassell (Eds.), *Qualitative Organizational Research: Core Methods and Current Challenges*. London: Sage.
- Duberley, J. & Johnson, P. (2016) Methodology: Philosophical Underpinnings and their Implications. In R. Mir, H. Willmott & M. Greenwood (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Philosophy in Organization Studies*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Duff, A. & Ferguson, J. (2012) Disability and the Professional Accountant: Insights from Oral Histories. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 25(1): 71–101.
- Du Plessis, E.M. (2022) Speaking Truth through Power: Conceptualizing Internal Whistleblowing Hotlines with Foucault's Dispositive. *Organization*, 29(4): 544–76.
- Dyck, B. & Wiebe, E. (2012) Salvation, Theology and Organizational Practices across the Centuries. *Organization*, 19(3): 299–324.
- Egan-Wyer, C., Muhr, S.L., Pfeiffer, A. & Svensson, P. (2014) The Ethics of the Brand. *Ephemera*, 14(1): 1–11.
- Eichler, M. & Billsberry, J. (2023) There Is Nothing as Practical as Understanding the Practice of Theory: A Phenomenographic Study of Management Educators' Implicit Theories of Theory. *Management Learning*, 54(2): 244–66.
- Ek, R., Fougère, M. & Skålén, P. (2007) Revisiting Foucault through Reading Agamben: Implications for Workplace Subjectification, De-subjectification and the Dark Side of Organizations. Paper presented at the 5th International Critical Management Studies Conference.
- Elraz, H. & McCabe, D. (2023) Invisible Minds: The Dominant Wellbeing Discourse, Mental Health, Biopower and Chameleon Resistance. *Organization*, 30(3): 490–509.
- Fabian, J. (2014) *The Time of the Other: How Anthropology Makes Its Object*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Farias, C. (2017) That's What Friends Are For: Hospitality and Affective Bonds Fostering Collective Empowerment in an Intentional Community. *Organization Studies*, 38(5): 577–95.
- Farmer, D.J. (1996) The Postmodern Turn and the Socratic Gadfly. *Administrative Theory* & *Praxis*, 18(1): 128–37.
- Fleming, P. (2014) Review Article: When 'Life itself' Goes to Work: Reviewing Shifts in Organizational Life through the Lens of Biopower. *Human Relations*, 67(7): 875– 901.
- Fleming, P. (2015) *The Mythology of Work: How Capitalism Persists Despite Itself.* London: Pluto.
- Fleming, P. (2022) How Biopower Puts Freedom to Work: Conceptualizing 'Pivoting Mechanisms' in the Neoliberal University. *Human Relations*, 75(10): 1986–2007.
- Fleming, P., Godfrey, R. & Lilley, S. (2023) Conceptualizing Business Logistics as an 'Apparatus of Security' and its Implications for Management and Organizational Inquiry. *Human Relations*, 76(10): 1545–66.
- Florida, R. (2012) The Rise of the Creative Class, Revisited. New York: Basic Books.
- Folger, R. & Cropanzano, R. (1998) Organizational Justice and Human Resource Management. Thousand Oaks: Sage.

- Fortin, M. (2008) Perspectives on Organizational Justice: Concept Clarification, Social Context Integration, Time and Links with Morality. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 10(2): 93–126.
- Foucault, M. (1994) *The Order of Things: An Archaeology of the Human Sciences*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Fraiberg, A. (2010) Fiction, Business Studies, and Leadership: From Know-How to Embracing the Impossible. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 3(4): 97–101.
- French, R. (2007) Friendship and Organization: Learning from the Western Friendship Tradition. *Management & Organizational History*, 2(3): 255–72.
- French, R., Case, P. & Gosling; J. (2009) Betrayal and Friendship. Society and Business Review, 4(2): 146–58.
- Frost, T. (2016) Redemption between Politics and Ontology: Agamben on the Coming Politics. *Ephemera*, 16(2): 125–36.
- Funnell, W., Antonelli, V., Bigoni, M., Cafaro, E.M. & D'Alessio, R. (2022) Accounting for Jewish 'Bare Life' in the Fossoli Concentration Camp, 1943–44. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 22(88).
- Fusco, G.G. (2022) *Form of Life: Agamben and the Destitution of Rules.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Gabriel, Y. (1997) Meeting God: When Organizational Members Come Face to Face with the Supreme Leader. *Human Relations*, 50(4): 315–42.
- Gabriel, Y. (2008a) Organizing Words: A Critical Thesaurus for Social and Organization Studies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gabriel, Y. (2008b) Spectacles of Resistance and Resistance of Spectacles. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 21(3): 310–26.
- Gabriel, Y. (2020) Kafka and the COVID-19 Epidemic: Why the Sirens' Silence Is More Deadly than Their Song. *Leadership*, 16(3): 320–30.
- Gherardi, S. (2019) Theorizing Affective Ethnography for Organization Studies. *Organization*, 26(6): 741–60.
- Gibbons, D.E. (2004) Friendship and Advice Networks in the Context of Changing Professional Values. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 49(2): 238–62.
- Godfrey, R. & Lilley, S. (2009) Visual Consumption, Collective Memory and the Representation of War. Consumption, Markets & Culture, 12(4): 275–300.
- Gond, J.-P. & Cabantous, L. (2015) Performativity: Towards a Performative Turn in Organizational Studies. In R. Mir, H. Willmott & M. Greenwood (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Philosophy in Organization Studies*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Gond, J.-P., Cabantous, L., Harding, N. & Learmonth, M. (2016) What Do We Mean by Performativity in Organizational and Management Theory? The Uses and Abuses of Performativity. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 18(4): 440–63.
- González, P.A. (2016) The Organization of Commemorative Space in Postcolonial Cuba: From Civic Square to Square of the Revolution. *Organization*, 23(1): 47–70.

- Good, L. & Cooper, R. (2016) 'But It's Your Job to Be Friendly': Employees Coping with and Contesting Sexual Harassment from Customers in the Service Sector. *Gender*, *Work & Organization*, 23(5): 447–69.
- Goody, J. (1977) *The Domestication of the Savage Mind*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Grey, C. & Sturdy, A. (2007) Friendship and Organizational Analysis: Toward a Research Agenda. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 16(2): 157–72.
- Griffin, M., Humphreys, M. & Learmonth, M. (2015) Doing Free Jazz and Free Organizations, 'A Certain Experience of the Impossible'? Ornette Coleman Encounters Jacques Derrida. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 24(1): 25–35.
- Grint, K. (2010) The Sacred in Leadership: Separation, Sacrifice and Silence. *Organization Studies*, 31(1): 89–107.
- Grint, K. & Nixon, D. (2015) The Sociology of Work. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Gustafsson, H. & Grønstad, A. (2014) (Eds.) *Agamben and Cinema: Ethics, Biopolitics and the Moving Image*. New York: Bloomsbury.
- Haddad, S. (2014) Friendship. In C. Colebrook (Eds.), *Jacques Derrida: Key Concepts*. London: Routledge.
- Hamacher, W. (1994) Afformativ, Streik. In C.L. Hardt Nibbrig (Ed.), *Was heißt* Darstellen? Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Hamacher, W. (2011) Entferntes Verstehen: Studien zur Philosophie und Literatur von Kant bis Celan. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Hamacher, W. (2019) Keinmaleins: Texte zu Celan. Frankfurt: Vittorio Klostermann.
- Hamacher, W. (2020) On the Brink: Language, History, Time, and Politics. London: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Hansen, H.K. & Weiskopf, R. (2021) From Universalizing Transparency to the Interplay of Transparency Matrices: Critical Insights from the Emerging Social Credit System in China. *Organization Studies*, 42(2): 109–28.
- Harney, S. & Morten F. (2013) *The Undercommons: Fugitive Planning and Black Study*. New York: Minor Compositions.
- Hassard, J., Kelemen, M. & Cox, J.W. (2008) *Disorganization Theory: Explorations in Alternative Organizational Analysis.* London: Routledge.
- Hatch, M.J. (2018) Organization Theory: Modern, Symbolic and Postmodern Perspectives. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hatchuel, A. (1999) The Foucauldian Detour: A Rebirth of Organization Theory? *Human Relations*, 52(4): 507–29.
- Haynes, K. (2012) Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. In G. Symon & C. Cassell (Eds.), Qualitative Organizational Research: Core Methods and Current Challenges. London: Sage.
- Heidegger, M. (1972) On Time and Being. New York: Harper & Row.
- Helin, J. (2015) Writing Process after Reading Bakhtin: From Theorizing Plots to Unfinalizable 'Living' Events. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 24(2): 174–85.

- Helin, J., Hernes, T., Hjorth, D. & Holt, R. (2014) Process Is How Process Does. In J. Helin, T. Hernes, D. Hjorth & R. Holt (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Process Philosophy and Organization Studies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Heron, N. (2017) The Ungovernable. In T. Zartaloudis (Ed.), *Agamben and Law*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Hjorth, D. & Reay, T. (2018) Organization Studies: Moving Entrepreneurially Ahead. *Organization Studies*, 39(1): 7–18.
- Hodson, R. (1999) Organizational Anomie and Worker Consent. *Work & Occupations*, 26(3): 292–323.
- Hodson, R., Martin, A.W., Lopez, S.H. & Roscigno, V.J. (2013a) Rules Don't Apply: Kafka's Insights on Bureaucracy. *Organization*, 20(2) 256–78.
- Hodson, R., Roscigno, V.J., Martin, A.W. & Lopez, S.H. (2013b) The Ascension of Kafkaesque Bureaucracy in Private Sector Organizations. *Human Relations*, 66(9): 1249–73.
- Holmqvist, M. (2009) Medicalization of Unemployment: Individualizing Social Issues as Personal Problems in the Swedish Welfare State. Work, Employment & Society, 23(3): 405–21.
- Holmqvist, M. (2010) The Active Welfare State and Its Consequences: A Case Study of Sheltered Employment in Sweden. *European Societies*, 12(2): 209–30.
- Holmqvist, M., Maravelias, C. & Skålén, P. (2013) Identity Regulation in Neo-liberal Societies: Constructing the Occupationally Disabled Individual. *Organization*, 20(2): 193–211.
- Holt, R. & Hjorth, D. (2014) Friedrich Nietzsche (1844–1900). In J. Helin, T. Hernes, D. Hjorth & R. Holt (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Process Philosophy and* Organization Studies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Holt, R. & Sandberg, J. (2011) Phenomenology and Organization Theory. In H. Tsoukas & R. Chia (Eds.), *Philosophy and Organization Theory*. Bingley: Emerald.
- Hoskin, K. (1996) The 'Awful Idea of Accountability': Inscribing People into the Measurement of Objects. In R. Munro & J. Mouritsen (Eds.), Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. London: International Thomson Business Press.
- Huber, C. (2019) Kafka's Before the Law: The Participation of the Subject in Its Subjectification. *Organization Studies*, 40(12): 1823–40.
- Huber C. (2020) The Absent Witness: Bolaño's 2666 as a Case of Fictional Accountability. In C. De Cock, D. O'Doherty, C. Huber & S. Just (Eds.), *Organization 2666.* Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Huber, C. & Munro, I. (2014) Moral Distance in Organizations: An Inquiry into Ethical Violence in the Works of Kafka. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 124(2): 259–69.
- Huber, C. & Scheytt, T. (2013) The Dispositif of Risk Management: Reconstructing Risk Management after the Financial Crisis. *Managing Accounting Research*, 24(2): 88– 99.
- Hultin, L. & Introna, L.D. (2019) On Receiving Asylum Seekers: Identity Working as a Process of Material-Discursive Interpellation. *Organization Studies*, 40(9): 1361–86.

Hölderlin, F. (2015) Gedichte. Berlin: Contumax.

- Höpfl, H. (2002) Playing the Part: Reflections on Aspects of Mere Performance in the Customer-Client Relationship. *Journal of Management Studies*, 39(2): 255–67.
- Höpfl, H. (2003a) Good Order: On the Administration of Goodness. *Tamara: Journal of Critical Organization Inquiry*, 2(3): 28–35.
- Höpfl, H. (2003b) The Body of the Text and the Ordinary Narratives of Organization. InB. Czarniawska & P. Gagliardi (Eds.), *Narratives We Organize By*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Höpfl, H. (2012) Catholicism: Incarnation and Remembrance of the Body. In P. Case, H. Höpfl & H. Letiche (Eds), *Belief and Organizations*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Introna, L.D. (2019) On the Making of Sense in Sensemaking: Decentred Sensemaking in the Meshwork of Life. *Organization Studies*, 40(5): 745–64.
- Jagannathan, S. & Rai, R.K. (2015) Organizing Sovereign Power: Police and the Performance of Bare Bodies. *Organization*, 22(6): 810–31.
- Jammaers, E. & Zanoni, P. (2021) The Identity Regulation of Disabled Employees: Unveiling the Varieties of Ableism in Employers' Socio-ideological Control. Organization Studies, 42(3): 429–52.
- Jepsen, D.M. & Rodwell, J. (2012) Female Perceptions of Organizational Justice. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 19(6): 723–40.
- Johnsen, C.G., Nelund, M., Olaison, L. & Sørensen, B.M. (2017) Organizing for the Postgrowth Economy. *Ephemera*, 17(1): 1–21.
- Johnson, E.R. (2010) Reinventing Biological Life, Reinventing the Human. *Ephemera*, 10(2): 177–93.
- Johnson, P. & Duberley, J. (2011) Anomie and Culture Management: Reappraising Durkheim. *Organization*, 18(4): 563–84.
- Jones, C. (2003) Jacques Derrida. In S. Linstead (Ed.), Organization Theory and Postmodern Thought. London: Sage.
- Jones, C. & Munro, R. (2005) Organization Theory, 1985–2005. In C. Jones & R. Munro (Eds.), *Contemporary Organization Theory*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Jones, C., Parker, M. & Ten Bos, R. (2005) For Business Ethics. London: Routledge.
- Jones, C. & Ten Bos, R. (2007) Introduction. In C. Jones & R. Ten Bos (Eds.), *Philosophy* and Organization. London: Routledge.
- Jonker, J. & Pennink, B.J.W. (2010) The Essence of Research Methodology: A Concise Guide for Master and PhD Students in Management Science. Berlin: Springer.
- Jönsson, H. (2005) A Land of Milk and Money: The Dairy Counter in an Economy of Added Values. In O. Löfgren & R. Willim (Eds.), *Magic, Culture and the New Economy*. Oxford: Berg.
- Jørgensen, T.B. (2012) Weber and Kafka: The Rational and the Enigmatic Bureaucracy. *Public Administration*, 90 (1): 194–210.
- Kafka, F. (1971) The Complete Stories. New York: Schocken Books.
- Kafka, F. (1991) The Blue Octavo Notebooks. Cambridge: Exact Change.

Kafka, F. (2006) The Zürau Aphorisms. London: Harvill Secker.

- Kafka, F. (2009) The Castle. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kafka, F. (2016) Letters to Felice. New York: Schocken Books.
- Kaulingfreks, R., Spoelstra, S. & Ten Bos, R. (2011) Wonders without Wounds: On Singularity, Museum and Organisation. *Management & Organizational History*, 6(3): 311–27.
- Kaulingfreks, R. & Ten Bos, R. (2005) Are Organizations Bicycles? On Hosophobia and Neo-gnosticism in Organizational Thought. *Culture & Organization*, 11(2): 83–96.
- Keenoy, T. & Seijo, G. (2010) Re-imagining E-mail: Academics in The Castle. Organization, 17(2): 177–98.
- Kennedy, E.L. & Lawton, L. (1992) Business Ethics in Fiction. Journal of Business Ethics, 11(3): 187–95.
- Kenny, K. (2020) Lacan, Identities, and Organizations: Potentialities and Impossibilities. In A.D. Brown (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Identities in Organizations*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kenny, K. & Scriver. S. (2012) Dangerously Empty? Hegemony and the Construction of the Irish Entrepreneur. Organization, 19(5): 615–33.
- King James Bible (2008) Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kirkham, L.M. & Loft, A. (1993) Gender and the Construction of the Professional Accountant. Accounting, Organization & Society, 18(6): 507–58.
- Knights, D. & Latham, Y. (2020) Disabled People and Digitalization: Disruptive Documents in Distributing Digital Devices. *Organization Studies*, 41(6): 855–72.
- Knoppers, A., De Han, D., Norman, L. & LaVoi, N. (2022) Elite Women Coaches Negotiating and Resisting Power in Football. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 29(3): 880–97.
- Knox, H., O'Doherty, D.P., Vurdubakis, T. & Westrup, C. (2015) Something Happened: Spectres of Organization/Disorganization at the Airport. *Human Relations*, 68(6): 1001–20.
- Knudsen, M. (2006) Autolysis within Organizations: A Case Study. *Soziale Systeme*, 12(1): 79–99.
- Kociatkiewicz, J. & Kostera, M. (2019) Textual *Flâneurie*: Writing Management with Walter Benjamin. *Ephemera*, 19(1): 163–78.
- Kociatkiewicz, J., Kostera, M. & Zueva, A. (2022) The Ghost of Capitalism: A Guide to Seeing, Naming and Exorcising the Spectre Haunting the Business School. *Management Learning*, 53(2): 310–30.
- Komporozos-Athanasiou, A. & Fotaki, M. (2015) Imagination in Organizational Creativity: Insights from the Radical Ontology of Cornelius Castoriadis. In R. Garud, B. Simpson, A. Langley & H. Tsoukas (Eds.), *The Emergence of Novelty in Organizations*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Korber, S., Hibbert, P., Callagher, L., Siedlok, F. & Elsahn, Z. (2024) We-experience and the Maintenance of Workplace Friendships: Being Workplace Friends Together. *Management Learning*, 55(3): 406–31.

- Kornberger, M., Clegg, S. & Carter, C. (2006) Rethinking the Polyphonic Organization: Managing as Discursive Practice. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 22(1): 3– 30.
- Kotsko, A. & Salzani, C. (2017) Introduction: Agamben as a Reader. In A. Kotsko & C. Salzani (Eds.), *Agamben's Philosophical Lineage*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Kuismin, A. (2022) A Sense of Spacing: Toward A Diffractive Reading of Organizational Space. *Management Learning*, 53(4): 718–33.
- Kyrtatas, D.J. (2004) Paradise in Heaven and on Earth: Western Ideas of Perfect (Non)-Organization. In Y. Gabriel (Ed.), *Myths, Stories and Organizations: Premodern Narratives for Our Times*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Land, C. (2001) Exploring the (Expanded) Realm of Organization: Celebrations of a Cooperian Revolution. *Ephemera*, 1(4): 404–22.
- Lawlor, L. (2011) Translator's Introduction: The Germinal Structure of Derrida's Thought. In J. Derrida, Voice and Phenomenon: Introduction to the Problem of the Sign in Husserl's Phenomenology. Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- Leitgeb, H. & Vismann, C. (2001) Das Unheilige Leben: Ein Gespräch mit dem Italienischen Philosophen Giorgio Agamben. *Literaturen*, 2(1): 16–21.
- Leonard, P. (2004) Westerns, Weddings and Web-Weavers: Reading Gender as Genre in Organizational Theory. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 11(1): 74–94.
- Le Theule, M.-A., Lambert, C. & Morales, J. (2020) Governing Death: Organizing End-oflife Situations. *Organization Studies*, 41(4): 523–42.
- Letiche, H. (2008) Humanist Organizational Studies: An Intersubjective Research Agenda for Open(-plan) Fieldwork. In D. Barry & H. Hansen (Eds.), *The Sage Handbook of New Approaches in Management and Organization*. Los Angelos: Sage.
- Letiche, H. & Maier, J. (2005) Glissement: Gaming with(out) the Matrix. In S. Linstead & A. Linstead (Eds.), *Thinking Organization*. London: Routledge.
- Letiche, H. & Moriceau, J.-L. (2013) Leadership: The Madness of the Day by Maurice Blanchot. In J. Gosling & P. Villiers (Eds.), *Fictional Leaders: Heroes, Villains and Absent Friends*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Liebig, S. (1997) Soziale Gerechtigkeitsforschung und Gerechtigkeit in Unternehmen. München: Hampp.
- Linstead, S. (2000) Ashes and Madness: The Play of Negativity and the Poetics of Organization. In S. Linstead & H. Höpfl (Eds.), *The Aesthetics of Organization*. London: Sage.
- Linstead, S. & Westwood, R. (2001) Meaning Beyond Language: Monstrous Openings. In R. Westwood & S. Linstead (Eds.), *The Language of Organization*. London: Sage.
- Lorino, P. (2018) Pragmatism and Organization Studies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Luhmann, N. (1990) Essays on Self-reference. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Luhmann, N. (1994) Funktionen und Folgen Formaler Organisation. Berlin: Duncker & Humblot.
- Luhmann, N. (2004) Law as a Social System. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Luhmann, N. (2018a) Gesellschaftliche Organisation. In N. Luhmann (Ed.), Schriften zur Organisation: Die Wirklichkeit der Organisation. Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Luhmann, N. (2018b) Organization and Decision. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Luhmann, N. (2019) Membership and Motives in Social Systems. In N. Luhmann (Ed.), Schriften zur Organisation: Theorie Organisierter Sozialsysteme. Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Macdonald, S. & Kam, J. (2011) The Skewed Few: People and Papers of Quality in Management Studies. Organization, 18(4): 467–75.
- Malavé, J. & Cooper, R. (1991) On the (Organizational) Context of (Managerial) Competence. *Management Research News*, 14(7/8/9): 49–56.
- Maravelias, C. (2018) Faster, Harder, Longer, Stronger—Management at the Threshold between Work and Private Life: The Case of Work Place Health Promotion. *Culture* & Organization, 24(5): 331–47.
- Martí, I. & Fernández, P. (2013) The Institutional Work of Oppression and Resistance: Learning from the Holocaust. *Organization Studies*, 34(8): 1195–223.
- McCabe, D. (2014) Light in the Darkness? Managers in the Back Office of a Kafkaesque Bank. *Organization Studies*, 35(2): 255–78.
- McCabe, D. (2015) The Tyranny of Distance: Kafka and the Problem of Distance in Bureaucratic Organizations. *Organization*, 22(1): 58–77.
- McDowell, L. (1997) Capital Culture: Gender at Work in the City. Oxford: Blackwell.
- McDowell, L. (2002) Transitions to Work: Masculine Identities, Youth Inequality and Labour Market Change. *Gender, Place & Culture*, 9(1): 39–59.
- McKinlay, A. (2010) Performativity: From J.L. Austin to Judith Butler. In P. Armstrong & G. Lightfoot (Eds.), *The Leading Journal in the Field: Destabilizing Authority in the Social Sciences of Management*. London: Mayfly.
- Middlemiss, A.L., Boncori, I., Brewis, J., Davies, J. & Newton, V.L. (2024) Employment Leave for Early Pregnancy Endings: A Biopolitical Reproductive Governance Analysis in England and Wales. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 31(1): 75–91.
- Miller, J.C. & Stovall, T. (2019) The Right to Consume? Re-thinking the Dynamics of Exclusion/Inclusion in Consumer Society. *Consumption, Markets & Culture*, 22(5/6): 568–81.
- Mills, C. (2008) The Philosophy of Agamben. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Mir, A., Toor, S. & Mir, R. (2015) Of Race and Religion: Understanding the Roots of Anti-Muslim Prejudice in the United States. In R. Bendl, I. Bleijenbergh, E. Henttonen & A.J. Mills (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Diversity in Organizations*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mir, R. & Jain, S. (2018) Embracing a Constructed Boundary: Mapping Qualitative Research in Organizational Studies. In R. Mir & S. Jain (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Qualitative Research in Organization Studies*. New York: Routledge.
- Mirchandani, K. (2015) Flesh in Voice: The No-Touch Embodiment of Transnational Customer Service Workers. *Organization*, 22(6): 909–23.

- Moisander, J., Groß, C. & Eräranta, K. (2018) Mechanisms of Biopower and Neoliberal Governmentality in Precarious Work: Mobilizing the Dependent Self-Employed as Independent Business Owners. *Human Relations*, 71(3): 375–98.
- Moonesirust, E. & Brown, A.D. (2021) Company Towns and the Governmentality of Desired Identities. *Human Relations*, 74(4), 502–26.
- Moran, B.P. (2018) *Politics of Benjamin's Kafka: Philosophy as Renegade*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Morgan, G. (2006) Images of Organization. London: Sage.
- Morgan, G. & Smircich, L. (1980) The Case for Qualitative Research. Academy of Management Review, 5(4): 491–500.
- Moriceau, J.-L. (2017) I Thought I only Had to Have an Idea (L'Homme qui Marche). *M@n@gement*, 20(3): 298–99.
- Mueller, F. & Whittle, A. (2011) Translating Management Ideas: A Discursive Devices Analysis. *Organization Studies*, 32(2): 187–210.
- Muniesa, F. (2014) *The Provoked Economy: Economic Reality and the Performative Turn.* London: Routledge.
- Munro, I. (2000). Non-Disciplinary Power and the Network Society. *Organization*, 7(4): 679–95.
- Munro, I. (2012) The Management of Circulations: Biopolitical Variations after Foucault. International Journal of Management Reviews, 14(3): 345–62.
- Munro, R. (1998a) Belonging on the Move: Market Rhetoric and the Future as Obligatory Passage. *Sociological Review*, 46(2): 208–43.
- Munro, R. (1998b) Masculinity and Madness. In J. Hassard & R. Holliday (Eds.), Organization-Representation: Work and Organization in Popular Culture. London: Sage.
- Munro, R. (1999) Power and Discretion: Membership Work in the Time of Technology. *Organization*, 6(3): 429–50.
- Munro, R. (2002) The Consumption of Time and Space: Utopias and the English Romantic Garden. In M. Parker (Ed.), *Utopia and Organization*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Munro, R. (2004) Just Waiting: Endless Deferral and the Social Injustice of Suspending Participants between Bidding and Evaluation. In R. Lippens (Ed.), *Imaginary Boundaries of Justice: Social and Legal Justice across Disciplines*. Oxford: Hart.
- Munro, R. (2005) Outside Paradise: Melancholy and the Follies of Modernisation. *Culture & Organization*, 11(4): 275–89.
- Munro, R. (2010) Not for Turning? Power, Institutional Ethos and the Ethics of Irreversibility. *Business Ethics*, 19(3): 292–307.
- Munro, R. (2011) Identity. In M. Tadajewski, P. Maclaran, E. Parsons & M. Parker (Eds.), Key Concepts in Critical Management Studies. London: Sage.
- Munro, R. (2015) Consumption and Identity. In D.T. Cook & J.M. Ryan (Eds.), The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Consumption and Consumer Studies. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Murray, A. (2010) Giorgio Agamben. London: Routledge.

- Murtola, A.-M. (2010) Commodification of Utopia: The Lotus Eaters Revisited. *Culture & Organization*, 16(1): 37–54.
- Murtola, A.-M. (2012) Materialist Theology and Anti-Capitalist Resistance, or What Would Jesus Buy? *Organization*, 19(3): 325–44.
- Nasir, M.A. (2012) Logic of the Absurd: Reading Kafka in a Kafkaesque World. *Administrative Theory & Praxis*, 34(1): 40–59.
- Nayak, A. (2008) Method. In R. Thorpe & R. Holt (Eds.), *The SAGE Dictionary of Qualitative Management Research*. London: Sage.
- Nedoh, B. (2017) Biopolitics before Foucault: On Benjamin's Critique of Bare Life and Agamben's Theological Genealogy of the 'Apparatus'. In S. Prozorov & S. Rentea (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Biopolitics*. London: Routledge.
- Nedoh, B. (2022) Mass Migrations as a Messianic Event? Rereading Agamben's State of Exception in Light of the Refugee Crisis in Europe. *Law, Culture and the Humanities*, 18(2): 272–89.
- Newton, T. (1995) Managing Stress: Emotion and Power at Work. London: Sage.
- Ng, T.W.H. & Feldman, D.C. (2013) Age and Innovation-Related Behavior: The Joint Moderating Effects of Supervisor Undermining and Proactive Personality. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34(5): 583–06.
- Nguyen, D.L. (2019) Stupidity and the Threshold of Life, Language and Law in Derrida and Agamben. *Derrida Today*, 12(1): 41–58.
- Nixon, D. (2006) 'I just Like Working with my Hands': Employment Aspirations and the Meaning of Work for Low-Skilled Unemployed Men in Britain's Service Economy. *Journal of Education & Work*, 19(2): 201–17.
- Nixon, D. (2009) 'I Can't Put a Smiley Face On': Working-Class Masculinity, Emotional Labour and Service Work in the 'New Economy'. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 16(3): 300–22.
- Nyberg, D. & De Cock, C. (2022) In these Critical Times: Of Monstrosity, Catastrophe, and the Future of Critique. *Ephemera*, 22(3): 151–81.
- O'Doherty, D.P. (2007) The Question of Theoretical Excess: Folly and Fall in Theorizing Organization. *Organization*, 14(6): 837–67.
- O'Doherty, D.P. (2017) *Reconstructing Organization: The Loungification of Society*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- OED (2023) Oxford English Dictionary. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- OECD (2011) *Recruiting Immigrant Workers: Sweden 2011*. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- Oertel, S. & Thommes, K. (2018) History as a Source of Organizational Identity Creation. *Organization Studies*, 39(12): 1709–31.
- Ortmann, G. (2010) On Drifting Rules and Standards. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 26(2): 204–14.
- Ortmann, G. (2011) Landnahme: Die Ausnahme, das Lager und der Terror. In G. Ortmann, M. Schuller & H. Schmale (Eds.), *Ortlose Moral: Identität und Normen in einer sich wandelnden Welt.* Paderborn: Brill.

- Ossewaarde, M. (2019) Kafka on Gender, Organization and Technology: The Role of Bureaucratic Eros in Administering Change. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 26(7): 1000–16.
- Oswick, C. (2012) Discourse Analysis and Discursive Research. In G. Symon & C. Cassell (Eds.), *Qualitative Organizational Research: Core Methods and Current Challenges*. London: Sage.
- Oswick, C., Keenoy, T. & Grant, D. (2002) Metaphor and Analogical Reasoning in Organization Theory: Beyond Orthodoxy. *The Academy of Management Review*, 27(2): 294–303.
- Ott, J.S., Parkes, S.J. & Simpson, R.B. (2003) *Classic Readings in Organizational Behavior*. Fort Worth: Thomson/Wadsworth.
- Painter-Morland, M. & Ten Bos, R. (2011) *Business Ethics and Continental Philosophy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Parker, M. (2002) *Against Management: Organization in the Age of Managerialism.* Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Parker, M. (2005) Organisational Gothic. Culture & Organization, 11(3): 153-66.
- Parker, M. (2009) Angelic Organization: Hierarchy and the Tyranny of Heaven. *Organization Studies*, 30(11): 1281–99.
- Parker, M. (2011) Organizing the Circus: The Engineering of Miracles. Organization Studies, 32(4): 555–69.
- Parker, M. (2016) Organization and Philosophy: Vision and Division. In R. Mir, H. Willmott & M. Greenwood (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Philosophy in Organization Studies*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Parker, M. (2018) *Shut Down the Business School: What's Wrong with Management Education.* London: Pluto Press.
- Parker, M. (2021) The Genealogy of the Zoo: Collection, Park and Carnival. *Organization*, 28(4): 604–20.
- Parker, M. (2022) Weeds: Classification, Organization, and Wilding. Organization Theory, 3(4): 1–16.
- Parker, M. & Cooper, R. (2016) Cyborganization: Cinema as Nervous Systems. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), For Robert Cooper: Collected Work. New York: Routledge.
- Parker, M., Fournier, V. & Reedy, P. (2007) The Dictionary of Alternatives: Utopianism and Organization. London: Zed Books.
- Parker, M., Swann, T. & Stoborod, K. (2020) Introduction: Management and Anarchism, and Organization. In M. Parker, K. Stoborod & T. Swann (Eds.), *Anarchism, Organization and Management: Critical Perspectives for Students*. London: Routledge.
- Pelzer, P. (2002) Disgust and Organization. Human Relations, 55(7): 841-60.
- Pezet, E. (2004) Discipliner et Gouverner: Influence de Deux Thèmes Foucaldiens en Sciences de Gestion. *Finance Contrôle Stratégie*, 7(3): 169–89.
- Philippopoulos-Mihalopoulos, A. (2010) Niklas Luhmann: Law, Justice, Society. Abingdon: Routledge.

- Picard, H. & Islam, G. (2020) 'Free to Do What I Want'? Exploring the Ambivalent Effects of Liberating Leadership. *Organization Studies*, 41(3): 393–414.
- Pillemer, J. & Rothbard, N.P. (2018) Friends without Benefits: Understanding the Dark Side of Workplace Friendship. Academy of Management Review, 43(4): 635–60.
- Plotnikof, M., Vásquez, C., Kuhn, T. & Mumby, D. (2022) Towards a Politics of Dis/Organization: Relations of Dis/Order in Organization Theory and Practice. *Ephemera*, 22(1): 1–26.
- Pors, J.G. (2015) Is the System Badly Named? Noise as the Paradoxical (Non-)Foundation of Social Systems Theory. *Cybernetics & Human Knowing*, 22(4): 75–89.
- Pors, J.G. & Andersen, N.Å. (2015) Playful Organizations: Undecidability as a Scarce Resource. *Culture & Organization*, 21(4): 338–54.
- Porter, T.M. (1994) Objectivity as Standardization: The Rhetoric of Impersonality in Measurement, Statistics, and Cost-Benefit Analysis. In A. Megill (Ed.), *Rethinking Objectivity*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Prasad, A. (2002) The Contest over Meaning: Hermeneutics as an Interpretative Methodology for Understanding Texts. Organizational Research Methods, 5(1): 12– 33.
- Prasad, P. (2018) Crafting Qualitative Research: Beyond Positivist Traditions. New York: Routledge.
- Primera, G.E. (2019) *The Political Ontology of Giorgio Agamben: Signatures of Life and Power*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Prozorov, S. (2014) *Agamben and Politics: A Critical Introduction*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Pullen, A., Helin, J. & Harding, N. (2020) *Writing Differently*. Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Quattrone, P. (2000) Constructivism and Accounting Research: Towards a Transdisciplinary Perspective. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 13(2): 130–55.
- Quattrone, P. (2006) The Possibility of the Testimony: A Case for Case Study Research. *Organization*, 13(1): 143–57.
- Raffnsøe, S., Gudmand-Høyer, M. & Thaning, M.S. (2016a) Foucault's Dispositive: The Perspicacity of Dispositive Analytics in Organizational Research. *Organization*, 23(2): 272–98.
- Raffnsøe, S., Thaning, M.S. & Gudmand-Høyer, M. (2016b) *Michel Foucault: A Research Companion*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rasche, A. (2010) The Limits of Corporate Responsibility Standards. *Business Ethics*, 19(3): 280–91.
- Rasche, A. (2011a) Corporate Responsibility Standards. In M. Painter-Morland & R. Ten Bos (Eds.), *Business Ethics and Continental Philosophy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rasche, A. (2011b) Organizing Derrida Organizing: Deconstruction and Organization Theory. In H. Tsoukas & R. Chia (Eds.), *Philosophy and Organization Theory*. Bingley: Emerald.

- Raulff, U. (2004) An Interview with Giorgio Agamben. *German Law Journal*, 5(5): 609–14.
- Reed, C. & Thomas, R. (2021) The Generation Game: Governing through Bio-Politics. *Management Learning*, 52(1): 47–64.
- Reed, M. & Burrell, G. (2019) Theory and Organization Studies: The Need for Contestation. Organisation Studies, 40(1): 39–54.
- Rehberg, P. (2007) Lachen Lesen: Zur Komik der Moderne bei Kafka. Bielefeld: Transcript.
- Rhodes, C. (2000) Reading and Writing Organizational Lives. Organization, 7(1): 7-29.
- Rhodes, C. (2004) Utopia in Popular Management Writing and the Music of Bruce Springsteen: Do You Believe in the Promised Land? *Consumption, Markets & Culture*, 7(1): 1–20.
- Rhodes, C. (2007) Outside the Gates of Eden: Utopia and Work in Rock Music. Group & Organization Management, 32(1): 22–49.
- Rhodes, C. (2011) Organizational Justice. In M. Painter-Morland & R. Ten Bos (Eds.), Business Ethics and Continental Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rhodes, C. (2012) Ethics, Alterity and the Rationality of Leadership Justice. *Human Relations*, 65(10): 1311–31.
- Rhodes, C. & Brown, A.D. (2005) Writing Responsibly: Narrative Fiction and Organization Studies. *Organization*, 12(4): 467–91.
- Rhodes, C. & Kornberger, M. (2009) Writing in the Crowded Margin: Transgression, Postmodernism and Organization Studies. In A. Pullen & C. Rhodes (Eds.), *Bits of Organization*. Malmö: Liber.
- Rhodes, C. & Pitsis, A. (2008) Organization and Mimetic Excess: Magic, Critique and Style. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 38(1): 71–91.
- Rhodes, C. & Westwood, R. (2016) The Limits of Generosity: Lessons on Ethics, Economy, and Reciprocity in Kafka's The Metamorphosis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 133(2): 235–48.
- Riad, S. (2024) Organization Encounters a New Virus: A Cautionary Tale of Othering and (Not) Learning. *Management Learning*, 55(44): 501–27.
- Richards, S. (2019) A Fragile Threshold: Tracing Agamben's Reply to Derrida's Critique. *Journal of Cultural Research*, 23(4): 333–47.
- Richter, N. & Donat, C.K. (2015) Of Mice and Man. Ephemera, 15(1): 307-18.
- Rosenthal, P. & Peccei, R. (2006a) The Customer Concept in Welfare Administration: Front-Line Views in Jobcentre Plus. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 19(1): 67–78.
- Rosenthal, P. & Peccei, R. (2006b) The Social Construction of Clients by Service Agents in Reformed Welfare Administration. *Human Relations*, 59(12): 1633–58.
- Rosenthal, P. & Peccei, R. (2007) 'The Work You Want, the Help You Need': Constructing the Customer in Jobcentre Plus. *Organization*, 14(2): 201–23.

- Rumens, N. (2008) Working at Intimacy: Gay Men's Workplace Friendships. Gender, Work & Organization, 15(1): 9–30.
- Rumens, N. (2010) Workplace Friendships between Men: Gay Men's Perspectives and Experiences. *Human Relations*, 63(10): 1541–62.
- Rumens, N. (2012) Queering Cross-sex Friendships: An Analysis of Gay and Bisexual Men's Workplace Friendships with Heterosexual Women. *Human Relations*, 65(8): 955–78.
- Rumens, N. (2016) Sexualities and Accounting: A Queer Theory Perspective. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 35(1): 111–20.
- Salzani, C. (2017a) In a Messianic Gesture: Agamben's Kafka. In T. Zartaloudis (Ed.), *Agamben and Law.* Farnham: Ashgate.
- Salzani, C. (2017b) Walter Benjamin. In A. Kotsko & C. Salzani (Eds.), *Agamben's Philosophical Lineage*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Salzani, C. (2019) Kafka's Creaturely Life. In G. Ortmann & M. Schuller (Eds.), *Kafka:* Organisation; Recht und Schrift. Weilserswist: Velbrück.
- Salzani, C. (2020) Beyond Human and Animal: Giorgio Agamben and Life as Potential. In F. Cimatti & C. Salzani (Eds.), *Animality in Contemporary Italian Philosophy*. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Sandelands, L.E. (2003) The Argument for God from Organization Studies. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 12(2): 168–77.
- Sandelands, L.E. (2008) Thy Will Be Done? *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 17(2): 137–42.
- Sandelands, L.E. (2012) In God We Trust: A Comparison of Spiritualities at Work. In K.S. Cameron & G.M. Spreitzer (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Positive Organizational Scholarship*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sandelands, L.E. & Drazin, R. (1989) On the Language of Organization Theory. Organization Studies, 10(4): 457–78.
- Sargiacomo, M. (2015) Earthquakes, Exceptional Government and Extraordinary Accounting. *Accounting, Organizations & Society*, 42(3): 67–89.
- Sayers, J.G. (2016) A Report to an Academy: On Carnophallogocentrism, Pigs and Meatwriting. *Organization*, 23(3): 370–86.
- Schellmann, M. (2018) *The Politics of Organizing Refugee Camps*. PhD Thesis. Copenhagen Business School.
- Schoneboom, A. (2015) The Romance of the Lowly Clerk: Recognizing the Tradition of Office Intellectualism. *Organization*, 22(6): 832–46.
- Schuller, M. (2019) Verschwinden ohne Ende: Ein Schluss-Licht. In G. Ortmann & M. Schuller (Eds.), Kafka: Organisation; Recht und Schrift. Weilserswist: Velbrück.
- Schütz, A. (2011) The Fading Memory of Homo Non Sacer. In J. Clemens, N. Heron & A. Murray (Eds.), *The Work of Giorgio Agamben: Law, Literature, Life*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Seidl, D. (2006) The Basic Concepts of Luhmann's Theory of Social Systems. In D. Seidl & K.H. Becker (Eds.), *Niklas Luhmann and Organization Studies*. Malmö: Liber.

- Seidl, D. & Mormann, H. (2014) Niklas Luhmann as Organization Theorist. In P. Adler, P. du Gay, G. Morgan & M. Reed (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Sociology, Social Theory, and Organization Studies: Contemporary Currents*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Shakespeare, W. (1994) A Midsummer Night's Dream. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Simons, R.L. (1934) The Garden of Sweden. The North American Review, 238(5): 414-20.
- Skoglund, A. & Redmalm, D. (2017) 'Doggy-biopolitics': Governing via the First Dog. Organization, 24(2): 240–66.
- Śliwa, M., Sørensen, B.M. & Cairns, G. (2015) 'You Have to Choose a Novel': The Biopolitics of Critical Management Education. *Management Learning*, 46(3): 243– 59.
- Śliwa, M., Spoelstra, S., Sørensen, B.M. & Land, C. (2013) Profaning the Sacred in Leadership Studies: A Reading of Murakami's 'A Wild Sheep Chase'. Organization, 20(6): 860–80.
- Sloterdijk, P. (2013) You Must Change Your Life: On Anthropotechnics. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Smith, J. (2004) I Am Sure that You Are More Pessimistic than I Am: An Interview with Giorgio Agamben. *Rethinking Marxism*, 16(2): 115–24.
- Smith, W., Higgins, M., Kokkinidis, G. & Parker, M. (2018) Becoming Invisible: The Ethics and Politics of Imperceptibility. *Culture and Organization*, 24(1): 54–73.
- Snoek, A. (2012) Agamben's Joyful Kafka: Finding Freedom Beyond Subordination. New York: Bloomsbury.
- SOU 2000:7 Långtidsutredningen 1999/2000. Stockholm: Finansdepartementet.
- SOU 2007:18 Arbetsmarknadsutbildning för bristyrken och insatser för arbetslösa ungdomar. Stockholm: Arbetsmarknadsdepartementet.
- SOU 2008:58 *Egenansvar med professionellt stöd*. Stockholm: Arbetsmarknadsdepartementet.
- Spivak, G.T. (2016) Translator's Preface. In J. Derrida, *Of Grammatology*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Spoelstra, S. (2007) What Is Organization? Lund: Lund Business Press.
- Spoelstra, S. (2016) Robert Cooper: Beyond Organization. In G. Burrell & M. Parker (Eds.), *For Robert Cooper: Collected Work*. New York: Routledge.
- Spoelstra, S. (2021) Theory's Best Practice. Ephemera, 21(4): 163-79.
- Spoelstra, S. (2022) Leadership and the Stings of Command. *Ephemera*, 22(1): 155–71.
- Spoelstra, S. (2024) Taking Credit for Stupidity: On Being a Student in the Performative University. *Management Learning*, 55(4): 641–53.
- Spoelstra, S., Butler, N. & Delaney, H. (2021) Measures of Faith: Science and Belief in Leadership Studies. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 30(3): 300–11.
- Srinivas, N. (2012) The Possibilities of the Past: Two Routes to a Past and What They Tell Us about Professional Power. *Management & Organizational History*, 7(3): 237–49.

- Stavrakakis, Y. (2014) Debt Society: Psychosocial Aspects of the (Greek) Crisis. In K. Kenny & M. Fotaki (Eds.), *The Psychosocial and Organization Studies: Affect at Work*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Stevens, S. (2017) Life and Letting Die: A Story of the Homeless, Autonomy, and Anti-Social Behaviour. Organization Studies, 38(5): 669–90.
- Steyaert, C. (2010) Queering Space: Heterotopic Life in Derek Jarman's Garden. *Gender*, *Work & Organization*, 17(1): 45–68.
- Strathern, M. (1992) *After Nature: English Kinship in the Late Twentieth Century.* Cambridge: Cambridge.
- Strati, A. (2000) *Theory and Method in Organization Studies: Paradigms and Choices*. London: Sage.
- Styhre, A. (2010) Visual Culture in Organizations: Theory and Cases. New York: Routledge.
- Styhre, A. (2012) Organizations and the Bioeconomy: The Management and Commodification of the Life Sciences. New York: Routledge.
- Styhre. A. (2024) *The Value of Theorizing. How New Theory Matters in Research Work and University Governance Practice.* Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Stäheli, U. (2003) Financial Noises: Inclusion and the Promise of Meaning. *Soziale Systeme*, 9(2): 244–56.
- Suddaby, R., Foster, W.H. & Tank, C.Q. (2010) Rhetorical History as a Source of Competitive Advantage. In J.A.C. Baum & J. Lampel (Eds.), *The Globalization of Strategy Research*. Bingley: Emerald.
- Swann, T. & Ghelfi, A. (2019) Pink Organizing: Notes on Communication, Selforganization, Noise and Radical Social Movements. *Organization*, 26(5): 696–715.
- Swiffen, A. (2012) Derrida contra Agamben: Sovereignty, Biopower, History. *Societies*, 2(1): 345–56.
- Sørensen, B.M. (2004) *Making Events Work: Or, How to Multiply Your Crisis.* PhD Thesis. Copenhagen Business School.
- Sørensen, B.M. (2008) 'Behold, I am Making all Things New': The Entrepreneur as Savior in the Age of Creativity. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 24(2): 85–93.
- Sørensen, B.M. (2010) St Paul's Conversion: The Aesthetic Organization of Labour. Organization Studies, 31(3): 307–26.
- Sørensen, B.M. (2014a) Changing the Memory of Suffering: An Organizational Aesthetics of the Dark Side. *Organization Studies*, 35(2): 279–302.
- Sørensen, B.M. (2014b) The Method of Juxtaposition: Unfolding the Visual Turn in Organization Studies. In E. Bell, S. Warren & J. Schroeder (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Visual Organization*. London: Routledge.
- Sørensen, B.M. & Spoelstra, S. (2013) Faith. In C. Luetge (Ed.), *Handbook of the Philosophical Foundations of Business Ethics*. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Tasselli, S. (2019) Love and Organization Studies: Moving beyond the Perspective of Avoidance. *Organization Studies*, 49(7): 1073–88.

- Tasselli, S. & Kilduff, M. (2018) When Brokerage between Friendship Cliques Endangers Trust: A Personality-Network Fit Perspective. Academy of Management Journal, 61(3): 802–25.
- Tedmanson, D. (2008) Isle of Exception: Sovereign Power and Palm Island. *Critical Perspectives on International Business*, 4(2/3): 142–65.
- Ten Bos, R. (2000) Fashion and Utopia in Management Thinking. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Ten Bos, R. (2003) Business Ethics, Accounting and the Fear of Melancholy. *Organization*, 10(2): 267–85.
- Ten Bos, R. (2004) The Fear of Wolves: Anti-Hodological Ruminations about Organizations and Labyrinths. *Culture & Organization*, 10(1): 7–24.
- Ten Bos, R. (2005a) Giorgio Agamben and the Community without Identity. In C. Jones & R. Munro (Eds.), *Contemporary Organization Theory*. Malden: Blackwell Publishing.
- Ten Bos, R. (2005b) On the Possibility of Formless Life: Agamben's Politics of the Gesture. *Ephemera*, 5(1): 26–44.
- Ten Bos, R. & Rhodes, C. (2003) The Game of Exemplarity: Subjectivity, Work and the Impossible Politics of Purity. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 19(4): 403–23.
- Thanem, T. & Wallenberg, L. (2015) Monstrous Ethics. In A. Pullen & C. Rhodes (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Ethics, Politics and Organization*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Thaning, M.S., Gudmand-Høyer, M. & Raffnsøe, S. (2016) Ungovernable: Reassessing Foucault's Ethics in Light of Agamben's Pauline Conception of Use. *International Journal of Philosophy and Theology*, 77(3): 191–218.
- Thorne, K. (2009) Will the People United in Cyberspace never Be Defeated? Reflections on the Global Multitude in the Epoch of American Empire. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 20(2): 255–66.
- Thurschwell, A. (2003) Specters of Nietzsche: Potential Futures for the Concept of the Political in Agamben and Derrida. *Cardozo Law Review*, 24(3): 1193–260.
- Thurschwell, A. (2004) Specters of Nietzsche: Potential Futures for the Concept of the Political in Agamben and Derrida. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 969055. Rochester: Social Science Research Network.
- Thurschwell, A. (2005) Cutting the Branches of Akiba: Agamben's Critique of Derrida. In A. Norris (Ed.), *Politics, Metaphysics, and Death: Essays on Giorgio Agamben's Homo Sacer*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Townley, B. (1994) Writing in Friendship. Organization, 1(1): 24-8.
- Townley, B. (2014) Bourdieu and Organizational Theory: A Ghostly Apparition? In P. Adler, P. du Gay, M. Glenn & M. Reed (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Sociology, Social Theory, and Organization Studies: Contemporary Currents*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Trakl, G. (2011) Poems. Oberlin: Oberlin College Press.

- Tsoukas, H. (2017) Don't Simplify, Complexify: From Disjunctive to Conjunctive Theorizing in Organization and Management Studies. *Journal of Management Studies*, 54(2): 132–53.
- Twyford, E.J (2021) A Thanatopolitical Visualisation of Accounting History: Giorgio Agamben and Nazi Germany. *Accounting History*, 26(3): 352–74.
- Twyford, E.J. & Funnell, W. (2023) Accounting for the Nazi Aryanisation of German Banks. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 36(1): 1–23.
- Tyler, M. & Taylor, S. (1998) The Exchange of Aesthetics: Women's Work and 'The Gift'. *Gender, Work & Organisation*, 5(3): 165–71.
- Vachhani, S.J. (2015) Organizing Love: Thoughts on the Transformative and Activist Potential of Feminine Writing. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 22(2): 148–62.
- Valtonen, A. & Pullen, A. (2021) Writing with Rocks. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 28(2): 506–22.
- Vandenbosch, B., Saatcioglu, A. & Fay, S. (2006) Idea Management: A Systemic View. Journal of Management Studies, 43(2): 259–88.
- Van den Bussche, P. & Morales, J. (2019) Performing (in) the Community: Accounting, Biopower and the Sharing Economy. In R.W. Belk, G.M. Eckhardt, & F. Bardhi (Eds.), *Handbook of the Sharing Economy*. London: Routledge.
- Van der Ven, N. (2011) The Shame of Reason in Organizational Change: A Levinassian Perspective. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Van Laer, K., Jammaers, E. & Hoeven, W. (2022) Disabling Organizational Spaces: Exploring the Processes through which Spatial Environments Disable Employees with Impairments. *Organization*, 29(6): 1018–35.
- Varman, R. (2018) Violence, Markets and Marketing. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 34(11–12): 903–12.
- Villadsen, K. (2021) The Dispositive: Foucault's Concept for Organizational Analysis. Organization Studies, 42(3): 473–94.
- Villadsen, K. (2024) Heidegger and Foucault on Modern Technology: Does *Gestell* 'Correspond perfectly' to *Dispositif? Journal of Political Power*, 17(2): 169–87.
- Villadsen, K. & Wahlberg, A. (2015) The Government of Life: Managing Populations, Health and Scarcity. *Economy & Society*, 44(1): 1–17.
- Walker, M., Fleming, P. & Berti, M. (2021) 'You Can't Pick up a Phone and Talk to Someone': How Algorithms Function as Biopower in the Gig Economy. *Organization*, 28(1): 26–43.
- Warner, M. (2007) Kafka, Weber and Organization Theory. *Human Relations*, 60(7): 1019–38.
- Warren, S. & Fineman, S. (2013) Don't Get Me Wrong; It's Fun Here, But...Ambivalence and Paradox in a 'Fun' Work Environment. In R. Westwood & C. Rhodes (Eds.), *Humour, Work and Organization*. London: Routledge.
- Watkin, W. (2014) *Agamben and Indifference: A Critical Overview*. London: Rowman & Littlefield International.

- Weick, K.E. (2012) The Poetics of Process: Theorizing the Ineffable in Organization Studies. In T. Hernes & S. Maitlis (Eds.), *Process, Sensemaking & Organizing*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Weiskopf, R. (2002) Deconstructing 'The Iron Cage'—Towards an Aesthetic of Folding. Consumption, Markets & Culture, 5(1): 79–97.
- Weiskopf, R. (2004) Management, Organisation und die Gespenster der Gerechtigkeit. In G. Schreyögg & P. Conrad (Eds.), Gerechtigkeit und Management. Wiesbaden: Gabler.
- Weiskopf, R. & Munro, I. (2012) Management of Human Capital: Discipline, Security and Controlled Circulation in HRM. Organization, 19(6): 685–702.
- Whyte, J. (2008) Its Silent Working was a Delusion. In J. Clemens, N. Heron & A. Murray (Eds.), *The Work of Giorgio Agamben: Law, Literature, Life*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Willemse, A. (2017) *The Motif of the Messianic: Law, Life and Writing in Agamben's Reading of Derrida*. Lanham: Lexington Books.
- Williams, J. & Mavin, S. (2012) Disability as Constructed Difference: A Literature Review and Research Agenda for Management and Organization Studies. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 14(2): 159–79.
- Wilmer, S.E. & Žukauskaitė, A. (2016) (Eds.) *Resisting Biopolitics: Philosophical, Political and Performative Strategies.* New York: Routledge.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1986) Philosophical Investigations. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Wortham, S.M. (2007) Law of Friendship: Agamben and Derrida. *New Formations*, 62(September): 89–105.
- Wray-Bliss, E. (2019) Neoliberalism, Management and Religion. London: Routledge.
- Yang, Y. (2022) Beyond Weber and Kafka: Conceptualizing a Critical Realist Model of Bureaucracy. *Administration & Society*, 54(3): 500–21.
- Ybema, S. (2014) The Invention of Transitions: History as a Symbolic Site for Discursive Struggles over Organizational Change. *Organization*, 21(4): 495–513.
- Zartaloudis, T. (2010) *Giorgio Agamben: Power, Law and the Uses of Criticism.* Abingdon: Routledge.
- Zartaloudis, T. (2015) Violence without Law? On Pure Violence as a Destituent Power. In B. Moran & C. Salzani (Eds.), *Towards the Critique of Violence: Walter Benjamin and Giorgio Agamben*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Zartaloudis, T. (2017) On Justice. In T. Zartaloudis (Ed.), *Agamben and Law*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Zartaloudis, T. (2020) The Birth of Nomos. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Zulfiqar, G.M. (2025) Employing Memories of Biopolitical Racism for Consciousness Raising across Time and Space. *Management Learning*, 0(0)..
- Zundel, M. & Kokkalis, P. (2010) Theorizing as Engaged Practice. *Organization Studies*, 31(9&10): 1209–27.

## Lund Studies in Economics and Management

Editor, issues 157– Editor, issues 142–156 Editor, issues 109–141 Editors, issues 88–108 Editor, issues 1–87

Niclas Andrén Charlotta Levay Thomas Kalling Mats Benner & Thomas Kalling Allan T. Malm

- 174. Stefan Tramer (2025): Inoperosità: *Exposing the Position of Employees and Customers in Unemployment-Related Management Literature*
- 173. Juan Ocampo (2024): Organising Money: The process of implementing a complementary currency in a context of scarcity
- 172. Kalyan Pasumarthy (2024): Business Angel Groups and Exit Strategies: A Mixed Method Approach
- 171. Johan Jönsson (2024): Performing numbers: An ethnography of numbers in everyday organisational life
- 170. Markus Arnez-Wegelius (2024): A Dynamic Capabilities Approach to Sustainable Business Model Innovation
- 169. Camilla Civardi (2023): Equity Crowdfunding: What about the Crowd?
- 168. Phil Flores (2023): Not all green innovations are created equal: Consumer innovativeness and motivations in the adoption of shared micromobility
- 167. Solomon Akele Abebe (2023): *Refugee entrepreneurship: Towards a nuanced understanding of the phenomenon*
- 166. Emilie Hesselbo (2023): Sizing up leadership: Norms and normativity in and around leadership measures
- 165. Erik Brattström (2023): The missing link: The implementation of priorities for research, development, and innovation
- 164. Axel Welinder (2023): Legitimizing sustainability talk in retail talk The case of IKEAs sustainability journey
- 163. Pelle Högnelid (2022): Purposeful Combination: Management of Knowledge Integration in the Development of Self-Driving Cars
- 162. Hossain Shahriar (2022): Gender Transculturation: Navigating Market-Mediated Contesting Gender Ideologies in Consumer Acculturation
- 161. Johan Gromark (2022): Brand orientation in action Towards a relational approach
- 160. Henrik Edlund (2022): Organizational and individual response to hybridity in the public sector: A case study exploring the customer orientation of the Swedish Enforcement Authority
- 159. Karin Alm (2022): Butikens roll för hållbar konsumtion Ett marknadsorienterat perspektiv på hållbar sortimentsutveckling i dagligvaruhandeln

- 158. Jayne Jönsson (2022): Logic Salience: Navigating in the institutional landscape of funding volatility and ideological disputes in nonprofit hybrid organizing
- 157. Jonas Cedergren (2022): Becoming a Physician-Scientist: A Study on the Power of Membership in Communities of Practice
- 156. Wenjun Wen (2021): Rethinking Accounting Professionalisation in China: A Study of the Development of the Chinese Public Accounting Profession since the "Reform and Opening-up"
- 155. Parfait Yongabo (2021): Fostering Knowledge uptake in Emerging Innovation Systems: Enhancing Conditions for Innovation in Rwanda
- 154. Maria Bengtsson (2021): National adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: The case of China
- 153. Janina Schaumann (2021): Stakeholder-based brand equity (SBBE) A qualitative study of its development through firm-stakeholder interactions in emerging markets
- 152. Anna Stevenson (2021): Constructing the 'social' in social entrepreneurship: A postcolonial perspective
- 151. Tanya Kolyaka (2021): Financial Bootstrapping as Relational Contract: Linking resource needs, bootstrapping behaviors, and outcomes of bootstrapping exchanges
- 150. Louise Klintner (2021): Normalizing the Natural: A study of menstrual product destigmatization
- 149. Zahida Sarwary (2019): Puzzling out the choice of capital budgeting techniques among high-growth small and medium sized firms
- 148: Vivek Kumar Sundriyal (2019): Entrepreneurship as a career: An investigation into the pre-entrepreneurship antecedents and post-entrepreneurship outcomes among the Science and Technology Labor Force (STLF) in Sweden
- 147. Ziad El-Awad (2019): Beyond individuals A Process of Routinizing Behaviors Through Entrepreneurial Learning: Insights from Technology-Based Ventures
- 146. Carys Egan-Wyer (2019): The Sellable Self: Exploring endurance running as an extraordinary consumption experience
- 145. Lisa Källström (2019): 'A good place to live' Residents' place satisfaction revisited
- 144. Anamaria Cociorva (2019): Essays on Credit Ratings
- 143. Elisabeth Kjellström (2019): *Outsourcing of Organizational Routines: Knowledge, control, and learning aspects*
- 142. Erik Ronnle (2019): Justifying Mega-Projects: An Analysis of the Swedish High-Speed Rail Project
- 141. Gustav Hägg (2017): Experiential entrepreneurship education: Reflective thinking as a counterbalance to action for developing entrepreneurial knowledge
- 140. Mathias Skrutkowski (2017): Disgraced. A study of narrative identity in organizations that suffer crises of confidence

- 139. Ana Paula do Nascimento (2017): Funding matters: A study of internationalization programs in science, technology and innovation
- 138. Amalia Foukaki (2017): Corporate Standardization Management: A Case Study of the Automotive Industry
- 137. Nathalie Larsson (2016): From performance management to managing performance: An embedded case study of the drivers of individual and group-based performance in a call center context
- 136. Clarissa Sia-Ljungström (2016): Connecting the Nodes An interactive perspective on innovative microenterprises in a mature industry
- 135. Sten Bertil Olsson (2016): Marknadsreglering och dess effekter på regionala och lokala gymnasiemarknaders funktion
- 134. Mattias Haraldsson (2016): *Accounting choice, compliance and auditing in municipal organisations*
- 133. Kaj-Dac Tam (2016): Perceptual Alignment of Retail Brand Image in Corporate Branding: A study of employee perceived stakeholder alignment and effects on brand equity
- 132. Wen Pan-Fagerlin (2016): Participant, Catalyst or Spectator? A study of how managers apply control in innovation processes
- 131. Yaqian Wang (2014): Inside the Box Cultures of Innovation in a Mature Industry
- 130. Paul Pierce (2013): Using Alliances to Increase ICT Capabilities
- 129. Linn Andersson (2013): Pricing capability development and its antecedents
- 128. Lena Hohenschwert (2013): Marketing B2B Sales Interactions Valuable A Social and Symbolic Perspective
- 127. Pia Nylinder (2012): Budgetary Control in Public Health Care A Study about Perceptions of Budgetary Control among Clinical Directors
- 126. Liliya Altshuler (2012): Competitive Capabilities of a Technology Born Global
- 125. Timurs Umans (2012): The bottom line of cultural diversity at the top The top management team's cultural diversity and its influence on organizational outcomes
- 124. Håkan Jankensgård (2011): Essays on Corporate Risk Management
- 123. Susanne Lundholm (2011): *Meta-managing A Study on How Superiors and Subordinates Manage Their Relationship in Everyday Work*
- 122. Katarzyna Cieślak (2011): The Work of the Accounting & Controlling Department and its Drivers: Understanding the concept of a business partner
- 121. Ulf Elg, Karin Jonnergård (editors): Att träda in i en profession: Om hur kvinnor och män etablerar sig inom revisionsbranschen och akademin
- 120. Jonas Fjertorp (2010): Investeringar i kommunal infrastruktur Förutsättningar för en målfokuserad investeringsverksamhet

- 119. Fredrik Ericsson (2010): Säkringsredovisning Implementeringen av IAS 39 i svenska icke-finansiella börsföretag och konsekvenser för säkringsverksamheten
- 118. Steve Burt, Ulf Johansson, Åsa Thelander (editors, 2010): *Consuming IKEA*. *Different perspectives on consumer images of a global retailer*
- 117. Niklas Persson (2010): Tracing the drivers of B2B brand strength and value
- 116. Sandra Erntoft (2010): *The use of health economic evaluations in pharmaceutical priority setting The case of Sweden*
- 115. Cecilia Cassinger (2010): Retailing Retold Unfolding the Process of Image Construction in Everyday Practice
- 114. Jon Bertilsson (2009): *The way brands work Consumers' understanding of the creation and usage of brands*
- 113. Per Magnus Andersson, Peter Jönsson, Gert Paulsson, Stefan Yard (editors, 2009): Ett smörgåsbord med ekonomistyrning och redovisning – En vänbok till Olof Arwidi
- 112. Agneta Moulettes (2009): *The discursive construction, reproduction and continuance of national cultures A critical study of the cross-cultural management discourse*
- 111. Carl Cederström (2009): The Other Side of Technology: Lacan and the Desire for the Purity of Non-Being
- 110. Anna Thomasson (2009): Navigating in the landscape of ambiguity -A stakeholder approach to the governance and management of hybrid organisations
- 109. Pia Ulvenblad (2009): Growth Intentions and Communicative Practices Strategic Entrepreneurship in Business Development
- 108. Jaqueline Bergendahl (2009): Entreprenörskapsresan genom beslutsprocesser i team En elektronisk dagboksstudie i realtid
- 107. Louise D. Bringselius (2008): Personnel resistance in mergers of public professional service mergers The merging of two national audit organizations
- 106. Magnus Johansson (2008): Between logics Highly customized deliveries and competence in industrial organizations
- 105. Sofia Avdeitchikova (2008): Close-ups from afar: the nature of the informal venture capital market in a spatial context
- 104. Magnus Nilsson (2008): A Tale of Two Clusters Sharing Resources to Compete
- 103. Annette Cerne (2008): Working with and Working on Corporate Social Responsibility: The Flexibility of a Management Concept
- 102. Sofia Ulver-Sneistrup (2008): Status Spotting A Consumer Cultural Exploration into Ordinary Status Consumption of "Home" and Home Aesthetics

- 101. Stefan Henningsson (2008): Managing Information Systems Integration in Corporate Mergers and Acquisitions
- 100. Niklas L. Hallberg (2008): Pricing Capability and Its Strategic Dimensions
- 99. Lisen Selander (2008): Call Me Call Me for Some Overtime On Organizational Consequences of System Changes
- 98. Viktorija Kalonaityte (2008): Off the Edge of the Map: A Study of Organizational Diversity as Identity Work
- 97. Anna Jonsson (2007): Knowledge Sharing Across Borders A Study in the IKEA World
- 96. Sverre Spoelstra (2007): What is organization?
- 95. Veronika Tarnovskaya (2007): *The Mechanism of Market Driving with a Corporate Brand The Case of a Global Retailer*
- 94. Martin Blom (2007): Aktiemarknadsorienteringens ideologi En studie av en organisations försök att skapa aktieägarvärde, dess styrning och kontroll samt uppgörelse med sitt förflutna
- 93. Jens Rennstam (2007): Engineering Work On Peer Reviewing as a Method of Horizontal Control
- 92. Catharina Norén (2007): Framgång i säljande Om värdeskapande i säljaroch köparinteraktionen på industriella marknader
- 91. John Gibe (2007): The Microstructure of Collaborative E-business Capability
- 90. Gunilla Nordström (2006): *Competing on Manufacturing How combinations of resources can be a source of competitive advantage*
- 89. Peter W Jönsson (2006): Value-based management positioning of claimed merits and analysis of application
- 88. Niklas Sandell (2006): Redovisningsmått, påkopplade system och ekonomiska konsekvenser Redovisningsbaserade prestationsersättningar
- 87. Nadja Sörgärde (2006): Förändringsförsök och identitetsdramatisering. En studie bland nördar och slipsbärare
- 86. Johan Alvehus (2006): Paragrafer och profit. Om kunskapsarbetets oklarhet
- 85. Paul Jönsson (2006): Supplier Value in B2B E-Business A case Study in the Corrugated Packaging Industry
- 84. Maria Gårdängen (2005): Share Liquidity and Corporate Efforts to Enhance it A study on the Swedish Stock Exchange
- 83. Johan Anselmsson, Ulf Johansson (2005): *Dagligvaruhandelns egna* varumärken konsekvenser och utvecklingstendenser
- 82. Jan Alpenberg, Fredrik Karlsson (2005): Investeringar i mindre och medelstora tillverkande företag drivkrafter, struktur, process och beslut
- 81. Robert Wenglén (2005): Från dum till klok? en studie av mellanchefers lärande

- 80. Agneta Erfors (2004): Det är dans i parken ikväll Om samverkan mellan näringsliv och akademi med forskningsparken som mäklande miljö och aktör
- 79. Peter Svensson (2004): Setting the Marketing Scene. Reality Production in Everyday Marketing Work
- 78. Susanne Arvidsson (2003): Demand and Supply of Information on Intangibles: The Case of Knowledge-Intense Companies
- 77. Lars Nordgren (2003): Från patient till kund. Intåget av marknadstänkande i sjukvården och förskjutningen av patientens position
- 76. Marie Löwegren (2003): New Technology Based Firms in Science Parks. A Study of Resources and Absorbtive Capacity
- 75. Jacob Östberg (2003): What's Eating the Eater? Perspectives on the Everyday Anxiety of Food Consumption in Late Modernity
- 74. Anna Stafsudd (2003): Measuring the Unobservable: Selecting Which Managers for Higher Hierarchical Levels
- 73. Henrick Gyllberg, Lars Svensson (2002): Överensstämmelse mellan situationer och ekonomistyrsystem en studie av medelstora företag
- 72. Mohammed Nurul Alam (2002): *Financing of Small and Cottage Industries in Bangladesh by Islamic Banks. An Institutional-Network Approach*
- 71. Agneta Planander (2002): Strategiska allianser och förtroendeprocesser en studie av strategiska samarbeten mellan högteknologiska företag
- 70. Anders Bengtsson (2002): Consumers and Mixed-Brands. On the Polysemy of Brand Meaning
- 69. Mikael Hellström (2002): *Resultatenheter i kommunalteknisk verksamhet struktur, process och effekt*
- 68. Ralph Meima (2002): Corporate Environmental Management. Managing (in) a New Practice Area
- 67. Torbjörn Tagesson (2002): Kostnadsredovisning som underlag för benchmarking och prissättning – studier av kommunal va-verksamhet
- 66. Claus Baderschneider (2002): Collaboratively Learning Marketing: How Organizations Jointly Develop and Appropriate Marketing Knowledge
- 65. Hans Landström, Jan Mattsson, Helge Helmersson (2001): Ur en forskarhandledares örtagård. En vänbok till Bertil Gandemo
- 64. Johan Anselmsson (2001): *Customer-Perceived Quality and Technology-Based Self-service*
- 63. Patrick Sweet (2001): Designing Interactive Value Development. Perspectives and Strategies for High Precision Marketing
- 62. Niclas Andrén (2001): Essays on Corporate Exposure to Macroeconomic Risk
- 61. Heléne Tjärnemo (2001): Eco-Marketing & Eco-Management

- 60. Ulf Elg & Ulf Johansson (2000): Dynamiskt relationsbyggande i Europa. Om hur olika slags relationer samspelar, illustrerat av svenska dagligvaruföretag
- 59. Kent Springdal (2000): Privatisation of the IT Sector in Sweden
- 58. Hans Knutsson (2000): Process-Based Transaction Cost Analysis. A cost management exploration in SCA Packaging
- 57. Ola Mattisson (2000): Kommunala huvudmannastrategier för kostnadspress och utveckling. En studie av kommunal teknik
- 56. Karin Bryntse (2000): Kontraktsstyrning i teori och praktik
- 55. Thomas Kalling (1999): Gaining Competitive Advantage through Information Technology. A Resource-Based Approach to the Creation and Employment of Strategic IT Resources
- 54. Matts Kärreman (1999): Styrelseledamöters mandat ansats till en teori om styrelsearbete i börsnoterade företag
- 53. Katarina Svensson-Kling (1999): Credit Intelligence in Banks. Managing Credit Relationships with Small Firms
- 52. Henrik Kristensen (1999): En studie av prisförhandlingar vid företags förvärv
- 51. Anders H. Adrem (1999): Essays on Disclosure Practices in Sweden. Causes and Effects
- 50. Fredrik Ljungdahl (1999): Utveckling av miljöredovisning i svenska börsbolag praxis, begrepp, orsaker
- 49. Kristina Henriksson (1999): The Collective Dynamics of Organizational Learning. On Plurality and Multi-Social Structuring
- 48. Stefan Sveningsson (1999): Strategisk förändring, makt och kunskap. Om disciplinering och motstånd i tidningsföretag
- 47. Sten-Åke Carleheden (1999): Telemonopolens strategier. En studie av telekommunikationsmonopolens strategiska beteende
- 46. Anette Risberg (1999): *Ambiguities Thereafter*. An interpretive approach to acquisitions
- 45. Hans Wessblad (1999): Omständigheter på ett kärnkraftverk. Organisering av risk och institutionalisering av säkerhet
- 44. Alexander Styhre (1998): *The Pleasure of Management Ideas. The discursive formation of Kaizen*
- 43. Ulla Johansson (1998): Om ansvar. Ansvarsföreställningar och deras betydelse för den organisatoriska verkligheten
- 42. Sven-Arne Nilsson (1998): *Redovisning av Goodwill. Utveckling av metoder i Storbritannien, Tyskland och USA*
- 41. Johan Ekström (1998): Foreign Direct Investment by Large Swedish Firms The Role of Economic Integration and Exchange Rates

- 40. Stefan Yard (1997): Beräkningar av kapitalkostnader samlade effekter i bestånd särskilt vid byte av metod och avskrivningstid
- 39. Fredrik Link (1997): Diffusion Dynamics and the Pricing of Innovations
- 38. Frans Melin (1997): Varumärket som strategiskt konkurrensmedel. Om konsten att bygga upp starka varumärken
- 37. Kristina Eneroth (1997): Strategi och kompetensdynamik en studie av Axis Communications
- 36. Ulf Ramberg (1997): Utformning och användning av kommunala verksamhetsmått
- 35. Sven-Olof Collin (1997): Ägande och effektivitet. Wallenberggruppens och Svenska Handelsbanksgruppens struktur, funktion och effektivitet
- 34. Mats Urde (1997): Märkesorientering och märkeskompetens. Utveckling av varumärken som strategiska resurser och skydd mot varumärkesdegeneration
- 33. Ola Alexanderson, Per Trossmark (1997): Konstruktion av förnyelse i organisationer
- 32. Kristina Genell (1997): Transforming management education. A Polish mixture
- 31. Kjell Mårtensson (1997): Företagets agerande i förhållande till naturbelastningen. Hur företaget möter myndigheternas miljökrav
- 30. Erling Green (1997): Kreditbedömning och intuition. Ett tolkningsförslag
- 29. Leif Holmberg (1997): Health-care Processes. A Study of Medical Problemsolving in the Swedish Health-care Organisation
- 28. Samuel K. Buame (1996): Entrepreneurship. A Contextual Perspective. Discourses and Praxis of Entrepreneurial Activities within the Institutional Context of Ghana
- 27. Hervé Corvellec (1996): Stories of Achievement. Narrative Features of Organizational Performance
- 26. Kjell Tryggestad (1995): Teknologistrategier og post Moderne Kapitalisme. Introduksjon av computerbasert produksjonsteknik
- 25. Christer Jonsson (1995): Ledning i folkrörelseorganisationer den interaktiva ledningslogiken
- 24. Lisbeth Svengren (1995): Industriell design som strategisk resurs. En studie av designprocessens metoder och synsätt som del i företags strategiska utveckling
- 23. Jon Aarum Andersen (1994): Ledelse og effektivitet. Teori og prøving
- 22. Sing Keow Hoon-Halbauer (1994): Management of Sino-Foreign Joint Ventures
- 21. Rikard Larsson, Lars Bengtsson, Kristina Eneroth, Allan T. Malm (1993): *Research in Strategic Change*
- 20. Kristina Artsberg, Anne Loft & Stefan Yard (1993): Accounting Research in Lund

- 19. Gert Paulsson (1993): Accounting Systems in Transition. A case study in the Swedish health care organization
- 18. Lars Bengtsson (1993): Intern diversifiering som strategisk process
- 17. Kristina Artsberg (1992): Normbildning och redovisningsförändring. Värderingar vid val av mätprinciper inom svensk redovisning
- 16. Ulf Elg, Ulf Johansson (1992): Samspelet mellan struktur och agerande i dagligvarukedjan. En analys ur ett interorganisatoriskt nätverksperspektiv
- 15. Claes Svensson (1992): Strategi i federativa organisationer teori och fallstudier
- 14. Lars Edgren (1991): Service management inom svensk hälso- och sjukvård affärsutveckling och kundorganisation
- 13. Agneta Karlsson (1991): Om strategi och legitimitet. En studie av legitimitetsproblematiken i förbindelse med strategisk förändring i organisationer
- 12. Anders Hytter (1991): Den idémässiga dimensionen decentralisering som struktur och idéförändring
- 11. Anders Anell (1991): Från central planering till lokalt ansvar. Budgeteringens roll i landstingskommunal sjukvård
- 10. Rikard Larsson (1990): Coordination of Action in Mergers and Acquisitions. Interpretive and Systems Approaches towards Synergy
- 9. Sven-Olof Collin (1990): Aktiebolagets kontroll. Ett transaktionskostnadsteoretiskt inlägg i debatten om ägande och kontroll av aktiebolag och storföretag
- 8. John Ogbor (1990): Organizational Change within a Cultural Context. The Interpretation of Cross-Culturally Transferred Organizational Practices
- 7. Rikard Larsson (1989): Organizational Integration of Mergers and Acquisitions. A Case Survey of Realization of Synergy Potentials
- 6. Bertil Hultén (1989): Från distributionskanaler till orkestrerade nätverk. En studie om fabrikanters kanalval och samarbete med återförsäljare i svensk byggmaterialindustri
- 5. Olof Arwidi (1989): Omräkning av utländska dotterföretags redovisning. Metodproblem och konsekvenser för svenska koncerner
- 4. Bengt Igelström (1988): Resursskapande processer vid företagande i kris
- 3. Karin Jonnergård (1988): Federativa processer och administrativ utveckling. En studie av federativa kooperativa organisationer
- 2. Lennart Jörberg (1988): Svenska företagare under industrialismens genombrott 1870–1885
- 1. Stefan Yard (1987): Kalkyllogik och kalkylkrav samband mellan teori och praktik vid kravställandet på investeringar i företag